# Generalized uncertainty relations: Existing paradigms and new approaches

**Edited by** Shi-Dong Liang, Matthew J. Lake and Tiberiu Harko

**Published in** Frontiers in Astronomy and Space Sciences





#### FRONTIERS EBOOK COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this ebook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this ebook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this ebook, and the ebook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this ebook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or ebook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source

acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-8325-3442-7 DOI 10.3389/978-2-8325-3442-7

#### **About Frontiers**

Frontiers is more than just an open access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

#### Frontiers journal series

The Frontiers journal series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of openaccess, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the *Frontiers journal series* operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

#### Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews. Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

#### What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the *Frontiers journals series*: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area.

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers editorial office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

### Generalized uncertainty relations: Existing paradigms and new approaches

#### **Topic editors**

Shi-Dong Liang — Sun Yat-sen University, China Matthew J. Lake — National Astronomical Research Institute of Thailand, Thailand Tiberiu Harko — Babeş-Bolyai University, Romania

#### Citation

Liang, S.-D., Lake, M. J., Harko, T., eds. (2023). *Generalized uncertainty relations: Existing paradigms and new approaches*. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-8325-3442-7

#### 🐉 frontiers | Research Topics

# Table of contents

04	itorial: Generalized uncertainty relations: existing	
	paradigms and new approaches	
	Matthew J. Lake, Tiberiu Harko and Shi-Dong Liang	

- 07 Comments on the cosmological constant in generalized uncertainty models Michael Bishop, Joey Contreras, Peter Martin and Douglas Singleton
- 13 Weak equivalence principle in quantum space Kh. P. Gnatenko and V. M. Tkachuk
- 21 Dark matter as an effect of a minimal length Pasquale Bosso, Mitja Fridman and Giuseppe Gaetano Luciano
- 28 Generalized uncertainty principle and burning stars H. Moradpour, A. H. Ziaie, N. Sadeghnezhad and A. Ghasemi
- 32 The Generalized Uncertainty Principle and higher dimensions: Linking black holes and elementary particles B. J. Carr
- 42 Generalised uncertainty relations from finite-accuracy measurements

Matthew J. Lake, Marek Miller, Ray Ganardi and Tomasz Paterek

- 48 Problems with modified commutators Matthew J. Lake and Anucha Watcharapasorn
- 60 Dimensionally-dependent uncertainty relations, or why we (probably) won't see micro-black holes at the LHC, even if large extra dimensions exist Matthew J. Lake, Shi-Dong Liang and Anucha Watcharapasorn
- 68 Corrigendum: Dimensionally-dependent uncertainty relations, or why we (probably) won't see micro-black holes at the LHC, even if large extra dimensions exist Matthew J. Lake, Shi-Dong Liang and Anucha Watcharapasorn
- 70 New deformed Heisenberg algebra from the µ-deformed model of dark matter

A. M. Gavrilik, I. I. Kachurik and A. V. Nazarenko

#### Check for updates

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

EDITED AND REVIEWED BY J. W. F. Valle, Spanish National Research Council (CSIC), Spain

\*CORRESPONDENCE Matthew J. Lake, matthewjlake@narit.or.th

RECEIVED 24 June 2023 ACCEPTED 14 August 2023 PUBLISHED 24 August 2023

#### CITATION

Lake MJ, Harko T and Liang S-D (2023), Editorial: Generalized uncertainty relations: existing paradigms and new approaches. *Front. Astron. Space Sci.* 10:1246781. doi: 10.3389/fspas.2023.1246781

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Lake, Harko and Liang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

# Editorial: Generalized uncertainty relations: existing paradigms and new approaches

#### Matthew J. Lake<sup>1,2</sup>\*, Tiberiu Harko<sup>3,4</sup> and Shi-Dong Liang<sup>5</sup>

<sup>1</sup>National Astronomical Research Institute of Thailand, Chiang Mai, Thailand, <sup>2</sup>Department of Physics and Materials Science, Chiang Mai University, Chiang Mai, Thailand, <sup>3</sup>Department of Physics, Babeş-Bolyai University, Cluj-Napoca, Romania, <sup>4</sup>Department of Theoretical Physics, National Institute of Physics and Nuclear Engineering, Bucharest, Romania, <sup>5</sup>School of Physics, Sun Yat-Sen University, Guangzhou, China

#### KEYWORDS

generalized uncertainty principle (GUP), extended uncertainty principle (EUP), minimum length, minimum momentum, Planck scale, quantum gravity

Editorial on the Research Topic Generalized uncertainty relations: existing paradigms and new approaches

#### Introduction

This volume brings together a series of papers on the Research Topic of Generalized Uncertainty Relations (GURs). These works are chosen to provide a broad and timely overview of the current status of this important field, some 30 years after its initial development, including both phenomenological applications and foundational issues. Critical analyses of unsolved problems are also presented.

#### Scope and aims of the project

Our aim is to collect, in a single volume, a series of works that are representative of the current state of the art, and which, with the benefit of nearly three decades of hindsight, can contribute to the ongoing critical assessment of the field; its methods, models and techniques. We hope, therefore, that this modest collection will serve as a valuable resource and point of reference for future researchers, and, perhaps, even a small but significant mile stone in the development of the GUR research program.

After 30 years, we face the question: *quo vadis* generalized uncertainty principle? (Bosso et al., 2023) A further aim of this project is to stimulate debate about the future direction of GUR research, in particular, regarding the suitability of the current widely-used approach, of implementing modified relations via modifications of the canonical Heisenberg algebra. Despite nearly 30 years of effort, it remains unclear whether this method is conceptually and mathematically self-consistent, or whether new methods and techniques for studying GURs must be found.

For this reason, we present a variety of perspectives. Some papers in this volume explore the implications of traditional modified commutator models, while others present purely phenomenological analyses. The latter may be expected to hold, regardless of which mathematical formalism is used to describe the GURs, whereas the former are more model-specific, in general. Some papers explore well known GURs, such as the generalized uncertainty principle (GUP) and extended uncertainty principle (EUP), while others present new forms of modified relations, based on different physical assumptions. Still others explore alternative mathematical formalisms for the GUP and EUP, and investigate their phenomenological consequences. Whatever the research interests or perspectives of the individual reader, we hope that they will find something of interest to them here.

#### Call for papers

The non-gravitational interactions of microscopic particles are governed by the laws of quantum mechanics and so obey Heisenberg's uncertainty principle. This may be derived rigorously from the canonical quantum formalism or introduced, heuristically, via the Heisenberg microscope thought experiment. Extending the thought experiment argument to include the effects of gravitational attraction between particles and/or a background dark energy density leads to generalized uncertainty relations, which contain additional non-Heisenberg terms, but how to embed these within an extended quantum formalism remains an open problem in fundamental physics.

Two of the most widely studied relations, proposed in the phenomenological quantum gravity literature, are the generalized uncertainty principle (GUP) and extended uncertainty principle (EUP). The GUP incorporates the effects of attractive gravity and implies a minimum length scale of the order of the Planck length, whereas the EUP accounts for the effects of repulsive vacuum energy and implies a minimum momentum of the order of the de Sitter momentum. This is the momentum a canonical quantum particle would have if its de Broglie wavelength were of the order of the de Sitter radius, which is comparable to the present day radius of the Universe. Expanding the Heisenberg microscope argument to include the effects of canonical gravity and dark energy implies the extended generalized uncertainty principle (EGUP) which predicts the existence of both a minimum length and a minimum momentum scale in nature.

For almost three decades the most common method used to construct generalizations of the Heisenberg uncertainty principle has been to introduce modified commutation relations. These then lead, directly, to modified uncertainty relations, via the standard Schrödinger-Robertson relation. Unfortunately, despite its widespread use, this approach remains fraught with difficulties and modified commutator models lead to several well known pathologies, including:

- (a) Violation of the equivalence principle,
- (b) Reference-frame dependence of the "minimum" length,
- (c) Violation of Lorentz invariance in the relativistic limit,
- (d) The inability to construct sensible multi-particle states, known as the soccer ball problem.

This strongly motivates new approaches to the field, as well as critical analyses of traditional models, or their possible refinements, which aim to address these vital issues head-on.

In this Research Topic, we seek papers exploring all approaches to generalized uncertainty relations and their phenomenological implications. We aim to provide a broad overview the subject including summaries of the major approaches presented, to date, in this important field, as well as summaries of non-standard approaches based on new models.

Though many studies focus on the familiar GUP, EUP and EGUP formulae, which include position and linear momentum, we especially welcome explorations of generalized uncertainty relations for time, energy, angular momentum, quantum mechanical spin, and entropy, motivated by quantum gravitational phenomenology. Proposals for new relations, which have not yet been explored in the existing literature, are also warmly welcomed, and will be considered without prejudice.

#### Published papers

- 1. Dark matter as an effect of a minimal length, Bosso et al.
- 2. *Generalized uncertainty principle and burning stars*, Moradpour et al.
- 3. Weak equivalence principle in quantum space, Gnatenko and Tkachuk.
- 4. Comments on the cosmological constant in generalized uncertainty models, Bishop et al.
- 5. The Generalized Uncertainty Principle and higher dimensions: Linking black holes and elementary particles, Carr.
- 6. Generalized uncertainty relations from finite-accuracy measurements, Lake et al.
- 7. Problems with modified commutators, Lake and Watcharapasorn.
- New deformed Heisenberg algebra from the μ-deformed model of dark matter, Gavrilik et al.
- 9. Dimensionally-dependent uncertainty relations, or why we (probably) won't see black holes at the LHC, even if large extra dimensions exist, Lake et al.

#### Author contributions

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work and approved it for publication.

#### Acknowledgments

Our sincere thanks to Claudio Bogazzi at Frontiers Publishing, for proposing this project, and to Lindsay Downie and Diogo Prata, for their patience in seeing it through to a successful completion. Thanks also to the National Astronomical Research Institute of Thailand, for assistance with the necessary funding, and, in particular, to Dr. Utane Sawangwit, for the generous contribution from his research grant. Finally, our heartfelt and sincere thanks to all the contributing authors, for devoting their valuable time, and efforts. Needless to say, without them, this project would not have been possible.

#### **Conflict of interest**

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

#### References

Bosso, P., Luciano, G. G., Petruziello, L., and Wagner, F. (2023). 30 years in: quo vadis generalized uncertainty principle? *Class. Quantum Gravity.* doi:10.1088/1361-6382/acf021

#### Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

#### Check for updates

#### OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Matthew J. Lake, National Astronomical Research Institute of Thailand, Thailand

REVIEWED BY Fabiano Feleppa, Utrecht University, Netherlands Ignazio Licata, Institute for Scientific Methodology (ISEM), Italy

\*CORRESPONDENCE Michael Bishop, mibishop@mail.fresnostate.edu Joey Contreras, mkfetch@mail.fresnostate.edu Peter Martin, kotor2@mail.fresnostate.edu DouglaS Singleton, dougs@csufresno.edu

<sup>†</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work

#### SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to High-Energy and Astroparticle Physics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Astronomy and Space Sciences

RECEIVED 27 June 2022 ACCEPTED 28 July 2022 PUBLISHED 23 August 2022

#### CITATION

Bishop M, Contreras J, Martin P and Singleton D (2022), Comments on the cosmological constant in generalized uncertainty models. *Front. Astron. Space Sci.* 9:978898. doi: 10.3389/fspas.2022.978898

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Bishop, Contreras, Martin and Singleton. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

# Comments on the cosmological constant in generalized uncertainty models

Michael Bishop<sup>1\*†</sup>, Joey Contreras<sup>2\*†</sup>, Peter Martin<sup>2\*†</sup> and Douglas Singleton<sup>2\*†</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Mathematics Department, California State University Fresno, Fresno, CA, United States, <sup>2</sup>Physics Department, California State University Fresno, Fresno, CA, United States

The existence of a small, non-zero cosmological constant is one of the major puzzles in fundamental physics. Naively, quantum field theory arguments would imply a cosmological constant which is up to 10,<sup>120</sup> times larger than the observed one. It is believed a comprehensive theory of quantum gravity would resolve this enormous mismatch between theory and observation. In this work, we study the ability of generalized uncertainty principle (GUP) models, which are phenomenologically motivated models of quantum gravity, to address the cosmological constant problem. In particular, we focus on how these GUP models may change the phase space of QFT, and how this affects the momentum space integration of the zero-point energies of normal modes of fields. We point out several issues that make it unlikely that GUP models, in their current form, would be able to adequately address the cosmological constant problem.

#### KEYWORDS

generalized uncertainty principle, cosmological constant, minimal length, vacuum energy density, quantum vacuum

#### **1** Introduction

A theory of quantum gravity, although not yet a reality, has been advertised as being able to solve many of the ills of classical general relativity, such as the singularities that occur in black hole and cosmological solutions (Penrose, 1965; Hawking and R Ellis, 1973). Quantum gravity is also supposed to resolve some of the issues surrounding the results of applying quantum field theory in a curved space-time such as what happens to a black hole at the end of evaporating via Hawking radiation (Hawking, 1975), and what happens to the information stored in a black hole due to this evaporation (Susskind and Lindesay, 2005).

The puzzle we address in this work is the apparent mismatch between the observed cosmological constant and the theoretically calculated cosmological constant—a conundrum known as the cosmological constant problem. This cosmological constant problem has been known for a long time. A nice relatively recent review of the issue is reference (Weinberg, 1989). The problem is that having a cosmological constant,  $\Lambda$ , is

equivalent to having a constant energy density,  $\rho_{vac}$ , as a source in the Einstein field equations. The relationship is (using the units and notation of (Weinberg, 1989))

$$\rho_{vac} = \frac{\Lambda}{8\pi G} \ . \tag{1}$$

The subscript *vac* comes from quantum field theory where one obtains a constant vacuum energy density by adding up all the energy zero modes of vacuum quantum fields. The zero modes are given by  $\frac{1}{2}\hbar\omega_p = \frac{1}{2}E_p = \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{\vec{p}^2 + m^2}$ , and summing these up to get the vacuum energy density yields

$$\rho_{vac} = \int \frac{d^3 p}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{1}{2} \sqrt{p^2 + m^2} = \frac{1}{2} \int_0^{p_c} \frac{4\pi}{(2\pi)^3} dp \ p^2 \sqrt{p^2 + m^2} \approx \frac{p_c^4}{16\pi^2} .$$
(2)

Note that  $p = |\vec{p}|$ , we use these notations interchangeably throughout the rest of the paper. Since the integral is divergent, we cut off the dp integration at some scale  $p_c$ , which is usually taken to be the Planck scale,  $p_c \sim (8\pi G)^{-1/2}$ . Using (2) gives  $\rho_{vac} \approx$  $2 \times 10^{71}$  GeV<sup>4</sup>. In contrast, the measured vacuum energy density (Zyla et al., 2020) is about  $\rho_{vac} \approx 10^{-47}$  GeV<sup>4</sup>. The difference between the theoretically calculated  $\rho_{vac}$  from (2) versus experimentally measured  $\rho_{vac}$  is a difference of 118 orders of magnitude. This massive discrepancy *is* the cosmological constant problem. Even if one lowers the cut off scale to the QCD scale of  $\Lambda_{QCD} \sim 200$  MeV, where we think we fully understand QFT, one still gets a disagreement between theory and experiment of 41 order of magnitude. Some drastic change in our understanding of either QFT, general relativity, or both is needed to resolve this puzzle.

# 2 Generalized uncertainty principle and quantum gravity

One of the proposed resolutions to the cosmological constant problem is a theory of quantum gravity, a catch-all solution to all open problems in fundamental theoretical physics. In this work, we utilize the phenomenological generalized uncertainty principle (GUP) approach to quantum gravity. The GUP approach to quantum gravity is a bottom up approach [in contrast to the more top down approaches to quantum gravity such as superstring theory (Polchinski, 1998) or loop quantum gravity (Rovelli, 2008)]. There is a vast amount of literature on GUP, with a few of the important representative papers being (Veneziano, 1986; Amati et al., 1987; Gross and Mende, 1987; Gross and Mende, 1988; Amati et al., 1988; Amati et al., 1989; Amati et al., 1990; Maggiore, 1993; Garay, 1995; Kempf et al., 1995; Adler and Santiago, 1999; Scardigli, 1999; Adler et al., 2001). After this original burst of work on GUP there were various other works, a sample of where can be found in references (Myung et al., 2007; Zhu et al., 2009; Chemissany et al.,

2011; Das and Mann, 2011; Sprenger et al., 2011; Ali et al., 2015; Anacleto et al., 2015; Garattini and Faizal, 2016) which further developed this area of research. There are also some very recent works (Tamburini and Licata, 2020; Fadel and Maggiore, 2022) which deal with the algebraic and physical structure of spacetime in connection with GUP.

The basic idea is that quantum gravity should modify the standard position and momentum commutator of canonical quantum mechanics from  $[\hat{x}_i, \hat{p}_j] = i\delta_{ij}\hbar$  to  $[\hat{X}_i, \hat{P}_j] = i\delta_{ij}\hbar f(x, p)$ ; with f(x, p) representing the effects of quantum gravity. The capital *X* and *P* indicate that the position and momentum operators are changed from their canonical form. A common example that we will refer to often in this work is the modified commutator of (Kempf et al., 1995) of the form

$$\left[\hat{X}_{i},\hat{p}_{j}\right] = i\delta_{ij}\hbar\left(1+\beta|\vec{p}|^{2}\right).$$
(3)

In this model the position and momentum as given by

$$\hat{X}_i = i\hbar (1 + \beta |\vec{p}|^2) \frac{\partial}{\partial p_i}$$
 and  $\hat{p}_i = p_i$ , (4)

i.e., the position operator is modified but the momentum operator is not. The constant  $\beta$  is a phenomenological parameter that characterizes the scale at which quantum gravity effects become important. Conventionally, it is thought  $\beta$  should be of the Planck scale *i.e.*  $\beta \sim \frac{l_{Pl}^2}{\hbar^2}$  with  $l_{Pl}$  being the Planck length. A full analysis of the system in Equations 3, 4 is given in reference (Kempf et al., 1995), but for our purposes we recall two important results for this particular GUP model:

- Equations 3, 4 have a minimum length of  $\Delta |\vec{x}| = \hbar \sqrt{\beta}$ at  $\Delta |\vec{p}| = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\beta}}$
- In order for position and momentum operators to be symmetric *i.e.*  $(\langle \psi | p_i \rangle | \phi \rangle = \langle \psi | (p_i | \phi \rangle)$  and  $(\langle \psi | x_i \rangle | \phi \rangle = \langle \psi | (x_i | \phi \rangle)$ , the scalar product of this model needs to be given by

$$\langle \psi | \phi \rangle = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{d^3 p}{1 + \beta |\vec{p}|^2} \psi^*(p) \phi(p).$$
 (5)

The modification of the scalar product as given by (5) is for three dimensions, but in *n* dimensions one still has the same modifying factor for the momentum integration, namely  $\frac{d^n p}{1+\beta|\vec{p}|^2}$ . More generally, for a modified position operator of the form

$$\hat{X}_i = i\hbar f(|\vec{p}|^2) \frac{\partial}{\partial p_i} , \qquad (6)$$

the scalar product must take the form

$$\langle \psi | \phi \rangle = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{d^n p}{f(|\vec{p}|^2)} \psi^*(p) \phi(p) . \tag{7}$$

These results from (5) and (7) will become important in the next section.

# 3 GUP and its effects on vacuum energy calculations

#### 3.1 Vacuum energy in KMM GUP

The main issue we want to examine is how GUP affects the calculation of the vacuum energy and cosmological constant as laid out in (1), (2), and the surrounding discussion. One of the earliest and most impactful works dealing with the cosmological constant problem in the context of GUPs is the work by Chang *et al.* (Chang et al., 2002). In their work, the authors calculate how the GUP, as defined by (3) and (4), modifies Liouville's theorem and the phase space volume, *i.e.*  $d^n x d^n p$ , in *n* spatial dimensions. The modified phase space found in (Chang et al., 2002) for the GUP from (3) and (4) is

$$\frac{d^n x \ d^n p}{\left(1+\beta|\vec{p}|^2\right)^n} \ . \tag{8}$$

The volume in (8) is integrated out  $(\int d^n x \to V)$ . Upon quantization, the claimed phase space volume from (Chang et al., 2002) becomes

$$\frac{V d^n p}{(2\pi)^n \left(1+\beta |\vec{p}|^2\right)^n} .$$
<sup>(9)</sup>

Recall we are using units with  $\hbar = 1$  as consistent with reference (Weinberg, 1989). Thus, to compare 9) with the result in (Chang et al., 2002), one should replace the factor  $2\pi$  by  $2\pi\hbar$  in the denominator above. Using the result in (9) for three spatial dimensions, the calculation of  $\rho_{vac}$  via 2) changes to

$$\rho_{vac} = \int \frac{d^3 p}{(2\pi)^3 (1+\beta|\vec{p}|^2)^3} \frac{1}{2} \sqrt{\vec{p}^2 + m^2}$$
  
=  $\frac{1}{2} \int_0^\infty \frac{4\pi}{(2\pi)^3} dp \frac{p^2 \sqrt{p^2 + m^2}}{(1+\beta|\vec{p}|^2)^3}.$  (10)

Since the integrand of (10) is  $\mathcal{O}(\frac{1}{|\vec{p}|^3})$  at large momentum, it is convergent and does not need to have the *dp* integration capped as in (2). One can integrate (10) exactly for any *m* (Chang et al., 2002); for the sake of simplicity, when m = 0 (10) becomes

$$\rho_{vac}(m=0) = \frac{1}{16\pi^2 \beta^2} \ . \tag{11}$$

If one takes  $\beta$  to be of the Planck scale, then the result from (11) still leaves the GUP modified vacuum energy to be about 118 orders of magnitude larger than the measured vacuum energy of  $\rho_{vac} \approx 10^{-47} \text{ GeV}^{-4}$ . In fact, by comparing 2) and 11) and using dimensional analysis, one finds that  $\beta \sim p_c^{-2}$ . Thus, using the GUP cutoff factor of  $\frac{1}{(1+\beta|\tilde{\rho}|^2)^3}$ , while making  $\rho_{vac}$  finite, still leaves  $\rho_{vac}$  much too large which fails to resolve the cosmological constant problem. One has only replaced the "by hand" cutoff in (2) with the functional cutoff of (10). This failure

of the GUP, defined by (3) and (4), to address the cosmological constant puzzle was already noted in (Chang et al., 2002).

However, there may be an additional problem with the integration over the momentum in (10): it appears to disagree with the momentum integration from (Kempf et al., 1995), as given by the definition of the scalar product in (5) or more generally in (7). In the momentum space integration in (5), there is only one factor of  $(1 + \beta |\vec{p}|^2)$  in the denominator, as compared to the denominator of (10), which has three factors of  $(1 + \beta |\vec{p}|^2)$ . If one only had one factor of  $(1 + \beta |\vec{p}|^2)$  in the denominator of (10), as implied by (5), then the integrand would go as  $\mathcal{O}(|\vec{p}|)$  and would thus diverge.

The derivation of the phase space volume carried out in (Chang et al., 2002) that gave the result in (8) is long, but straight forward, so it is hard to see any problem with this result. On the other hand, having a momentum space volume that has a factor of  $(1 + \beta |\vec{p}|^2)^{-n}$  for the  $d^n p$  integration would then violate the symmetry of the position operator which is the requirement that led to (5); that is if the momentum integration in (10) is correct then this would imply  $(\langle \psi | x_i ) | \phi \rangle \neq \langle \psi | (x_i | \phi \rangle)$ .

One potential solution to the difference in the integration factors between 5) and 9) could be to reconsider the spatial/ volume calculation. In the transition from (8) to (9), it is assumed that the real spatial volume with GUP is the same as without GUP, that is,  $\int d^n x = V$ . The introduction of a minimal length may change the calculation of volumes in some way. If one could argue the n-1 factors of  $(1+\beta|\vec{p}|^2)$  should go with the  $d^n x$  integration, this would leave the correct single factor of  $(1 + \beta |\vec{p}|^2)$  to go with the  $d^n p$  integration. This would resolve the discrepancy between 5) and (8). Ordinarily, all the factors of  $(1 + \beta |\vec{p}|^2)$  should fall under the  $d^n p$  integration, but in the GUP given by (3) and (4) one can see that the position operator becomes dependent on the momentum. We suggest that in spherical coordinates every length r should carry with it a factor of  $(1 + \beta |\vec{p}|^2)^{-1}$ . The *n* dimensional version of the GUP modified phase space given in (8) should be written as

$$\left(\frac{d^{n}x}{\left(1+\beta|\vec{p}|^{2}\right)^{(n-1)}}\right)\left(\frac{d^{n}p}{\left(1+\beta|\vec{p}|^{2}\right)}\right) = \left(\frac{r^{n-1}drd\Omega}{\left(1+\beta|\vec{p}|^{2}\right)^{(n-1)}}\right)\left(\frac{d^{n}p}{\left(1+\beta|\vec{p}|^{2}\right)}\right).$$
(12)

For low energy/momentum, where  $\beta |\vec{p}|^2 \ll 1$ , the length will not change much, but for high energy/momentum, where  $\beta |\vec{p}|^2 \gg 1$ , the length is reduced. This way, the modified momentum integration from the requirement of symmetry of the position and momentum operators as given in (5) and the GUP modified phase space of (8) now agree.

If the momentum space integration is now given by one factor of  $(1 + \beta |\vec{p}|^2)$ , as implied by (12), rather than *n* factors as implied by (9) or (10), then not only does the GUP of Equations

3, 4 not solve the cosmological constant puzzle, as already acknowledged in (Chang et al., 2002), but the cosmological constant is not even finite. In the next subsection, we will investigate a different GUP, which does give a finite cosmological constant and examine to what extent this different GUP can address the cosmological constant problem.

### 3.2 Alternative GUP and the associated vacuum energy

From the generalized modified position operators of (6) and the associated modified momentum integration in (7), one can see that the integrand for  $\rho_{vac}$  will be of order  $\mathcal{O}(\frac{|\vec{p}|^3}{f(|\vec{p}|)})$ . Thus,  $f(|\vec{p}|)$  must have a dependence of  $|\vec{p}|^5$  or higher for the integral to be finite. One such GUP that meets this requirement is given in the recent paper (Bishop et al., 2021) which has modified operators in three spatial dimensions of the form

$$X_{i} = i\hbar \cosh^{2}\left(\frac{|\vec{p}|}{p_{M}}\right)\partial_{p_{i}} \quad ; \quad P_{i} = \frac{p_{i}p_{M}}{|\vec{p}|} \tanh\left(\frac{|\vec{p}|}{p_{M}}\right). \quad (13)$$

From (6), we see that (13) implies  $f(|\vec{p}|) = \cosh^2(\frac{|\vec{p}|}{p_M})$ . Thus, the GUP in (13) implies a vacuum energy density of

$$\rho_{vac}^{tanh} = \int \frac{d^3 p}{(2\pi)^3 \cosh^2\left(\frac{|\vec{p}|}{p_M}\right)} \frac{1}{2} \sqrt{\left(\vec{P}\right)^2 + m^2}$$
$$\approx \frac{1}{2} \int_0^\infty \frac{4\pi}{(2\pi)^3} dp \; \frac{p^2 p_M \tanh\left(\frac{p}{p_M}\right)}{\cosh^2\left(\frac{p}{p_M}\right)} \tag{14}$$

which has an integrand that exponentially decays with momentum. In (14) we set the rest mass equal to zero (m = 0), and used  $|\vec{P}| = \frac{|\vec{P}|PM}{|\vec{p}|} \tanh(\frac{|\vec{P}|}{PM}) = p_M \tanh(\frac{P}{PM})$ . One can evaluate the last expression exactly and this yields a finite answer

$$\rho_{vac}^{tanh} = \frac{p_M^4 \ln(2)}{4\pi^2} \ . \tag{15}$$

Thus, with this GUP model we do get a finite vacuum energy density while maintaining symmetry of the position and momentum operators. In contrast the GUP model given by Equations 3, 4, has an infinite vacuum energy density when *only one* power of  $1 + \beta |\vec{p}|^2$  (as argued in this work) is used in the denominator of the vacuum energy density (10). Even for the GUP models like that in (13), where the vacuum energy density is finite, the end conclusion is essentially the same as for the vacuum energy density in (2) which is obtained via a "by-hand" cutoff: both go as momentum to the fourth power. Comparing the vacuum energy densities from (2), (11), and (15), they all have essentially the same form, with different notations for the momentum scale cut-off. Thus, whether the vacuum energy is infinite and cut-off

"by-hand" or is finite due to using a GUP like (13), both these models are equally ineffective at addressing the cosmological constant problem.

#### 4 Summary and conclusions

In this work, we have examined how the GUP may alter the calculation of the vacuum energy density and the related cosmological constant. In standard QFT, which was reviewed in *Introduction* section, the vacuum energy diverges and must be cut-off as in (2), which leads to a quartic dependence of the vacuum energy density on the cut-off.

GUP models with their associated minimal length scales provide a potential avenue to calculate a finite vacuum energy density. Having a minimal length implies a maximum energymomentum which cuts off the divergence in the standard vacuum energy density given in (2). An early work (Chang et al., 2002) led to a finite vacuum energy density given by (10) and (11). However, one of our points was to argue that the calculation of the vacuum energy given in (Chang et al., 2002) by (10) is inconsistent with the requirement that the position and momentum operators are symmetric in GUP models such as (Kempf et al., 1995). This symmetry requirement leads to an integration over momentum as given in (5) for the GUP from Equations 3, 4 or for a more general modified position as in (7). Although, if one takes only a single factor of  $1 + \beta |\vec{p}|^2$  in the momentum integration used to calculate  $\rho_{vac}$ , then one finds that the vacuum energy density from the GUP is not finite, which conflicts with the results of (Chang et al., 2002) which has *n* factors of  $1 + \beta |\vec{p}|^2$ . Alternatively, one can preserve the symmetry of the position and momentum operators, but then the vacuum energy density is infinite for some GUPs like 3) and (4). In the present work, we argued for the latter option, because when arriving at the momentum integration measure of (10), one had to integrate out the spatial volume, as is done in going from (8) to (9). However, the implication is that one is treating the spatial volume the same as in a theory with no minimal length. In order to take into account the minimal length of the GUP, n - 11 of the *n* factors of  $1 + \beta |\vec{p}|^2$  should correspond to the volume integration to take into account the minimal length, leaving one factor to go with the momentum integration.

In a larger sense, GUPs may not be able to resolve the cosmological constant problem. We presented an GUP model 13) where the integrand in the vacuum energy density decayed exponentially and led to a finite integral. However, this led to the same quartic momentum behavior as the in "by-hand" cutoff of (2) which were all essentially the same up to multiplicative factors of order one. Regardless, the end result for all the models is more or less the same.

There may be a way for a GUP model to address the cosmological constant problem by requiring the function

 $f(|\vec{p}|)$ , which gives the modification for the position operator, take negative values for some range of  $|\vec{p}|$ . All the GUP functions discussed here (*i.e.*  $1 + \beta p^2$  or  $\cosh(p/p_M)$ ) were positive definite. In integrating the momentum from 0 up to the QCD scale of  $\Lambda_{QCD}\sim$  200 MeV, one already had a huge disagreement between the observed and theoretically calculated vacuum energy density. To compensate for this already large disagreement, a GUP function that is negative for some range of  $|\vec{p}|$  beyond the QCD scale is needed to cancel out the positive contribution from the low momentum part of the integration. This is reminiscent of the supersymmetry approach to the cosmological constant problem where the positive bosonic contribution to the vacuuum energy density is canceled by the negative fermionic contribution. Note, that requiring  $f(|\vec{p}|)$  to be negative is similar to a parity transformation  $\vec{x} \rightarrow -\vec{x}$  but is an unusual parity transformation in that it is not discrete but rather changes continuously as momentum increases. In any case, this may provide a fruitful new avenue for addressing the cosmological constant problem with GUPs.

#### Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary Material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

#### References

Adler, R. J., Chen, P., and Santiago, D. I. (2001). The generalized uncertainty principle and black hole remnants. *Gen. Relativ. Gravit.* 33, 2101–2108. doi:10. 1023/a:1015281430411

Adler, R. J., and Santiago, D. I. (1999). Mod. Phys. Lett. A 14, 1371-1381. doi:10. 1142/s0217732399001462

Ali, A. F., Faizal, M., and Khalil, M. M. (2015). Short distance physics of the inflationary de Sitter universe. *J. Cosmol. Astropart. Phys.* 09, 025. doi:10.1088/1475-7516/2015/09/025

Amati, D., Ciafaloni, M., and Veneziano, G. (1988). Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 03, 1615-1661. doi:10.1142/s0217751x88000710

Amati, D., Ciafaloni, M., and Veneziano, G. (1989). Phys. Lett. B 216, 41-47. doi:10.1016/0370-2693(89)91366-x

Amati, D., Ciafaloni, M., and Veneziano, G. (1990). Higher-order gravitational deflection and soft bremsstrahlung in planckian energy superstring collisions. *Nucl. Phys. B* 347, 550–580. doi:10.1016/0550-3213(90)90375-n

Amati, D., Ciafaloni, M., and Veneziano, G. (1987). Superstring collisions at planckian energies. *Phys. Lett. B* 197, 81–88. doi:10.1016/0370-2693(87)90346-7

Anacleto, M. A., Brito, F. A., and Passos, E. (2015). Quantum-corrected self-dual black hole entropy in tunneling formalism with GUP. *Phys. Lett. B* 749, 181–186. doi:10.1016/j.physletb.2015.07.072

Bishop, M., Contreras, J., Lee, J., and Singleton, D. (2021). Reconciling a quantum gravity minimal length with lack of photon dispersion. *Phys. Lett. B* 816, 136265. doi:10.1016/j.physletb.2021.136265

Chang, L. N., Minic, D., Okamura, N., and Takeuchi, T. (2002). Exact solution of the harmonic oscillator in arbitrary dimensions with minimal length uncertainty relations. *Phys. Rev. D.* 65, 125027. doi:10.1103/physrevd.65.125027

Chemissany, W., Das, S., Ali, A. F., and Vagenas, E. C. (2011). Effect of the generalized uncertainty principle on post-inflation preheating. *J. Cosmol. Astropart. Phys.* 11, 017. doi:10.1088/1475-7516/2011/12/017

#### Author contributions

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work and approved it for publication.

#### Funding

This research was Funded by a CSM 2022 RSCA awards.

#### Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

#### Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Das, S., and Mann, R. B. (2011). Planck scale effects on some low energy quantum phenomena. *Phys. Lett. B* 704, 596–599. doi:10.1016/j.physletb.2011.09.056

Fadel, M., and Maggiore, M. (2022). Revisiting the algebraic structure of the generalized uncertainty principle. *Phys. Rev. D.* 105, 106017. doi:10.1103/physrevd. 105.106017

Garattini, R., and Faizal, M. (2016). Cosmological constant from a deformation of the Wheeler–DeWitt equation. *Nucl. Phys. B* 905, 313–326. doi:10.1016/j. nuclphysb.2016.02.023

Garay, L. J. (1995). Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 10, 145-165. doi:10.1142/ s0217751x95000085

Gross, D. J., and Mende, P. F. (1988). String theory beyond the Planck scale. Nucl. Phys. B 303, 407-454. doi:10.1016/0550-3213(88)90390-2

Gross, D. J., and Mende, P. F. (1987). The high-energy behavior of string scattering amplitudes. *Phys. Lett. B* 197, 129–134. doi:10.1016/0370-2693(87)90355-8

Hawking, S., and R Ellis, G. F. (1973). *The large scale structure of space-time*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Hawking, S. W. (1975). Particle creation by black holes. Commun. Math. Phys. 43, 199–220. doi:10.1007/bf02345020

Kempf, A., Mangano, G., and Mann, R. B. (1995). Hilbert space representation of the minimal length uncertainty relation. *Phys. Rev. D.* 52, 1108–1118. doi:10.1103/physrevd.52.1108

Maggiore, M. (1993). A generalized uncertainty principle in quantum gravity. *Phys. Lett. B* 304, 65–69. doi:10.1016/0370-2693(93)91401-8

Myung, Y. S., Kim, Y. W., and Park, Y. J. (2007). Black hole thermodynamics with generalized uncertainty principle. *Phys. Lett. B* 645, 393–397. doi:10.1016/j. physletb.2006.12.062

Penrose, R. (1965). Gravitational collapse and space-time singularities. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 14, 57–59. doi:10.1103/physrevlett.14.57

Polchinski, J. (1998). String theory vol. 1: An introduction to the bosonic string and string theory vol. 2: Superstring theory and beyond. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.

Rovelli, C. (2008). Loop quantum gravity. *Living Rev. Relativ.* 11, 5. doi:10.12942/ lrr-2008-5

Scardigli, F. (1999). Generalized uncertainty principle in quantum gravity from micro-black hole gedanken experiment. *Phys. Lett. B* 452, 39–44. doi:10.1016/s0370-2693(99)00167-7

Sprenger, M., Bleicher, M., and Nicolini, P. (2011). Neutrino oscillations as a novel probe for a minimal length. *Cl. Quantum Grav.* 28, 235019. doi:10.1088/0264-9381/28/23/235019

Susskind, L., and Lindesay, J. (2005). An introduction to black holes. Information and the string theory revolution. Singapore: World Scientific.

Tamburini, F., and Licata, I. (2020). General relativistic wormhole connections from planck-scales and the ER = EPR conjecture. *Entropy* 22, 3. doi:10.3390/ e22010003

Veneziano, G. (1986). A stringy nature needs just two constants. *Europhys. Lett.* 2, 199–204. doi:10.1209/0295-5075/2/3/006

Weinberg, S. (1989). The cosmological constant problem. Rev. Mod. Phys. 61, 1–23. doi:10.1103/revmodphys.61.1

Zhu, T., Ren, J. R., and Li, M. F. (2009). Influence of generalized and extended uncertainty principle on thermodynamics of FRW universe. *Phys. Lett. B* 674, 204–209. doi:10.1016/j.physletb.2009.03.020

Zyla, P. A., Barnett, R. M., Beringer, J., Dahl, O., Dwyer, D. A., Groom, D. E., et al. Particle Data Group (2020). Review of particle physics. *Prog. Theor. Exp. Phys.* 2020, 083C01. doi:10.1093/ptep/ptaa104

#### Check for updates

#### OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Matthew J. Lake, National Astronomical Research Institute of Thailand, Thailand

#### REVIEWED BY

Hassan Hassanabadi, Shahrood University of Technology, Iran Michael Bishop, California State University, Fresno, United States

\*CORRESPONDENCE Kh. P. Gnatenko, khrystyna.gnatenko@gmail.com

#### SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to High-Energy and Astroparticle Physics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Astronomy and Space Sciences

RECEIVED 22 May 2022 ACCEPTED 03 August 2022 PUBLISHED 29 August 2022

#### CITATION

Gnatenko KP and Tkachuk VM (2022), Weak equivalence principle in quantum space. *Front. Astron. Space Sci.* 9:950468. doi: 10.3389/fspas.2022.950468

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Gnatenko and Tkachuk. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright

owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

# Weak equivalence principle in quantum space

#### Kh. P. Gnatenko\* and V. M. Tkachuk

Professor Ivan Vakarchuk Department for Theoretical Physics, Ivan Franko National University of Lviv, Lviv, Ukraine

Owing to the development of String Theory and Quantum Gravity, studies of quantized spaces described by deformed commutation relations for operators of coordinates and operators of momenta have received much attention. In this paper, the implementation of the weak equivalence principle is examined in the quantized spaces described by different types of deformed algebras, among them the noncommutative algebra of canonical type, Lie type, and the nonlinear deformed algebra with an arbitrary function of deformation relations leads to the mass-dependence of motion of a particle (a composite system) in a gravitational field, and, hence, to violation of the weak equivalence principle. We conclude that this principle is recovered in quantized spaces if one considers the parameters of the deformed algebras to be different for different particles (bodies) and to be determined by their masses.

#### KEYWORDS

minimal length, quantized space, deformed Heisenberg algebra, weak equivalence principle, parameters of deformed algebras

#### **1** Introduction

String Theory and Quantum Gravity predict the existence of a minimal length [see, for instance, (Gross and Mende, 1988; Maggiore, 1993)]. This, one of the most important suggestions of these theories, follows from the generalized uncertainty principle (GUP)

$$\Delta X \ge \frac{\hbar}{2} \left( \frac{1}{\Delta P} + \beta \Delta P \right), \tag{1}$$

where  $\beta$  is a constant which is called the parameter of deformation. Notations  $\Delta X$ ,  $\Delta P$  are used for position and momentum uncertainties. The inequality Eq. 1 leads to the existence of a minimal value of  $\Delta X$  which is determined by the parameter  $\beta$  and reads  $\Delta X_{min} = \hbar \sqrt{\beta}$ .

One can obtain the generalized uncertainty principle (1) by considering a quadratic deformation of the commutation relations for the operator of coordinate and the operator of momentum

$$[X,P] = i\hbar \left(1 + \beta P^2\right). \tag{2}$$

Relation (2) can be generalized as

$$[X,P] = i\hbar F\left(\sqrt{\beta} |P|\right),\tag{3}$$

where  $F(\sqrt{\beta}|P|)$  is a function, which is called the deformation function,  $\beta$  is a constant,  $\beta \ge 0$ , F(0) = 1.

For the invariance of the deformed commutation relation (3) upon reflection  $(X \rightarrow -X, P \rightarrow -P)$  and for preserving of the timereversal symmetry the deformation function has to be even, so that  $F = F(\sqrt{\beta} |P|)$ . Also from Eq. 3 it follows that the deformation function has to be dimensionless, therefore a dependence of F on the dimensionless product  $\sqrt{\beta} |P|$  is considered. In (Masłowski et al., 2012) the results of studies of the minimal length in the context of the deformed algebra (3) are presented and the answer to the question regarding what functions  $F(\sqrt{\beta} |P|)$  lead to the minimal length is found.

Historically the first deformed algebra was proposed by Snyder in 1947 (Snyder, 1947). The algebra is well studied [see, for instance, (Romero and Zamora, 2008; Mignemi, 2011; Lu and Stern, 2012; Gnatenko Kh. P. and Tkachuk V. M., 2019b)]. In the nonrelativistic case the Snyder algebra reads

$$\left[X_{i}, X_{j}\right] = i\hbar\beta \left(X_{i}P_{j} - X_{j}P_{i}\right),\tag{4}$$

$$\left[X_i, P_j\right] = i\hbar \left(\delta_{ij} + \beta P_i P_j\right),\tag{5}$$

$$\left[P_i, P_j\right] = 0. \tag{6}$$

Also, a three-dimensional algebra leading to the minimal length was proposed by Kempf [see, for instance, (Kempf et al., 1995; Kempf, 1997; Sandor et al., 2002; Menculini et al., 2013; Gnatenko Kh. and Tkachuk V. M., 2019a)]

$$\left[X_{i}, X_{j}\right] = i\hbar \frac{(2\beta - \beta') + (2\beta + \beta')\beta P^{2}}{1 + \beta P^{2}} \left(P_{i}X_{j} - P_{j}X_{i}\right), \quad (7)$$

$$\left[X_{i}, P_{j}\right] = i\hbar \left(\delta_{ij} \left(1 + \beta P^{2}\right) + \beta' P_{i} P_{j}\right), \tag{8}$$

$$\left[P_i, P_j\right] = 0,\tag{9}$$

where  $\beta$ ,  $\beta'$  are constants. Here the minimal length is determined by the parameters of deformation, it reads  $\Delta X_{\min} = \hbar \sqrt{\beta + \beta'}$ .

The most simple algebras leading to space quantization (i. e. the existence of a minimal length and minimal area), are noncommutative algebras of canonical type. In this algebras the commutators for coordinates and momenta are equal to constants

$$\left[X_i, X_j\right] = i\hbar\theta_{ij},\tag{10}$$

$$\left[X_i, P_j\right] = i\hbar \left(\delta_{ij} + \sigma_{ij}\right),\tag{11}$$

$$\left[P_{i}, P_{j}\right] = i\hbar\eta_{ij},\tag{12}$$

where  $\theta_{ij}$ ,  $\sigma_{ij}$ ,  $\eta_{ij}$  are elements of constant antisymmetric matrixes [see, for example, (Djemai and Smail, 2004; Alavi, 2007; Bastos and Bertolami, 2008; Bertolami and Queiroz, 2011)]. Modification of the commutation relations in the form (10)-(12) leads to both a minimal length and a minimal momentum [see, for instance, (Gnatenko Kh. P. and Tkachuk V. M., 2018b)].

Another type of deformed algebra describing features of the spatial structure at the Planck scale is the noncommutative

algebra of Lie type. It is characterized by the following commutation relations

$$\left[X_i, X_j\right] = i\hbar\theta_{ij}^k X_k. \tag{13}$$

Here  $\theta_{ij}^k$  are the parameters of noncommutativity which are constants (see, for instance, (Lukierski and Woronowicz, 2006; Daszkiewicz and Walczyk, 2008; Lukierski et al., 2018)).

So, different deformed algebras, which describe features of the spatial structure at the Planck scale were proposed. These algebras can be divided into algebras of canonical type, noncommutative algebras of Lie type, and nonlinear deformed algebras (commutators for coordinates and momenta that are equal to a nonlinear function of coordinates and momenta). We would like to note that the status of the minimal length in the frame of all the algebras is the same. The minimal length indicates the min linear range in which a particle can be localized.

It is important to mention that a modification of the commutation relations for coordinates and momenta leads to violations of the fundamental laws and principles of physics, among them the weak equivalence principle. This principle is also known as the Galilean equivalence principle or universality of free fall, and is a restatement of the equality of gravitational and inertial mass. According to the weak equivalence principle, the kinematic characteristics, such as the velocity and position of a point mass in a gravitational field do not depend on its mass, composition and structure and are determined only by its initial position and velocity.

The equivalence principle was examined in the context of a noncommutative algebra of canonical type in (Bastos et al., 2011; Gnatenko, 2013; Saha, 2014; Bertolami and Leal, 2015; Gnatenko Kh. and Tkachuk V., 2017b, Gnatenko Kh. and Tkachuk, V. 2018a). The weak equivalence principle in noncommutative phase space was studied in (Bastos et al., 2011; Bertolami and Leal, 2015; Gnatenko Kh. and Tkachuk V., 2017b, Gnatenko Kh. and Tkachuk, V. 2018a). The authors of (Bertolami and Leal, 2015) concluded that the equivalence principle holds in the quantized space in the sense that an accelerated frame of reference is locally equivalent to a gravitational field, unless the parameters of noncommutativity are anisotropic ( $\eta_{xy} \neq$  $\eta_{xz}$ ). In the paper (Lake et al., 2019) generalized uncertainty relations that do not lead to the violation of the equivalence principle were presented. GUP models that do not require modified commutation relations, have also been proposed in (Bishop et al., 2021).

In this paper we study the weak equivalence principle in the context of different deformed algebras leading to space quantization. We show that the motion of a particle (a body) in a gravitational field in quantized space depends on its mass and composition. The weak equivalence principle is violated in quantized space. It is important that space quantization leads to a great violation of the weak equivalence principle if one considers the parameters of the deformed algebras to be the same for different particles (bodies). We conclude that in the context of different algebras (algebras with arbitrary deformation function depending on momentum, noncommutative algebras of canonical type, and noncommutative algebras of Lie type) the weak equivalence principle is recovered in the case when the parameters of deformation are different for different particles and are determined by their masses.

The paper is organized as follows. In Section 2 the weak equivalence principle is studied in the space with GUP. It is shown that the deformation of the commutation relations leads to a great violation of the weak equivalence principle. We find a condition on the parameter of deformation in which the weak equivalence principle is preserved. Section 3 is devoted to studies of the motion of a particle in a gravitational field in a noncommutative phase space of canonical type. The way to recover the weak equivalence principle in the space is proposed. Section 4 is devoted to studying a quantized space with Lie algebraic noncommutativity. It is shown that the weak equivalence principle is recovered due to the relation of the parameters of the noncommutative algebra with mass. Conclusions are presented in Section 5.

#### 2 The weak equivalence principle in a quantized space with a nonlinear deformed algebra and the parameters of deformation

Let us examine the motion of a particle in a gravitational field in one-dimensional space characterized by a deformed algebra (1D) with an arbitrary function of deformation dependent on momenta (3). We study the following Hamiltonian

$$H = \frac{P^2}{2m} + mV(X), \tag{14}$$

where m is the mass of the particle, V(X) corresponds to the gravitational potential. Note that in Eq. 14 we consider the inertial mass (mass in the first term) to be equal to the gravitational mass (mass in the second term).

In the classical limit  $\hbar \to 0$  on the basis of Eq. 3 we find the deformed Poisson brackets

$$\{X, P\} = F\left(\sqrt{\beta} |P|\right). \tag{15}$$

The definition of the brackets reads

$$\{f,g\} = F\left(\sqrt{\beta} |P|\right) \left(\frac{\partial f}{\partial X} \frac{\partial g}{\partial P} - \frac{\partial f}{\partial P} \frac{\partial g}{\partial X}\right).$$
(16)

So, using Eq. 16, one can write the equations of motion of a particle in the gravitational field in the deformed space as follows

$$\dot{X} = \{X, H\} = \frac{P}{m} F\left(\sqrt{\beta} |P|\right), \tag{17}$$

$$\dot{P} = \{P, H\} = -m \frac{\partial V(X)}{\partial X} F\left(\sqrt{\beta} |P|\right).$$
(18)

From Eqs. 17, 18 it follows that the motion of a particle in a gravitational field in the space (3) depends on its mass. So, the deformed relation (3) leads to violation of the weak equivalence principle. Moreover, the GUP (3) causes a great violation of the weak equivalence principle (the value of the Eötvös parameter is many orders larger then that obtained experimentally). Let us show this by considering the motion of two particles in a uniform gravitational field V(X) = -gX, where *g* is the gravitational acceleration. On the basis of Eqs. 17, 18 one can write

$$\dot{X}^{(b)} = \frac{P^{(b)}}{m_b} F\left(\sqrt{\beta} |P^{(b)}|\right),$$
 (19)

$$\dot{P} = m_b g F\left(\sqrt{\beta} |P^{(b)}|\right).$$
<sup>(20)</sup>

So, up to the first order in  $\beta$  we find

$$\ddot{X}^{(b)} = g + 3F'(0)g\sqrt{\beta}m_b|v| + (2F''(0) - (F'(0))^2)g\beta m_b^2 v^2,$$
(21)

where  $m_b$  is the mass of a particle labeled by index b (b = (1, 2)), F'(x) = dF/dx,  $F''(x) = d^2F/dx^2$ . The notation v is used for the velocity of motion in the gravitational field V(X) = -gX in the ordinary space (i. e. the space with  $\beta = 0$ ).

So, up to the first order in  $\beta$  the Eötvös parameter for particles with masses  $m_1$ ,  $m_2$  reads

$$\frac{\Delta a}{a} = \frac{2\left(\ddot{X}^{(1)} - \ddot{X}^{(2)}\right)}{\ddot{X}^{(1)} + \ddot{X}^{(2)}} = 3F'(0)|v|\sqrt{\beta}(m_1 - m_2) + \left(2F^{''}(0) - \left(F'(0)\right)^2\right)v^2\beta \times (m_1^2 - m_2^2).$$
(22)

To estimate the value of Eq. 22 let us put  $\hbar\sqrt{\beta} = l_P = \sqrt{\hbar G}/\sqrt{c^3}$ ( $l_P$  is the Planck length, *c* is the speed of light, *G* is the gravitational constant). So, we have

$$\frac{\Delta a}{a} = 3F'(0)\frac{|v|}{c}\frac{(m_1 - m_2)}{m_P} + \left(2F''(0) - \left(F'(0)\right)^2\right)\frac{v^2}{c^2} \times \frac{(m_1^2 - m_2^2)}{m_P^2},$$
(23)

with  $m_P = \sqrt{\hbar c} / \sqrt{G}$  being the Planck mass (Gnatenko and Tkachuk, 2020).

Note that for  $m_1 = 1$  kg,  $m_2 = 0.1$  kg in the case of deformation function  $F(\sqrt{\beta}|P|) = 1 + \beta P^2$  form Eq. 23 we obtain great violation of the weak equivalence principle  $\Delta a/a \approx 0.1$  which has not been seen experimentally (Gnatenko and Tkachuk, 2020). From the tests of the weak equivalence principle it follows that this principle holds with high accuracy. For instance, on the basis of the Lunar Laser Ranging experiment it is known that the equivalence principle holds with precision  $\Delta a/a = (-0.8 \pm 1.3) \cdot 10^{-13}$  (Williams et al., 2012). Similar results were obtained from the

laboratory torsion-balance tests of the weak equivalence principle for Be and Ti in which  $\Delta a/a = (0.3 \pm 1.8) \cdot 10^{-13}$  and  $\Delta a/a = (-0.7 \pm 1.3) \cdot 10^{-13}$  for Be and Ti or Al (Wagner et al., 2012). The MICROSCOPE space mission aims to test the principle with accuracy  $10^{-15}$  (Touboul et al., 2017).

It is important to mention that we have obtained a great violation of the weak equivalence principle in a space with GUP assuming that parameter of deformation  $\beta$  is the same for different particles. Let us consider a more general case in which the parameter of deformation is different for different particles. We use notation  $\beta_b$  for the parameter of deformation corresponding to a particle with index *b*. The weak equivalence principle can be recovered in a space with GUP, if we assume that  $\beta_b$  is determined by the mass of a particle as

$$\sqrt{\beta_b}m_b = \gamma = \text{const},$$
 (24)

where the constant *y* is the same for different particles and does not depend on mass (Quesne and Tkachuk, 2010; Tkachuk, 2012; Gnatenko and Tkachuk, 2020).

Taking into account Eq. 24, we find that the Eötvös parameter written up to the first order in  $\beta$  is equal to zero

$$\frac{\Delta a}{a} = 3F'(0)|v| \left(\sqrt{\beta_1} m_1 - \sqrt{\beta_2} m_2\right) + \left(2F''(0) - \left(F'(0)\right)^2\right)v^2 \times \left(\beta_1 m_1^2 - \beta_2 m_2^2\right) = 0.$$
(25)

Also, considering the parameter of deformation to be dependent on mass according to

$$\beta = \frac{\gamma^2}{m^2},\tag{26}$$

(this expression follows from Eq. 24), the equations of motion of a particle in a gravitational field Eqs. 17, 18 read

$$\dot{X} = \frac{P}{m} F\left(\gamma \frac{|P|}{m}\right),\tag{27}$$

$$\frac{\dot{P}}{m} = -\frac{\partial V(X)}{\partial X} F\left(\gamma \frac{|P|}{m}\right).$$
(28)

On the basis of Eqs. 27, 28 we have that the equations for *X* and *P*/*m* do not contain mass. Therefore, the solutions X(t), P(t)/m of these equations also do not depend on mass. So, the weak equivalence principle is recovered due to the assumption Eq. 24 (Tkachuk, 2012; Gnatenko and Tkachuk, 2020).

Let us also study the weak equivalence principle in the more general three-dimensional case of deformed (3D) algebras. Namely, let us consider the following commutation relations

$$\left[X_i, X_j\right] = G\left(P^2\right) \left(X_i P_j - X_j P_i\right),\tag{29}$$

$$\left[X_i, P_j\right] = f\left(P^2\right)\delta_{ij} + F\left(P^2\right)P_iP_j,\tag{30}$$

$$\left[P_i, P_j\right] = 0. \tag{31}$$

The algebra Eqs. 29–31 is a generalization of the well known Snyder Eqs. 4–6 and Kempf Eqs. 7–9 algebras. The functions  $G(P^2)$ ,  $F(P^2)$  and  $f(P^2)$  in Eqs. 29–31 have to satisfy the relation

$$f(F-G) - 2f'(f + FP^2) = 0, (32)$$

(here  $f' = \partial f/\partial P^2$ ) which follows from the Jacobi identity (Frydryszak and Tkachuk, 2003).

From the classical limit of Eqs. 29–31 we obtain the following Poisson brackets

$$\{X_{i}, X_{j}\} = G(P^{2})(X_{i}P_{j} - X_{j}P_{i}),$$
(33)

$$\left\{X_i, P_j\right\} = f\left(P^2\right)\delta_{ij} + F\left(P^2\right)P_iP_j,\tag{34}$$

$$\left|P_i, P_j\right| = 0. \tag{35}$$

Let us study the weak equivalence principle in the quantized space represented by Eqs. 33–35. Considering a particle in a gravitational field  $V(\mathbf{X})$  with Hamiltonian

$$H = \sum_{i} \frac{P_i^2}{2m} + mV(\mathbf{X}),$$
(36)

and taking into account the deformation of the Poisson brackets Eqs. 33–35, we find the following equations of motion

$$\dot{X}_{i} = \frac{P_{i}}{m} f\left(P^{2}\right) + m \sum_{j} \frac{\partial V(\mathbf{X})}{\partial X_{j}} G\left(P^{2}\right) \left(X_{i}P_{j} - X_{j}P_{i}\right), \quad (37)$$

$$\dot{P}_{i} = -m \frac{\partial V(\mathbf{X})}{\partial X_{i}} \tilde{f}(\beta P^{2}) - m \sum_{j} \frac{\partial V(\mathbf{X})}{\partial X_{j}} F(P^{2}) P_{i} P_{j}.$$
 (38)

On the basis of dimensional considerations the functions  $f(P^2)$ ,  $F(P^2)$ ,  $G(P^2)$  can be rewritten as  $f(P^2) = \tilde{f}(\beta P^2)$ ,  $F(P^2) = \beta \tilde{F}(\beta P^2)$  and  $G(P^2) = \beta \tilde{G}(\beta P^2)$ , where  $\tilde{f}(\beta P^2)$ ,  $\tilde{F}(\beta P^2)$  and  $\tilde{G}(\beta P^2)$  are dimensionless functions. Taking this into account, and considering the condition Eq. 26, one can rewrite the equations of motion of a particle in a gravitational field as follows

$$\dot{X}_{i} = P_{i}'\tilde{f}(\gamma^{2}(P')^{2}) + \gamma^{2}\sum_{j}\frac{\partial V(\mathbf{X})}{\partial X_{j}}\tilde{G}(\gamma^{2}(P')^{2}) \times (X_{i}P_{j}' - X_{j}P_{i}'),$$
(39)

$$\dot{P}'_{i} = -\frac{\partial V(\mathbf{X})}{\partial X_{i}} \tilde{f}(\gamma^{2} (P')^{2}) - \gamma^{2} \sum_{j} \frac{\partial V(\mathbf{X})}{\partial X_{j}} \tilde{F}$$

$$\times (\gamma^{2} (P')^{2}) P'_{i} P'_{j},$$
(40)

where  $P'_i = P_i/m$ . It is important that Eqs. 39, 40 do not depend on mass. So, the weak equivalence principle is preserved in quantized space Eqs. 33–35 if the relation of the parameter of deformation with mass Eq. 26 is satisfied (Gnatenko and Tkachuk, 2020).

It is also important to mention that the relation Eq. 26 gives a possibility to preserve the additivity property of the kinetic energy in a space with GUP and to solve the problem of the significant effect of the GUP on the kinetic energy of a macroscopic body [for details see (Gnatenko and Tkachuk, 2020)].

#### 3 Influence of noncommutativity of coordinates and noncommutativity of momenta on the motion in a gravitational field

Let us study the motion of a particle in a uniform gravitational field in the context of a noncommutative algebra of canonical type (2D)

$$[X_1, X_2] = i\hbar\theta, \tag{41}$$

$$\left[X_i, P_j\right] = i\hbar\delta_{ij},\tag{42}$$

$$[P_1, P_2] = i\hbar\eta, \tag{43}$$

where the parameters of noncommutativity  $\theta$ ,  $\eta$  are constants and *i*, *j* = (1, 2). In the classical limit we obtain the following deformed Poisson brackets

$$\{X_1, X_2\} = \theta, \tag{44}$$

$$\left\{X_i, P_j\right\} = \delta_{ij},\tag{45}$$

$$\{P_1, P_2\} = \eta.$$
(46)

Let us examine the motion of a particle in a gravitational field in the space Eqs. 44–46 and find the way to preserve the weak equivalence principle (Gnatenko, 2013; Gnatenko Kh. and Tkachuk V., 2017b, Gnatenko Kh. and Tkachuk, V. 2018a). The equations of motion of a particle with mass m in a uniform gravitational field with Hamiltonian

$$H = \frac{P_1^2}{2m} + \frac{P_2^2}{2m} - mgX_1,$$
(47)

read

$$\dot{X}_1 = \{X_1, H\} = \frac{P_1}{m},$$
 (48)

$$\dot{X}_2 = \{X_2, H\} = \frac{P_2}{m} + mg\theta,$$
 (49)

$$\dot{P_1} = \{P_1, H\} = mg + \eta \frac{P_2}{m},$$
(50)

$$\dot{P}_2 = \{P_2, H\} = -\eta \frac{P_1}{m}.$$
 (51)

In Eq. 47 one considers the field directed along the  $X_1$  axis. Note that in the two-dimensional case the noncommutative algebra of canonical type Eqs. 41–43 is rotationally invariant, so the results and conclusions we obtain, considering this particular case, can be generalized to the case of the arbitrary direction of the field.

The solution of Eqs. 48–51 with initial conditions  $X_1(0) = X_{01}, X_2(0) = X_{02}, \dot{X}_1(0) = v_{01}, \dot{X}_2(0) = v_{02}$  is the following

$$X_{1}(t) = \frac{mv_{01}}{\eta} \sin \frac{\eta}{m} t + \left(\frac{m^{2}g}{\eta^{2}} - \frac{m^{2}g\theta}{\eta} + \frac{mv_{02}}{\eta}\right) \left(1 - \cos \frac{\eta}{m}t\right)$$

$$+ X_{01},$$
(52)

$$X_{2}(t) = \left(\frac{m^{2}g}{\eta^{2}} - \frac{m^{2}g\theta}{\eta} + \frac{mv_{02}}{\eta}\right) \sin \frac{\eta}{m}t - \frac{mv_{01}}{\eta} \left(1 - \cos \frac{\eta}{m}t\right) - \frac{mg}{\eta}t + mg\theta t + X_{02}.$$
(53)

The obtained expressions Eqs. 52, 53 depend on mass, if we assume that the parameters of noncommutativity  $\theta$ ,  $\eta$  are the same for different particles. In this case the weak equivalence principle is violated in the noncommutative phase space of canonical type. The way to solve this problem is to consider, as in the previous section, that the parameters of noncommutativity are dependent upon mass (Gnatenko Kh. and Tkachuk V., 2017b).

The trajectory of a particle in the uniform gravitational field depends on  $m\theta$  and  $\eta/m$ . So, if these values do not depend on mass then the weak equivalence principle is recovered. So, let us consider the following conditions

$$\theta m = \gamma = \text{const},$$
 (54)

$$\frac{\eta}{m} = \alpha = \text{const},$$
 (55)

where  $\gamma$ ,  $\alpha$  are the same for different particles. Taking into account Eqs. 54, 55, the trajectory Eqs. 52, 53 transforms to

$$X_{1}(t) = \frac{v_{01}}{\alpha}\sin\alpha t + \left(\frac{g}{\alpha^{2}} - \frac{g\gamma}{\alpha} + \frac{v_{02}}{\alpha}\right)(1 - \cos\alpha t) + X_{01}, \quad (56)$$
$$X_{2}(t) = \left(\frac{g}{\alpha^{2}} - \frac{g\gamma}{\alpha} + \frac{v_{02}}{\alpha}\right)\sin\alpha t - \frac{v_{01}}{\alpha}(1 - \cos\alpha t) - \frac{g}{\alpha}t + \gamma gt + X_{02}. \quad (57)$$

The trajectory of a particle in the gravitational field Eqs. 56, 57 is determined by its initial coordinates and velocities and does not depend on its mass. So, the weak equivalence principle is recovered in the noncommutative phase space of canonical type due to the relations Eqs. 54, 55 (Gnatenko Kh. and Tkachuk V., 2017b).

It is worth also mentioning that for  $\eta \to 0$  the expressions Eqs. 52, 53 reduce to the well known result for the trajectory of a particle in a uniform gravitational field in ordinary space,  $X_1(t) = gt^2/2 + v_{01}t + X_{01}$ ,  $X_2(t) = v_{02}t + X_{02}$ . At the same time, the noncommutativity of the coordinates affects the relation between the momenta and velocities, such that

$$P_1 = m\dot{X}_1, \quad P_2 = m(\dot{X}_2 + mg\theta).$$
 (58)

In the case when the parameter of coordinate noncommutativity is inversely proportional to the mass on the basis of Eq. 58 we obtain that the momentum  $P_2$  is proportional to mass, as it is in ordinary space  $P_2 = m(\dot{X}_2 + \gamma g)$ .

In the more general case of a particle in a nonuniform gravitational field  $V(X_1, X_2)$  with Hamiltonian

$$H = \frac{P_1^2}{2m} + \frac{P_2^2}{2m} + mV(X_1, X_2),$$
(59)

The equations of motion read

$$\dot{X}_1 = \{X_1, H\} = \frac{P_1}{m} + m\theta \frac{\partial V(X_1, X_2)}{\partial X_2},\tag{60}$$

$$\dot{X}_2 = \{X_2, H\} = \frac{P_2}{m} - m\theta \frac{\partial V(X_1, X_2)}{\partial X_1},$$
 (61)

$$\dot{P_1} = \{P_1, H\} = -m \frac{\partial V(X_1, X_2)}{\partial X_1} + \eta \frac{P_2}{m},$$
 (62)

$$\dot{P}_2 = \{P_2, H\} = -m \frac{\partial V(X_1, X_2)}{\partial X_2} - \eta \frac{P_1}{m}.$$
 (63)

To obtain Eqs. 60–63 we take into account Eqs. 44–46. From Eqs. 60–63 we can conclude that the weak equivalence principle is violated, if the parameters of noncommutativity are the same for different particles. In the case when the conditions on the parameters of noncommutativity Eqs. 54, 55 hold, introducing the notation  $P'_i = P_i/m$ , we can write

$$\dot{X}_1 = P_1' + \gamma \frac{\partial V(X_1, X_2)}{\partial X_2}, \quad \dot{X}_2 = P_2' - \gamma \frac{\partial V(X_1, X_2)}{\partial X_1},$$
 (64)

$$\dot{P_1'} = -\frac{\partial V(X_1, X_2)}{\partial X_1} + \alpha P_2', \quad \dot{P_2'} = -\frac{\partial V(X_1, X_2)}{\partial X_2} - \alpha P_1'. \quad (65)$$

Eqs. 64, 65 depend on the parameters  $\gamma$  and  $\alpha$  and do not depend on mass. As a result,  $X_i = X_i(t)$ ,  $P'_i = P'_i(t)$  also do not depend on mass. So, conditions Eqs. 54, 55 give a possibility to preserve the weak equivalence principle also in the case of motion in a nonuniform gravitational field (Gnatenko Kh. and Tkachuk V., 2017b).

It is worth noting that in this section we consider the twodimensional case of the noncommutative algebra of canonical type Eqs. 41–43, because it is rotationally-invariant. In the threedimensional noncommutative phase space of canonical type one faces the problem of rotational symmetry breaking. A 3D algebra which is rotationally invariant and equivalent to the noncommutative algebra of canonical type was proposed in (Gnatenko K. P. and Tkachuk V. M., 2017a). It is important to mention that to recover the weak equivalence principle in the context of this algebra the idea to relate the parameters of noncommutativity with mass has to be considered [for details see (Gnatenko, 2018)].

## 4 Weak equivalence principle in noncommutative space of Lie type

Let us also study the motion of a composite system in a gravitational field in a space with a noncommutative algebra of Lie type and examine the weak equivalence principle. We consider the following algebra

$$\left\{X_i, X_j\right\} = \theta_{ij}^0 t + \theta_{ij}^k X_k,\tag{66}$$

$$\left\{X_i, P_j\right\} = \delta_{ij} + \overline{\theta}_{ij}^k X_k + \widetilde{\theta}_{ij}^k P_k, \quad \left\{P_i, P_j\right\} = 0, \tag{67}$$

where *i*, *j*, *k* = (1, 2, 3),  $\theta_{ij}^0$ ,  $\theta_{ij}^k$ ,  $\bar{\theta}_{ij}^k$ ,  $\bar{\theta}_{ij}^k$  are the parameters of noncommutativity, that are any symmetric in their lower indexes  $\theta_{ij}^0 = -\theta_{ji}^0$ ,  $\bar{\theta}_{ij}^k = -\bar{\theta}_{ji}^k$ ,  $\bar{\theta}_{ij}^k = -\tilde{\theta}_{ij}^k$  (Miao et al., 2011).

From the Jacobi identity it follows that the parameters  $\theta_{ij}^0$ ,  $\theta_{ij}^k$ ,  $\bar{\theta}_{ij}^k$ ,  $\tilde{\theta}_{ij}^k$  can not be arbitrary. In the particular case when

$$\theta_{kl}^{0} = -\theta_{k\gamma}^{0} = \frac{1}{\kappa}, \quad \theta_{l\gamma}^{0} = \frac{1}{\kappa},$$
 (68)

$$\theta_{k\gamma}^{l} = -\theta_{l\gamma}^{k} = \tilde{\theta}_{k\gamma}^{l} = -\tilde{\theta}_{l\gamma}^{k} = \frac{1}{\tilde{\kappa}},$$
(69)

the noncommutative algebra of Lie type reads

$$\left\{X_k, X_\gamma\right\} = -\frac{t}{\kappa} + \frac{X_l}{\tilde{\kappa}}, \quad \left\{X_l, X_\gamma\right\} = \frac{t}{\kappa} - \frac{X_k}{\tilde{\kappa}},\tag{70}$$

$$\{X_k, X_l\} = \frac{t}{\kappa}, \quad \left\{P_k, X_\gamma\right\} = \frac{P_l}{\tilde{\kappa}},\tag{71}$$

$$\left\{P_{l}, X_{\gamma}\right\} = -\frac{P_{k}}{\tilde{\kappa}}, \quad \left\{X_{i}, P_{j}\right\} = \delta_{ij}, \tag{72}$$

$$\{X_{\gamma}, P_{\gamma}\} = 1 \ \{P_m, P_n\} = 0, \tag{73}$$

[see (Miao et al., 2011)]. Choosing

$$\theta_{ly}^0 = -\theta_{ky}^0 = \frac{1}{\kappa}, \quad \theta_{ky}^l = -\theta_{ly}^k = \frac{1}{\tilde{\kappa}}, \tag{74}$$

$$\tilde{\theta}_{ky}^{l} = -\tilde{\theta}_{ly}^{k} = \frac{1}{\tilde{\kappa}},$$
(75)

$$\bar{\theta}_{k\gamma}^{l} = -\bar{\theta}_{l\gamma}^{k} = \frac{1}{\bar{\kappa}},\tag{76}$$

We obtain the following noncommutative algebra

$$\left\{X_k, X_\gamma\right\} = -\frac{t}{\kappa} + \frac{X_l}{\tilde{\kappa}}, \quad \left\{X_l, X_\gamma\right\} = \frac{t}{\kappa} - \frac{X_k}{\tilde{\kappa}},\tag{77}$$

$$\{X_k, X_l\} = 0, \quad \left\{P_k, X_\gamma\right\} = \frac{X_l}{\bar{\kappa}} + \frac{P_l}{\tilde{\kappa}},\tag{78}$$

$$\{P_l, X_{\gamma}\} = \frac{X_k}{\bar{\kappa}} - \frac{P_k}{\bar{\kappa}}, \quad \{X_i, P_j\} = \delta_{ij}, \tag{79}$$

$$\{X_{\gamma}, P_{\gamma}\} = 1, \{P_m, P_n\} = 0,$$
 (80)

[see (Miao et al., 2011)].

The equations of motion of a particle with mass *m* in a gravitational field  $V = V(X_1, X_2, X_3)$  with Hamiltonian  $H = \frac{\mathbf{p}^2}{2m} + mV(X_1, X_2, X_3)$  in a space with a noncommutative algebra of Lie type read

$$\dot{X}_{i} = \frac{P_{i}}{m} + \bar{\theta}_{ij}^{k} \frac{P_{j} X_{k}}{m} + \tilde{\theta}_{ij}^{k} \frac{P_{j} P_{k}}{m} + m \left(\theta_{ij}^{0} t + \theta_{ij}^{k} X_{k}\right) \frac{\partial V}{\partial X_{j}},$$
(81)

$$\dot{P}_{i} = -m\frac{\partial V}{\partial X_{i}} - m\left(\bar{\theta}_{ij}^{k}X_{k} + \tilde{\theta}_{ij}^{k}P_{k}\right)\frac{\partial V}{\partial X_{j}}.$$
(82)

The equivalence principle is recovered if the following conditions are satisfied (Gnatenko, 2019)

$$\theta_{ij}^{0(b)}m_b = \gamma_{ij}^0 = \text{const}, \quad \theta_{ij}^{k(b)}m_b = \gamma_{ij}^k = \text{const}, \tag{83}$$

$$\tilde{\theta}_{ij}^{k(b)} m_b = \tilde{\gamma}_{ij}^k = \text{const}, \quad \bar{\theta}_{ij}^{k(b)} = \bar{\theta}_{ij}^k.$$
(84)

The constants  $\gamma_{ij}^0$ ,  $\gamma_{ij}^k$ ,  $\tilde{\gamma}_{ij}^k$  are the same for different particles,  $\gamma_{ij}^0 = -\gamma_{ji}^0$ ,  $\gamma_{ij}^k = -\gamma_{ji}^k$ ,  $\tilde{\gamma}_{ij}^k = -\tilde{\gamma}_{ji}^k$ . Taking into account (83), (84) and using the notation  $P'_i = P_i/m$  the equations of motion of a particle in an arbitrary gravitational field can be rewritten as

$$\dot{X}_{i} = P_{i}' + \bar{\theta}_{ij}^{k} P_{j}' X_{k} + \tilde{\gamma}_{ij}^{k} P_{j}' P_{k}' + \left(\gamma_{ij}^{0} t + \gamma_{ij}^{k} X_{k}\right) \frac{\partial V}{\partial X_{j}},$$
(85)

$$\dot{P}'_{i} = -\frac{\partial V}{\partial X_{i}} - \left(\bar{\theta}^{k}_{ij}X_{k} + \tilde{\gamma}^{k}_{ij}P'_{k}\right)\frac{\partial V}{\partial X_{j}}.$$
(86)

The obtained Eqs. 85, 86 do not contain mass. So, conditions Eqs. 83, 84 give a possibility to recover the weak equivalence principle in a space characterized by a noncommutative algebra of Lie type Eqs. 66, 67.

#### **5** Discussion

The idea to describe features of the spatial structure at the Planck scale (the existence of a minimal length) with the help of deformed algebras has been considered. Deformed algebras of different types have been studied. Among them are deformed algebras with arbitrary functions of deformation that depends on momenta (these algebras are generalizations of the nonrelativistic Snyder and Kempf algebras), algebras with noncommutativity of the coordinates and noncommutativity of the momenta of canonical type, and noncommutative algebras of Lie type. The implementation of the weak equivalence principle has been examined in the quantized spaces described by these deformed algebras.

We have shown that, considering the parameters of the deformed algebras to be the same for different particles (different bodies), one faces the problem of violation of the weak equivalence principle. In this case the motion of a particle in a gravitational field in quantized space depends on its mass and composition. Even in the case of equality between the gravitational and the inertial masses of a body the Eötvös parameter is not equal to zero. Besides space quantization leads to great violation of this principle which should have been seen experimentally (see Eq. 23). To solve this problem the dependence of the parameters of the deformed algebras on mass has been considered. We have shown that if the parameters of the deformed algebras for coordinates and momenta are related to the particle mass the weak equivalence principle is preserved in noncommutative phase spaces of canonical type, in spaces with Lie algebraic noncommutativity, and in spaces with an arbitrary function of deformation dependent on momenta. In addition, the same relations for the parameters of deformation (parameters of noncommutativity) on mass give a possibility to recover the properties of the kinetic energy (its additivity and independence of compositions) and to solve the problem of the great effect of the minimal length on the motion of macroscopic bodies which is well known in the literature as the soccer-ball problem (Gnatenko and Tkachuk, 2020, Gnatenko Kh. and Tkachuk, V. 2017b; Gnatenko, 2019).

#### Data availability statement

The datasets analyzed during the current study are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

#### Author contributions

KG and VT contributed in equal part to the manuscript.

#### Funding

This work was partly supported by the Projects  $\Phi \Phi - 27\Phi$  (0122U001558),  $\Phi \Phi$ -11Hp (No. 0121U100058) from the Ministry of Education and Science of Ukraine.

#### Acknowledgments

The authors are grateful to Matthew J. Lake, Shi-Dong Liang, Tiberiu Harko for invitation to write this paper.

#### **Conflict of interest**

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

#### Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

#### Reference

Alavi, S. A. (2007). Lamb shift and Stark effect in simultaneous space-space and momentum-momentum noncommutative quantum mechanics and  $\theta$ -deformed su(2) algebra. *Mod. Phys. Lett. A* 22, 377–383. doi:10.1142/S0217732307018579

Bastos, C., and Bertolami, O. (2008). Berry phase in the gravitational quantum well and the Seiberg-Witten map. *Phys. Lett. A* 372, 5556–5559. doi:10.1016/j. physleta.2008.06.073

Bastos, C., Bertolami, O., Dias, N. C., and Prata, J. N. (2011). Entropic gravity, phase-space noncommutativity and the equivalence principle. *Cl. Quantum Gravity* 28, 125007. doi:10.1088/0264-9381/28/12/125007

Bertolami, O., and Leal, P. (2015). Aspects of phase-space noncommutative quantum mechanics. *Phys. Lett. B* 750, 6–11. doi:10.1016/j.physletb.2015.08.024

Bertolami, O., and Queiroz, R. (2011). Phase-space noncommutativity and the Dirac equation. *Phys. Lett. A* 375, 4116–4119. doi:10.1016/j.physleta.2011.09.053

Bishop, M., Contreras, J., Lee, J., and Singleton, D. (2021). Reconciling a quantum gravity minimal length with lack of photon dispersion. *Phys. Lett. B* 816, 136265. doi:10.1016/j.physletb.2021.136265

Daszkiewicz, M., and Walczyk, C. J. (2008). Newton equation for canonical, Liealgebraic, and quadratic deformation of classical space. *Phys. Rev. D.* 77, 105008. doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.77.105008

Djemai, A., and Smail, H. (2004). On quantum mechanics on noncommutative quantum phase space. *Commun. Theor. Phys.* 41, 837–844. doi:10.1088/0253-6102/ 41/6/837

Frydryszak, A. M., and Tkachuk, V. M. (2003). Aspects of pre-quantum description of deformed theories. *Czechoslov. J. Phys.* 53, 1035–1040. doi:10. 1023/B:CJOP.0000010529.32268.03

Gnatenko, Kh. P. (2013). Composite system in noncommutative space and the equivalence principle. *Phys. Lett. A* 377, 3061–3066. doi:10.1016/j.physleta.2013. 09.036

Gnatenko, Kh. P. (2019). Parameters of noncommutativity in Lie-algebraic noncommutative space. *Phys. Rev. D*. 99, 026009. doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.99.026009

Gnatenko, Kh. P., and Tkachuk, V. M. (2018b). Length in a noncommutative phase space. Ukr. J. Phys. 63, 102–109. doi:10.15407/ujpe63.2.102

Gnatenko, Kh. P., and Tkachuk, V. M. (2019b). Macroscopic body in the Snyder space and minimal length estimation. *EPL Europhys. Lett.* 125, 50003. doi:10.1209/0295-5075/125/50003

Gnatenko, K. P. (2018). Rotationally invariant noncommutative phase space of canonical type with recovered weak equivalence principle. *EPL Europhys. Lett.* 123, 50002. doi:10.1209/0295-5075/123/50002

Gnatenko, K. P., and Tkachuk, V. M. (2017a). Noncommutative phase space with rotational symmetry and hydrogen atom. *Int. J. Mod. Phys. A* 32, 1750161. doi:10. 1142/S0217751X17501615

Gnatenko, Kh., and Tkachuk, V. (2018a). Influence of noncommutativity on the motion of Sun-Earth-Moon system and the weak equivalence principle. *Int. J. Theor. Phys. (Dordr).* 57, 3359–3368. doi:10.1007/s10773-018-3848-6

Gnatenko, Kh., and Tkachuk, V. M. (2020). Kinetic energy properties and weak equivalence principle in a space with generalized uncertainty principle. *Mod. Phys. Lett. A* 35, 2050096. doi:10.1142/S0217732320500960

Gnatenko, Kh., and Tkachuk, V. M. (2019a). Minimal length estimation on the basis of studies of the Sun-Earth-Moon system in deformed space. *Int. J. Mod. Phys. D.* 28, 1950107. doi:10.1142/S0218271819501074

Gnatenko, Kh., and Tkachuk, V. (2017b). Weak equivalence principle in noncommutative phase space and the parameters of noncommutativity. *Phys. Lett. A* 381, 2463–2469. doi:10.1016/j.physleta.2017.05.056

Gross, D. J., and Mende, P. F. (1988). String theory beyond the Planck scale. Nucl. Phys. B 303, 407-454. doi:10.1016/0550-3213(88)90390-2

Kempf, A., Mangano, G., and Mann, R. B. (1995). Hilbert space representation of the minimal length uncertainty relation. *Phys. Rev. D.* 52, 1108–1118. doi:10.1103/ PhysRevD.52.1108

Kempf, A. (1997). Non-pointlike particles in harmonic oscillators. J. Phys. A Math. Gen. 30, 2093-2101. doi:10.1088/0305-4470/30/6/030

Lake, M. J., Miller, M., Ganardi, R. F., Liu, Z., Liang, S.-D., and Paterek, T. (2019). Generalised uncertainty relations from superpositions of geometries. *Cl. Quantum Gravity* 36, 155012. doi:10.1088/1361-6382/ab2160

Lu, L., and Stern, A. (2012). Particle dynamics on Snyder space. Nucl. Phys. B 860, 186–205. doi:10.1016/j.nuclphysb.2012.02.012

Lukierski, J., Meljanac, D., Meljanac, S., Pikutic, D., and Woronowicz, M. (2018). Lie-deformed quantum Minkowski spaces from twists: Hopf-algebraic versus Hopf-algebroid approach. *Phys. Lett. B* 777, 1–7. doi:10. 1016/j.physletb.2017.12.007

Lukierski, J., and Woronowicz, M. (2006). New Lie-algebraic and quadratic deformations of Minkowski space from twisted Poincare symmetries. *Phys. Lett. B* 633, 116–124. doi:10.1016/j.physletb.2005.11.052

Maggiore, M. (1993). A generalized uncertainty principle in quantum gravity. *Phys. Lett. B* 304, 65–69. doi:10.1016/0370-2693(93)91401-8

Masłowski, T., Nowicki, A., and Tkachuk, V. M. (2012). Deformed heisenberg algebra and minimal length. J. Phys. A Math. Theor. 45, 075309. doi:10.1088/1751-8113/45/7/075309

Menculini, L., Panella, O., and Roy, P. (2013). Exact solutions of the (2+1) dimensional Dirac equation in a constant magnetic field in the presence of a minimal length. *Phys. Rev. D.* 87, 065017. doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.87.065017

Miao, Y.-G., Wang, X.-D., and Yu, S.-J. (2011). Classical mechanics on noncommutative space with Lie-algebraic structure. *Ann. Phys.* 326, 2091–2107. doi:10.1016/j.aop.2011.04.009

Mignemi, S. (2011). Classical and quantum mechanics of the nonrelativistic Snyder model. *Phys. Rev. D.* 84, 025021. doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.84.025021

Quesne, C., and Tkachuk, V. M. (2010). Composite system in deformed space with minimal length. *Phys. Rev. A* 81, 012106. doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.81.012106

Romero, J. M., and Zamora, A. (2008). The area quantum and Snyder space. *Phys. Lett. B* 661, 11–13. doi:10.1016/j.physletb.2008.02.001

Saha, A. (2014). Colella-overhauser-werner test of the weak equivalence principle: A low-energy window to look into the noncommutative structure of space-time? *Phys. Rev. D.* 89, 025010. doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.89.025010

Sandor, B, Chang, L. N., Minic, D., Okamura, N., Rayyan, S., and Takeuchi, T. (2002). Short distance versus long distance physics: The classical limit of the minimal length uncertainty relation. *Phys. Rev. D.* 66, 026003. doi:10.1103/ PhysRevD.66.026003

Snyder, H. S. (1947). Quantized space-time. *Phys. Rev.* 71, 38-41. doi:10.1103/ PhysRev.71.38

Tkachuk, V. M. (2012). Deformed Heisenberg algebra with minimal length and the equivalence principle. *Phys. Rev. A* 86, 062112. doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.86. 062112

Touboul, P., Métris, G., Rodrigues, M., André, Y., Baghi, Q., Bergé, J., et al. (2017). MICROSCOPE mission: First results of a space test of the equivalence principle. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 119, 231101. doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.119.231101

Wagner, T. A., Schlamminger, S., Gundlach, J. H., and Adelberger, E. G. (2012). Torsion-balance tests of the weak equivalence principle. *Cl. Quantum Gravity* 29, 184002. doi:10.1088/0264-9381/29/18/184002

Williams, J. G., Turyshev, S. G., and Boggs, D. H. (2012). Lunar laser ranging tests of the equivalence principle. *Cl. Quantum Gravity* 29, 184004. doi:10.1088/0264-9381/29/18/184004

#### Check for updates

#### OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Matthew J. Lake, National Astronomical Research Institute of Thailand, Thailand

REVIEWED BY Douglas Alexander Singleton, California State University, United States Andre Gomes, Universidade Federal de Ouro Preto,

\*CORRESPONDENCE Pasquale Bosso, pasquale.bosso@uleth.ca

<sup>+</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work

SPECIALTY SECTION

Brazil

This article was submitted to High-Energy and Astroparticle Physics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Astronomy and Space Sciences

RECEIVED 29 April 2022 ACCEPTED 22 July 2022 PUBLISHED 30 August 2022

#### CITATION

Bosso P, Fridman M and Luciano GG (2022), Dark matter as an effect of a minimal length. *Front. Astron. Space Sci.* 9:932276. doi: 10.3389/fspas.2022.932276

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Bosso, Fridman and Luciano. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or

reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

# Dark matter as an effect of a minimal length

# Pasquale Bosso<sup>1\*†</sup>, Mitja Fridman<sup>1†</sup> and Giuseppe Gaetano Luciano<sup>2,3†</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Theoretical Physics Group and Quantum Alberta, Department of Physics and Astronomy, University of Lethbridge, Lethbridge, AB, Canada, <sup>2</sup>Dipartimento di Fisica E.R. Caianiello, Università di Salerno, Salerno, Italy, <sup>3</sup>INFN, Sezione di Napoli, Gruppo Collegato di Salerno, Italy

In this work, we consider the implications of a phenomenological model of quantum gravitational effects related to a minimal length, implemented *via* the generalized uncertainty principle. Such effects are applied to the Bekenstein–Hawking entropy to derive a modified law of gravity through Verlinde's conjecture. Implications on galactic scales, and in particular on the shape of rotational curves, are investigated, exploring the possibility to mimic dark matter-like effects via a minimal length.

#### KEYWORDS

minimal length, dark matter, rotational curves, entropic force, gravity

#### 1 Introduction

Dark matter (DM) is one of the dominant components in the energy budget of the Universe. Evidence for its existence ranges from galaxy clusters, rotational curves of galaxies, and gravitational lensing all to the cosmic microwave background (CMB) (Freese, 2009; Drees and Gerbier, 2012; Arbey and Mahmoudi, 2021). However, effects related to DM have not been observed on the scale of the solar system, whereas they become significant on galactic and intergalactic scales. Nonetheless, the nature of DM remains one of the most debated problems in physics up to this day. Several proposals and speculations concerning DM have been put forward, among which are MACHOs, WIMPs, axions, sterile neutrinos, and modified Newtonian dynamics (MOND) (Freese, 2009; Drees and Gerbier, 2012; Arbey and Mahmoudi, 2021; Oks, 2021). In this work, we propose an alternative explanation for DM. Specifically, we argue that the phenomenology related to DM can be partially described in terms of quantum gravitational effects.

The development of a theory of quantum gravity (QG) is an open problem in physics. Several candidate theories have been proposed, and numerous thought experiments have shaped the expected features of such a theory. However, none could have been directly tested due to current experimental and technological limitations. For this reason, phenomenological approaches have become some of the main tools to tackle the problem of QG (Magueijo, 2006; Ali et al., 2011; Hamma and Markopoulou, 2011; Dos Santos et al., 2013; Feller and Livine, 2016; Danshita et al., 2017; Haine, 2018; van de Kamp et al., 2020) (see Addazi et al. (2022) for a recent review). Such approaches usually consider the implications of features of a full QG theory on lower energy scales, possibly

accessible to current experiments and observations. Among such features, a common one is the existence of a fundamental minimal length. Such a minimal length strongly opposes the traditional Heisenberg uncertainty principle of quantum mechanics, which should be properly modified approaching the QG scale. The set of models corresponding to a modified uncertainty relation is collectively referred to as the generalized uncertainty principle (GUP) (Maggiore, 1993a; Maggiore, 1993b; Maggiore, 1994; Kempf et al., 1996; Kempf, 1997; Scardigli, 1999; Scardigli and Casadio, 2003; Ali et al., 2011; Pikovski et al., 2012; Bosso et al., 2017; Scardigli et al., 2017; Bosso, 2018; Kumar and Plenio, 2018; Gnatenko and Tkachuk, 2019; Luciano, 2021a; Bosso, 2021; Bosso and Luciano, 2021; Das and Fridman, 2021; Giardino and Salzano, 2021; Gomes, 2022). Such models are inspired from candidate theories of quantum gravity, such as string theory and loop quantum gravity, in which an effective minimal observable length appears in scattering experiments or as a structural feature of space-time. The phenomenological implications are then accounted for in terms of a minimal uncertainty in position or non-commutativity of space-time. The commutator corresponding to one of the most common GUP models can be cast as (Kempf et al., 1996; Bosso, 2021):

$$\left[x_{i}, p_{j}\right] = i\hbar \left[\delta_{ij} + \beta \left(p^{2} \delta_{ij} + 2p_{i} p_{j}\right)\right], \qquad (1)$$

where  $x_i$  and  $p_j$  are the position and momentum operators, respectively,  $\beta \equiv \beta_0 / (M_P c)^2$ , where  $\beta_0$  is a dimensionless parameter, and  $M_P = \sqrt{\hbar c/G}$  is the Planck mass. Such a model implies a modification of the uncertainty relation between the position and momentum, as found using the Schrödinger–Robertson relation and thus leads to a minimal uncertainty in the position. For example, in the one-dimensional case, the modified uncertainty relation reads (Kempf et al., 1996):

$$\Delta x \Delta p \gtrsim \hbar \left[ 1 + 3\beta \Delta p^2 \right]. \tag{2}$$

In this study, we propose how minimal length phenomenology can give rise to features similar to DM on galactic scales. Specifically, we deduce effects from GUP that contribute to the flatness of rotational curves. Such effects are obtained as a consequence of the modifications to the Bekenstein-Hawking entropy through the holographic principle, induced by GUP (Cai et al., 2008; Zhu et al., 2009; Awad and Ali, 2014; Giardino and Salzano, 2021; Buoninfante et al., 2022; Das et al., 2022). Therefore, we obtain corrections to the corresponding entropic force due to the presence of a minimal length. Based on Verlinde's conjecture (Verlinde, 2011), such a modified entropic force turns out as a modified Newton's law of gravity, thus providing a basis to study the implications of a minimal length on gravitational systems. Specifically, we require the holographic principle to hold, that is, we consider spherically symmetric surfaces of area  $A = 4\pi R^2$ separating points in space. Such surfaces behave as the natural place to store information about particles that are inside the

surfaces and that can move from one side to another. In this way, the information about the location of particles is stored in discrete bits on the surfaces. This naturally leads to the assumption that the number  $N_b$  of bits on the screens can be approximated with the number of particles  $N_p$  enclosed by the surfaces, that is,  $N_b \sim N_p = N$ . Then, the total number N of bits of the system, which is measured by its entropy S, can be naturally assumed to be proportional to the surface area A, that is,  $N \sim S \sim$ A. The total energy E of the system inside the surfaces is distributed on such bits and is related to the surface temperature by the equipartition theorem (or the GUPmodified version thereof). Such energy can be written in terms of the uniformly distributed mass M inside the surface as  $E = Mc^2$ . It should be noticed that the aforementioned reasoning can in principle be applied to any mass distribution, as long as one defines a proper holographic screen of radius R containing the whole distribution.

It turns out that a distance dependence for the GUP parameter  $\beta_0$  must be assumed to provide a reasonable mechanism to study minimal length effects on rotational curves of galaxies. Such dependence has been proposed in other works as well (see, for e.g., Ref. Ong (2018)) and suggested by the different estimations of the GUP parameter in tabletop experiments, where  $\beta_0 > 0$  (Pikovski et al., 2012; Bosso et al., 2017; Scardigli et al., 2017; Kumar and Plenio, 2018; Das and Fridman, 2021), and in astrophysical/cosmological observations, where  $\beta_0 < 0$  (Jizba et al., 2010; Ong, 2018; Buoninfante et al., 2019; Nenmeli et al., 2021; Das et al., 2022; Jizba et al., 2022) (see also Luciano (2021b) for a recent review).

The article is structured as follows: in Section 2, a modification to the equipartition theorem due to GUP is introduced; in Section 3, a modified Newton's law of gravity is derived from the GUP-modified equipartition theorem and the Bekenstein–Hawking entropy; in Section 4, we summarize our results and include some final remarks.

### 2 GUP-modified equipartition theorem

One of the reasons to introduce DM is the flatness of galactic rotational curves, which deviate from the behavior predicted based on Kepler's model considering only luminous matter. In particular, Kepler's laws predict that the orbital velocities for stars outside the bulge decrease as the square root of the distance from the center,  $v(R) \propto 1/\sqrt{R}$ . The observation that the orbital velocities are approximately independent of the distance from the center,  $v(R) \propto const.$ , even at distances comparable with the galactic radius and beyond, suggests that either Newton's law of gravity does not hold at such scales, or that non-visible matter, present in galaxies, affects stellar dynamics. As mentioned in Introduction, here we will consider the former, with the intent of studying the implications of a minimal length on galactic

rotational curves. Specifically, following Verlinde (2011), we introduce the gravitational force F as an entropic force, which is given as:

$$F\Delta x = T\Delta S , \qquad (3)$$

where  $\Delta x = \eta \lambda_C = \eta \frac{\hbar}{mc}$  is the displacement from the source of a test particle in terms of its Compton wavelength  $\lambda_C$ , *m* is the mass of the test particle,  $\eta$  is the modification factor ( $\eta = 1$  if no modification), *T* is the effective temperature at a given radius, and  $\Delta S = 2\pi k_B$  is the minimal change in entropy, as stated by the information theory (Adami, 2004), with  $k_B$  being the Boltzmann constant. The effective temperature *T* can be expressed in terms of energy *E* of a thermodynamical system via the equipartition theorem. In our case, we assume that the mass of the system is contained within a sphere of radius *R*. However, when a minimal length is introduced considering the effects of GUP on statistical mechanics, the equipartition theorem presents some corrections. To see this, we first notice that the GUP-modified density of states in three spatial dimensions reads as (Das and Fridman, 2021),

$$g(\varepsilon) = \frac{V(2m)^{3/2}\varepsilon^{1/2}}{4\pi^2\hbar^3} \left(1 - \frac{75}{4}\beta m\varepsilon\right), \qquad (4)$$

where V is the volume of the system and  $\varepsilon$  is the single particle energy. Since the results in Das and Fridman, (2021) are valid up to order  $\beta$ , the density of states presented previously, and its consequences are understood to hold up to the same order. We anticipate that the volume V will cancel out in our considerations and does not affect the results. Furthermore, it is worth mentioning that GUP is not expected to modify the value of geometrical quantities such as volumes or areas. Since GUP is a phenomenological model of quantum mechanics including a minimal uncertainty in position, GUP only affects the precision with which particles are localized, and therefore the precision with which geometrical quantities are determined, not their actual value. Returning to the expression mentioned previously, it is worth noticing that it reduces to the standard density of states for  $\beta \rightarrow 0$ , and that such a result is quantum in nature since it is based on the quantum energy spectrum of a particle in a box. In the classical limit  $\varepsilon - \mu \gg T$ , where  $\mu$  is the chemical potential, and assuming no particles are added or removed from the system,  $\mu = 0$ , the Bose-Einstein and Fermi-Dirac distributions reduce to

$$f_{\rm BE,FD}(\varepsilon) = \frac{1}{\exp\left(\frac{\varepsilon - \mu}{k_B T}\right) \mp 1} \approx f(\varepsilon) = \exp\left(-\frac{\varepsilon}{k_B T}\right), \quad (5)$$

where the - and the + signs refer to the Bose–Einstein and Fermi–Dirac distributions, respectively. The limit on the right hand side of Eq. 5 is the Maxwell–Boltzmann distribution.

To proceed further, we compute the number of particles in the system by considering the following ensemble average using the GUP-modified density of states from Eq. 4 and the classical limit for the particle distribution in Eq. 5. We then obtain

$$N = \int_{0}^{\infty} g(\varepsilon) f_{\text{BE,FD}}(\varepsilon) d\varepsilon \approx \frac{V(2m)^{3/2}}{8\pi^{3/2}\hbar^3} (k_B T)^{3/2} \times \left[1 - \frac{225}{8}\beta m(k_B T)\right],$$
(6)

where the additional term with  $\beta$  represents the GUP correction to the number of particles in the system, given the temperature *T* of the system and the mass of the constituent particles *m*. The energy of the system is obtained in a similar manner as the number of particles in the system from Eq. 6. In this case, we find

$$E = \int_{0}^{\infty} \varepsilon g(\varepsilon) f_{\text{BE,FD}}(\varepsilon) d\varepsilon \simeq \frac{3V (2m)^{3/2}}{16\pi^{3/2} \hbar^3} (k_B T)^{5/2} \times \left[1 - \frac{375}{8} \beta m(k_B T)\right].$$
(7)

The aforementioned formula represents the thermal energy of a system in three spatial dimensions. We can recast the expression for the thermal energy in a more familiar form by combining Eqs 6, 7 to obtain the GUP-modified equipartition theorem, which reads as

$$E = \frac{n_s}{2} N k_B T \left[ 1 - \frac{75}{4} \beta m \left( k_B T \right) \right], \qquad (8)$$

in  $n_s$ -spatial dimensions. We are going to use this expression with  $n_s = 1$ , since the only relevant spatial degree of freedom in the system contributing to the entropic force is the radial one. We can then find an expression of the temperature *T* as a function of the energy *E* up to the first order in  $\beta$ , that is,

$$T \sim \frac{2E}{k_B N} + \beta \frac{75mE^2}{k_B N^2} . \tag{9}$$

Since this expression is derived from a quadratic equation, two solutions in principle are allowed. However, only the solution with the minus sign is considered since it is the only one which returns the standard case as  $\beta \rightarrow 0$ . For the case of the entropic force, the energy in Eq. 9 is not simply the thermal energy of particles in a given volume but the total energy of the system in that volume.

#### 3 GUP-modified law of gravity

As shown in Verlinde (2011), one can derive Newton's law of gravity as an entropic force. The same procedure is applied here, with the difference that one includes GUP corrections everywhere they apply. A similar consideration has been discussed in Sheykhi (2020), where a Tsallis entropy modification to the Bekenstein–Hawking (BH) entropy has been used to derive the modified law of gravity. Such an entropy can be modified by GUP through the holographic principle as well (Awad and Ali, 2014; Das et al., 2022). It can then be written as

$$S = \frac{c^3 k_B}{8\hbar G} \left[ A + \sqrt{A^2 - \beta^* A} - \frac{\beta^*}{2} \right] \times \ln \left( 1 - \frac{2}{\beta^*} \left( A + \sqrt{A^2 - \beta^* A} \right) \right) , \quad (10)$$

where *A* is the area of the horizon and  $\beta^* = 12\pi\hbar^2\beta$ . Such a modification implies a deformation of the temperature of the system. To see this, first, we notice that the total number *N* of bits of information on the surface of the holographic horizon can be expressed in terms of the horizon entropy as follows (Verlinde, 2011):

$$N = \frac{4S}{k_B} . (11)$$

Thus, substituting Eq. 11 and Eq. 10 in Eq. 9, we get

$$T = \frac{2\hbar GE}{k_B c^3 A} + \beta_0 \left[ \frac{6\pi \hbar^3 GE}{k_B M_p^2 c^5 A^2} \left( 1 + \ln \left( 2 - \frac{M_p^2 c^2 A}{3\pi \hbar^2 \beta_0} \right) \right) + \frac{75\hbar^2 G^2 m E^2}{k_B M_p^2 c^8 A^2} \right].$$
(12)

It is worth noticing that the temperature *T* depends on the area *A* of the holographic horizon and the total energy *E* of the system. These quantities are related to the radius *R* of the horizon and the mass *M* contained within that radius through  $A = 4\pi R^2$  and  $E = Mc^2$ , respectively. The temperature from Eq. 12, expressed in terms of *R* and *M*, and the aforementioned  $\Delta x$  and  $\Delta S$  are substituted in Eq. 3, where the GUP-modified Compton wavelength with  $\eta = 1 + \beta_0 \frac{m^2}{M_p^2}$  (Carr et al., 2020) is considered. Up to leading orders in  $\beta_0$ , we obtain the GUP-modified law of gravity, which is

$$F = \frac{GmM}{R^2} + \beta_0 \left[ \frac{3\hbar^2 GmM}{4M_p^2 c^2 R^4} \left( 1 + \ln\left(2 - \frac{4M_p^2 c^2 R^2}{3\hbar^2 \beta_0}\right) \right) + \frac{75\hbar G^2 m^2 M^2}{8M_p^2 c^3 R^4} - \frac{Gm^3 M}{M_p^2 R^2} \right].$$
(13)

Using the expression for the centripetal force  $F = m \frac{v^2}{R}$  at radius *R*, we can then find the GUP-modified rotational velocity, which is

$$\nu = \sqrt{\frac{GM}{R} + \beta_0 \left[ \frac{3\hbar^2 GM}{4M_p^2 c^2 R^3} \left( 1 + \ln\left(2 - \frac{4M_p^2 c^2 R^2}{3\hbar^2 \beta_0}\right) \right) + \frac{75\hbar G^2 m M^2}{8M_p^2 c^3 R^3} - \frac{Gm^2 M}{M_p^2 R} \right].$$
(14)

The test particle, of mass *m*, can in principle be anything, from a subatomic particle to a large star. However, when a composite system is considered, GUP effects are reduced by the number *n* of constituents (Amelino-Camelia, 2013). In the present case, this amounts to replacing the modification parameter  $\beta_0$  by the reduced parameter scaling with the square of the inverse number of constituents, that is,  $\beta_0 \rightarrow \beta_0/$   $n^2$ . It should be noted that *n* corresponds to the number of constituent particles of the test mass which is different from *N*, introduced in Eq. 6, which corresponds to the number of bits of information on the holographic screen.

The last term in Eq. 13 that dominates at galactic distances, compared to other correction terms, can be easily verified. Therefore, Eq. 13 can be rewritten as

$$F \simeq \frac{Gm_{eff}M}{R^2} , \qquad (15)$$

where we have defined an effective gravitational mass  $m_{eff} = m[1 - \frac{\beta_0}{m^2} \frac{m^2}{M_p^2}]$ . We notice that this implies a potential GUP-induced violation of the weak equivalence principle, since  $m_{eff} \equiv m_g \neq m \equiv m_i$ , where  $m_g$  is the gravitational mass and  $m_i$  is the inertial mass (see also Casadio and Scardigli, (2020)). Since in our framework  $\beta_0 < 0$ , we have  $m_g > m_i$ , which might partially justify the higher galaxy rotation velocities with respect to standard cosmological predictions.

From Eq. 14, the GUP-modified velocity for large distances is given as

$$\nu \simeq \sqrt{\frac{GM}{R} \left[ 1 - \frac{\beta_0}{n^2} \frac{m^2}{M_p^2} \right]} \quad \text{with} \quad \beta_0 < 0 \; . \tag{16}$$

We point out here that other terms in Eqs 13, 14 dominate at smaller scales, where the GUP effects are significantly smaller. Furthermore, it is worth noticing that, due to the scaling of the modification parameter in Eq. 16, the mass of a star orbiting with velocity v is scaled by the number of fundamental constituents. Assuming that such constituents correspond to the elements in the plasma (mostly electrons and protons for a typical main sequence star), the quantity m/n is of the order of the proton mass regardless of the actual values of m and n. Such assumption will be considered in the following estimations.

It turns out that a distance dependence of the GUP parameter  $\beta_0$  must be assumed to properly describe the flatness of rotational curves of galaxies. In fact, as can be noticed from Eq. 16, a constant GUP parameter simply shifts the orbital velocity at any given radial position by a constant factor. The assumption that the GUP parameter  $\beta_0$  takes a distance dependence is compatible with the fact that similar effects are not observed at the solar system scale, at which Kepler's laws hold, while effects usually associated with DM tend to become relevant approaching galactic and intergalactic scales. This suggests that the GUP parameter  $\beta_0$  must be distance-dependent since DM effects appear to be distance-dependent. Such an assumption is also supported by Ong (2018) and the difference between estimations of the quadratic GUP parameter in tabletop experiments, where  $\beta_0 > 0$  (Pikovski et al., 2012; Bosso et al., 2017; Scardigli et al., 2017; Kumar and Plenio, 2018; Das and Fridman, 2021), and in astrophysical/cosmological observations, where  $\beta_0 < 0$  (Jizba et al., 2010; Ong, 2018; Buoninfante et al., 2019; Nenmeli



et al., 2021; Das et al., 2022; Jizba et al., 2022). We propose different models of a distance-dependent  $\beta_0$ :

- Model 1:  $\beta_0(R) = \gamma \frac{R}{R^*}$ ,
- Model 2:  $\beta_0(R) = \gamma \frac{R^2}{R^{*2}}$ ,
- Model 3:  $\beta_0(R) = \gamma \ln(1 + \frac{R}{R^*})$ , and
- Model 4:  $\beta_0(R) = \gamma \frac{2}{\pi} \arctan(\frac{R}{R^*})$ ,

where  $\gamma < 0$  is a constant parameter and  $R^* \sim 1$ ly is the scale at which effects, associated with DM, become significant. We consider a toy model galaxy with the following matter distribution (Freeman, 1970):

$$\rho(R) = \rho_0 e^{-\frac{R}{R_d}} , \qquad (17)$$

where we chose  $\rho_0 = 2 \times 10^{-19} \text{ kg/m}^3$  for the central density and  $R_d = 16,000$  ly for the galaxy scale parameter. We use the matter distribution from Eq. 17 to obtain the mass of the galaxy within a certain radius M(R), used in Eq. 16, to obtain Figure 1.

From Figure 1, we can see that the model which best describes the flatness of rotational curves is model 1, since the Compton correction term dominates at large distances, and the linear model 1 renders it constant. As for the natural logarithm and arc tangent models, they require a much higher peak for the rotational velocities in order to explain the flatness of the curves. Since observations of rotational curves of galaxies show no significant discrepancy from standard Newton's theory up to about the peak of the curve, such models are not able to fit the observations. The quadratic model 2 can potentially constitute a good description for a different choice of the parameters  $\gamma$  and  $R^*$ . Since models 2 and 4 do not describe the DM effects satisfactorily, we are left with models 1 and 2. For these models, we can consider the two different parameters  $\gamma$  and  $R^*$  as only one parameter  $\gamma/R^*$  and  $\gamma/R^{*2}$  for models 1 and 2,

respectively. The values for these parameters, which were used to obtain the aforementioned graphs, are  $\gamma/R^* = -1.9$ , ×,  $10^{33}$  ly<sup>-1</sup> and  $\gamma/R^{*2} = -3.6 \times 10^{27}$  ly<sup>-2</sup> for models 1 and 2, respectively. These values constitute upper bounds for such parameters, namely,  $|\gamma/R^*| \le 1.9 \times 10^{33}$  ly<sup>-1</sup> and  $|\gamma/R^{*2}| \le 3.6 \times 10^{27}$  ly<sup>-2</sup>, respectively.

#### 4 Conclusion

Newton's law of gravity can be derived as an entropic force through the holographic principle (Verlinde, 2011). In the present work, we have revised the derivation considering the influence of GUP. Specifically, we have considered the influence of GUP on the temperature T in the equipartition theorem, the Bekenstein-Hawking entropy, and the Compton wavelength. The GUP-corrected law of gravity has then been used to provide an explanation for the flatness of the rotational curves of galaxies. Specifically, alongside the proposed DM content in galaxies, we proposed that GUP effects can contribute to the observed shape of rotational curves. In the case that the GUP parameter  $\beta_0$  remains constant, the rotational curves of galaxies only get magnified by a constant factor. Therefore, for GUP to effectively influence the rotational curves, we argued that the GUP parameter must be distance-dependent. This claim is directly supported by the work from Ong (2018) and indirectly by a comparison of positive bounds of quadratic GUP parameters estimated from laboratory experiments (Pikovski et al., 2012; Bosso et al., 2017; Scardigli et al., 2017; Kumar and Plenio, 2018; Das and Fridman, 2021) and negative bounds estimated from astrophysical/cosmological observations (Jizba et al., 2010; Ong, 2018; Buoninfante et al., 2019; Nenmeli et al., 2021; Das et al., 2022; Jizba et al., 2022).

We have proposed different models concerning the distance dependence for the GUP parameter  $\beta_0$  and introduced a new scale parameter  $R^*$  at which GUP effects start to contribute to the shape of the rotational curves of galaxies. Here, we note that the GUP length scale need not be of the order of the Planck length  $\ell_p$ but can be any intermediate length scale  $\sqrt{\beta_0}\ell_p$  between the electroweak and Planck scales, determined by the GUP parameter  $\beta_0$ . For the cases of models 1 and 2, we introduce parameters  $\gamma/R^*$  and  $\gamma/R^{*2}$ , respectively, since we cannot obtain bounds for  $\gamma$  and  $R^*$  separately. Models 3 and 4 were found to be inadequate to explain the observed DM effects, and there would also be no possibility to combine parameters  $\gamma$  and  $R^*$  in a similar fashion as for models 1 and 2.

Models 1 and 2 constrain the newly defined parameters to |y| $R*| \le 1.9 \times 10^{33} \text{ ly}^{-1}$  and  $|y/R^{*2}| \le 3.6 \times 10^{27} \text{ ly}^{-2}$ , respectively. However, these models can explain the flatness of rotational curves of galaxies only up to an extent. For example, we notice that for model 1 the rotational velocities would remain constant for  $R \to \infty$ , while for model 2 they would diverge for  $R \to \infty$  for any values of the parameters. Furthermore, the approximations used to obtain Eqs 12, 13 break down at sufficiently large R.

The contribution of GUP effects to the shape of rotational curves of galaxies should be determined, once more information on the exact nature of particle DM and its abundance in galaxies is known. Furthermore, the feature of a distance-dependent GUP parameter, leading toward a partial explanation of galactic rotational curves, can be considered a possible additional structure of models of quantum mechanics with a minimal length having astrophysical and cosmological consequences. Finally, it is worth exploring the correspondence between our results and those presented by Ong (2018), Gnatenko and Tkachuk, (2019), and Gnatenko and Tkachuk, (2020), which still exhibit the possibility of a mass-dependent GUP parameter.

#### Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary Material; further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

#### References

Adami, C. (2004). The Physics of information. [arXiv:quant-ph/0405005 [quant-ph]].

Addazi, A., Alvarez-Muniz, J., Batista, R. A., Amelino-Camelia, G., Antonelli, V., Arzano, M., et al. (2022). *Prog. Part. Nucl. Phys.* 2022, 103948. [arXiv: 2111.05659 [hep-ph]].

Ali, A. F., Das, S., and Vagenas, E. C. (2011). Proposal for testing quantum gravity in the lab. *Phys. Rev. D.* 84, 044013. [arXiv:1107.3164v2]. doi:10.1103/physrevd.84.044013

Amelino-Camelia, G. (2013). Challenge to macroscopic probes of quantum spacetime based on noncommutative geometry. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 111, 101301. [arXiv:1304.7271 [gr-qc]]. doi:10.1103/physrevlett.111.101301

Arbey, A., and Mahmoudi, F. (2021). Dark matter and the early universe: A review. *Prog. Part. Nucl. Phys.* 119, 103865. [arXiv:2104.11488 [hep-ph]]. doi:10. 1016/j.ppnp.2021.103865

Awad, A., and Ali, A. F. (2014). JHEP 06, 093. [arXiv:1404.7825 [gr-qc]].

Bosso, P., Das, S., Pikovski, I., and Vanner, M. R. (2017). Amplified transduction of Planck-scale effects using quantum optics. *Phys. Rev. A* 96, 023849. [arXiv: 1610.06796 [gr-qc]]. doi:10.1103/physreva.96.023849

Bosso, P., and Luciano, G. G. (2021). Generalized uncertainty principle: From the harmonic oscillator to a QFT toy model. *Eur. Phys. J. C* 81, 982. [arXiv: 2109.15259 [hep-th]]. doi:10.1140/epjc/s10052-021-09795-1

Bosso, P. (2021). On the quasi-position representation in theories with a minimal length. *Cl. Quantum Gravity* 38, 075021. arXiv:2005.12258 [gr-qc]]. doi:10.1088/1361-6382/abe758

Bosso, P. (2018). Rigorous Hamiltonian and Lagrangian analysis of classical and quantum theories with minimal length. *Phys. Rev. D.* 97, 126010. [arXiv: 1804.08202 [gr-qc]]. doi:10.1103/physrevd.97.126010

Buoninfante, L., Luciano, G. G., and Petruzziello, L. (2019). Generalized uncertainty principle and corpuscular gravity. *Eur. Phys. J. C* 79, 663. [arXiv: 1903.01382 [gr-qc]]. doi:10.1140/epjc/s10052-019-7164-y

Buoninfante, L., Luciano, G. G., Petruzziello, L., and Scardigli, F. (2022). Bekenstein bound and uncertainty relations. *Phys. Lett. B* 824, 136818. [arXiv: 2009.12530 [hep-th]]. doi:10.1016/j.physletb.2021.136818

Cai, R. G., Cao, L. M., and Hu, Y. P. (2008). Corrected entropy-area relation and modified Friedmann equations. J. High. Energy Phys. 08, 090. [arXiv: 0807.1232 [hep-th]]. doi:10.1088/1126-6708/2008/08/090

#### Author contributions

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work and approved it for publication.

#### **Conflict of interest**

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

#### Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors, and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Carr, B., Mentzer, H., Mureika, J., and Nicolini, P. (2020). Self-complete and GUP-modified charged and spinning black holes. *Eur. Phys. J. C* 80, 1166. [arXiv: 2006.04892 [gr-qc]]. doi:10.1140/epjc/s10052-020-08706-0

Casadio, R., and Scardigli, F. (2020). Generalized uncertainty principle, classical mechanics, and general relativity. *Phys. Lett. B* 807, 135558. [arXiv:2004.04076 [gr-qc]]. doi:10.1016/j.physletb.2020.135558

Danshita, I., Hanada, M., and Tezuka, M. (2017). Creating and probing the Sachdev–Ye–Kitaev model with ultracold gases: Towards experimental studies of quantum gravity. *Prog. Theor. Exp. Phys.* 2017 (8). [arXiv:1606.02454v2]. doi:10. 1093/ptep/ptx108

Das, S., Fridman, M., Lambiase, G., and Vagenas, E. C. (2022). Baryon asymmetry from the generalized uncertainty principle. *Phys. Lett. B* 824, 136841. [arXiv: 2107.02077 [gr-qc]]. doi:10.1016/j.physletb.2021.136841

Das, S., and Fridman, M. (2021). Test of quantum gravity in statistical mechanics. *Phys. Rev. D.* 104, 026014. [arXiv:2104.04634 [gr-qc]]. doi:10.1103/physrevd.104. 026014

Dos Santos, M. M., Oniga, T., McLeman, A. S., Caldwell, M., and Wang, C. H.- T. (2013). Toward quantum gravity measurement by cold atoms. *J. Plasma Phys.* 79 (4), 437–442. [arXiv:1301.0494v2]. doi:10.1017/s0022377813000202

Drees, M., and Gerbier, G. (2012). *Mini-review of dark matter*. [arXiv: 1204.2373 [hep-ph]].

Feller, A., and Livine, E. R. (2016). Ising spin network states for loop quantum gravity: A toy model for phase transitions. *Cl. Quantum Grav.* 33, 065005. [arXiv: 1509.05297v1]. doi:10.1088/0264-9381/33/6/065005

Freeman, K. C. (1970). On the disks of spiral and so galaxies. Astrophys. J. 160, 811. doi:10.1086/150474

Freese, K. (2009). Review of observational evidence for dark matter in the universe and in upcoming searches for dark stars. *EAS Publ. Ser.* 36, 113–126. [arXiv:0812.4005 [astro-ph]]. doi:10.1051/eas/0936016

Giardino, S., and Salzano, V. (2021). Cosmological constraints on GUP from modified Friedmann equations. *Eur. Phys. J. C* 81, 110. [arXiv:2006.01580 [gr-qc]]. doi:10.1140/epjc/s10052-021-08914-2

Gnatenko, K. P., and Tkachuk, V. M. (2020). Kinetic energy properties and weak equivalence principle in a space with generalized uncertainty principle. *Mod. Phys. Lett.* A 35 (13), 2050096. [arXiv:1907.07057 [gr-qc]]. doi:10.1142/s0217732320500960

Gnatenko, K. P., and Tkachuk, V. M. (2019). Macroscopic body in the Snyder space and minimal length estimation. *EPL* 125 (5), 50003. [arXiv: 1901.10811 [physics.gen-ph]]. doi:10.1209/0295-5075/125/50003

Gomes, A. H. (2022). A framework for nonrelativistic isotropic models based on generalized uncertainty principles. [arXiv:2202.02044 [quant-ph]].

Haine, S. A. (2018). Searching for signatures of quantum gravity in quantum gases. [arXiv:1810.10202v3].

Hamma, A., and Markopoulou, F. (2011). Background-independent condensed matter models for quantum gravity. *New J. Phys.* 13, 095006. [arXiv:1011.5754v1]. doi:10.1088/1367-2630/13/9/095006

Jizba, P., Kleinert, H., and Scardigli, F. (2010). Uncertainty relation on a world crystal and its applications to micro black holes. *Phys. Rev. D.* 81, 084030. [arXiv: 0912.2253 [hep-th]]. doi:10.1103/physrevd.81.084030

Jizba, P., Lambiase, G., Luciano, G. G., and Petruzziello, L. (2022). Decoherence limit of quantum systems obeying generalized uncertainty principle: New paradigm for Tsallis thermostatistics. *Phys. Rev. D.* 105, L121501. [arXiv:2201.07919 [hepth]]. doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.105.L121501

Kempf, A. (1997). J. Phys. A 30, 2093-2102. [arXiv:hep-th/9604045 [hep-th]].

Kempf, A., Mangano, G., and Mann, R. B. (1996). Hilbert space representation of the minimal length uncertainty relation. [arXiv:9412167v3].

Kumar, S. P., and Plenio, M. B. (2018). Quantum-optical tests of Planck-scale physics. [arXiv:1708.05659v2].

Luciano, G. G. (2021). Tsallis statistics and generalized uncertainty principle. *Eur. Phys. J. C* 81, 672. doi:10.1140/epjc/s10052-021-09486-x

Luciano, G. G. (2021). Tsallis statistics and generalized uncertainty principle. *Eur. Phys. J. C* 81, 672. doi:10.1140/epjc/s10052-021-09486-x

Maggiore, M. (1993). A generalized uncertainty principle in quantum gravity. *Phys. Lett.* B 304, 65–69. [arXiv:hep-th/9301067]. doi:10.1016/0370-2693(93)91401-8

Maggiore, M. (1994). Quantum groups, gravity, and the generalized uncertainty principle. *Phys. Rev. D.* 49, 5182–5187. [arXiv:hep-th/9305163]. doi:10.1103/physrevd.49.5182

Maggiore, M. (1993). The algebraic structure of the generalized uncertainty principle. *Phys. Lett. B* 319, 83–86. [arXiv:hep-th/9309034]. doi:10.1016/0370-2693(93)90785-g

Magueijo, J. (2006). Phys. Rev. D. 73, 124020. [arXiv:0603073v2]. doi:10.1103/ physrevd.73.124020

Nenmeli, V., Shankaranarayanan, S., Todorinov, V., and Das, S. (2021). Maximal momentum GUP leads to quadratic gravity. *Phys. Lett. B* 821, 136621. [arXiv: 2106.04141 [gr-qc]]. doi:10.1016/j.physletb.2021.136621

Oks, E. (2021). Brief review of recent advances in understanding dark matter and dark energy. *New Astron. Rev.* 93, 101632. [arXiv:2111.00363 [astro-ph.CO]]. doi:10.1016/j.newar.2021.101632

Ong, Y. C. (2018). Generalized uncertainty principle, black holes, and white dwarfs: A tale of two infinities. *J. Cosmol. Astropart. Phys.* 09, 015. [arXiv: 1804.05176 [gr-qc]]. doi:10.1088/1475-7516/2018/09/015

Pikovski, I., Vanner, M. R., Aspelmeyer, M., Kim, M. S., and Brukner, Č. (2012). Probing Planck-scale physics with quantum optics. [arXiv:1111.1979v2].

Scardigli, F., and Casadio, R. (2003). Generalized uncertainty principle, extra dimensions and holography. *Cl. Quantum Gravity* 20, 3915–3926. [arXiv:0307174]. doi:10.1088/0264-9381/20/18/305

Scardigli, F. (1999). Generalized uncertainty principle in quantum gravity from micro-black hole gedanken experiment. *Phys. Lett. B* 452, 39–44. [arXiv:hep-th/9904025]. doi:10.1016/s0370-2693(99)00167-7

Scardigli, F., Lambiase, G., and Vagenas, E. C. (2017). GUP parameter from quantum corrections to the Newtonian potential. *Phys. Lett. B* 767, 242–246. [arXiv: 1611.01469]. doi:10.1016/j.physletb.2017.01.054

Sheykhi, A. (2020). New explanation for accelerated expansion and flat galactic rotation curves. *Eur. Phys. J. C* 80, 25. [arXiv:1912.08693 [physics.gen-ph]]. doi:10. 1140/epjc/s10052-019-7599-1

van de Kamp, T. W., Marshman, R. J., Bose, S., and Mazumdar, A. (2020). Quantum gravity witness via entanglement of masses: Casimir screening. *Phys. Rev. A* 102, 062807. [arXiv:2006.06931v2]. doi:10.1103/physreva.102. 062807

Verlinde, E. P. (2011). JHEP 04, 029. [arXiv:1001.0785 [hep-th]].

Zhu, T., Ren, J. R., and Li, M. F. (2009). Influence of generalized and extended uncertainty principle on thermodynamics of FRW universe. *Phys. Lett. B* 674, 204–209. [arXiv:0811.0212 [hep-th]]. doi:10.1016/j.physletb. 2009.03.020

#### Check for updates

#### OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Matthew J. Lake, National Astronomical Research Institute of Thailand, Thailand

REVIEWED BY Christian Corda, B. M. Birla Science Centre, India Izzet Sakalli, Eastern Mediterranean University, Turkey

\*CORRESPONDENCE H. Moradpour, h.moradpour@riaam.ac.ir A. H. Ziaie, ah.ziaie@maragheh.ac.ir N. Sadeghnezhad, nsadegh@maragheh.ac.ir

#### SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to High-Energy and Astroparticle Physics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Astronomy and Space Sciences

RECEIVED 05 May 2022 ACCEPTED 02 August 2022 PUBLISHED 09 September 2022

#### CITATION

Moradpour H, Ziaie AH, Sadeghnezhad N and Ghasemi A (2022), Generalized uncertainty principle and burning stars. *Front. Astron. Space Sci.* 9:936352. doi: 10.3389/fspas.2022.936352

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Moradpour, Ziaie, Sadeghnezhad and Ghasemi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

# Generalized uncertainty principle and burning stars

#### H. Moradpour\*, A. H. Ziaie\*, N. Sadeghnezhad\* and A. Ghasemi

Research Institute for Astronomy and Astrophysics of Maragha (RIAAM), University of Maragheh, Maragheh, Iran

Gamow's theory of the implications of quantum tunneling for star burning has two cornerstones: quantum mechanics and the equipartition theorem. It has been proposed that both of these foundations are affected by the existence of a non-zero minimum length, which usually appears in quantum gravity scenarios and leads to the generalized uncertainty principle (GUP). Mathematically, in the framework of quantum mechanics, the effects of the GUP are considered as perturbation terms. Here, generalizing the de Broglie wavelength relation in the presence of a minimal length, GUP corrections to the Gamow temperature are calculated, and in parallel, an upper bound for the GUP parameter is estimated.

#### KEYWORDS

quantum gravity, minimal length, generalized uncertainty principle, Gamow theory, stellar formation

#### Introduction

In the first step of star burning, its constituents must overcome the Coulomb barrier to participate in nuclear fusion (NF). This means that when the primary gas ingredients have mass m and velocity v, then using the equipartition theorem, one gets

$$\frac{1}{2}mv^{2} = \frac{3}{2}K_{B}T \ge U_{c}(r_{0}), \tag{1}$$

where  $K_B$  denotes the Boltzmann constant, the subscript c in  $U_c(r_0)$  indicates the Coulomb potential, and correspondingly,  $U_c(r_0) = \frac{Z_i Z_j e^2}{r_0}$  denotes the maximum of the Coulomb potential between the *i*th and *j*th particles located at a distance  $r_0$  from each other (Prialnik, 2000). In this article, Kelvin (*K*) is the temperature unit. Finally, we reach

$$T \ge \frac{2Z_i Z_j e^2}{3K_B r_0} \simeq 1 \cdot 1 \times 10^{10} \frac{Z_i Z_j}{r_0},$$
(2)

for the temperature required to overcome the Coulomb barrier. Therefore, NF happens whenever the temperature of the primary gas is comparable to Eq. 2, which clearly shows that, for the heavier nuclei, NF happens at higher temperatures. On the contrary, for the temperature of gas with mass M and radius R, we have (Prialnik, 2000)

$$\mathcal{T} \approx 4 \times 10^6 \left(\frac{M}{M_{\odot}}\right) \left(\frac{R_{\odot}}{R}\right),$$
 (3)

$\beta_0$	Refs.
10 <sup>78</sup>	Scardigli and Casadio (2015)
$10^{78}$	Scardigli and Casadio (2015)
$10^{71}$	Scardigli and Casadio (2015)
$10^{69}$	Scardigli and Casadio (2015)
$10^{60}$	Feng et al. (2017)
$10^{51}$	Aghababaei et al. (2021)
$10^{50}$	Das and Vagenas (2008)
$10^{49}$	Feleppa et al. (2021)
$10^{46}$	Aghababaei et al. (2021)
	10 <sup>78</sup> 10 <sup>78</sup> 10 <sup>71</sup> 10 <sup>69</sup> 10 <sup>60</sup> 10 <sup>51</sup> 10 <sup>50</sup> 10 <sup>49</sup>

where  $M_{\odot}$  and  $R_{\odot}$  are the Sun mass and radius, respectively. Clearly,  $\mathcal{T}$  and T are far from each other, meaning that NF cannot cause star burning (Prialnik, 2000). Therefore, NF occurs if a process reduces the required temperature (2). In fact, we need a process that decreases Eq. 2 to the values comparable to Eq. 3. Quantum tunneling lets particles pass through the Coulomb barrier, which finally triggers star burning, meaning that quantum tunneling allows NF to occur at temperatures lower than T (Prialnik, 2000). Indeed, if the distance between particles  $(r_0)$  becomes of the order of their de Broglie wavelength  $(r_0 \simeq \frac{\hbar}{p} \equiv \lambda_Q$  where Q implies that we are in the purely quantum mechanical regime), then quantum tunneling happens and simple calculations lead to (Prialnik, 2000)

$$T \ge \frac{2Z_i Z_j e^2}{3K_B \lambda_Q} \simeq 9 \cdot 6 \times 10^6 Z_i^2 Z_j^2 \left(\frac{m}{\frac{1}{2}}\right) \equiv \mathbb{T},\tag{4}$$

instead of Eq. 2 for the temperature required to launch star burning.  $\lambda_Q$  can also be obtained by solving  $\frac{p^2}{2m} = U_c(r_0)|_{r_0=\lambda_Q}$ which gives (Prialnik, 2000)

$$\lambda_Q = \frac{\hbar^2}{2mZ_i Z_j e^2},\tag{5}$$

meaning that quantum tunneling provides a platform for NF in stars (Prialnik, 2000). As an example, for hydrogen atoms, one can see that quantum tunneling leads to  $T \simeq 9 \cdot 6 \times 10^6 K$  (comparable to (3)) as the Gamow temperature at which NF is underway. Based on the above argument, it is expected that any change in *p* affects  $\lambda_O$  and, thus, these results.

It is also useful to mention here that the quantum tunneling theory allows the above process because the tunneling probability is not zero. Indeed, quantum tunneling is also the backbone of Gamow's theory of the  $\alpha$  decay process (Gamow, 1928). Relying on the inversion of the Gamow formula for  $\alpha$  decay, which gives the transmission coefficient, a method has also been proposed for studying the inverse problem of Hawking radiation (Völkel et al., 2019).

The backbone of quantum mechanics is the Heisenberg uncertainty principle (HUP),

$$\Delta x \Delta p \ge \frac{\hbar}{2},\tag{6}$$

where *x* and *p* are ordinary canonical coordinates satisfying  $[x_i, p_j] = i\hbar \delta_{ij}$ . It has been proposed that, in quantum gravity scenarios, the HUP is modified such that (Kempf et al., 1995; Kempf, 1996)

$$\Delta X \Delta P \ge \frac{\hbar}{2} \left( 1 + \frac{\beta_0 l_p^2}{\hbar^2} (\Delta P)^2 \right), \tag{7}$$

called the GUP, where  $l_p$  denotes the Planck length and  $\beta_0$  is the dimensionless GUP parameter. X and P are called generalized coordinates, and we work in a framework in which  $X_i = x_i$ , and up to the first order, we have  $P_i = p_i (1 + p_i)$  $\frac{\beta_0 l_p^2}{3\hbar^2} p^2$  and  $[X_i, P_j] = i\hbar (1 + \frac{\beta_0 l_p^2}{\hbar^2} P^2) \delta_{ij}$  (Das and Vagenas, 2008; Motlaq and Pedram, 2014). Moreover, the GUP implies that there is a non-zero minimum length  $(\Delta X)_{\min} = \sqrt{\beta_0} l_p$ . Indeed, the existence of a non-zero minimum length also emerges even when the gravitational regime is Newtonian (Mead, 1964), a common result with quantum gravity scenarios (Hossenfelder, 2013). More studies on quantum gravity can be traced to earlier studies (Lake et al., 2019; Lake et al., 2020; Lake, 2021; Lake, 2022). There have been various attempts to estimate the maximum possible upper bound on  $\beta_0$  (Zhu et al., 2009; Chemissany et al., 2011; Das and Mann, 2011; Sprenger et al., 2011; Pikovski et al., 2012; Husain et al., 2013; Ghosh, 2014; Jalalzadeh et al., 2014; Scardigli and Casadio, 2015; Bosso et al., 2017; Feng et al., 2017; Gecim and Sucu, 2017; Bushev et al., 2019; Luciano and Petruzziello, 2019; Park, 2020; Aghababaei et al., 2021; Feleppa et al., 2021; Mohammadi Sabet et al., 2021), and among them, it seems that the maximum estimation for the upper bound is of the order of 1078 (Scardigli and Casadio, 2015). The implications of GUP on stellar evolution (Moradpour et al., 2019; Shababi and Ourabah, 2020) and the thermodynamics of various gases (Chang et al., 2002; Fityo, 2008; Wang et al., 2010; Hossenfelder, 2013; Motlaq and Pedram, 2014; Moradpour et al., 2021) have also been studied.

Indeed, the existence of a minimal length leads to the emergence of the GUP (Hossenfelder, 2013), and it affects thermodynamics (Chang et al., 2002; Fityo, 2008; Wang et al., 2010; Hossenfelder, 2013; Motlaq and Pedram, 2014; Moradpour et al., 2021) and quantum mechanics (Kempf et al., 1995; Kempf, 1996), as P can be expanded as a function of p. This letter deals with the GUP effects on star burning facilitated by quantum tunneling. Loosely speaking, we investigate the effects of a minimal length on T (the Gamow temperature).

### GUP corrections to the tunneling temperature

To proceed further and in the presence of the quantum features of gravity, we introduce the generalized de Broglie wavelength as

$$\lambda_{\rm GUP} \equiv \frac{\hbar}{P}.$$
 (8)

It is obvious that, as  $\beta_0 \to 0$ , one obtains  $P \to p$  and thus  $\lambda_{GUP} \to \lambda_Q$ , which is the quantum mechanical result. Indeed, up to first order in  $\beta_0$ , we have  $\lambda_{GUP} = \lambda_Q (1 - \frac{\beta_0 l_P^2}{3\lambda_Q^2})$ , and the thermal energy per particle with temperature T is (Motlaq and Pedram, 2014)

$$\langle K \rangle = \langle \frac{P^2}{2m} \rangle = \frac{3}{2} K_B T - 3 \frac{\beta_0 l_P^2}{\hbar^2} m K_B^2 T^2.$$
(9)

Mathematically, one should find the corresponding de Broglie wavelength by solving the following equation:

$$\frac{P^2}{2m} = U_c(r_0) \bigg|_{r_0 = \lambda_{\rm GUP}}.$$
(10)

Inserting the result into

$$\frac{3}{2}K_{B}T - 3\frac{\beta_{0}l_{p}^{2}}{\hbar^{2}}mK_{B}^{2}T^{2} \ge U_{c}(r_{0})\bigg|_{r_{0}=\lambda_{GUP}},$$
(11)

one can finally find the GUP corrected version of Eq. 4.

Now, inserting  $\lambda_{GUP}$  into Eq. 10 and then combining the results with Eq. 11, we find

$$T_{\rm GUP}^{\pm} = \frac{\hbar^2 \left(1 \pm \sqrt{1 - 8\beta_0 l_p^2 m K_B T / \hbar^2}\right)}{4\beta_0 K_B l_p^2 m}.$$
 (12)

in which Eq. 4 has been used for simplification. To estimate the magnitude of  $l_p^2 m K_B T/\hbar^2$ , we consider the hydrogen atom for which  $m \sim 10^{-27}$  kg. Now, since  $l_p \sim 10^{-35}$  m,  $K_B \sim 10^{-23} \frac{m^2 kg}{s^2 K}$ ,  $\hbar \sim 10^{-34} \frac{m^2 kg}{s}$ , and  $T \sim 10^6$  K, one easily finds  $l_p^2 m K_B T/\hbar^2 \sim 10^{-46}$ . Moreover, because the effects of the GUP in the quantum mechanical regime are small (Hossenfelder, 2013), a reasonable basic assumption could be that  $\beta_0 l_p^2 m K_B T/\hbar^2 \ll 1$ . Indeed, if  $\beta_0 \ll 10^{46}$ , then we always have  $\beta_0 l_p^2 m K_B T/\hbar^2 \ll 1$  meaning that *i*) we can Taylor expand our results and *ii*) 10<sup>46</sup> is an upper bound for  $\beta_0$ , which is comparable to those found in previous works (Das and Vagenas, 2008; Scardigli and Casadio, 2015; Feng et al., 2017; Aghababaei et al., 2021; Feleppa et al., 2021) summarized in Table 1.

Expanding the above solutions (12) and bearing in mind that the true solution should recover T at  $\beta = 0$ , one can easily find that  $T_{\text{GUP}}^-$  is the proper solution leading to

$$T_{\rm GUP}^- = \mathbb{T}\left(1 + 2\beta_0 \left(\frac{l_p^2 m K_B \mathbb{T}}{\hbar^2}\right)\right).$$
(13)

up to first order in  $\beta_0$ . Hence, because it seems that  $\beta_0$  is positive (Das and Vagenas, 2008; Scardigli and Casadio, 2015; Feng et al., 2017; Aghababaei et al., 2021; Feleppa et al., 2021), one can conclude that  $T < T_{GUP}^-$ .

#### Conclusion

Motivated by the GUP proposal and the vital role of the HUP in quantum mechanics and, thus, the quantum tunneling process that facilitates star burning, we studied the effects of the GUP on the Gamow temperature. In order to determine this, the GUP modification to the de Broglie wavelength was addressed, which finally helped us to find the GUP correction to the Gamow temperature and also estimate an upper bound for  $\beta_0$  (10<sup>46</sup>), which agrees well with those found in previous works (Das and Vagenas, 2008; Scardigli and Casadio, 2015; Feng et al., 2017; Aghababaei et al., 2021; Feleppa et al., 2021).

Finally, based on the obtained results, it may be expected that the GUP also affects the transmission coefficients (Gamow's formula) (Gamow, 1928; Hossenfelder, 2013; Völkel et al., 2019), meaning that the method of Völkel et al. (2019) will also be affected. This is an interesting topic for future study because Hawking radiation is a fascinating issue in black hole physics (Wald, 2001).

#### Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

#### Author contributions

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work and approved it for publication.

#### Acknowledgments

The authors would like to appreciate the anonymous referees for their valuable comments.

#### Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

#### Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated

#### References

Aghababaei, S., Moradpour, H., Rezaei, G., and Khorshidian, S. (2021). Minimal length, Berry phase and spin-orbit interactions. *Phys. Scr.* 96, 055303. doi:10.1088/1402-4896/abe5d2

Bosso, P., Das, S., Pikovski, I., and Vanner, M. R. (2017). Amplified transduction of Planck-scale effects using quantum optics. *Phys. Rev. A* 96, 023849. doi:10.1103/ physreva.96.023849

Bushev, P. A., Bourhill, J., Goryachev, M., Kukharchyk, N., Ivanov, E., Galliou, S., et al. (2019). Testing the generalized uncertainty principle with macroscopic mechanical oscillators and pendulums. *Phys. Rev. D.* 100, 066020. doi:10.1103/physrevd.100.066020

Chang, L. N., Minic, D., Okamura, D., and Takeuchi, T. (2002). Exact solution of the harmonic oscillator in arbitrary dimensions with minimal length uncertainty relations. *Phys. Rev. D.* 65, 125027. doi:10.1103/physrevd.65.125027

Chemissany, W., Das, S., Ali, A. F., and Vagenas, E. C. (2011). Effect of the generalized uncertainty principle on post-inflation preheating. *J. Cosmol. Astropart. Phys.* 1112, 017. doi:10.1088/1475-7516/2011/12/017

Das, S., and Mann, R. B. (2011). Planck scale effects on some low energy quantum phenomena. *Phys. Lett. B* 704, 596–599. doi:10.1016/j.physletb.2011.09.056

Das, S., and Vagenas, E. C. (2008). Universality of quantum gravity corrections. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 101, 221301. doi:10.1103/physrevlett.101.221301

Feleppa, F., Moradpour, H., Corda, C., and Aghababaei, S. (2021). Constraining the generalized uncertainty principle with neutron interferometry. *EPL* 135, 40003. doi:10.1209/0295-5075/ac1240

Feng, Z. W., Yang, Sh. Z., Li, H. L., and Zu, X. T. (2017). Constraining the generalized uncertainty principle with the gravitational wave event GW150914. *Phys. Lett. B* 768, 81–85. doi:10.1016/j.physletb.2017.02.043

Fityo, T. (2008). Statistical physics in deformed spaces with minimal length. *Phys. Lett. A* 372, 5872–5877. doi:10.1016/j.physleta.2008.07.047

Gamow, G. (1928). Z. Phys. 51, 204-212. doi:10.1007/bf01343196

Gecim, G., and Sucu, Y. (2017). The GUP effect on Hawking radiation of the 2 + 1 dimensional black hole. *Phys. Lett. B* 773, 391–394. doi:10.1016/j.physletb.2017.08.053

Ghosh, S. (2014). Quantum gravity effects in geodesic motion and predictions of equivalence principle violation. *Cl. Quantum Gravity* 31, 025025. doi:10.1088/0264-9381/31/2/025025

Hossenfelder, S. (2013). Minimal length scale scenarios for quantum gravity. *Living Rev. Relativ.* 16, 2. doi:10.12942/lrr-2013-2

Husain, V., Seahra, S. S., and Webster, E. J. (2013). High energy modifications of blackbody radiation and dimensional reduction. *Phys. Rev. D.* 88, 024014. doi:10. 1103/physrevd.88.024014

Jalalzadeh, S., Gorji, M. A., and Nozari, K. (2014). Deviation from the standard uncertainty principle and the dark energy problem. *Gen. Relativ. Gravit.* 46, 1632. doi:10.1007/s10714-013-1632-8

Kempf, A., Mangano, G., and Mann, R. B. (1995). Hilbert space representation of the minimal length uncertainty relation. *Phys. Rev. D.* 52, 1108–1118. doi:10.1103/physrevd.52.1108

Kempf, A. (1996). Noncommutative geometric regularization. Phys. Rev. D. 54, 5174–5178. doi:10.1103/physrevd.54.5174

organizations or those of the publisher, the editors, and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Lake, M. J. (2021). Quantum Rep. 3, 196-227. doi:10.3390/quantum3010012

Lake, M. J., Miller, M., Ganardi, R. F., Liu, Z., Liang, S. D., and Paterek, T. (2019). Generalised uncertainty relations from superpositions of geometries. *Cl. Quantum Gravity* 36 (15), 155012. doi:10.1088/1361-6382/ab2160

Lake, M. J., Miller, M., and Liang, S. D. (2020). Generalised uncertainty relations for angular momentum and spin in quantum geometry. *Universe* 6, 56. doi:10.3390/ universe6040056

Lake, M. J. (2022). To appear in touring the Planck scale. Antonio Aurilia Memorial. Netherlands: Springer. Available at: https://arxiv.org/abs/2008.13183.

Luciano, G. G., and Petruzziello, L. (2019). GUP parameter from maximal acceleration. Eur. Phys. J. C 79, 283. doi:10.1140/epjc/s10052-019-6805-5

Mead, C. A. (1964). Possible connection between gravitation and fundamental length. *Phys. Rev.* 135, 849–B862. doi:10.1103/physrev.135.b849

Mohammadi Sabet, M., Moradpour, H., Bahadoran, M., and Ziaie, A. H. (2021). Minimal length implications on the Hartree–Fock theory. *Phys. Scr.* 96, 125016. doi:10.1088/1402-4896/ac2c21

Moradpour, H., Aghababaei, S., and Ziaie, A. H. (2021). A note on effects of generalized and extended uncertainty principles on jüttner gas. *Symmetry* 13, 213. doi:10.3390/sym13020213

Moradpour, H., Ziaie, A. H., Ghaffari, S., and Feleppa, F. (2019). The generalized and extended uncertainty principles and their implications on the Jeans mass. *Mon. Notices R. Astronomical Soc. Lett.* 488 (1), L69-L74. doi:10.1093/mnrasl/slz098

Motlaq, M. A., and Pedram, P. (2014). J. Stat. Mech. P08002.

Park, D., arXiv. arXiv:2003.13856 (2020).

Pikovski, I., Vanner, M. R., Aspelmeyer, M., Kim, M. S., and Brukner, C. (2012). Probing Planck-scale physics with quantum optics. *Nat. Phys.* 8, 393–397. doi:10. 1038/nphys2262

Prialnik, D. (2000). An introduction to the theory of stellar structure and evolution. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Scardigli, F., and Casadio, R. (2015). Gravitational tests of the generalized uncertainty principle. *Eur. Phys. J. C* 75, 425. doi:10.1140/epjc/s10052-015-3635-y

Shababi, H., and Ourabah, K. (2020). Non-Gaussian statistics from the generalized uncertainty principle. *Eur. Phys. J. Plus* 135, 697. doi:10.1140/epjp/s13360-020-00726-9

Sprenger, M., Bleicher, M., and Nicolini, P. (2011). Neutrino oscillations as a novel probe for a minimal length. *Cl. Quantum Gravity* 28, 235019. doi:10.1088/0264-9381/28/23/235019

Völkel, S. H., Konoplya, R., and Kokkotas, K. D. (2019). Inverse problem for Hawking radiation. *Phys. Rev. D.* 99, 104025. doi:10.1103/physrevd.99.104025

Wald, R. M. (2001). The thermodynamics of black holes. Living Rev. Rel. 4, 6. doi:10.12942/lrr-2001-6

Wang, P., Yang, H., and Zhang, X. J., High energy phys, 1 (2010).

Zhu, T., Ren, J. R., and Li, M. F. (2009). Influence of generalized and extended uncertainty principle on thermodynamics of FRW universe. *Phys. Lett. B* 674, 204–209. doi:10.1016/j.physletb.2009.03.020

#### Check for updates

#### OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Matthew J. Lake, National Astronomical Research Institute of Thailand, Thailand

REVIEWED BY Kimet Jusufi, State University of Tetovo, North Macedonia Ali Övgün, Eastern Mediterranean University, Turkey Euro Spallucci, Universities and Research, Italy

\*CORRESPONDENCE B. J. Carr, B.J.Carr@qmul.ac.uk

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to High-Energy and Astroparticle Physics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Astronomy and Space Sciences

RECEIVED 31 July 2022 ACCEPTED 22 September 2022 PUBLISHED 17 October 2022

#### CITATION

Carr BJ (2022), The Generalized Uncertainty Principle and higher dimensions: Linking black holes and elementary particles. *Front. Astron. Space Sci.* 9:1008221. doi: 10.3389/fspas.2022.1008221

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Carr. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

### The Generalized Uncertainty Principle and higher dimensions: Linking black holes and elementary particles

#### B. J. Carr\*

Queen Mary University of London, London, United Kingdom

Black holes play an important role in linking microphysics with macrophysics, with those of the Planck mass ( $M_{\rm P} \sim 10^{-5}$  g) featuring in any theory of quantum gravity. In particular, the Compton-Schwarzschild correspondence posits a smooth transition between the Compton wavelength ( $R_{\rm C} \propto 1/M$ ) below the Planck mass and the Schwarzschild radius (R<sub>s</sub>  $\propto$  M) above it. The duality between R<sub>C</sub> and R<sub>S</sub> implies a form of the Generalized Uncertainty Principle (GUP) and suggests that elementary particles may be sub-Planckian black holes. The simplest possibility is that the ADM mass has the form  $M + \beta M_p^2/M$  for some constant  $\beta$  and this model can be extended to charged and rotating black holes, clearly relevant to elementary particles. Another possibility is that sub-Planckian black holes may arise in loop quantum gravity and this explicitly links black holes and elementary particles. Higher dimensions may modify both proposals. If there are n extra dimensions, all with the same compactification scale, one expects  $R_S \propto M^{1/(1+n)}$  below this scale but  $R_C$  depends on the form of the higherdimensional wave-function. If it is spherically symmetric, then  $R_{\rm C} \propto M^{-1}$ , so duality is broken and the Planck mass is reduced, allowing the possibility of TeV quantum gravity. If the wave-function is pancaked in the extra dimensions,  $R_{\rm C} \propto$  $M^{-1/(1+n)}$  and so duality is preserved but the Planck mass is unchanged.

#### KEYWORDS

Generalized Uncertainty Principle, Compton-Schwarzschild correspondence, black holes, higher dimensions, elementary particles

#### **1** Introduction

Whatever final theory amalgamates relativity theory and quantum mechanics, it is likely to involve two features: 1) what is termed the Black Hole Uncertainty Principle (BHUP) correspondence; and 2) the existence of extra dimensions on sufficiently small scales. Both features are expected to become important at the Planck length,  $R_{\rm P} \sim 10^{-33}$  cm, and possibly on much larger scales. It is striking that black holes are involved in both these features and indeed there are many other ways in which these objects provide a link between macrophysics and microphysics (Carr, 2018).



As regards feature (1), the duality under the transformation  $M \rightarrow M_{\rm P}^2/M$  between the Compton wavelength for a particle of mass M,  $R_{\rm C} = \hbar/(Mc)$ , and the Schwarzschild radius for a black hole of mass M,  $R_{\rm S} = 2GM/c^2$ , suggests a unified Compton-Schwarzschild expression with a smooth minimum in the (M, R) plane. This implies that elementary particles may in some sense be sub-Planckian black holes. This proposal goes back to the 1970s, when it was motivated in the context of strong gravity theories.

As regards feature (2), if there are *n* extra spatial dimensions compactified on some scale  $R_E$ , then  $R_S$  scales as  $R^{1/(1+n)}$  for  $R < R_E$ , leading to the possibility of TeV quantum gravity and black hole production at accelerators if  $R_C$  scales as  $M^{-1}$  for  $R < R_E$ . However, the higher-dimensional Compton wavelength depends on the form of the (3 + n)-dimensional wavefunction and in some circumstances one might expect  $R_C \propto M^{-1/(1+n)}$  for  $R < R_E$ . This preserves the duality between  $R_C$  and  $R_S$  but TeV quantum gravity is precluded. Nevertheless, the extra dimensions could still have consequences for the detectability of black hole evaporations and the enhancement of pair-production at accelerators on scales below  $R_E$ .

The plan of this paper is as follows. Section 2 discusses the BHUP correspondence in general terms. Section 3 applies the correspondence to black holes in Loop Quantum Gravity (LQG), this being the first historical study of this kind. Section 4 then considers the simplest application of the BHUP correspondence: the M + 1/M Schwarzschild model and its extension to charged and rotating black holes. Higher-dimensional black holes are discussed in Section 5 and some concluding remarks about the connection between particles and black holes are made in Section 6.

#### 2 The Black Hole Uncertainty Principle correspondence

A key feature of the microscopic domain is the (reduced) Compton wavelength for a particle of rest mass M, with the region  $R < R_{\rm C}$  in the (M, R) diagram of Figure 1 being regarded as the "quantum domain". A key feature of the macroscopic domain is the Schwarzschild radius for a body of mass M, with the region  $R < R_{\rm S}$  being regarded as the "relativistic domain". The Compton and Schwarzschild lines intersect at around the Planck scales,

$$R_{\rm P} = \sqrt{\hbar G/c^3} \sim 10^{-33} {\rm cm}, \quad M_{\rm P} = \sqrt{\hbar c/G} \sim 10^{-5} {\rm g},$$
 (1)

and divide the (M, R) diagram into three regimes, which we label quantum, relativistic and classical. There are several other interesting lines in the figure. The vertical line  $M = M_P$  marks the division between elementary particles  $(M < M_P)$  and black holes  $(M > M_P)$ , since the size of a black hole is usually required to be larger than the Compton wavelength associated with its mass. The horizontal line  $R = R_P$  is significant because quantum fluctuations in the metric should become important below this (Wheeler, 1955). Quantum gravity effects should also be important whenever the density exceeds the Planck value,  $\rho_P = c^5/(G^2\hbar) \sim 10^{94} \text{ g cm}^{-3}$ , corresponding to the sorts of curvature singularities associated with the big bang or the centres of black holes. This implies  $R < R_P (M/M_P)^{1/3}$ , which is well above the  $R = R_P$  line for  $M \gg M_P$ , so the shaded region specifies the 'quantum gravity' domain.

The Compton and Schwarzschild lines transform into one another under the transformation  $M \to M_{\rm P}^2/M$ , which suggests some connection between elementary particles and black holes. This relates to what is termed "T-duality" in string theory and maps momentum-carrying states to winding states (Zwiebach, 2009). Although the Compton and Schwarzschild boundaries correspond to straight lines in the logarithmic plot of Figure 1, this form presumably breaks down near the Planck point due to quantum gravity effects. One might envisage two possibilities: either there is some form of critical point at the Planck scale, so that the separation between particles and black holes is maintained (Isi et al., 2013), or there is a smooth minimum, as indicated by the broken line in Figure 1, so that the Compton and Schwarzschild lines merge (Carr et al., 2016). Which alternative applies has important implications for the relationship between elementary particles and black holes.

One way of smoothing the transition between the Compton and Schwarzschild lines is to invoke some form of unified expression which asymptotes to the Compton wavelength and Schwarzschild radius in the appropriate regimes (Carr, 2015). The simplest such expression would be

$$R_{\rm CS} = \frac{\beta\hbar}{Mc} + \frac{2GM}{c^2},\tag{2}$$

where  $\beta$  is a dimensionless constant. In the super-Planckian regime, this becomes

$$R'_{\rm S} = \frac{2GM}{c^2} \left[ 1 + \frac{\beta}{2} \left( \frac{M_{\rm P}}{M} \right)^2 \right] \quad (M \gg M_{\rm P}), \tag{3}$$

with the second term corresponding to a small correction to the usual Schwarzschild expression. In the sub-Planckian regime, it becomes

$$R_{\rm C}' = \frac{\beta \hbar}{Mc} \left[ 1 + \frac{2}{\beta} \left( \frac{M}{M_{\rm P}} \right)^2 \right] \quad (M \ll M_{\rm P}), \tag{4}$$

with the second term corresponding to a small correction to the usual expression for the Compton wavelength. More generally, one might consider any unified expression  $R'_{\rm C}(M) \equiv R'_{\rm S}(M)$  which has the asymptotic behaviour  $\beta \hbar/(Mc)$  for  $M \ll M_{\rm P}$  and  $2GM/c^2$  for  $M \gg M_{\rm P}$ .

An expression of the form (3) arises in the quantum N-portrait model of Dvali *et al.* (Dvali *et al.*, 2011), which regards a black hole as a weakly-coupled Bose-Einstein condensate of gravitons. From holographic considerations, the number of gravitons in the black hole is  $N \approx M^2/M_p^2$  and one can then argue that the black hole radius is (Frassino et al., 2016)

$$R_{\rm CS} \approx \frac{2GM}{c^2} \left( 1 + \frac{\beta}{2N} \right) \quad (M > M_{\rm P}), \tag{5}$$

which is equivalent to Eq. 3. An expression of the form (4) also arises in the context of the Generalized Uncertainty Principle (GUP). This is because it can be argued that the Uncertainty Principle should be modified to the form (Adler, 2010)

$$\Delta x = \frac{\hbar}{\Delta p} + \alpha \, \frac{R_{\rm p}^2 \, \Delta p}{\hbar},\tag{6}$$

where  $\alpha$  is a dimensionless constant. The first term represents the uncertainty in the position due to the momentum of the probing photon and leads to the usual expression for the Compton wavelength if one substitutes  $\Delta x \rightarrow R$  and  $\Delta p \rightarrow cM$ . The second term represents the gravitational effect of the probing photon and is much smaller than the first term for  $\Delta p \ll cM_P$ . Variants of Eq. 6 are also motivated by string theory (Veneziano, 1986; Witten, 1996), non-commutative quantum mechanics (Gross and Mende, 1988; Amati et al., 1989; Yoneya, 1989; Konishi et al., 1990; Scardigli, 1999), general minimum length considerations (Maggiore, 1993a; Maggiore, 1993b; Maggiore, 1994), polymer corrections in the structure of spacetime in LQG (Ashtekar et al., 2003a; Hossain et al., 2010) and some approaches to quantum decoherence (Kay, 1998).

The GUP is usually restricted to the sub-Planckian domain  $(M < M_P)$ . However, if we rewrite Eq. 6 using  $\Delta x \rightarrow R$  and  $\Delta p \rightarrow cM$  even in the super-Planckian regime, we obtain a revised Compton wavelength which applies for all *M*:

$$R_{\rm CS} = \frac{\hbar}{Mc} + \alpha \, \frac{GM}{c^2}.\tag{7}$$



Hawking temperature (in Planck units) from Eq. 3 and surface gravity argument as a function of  $M/M_P$  for  $\beta = 1$  (bottom),  $\beta = 0.5$  (middle) and  $\beta = 0.1$  (top). Also shown on the right is the Adler prediction. From Carr et al. (2016).

This resembles Eq. 2 except that the constant is associated with the second term. This suggests that there is a different kind of positional uncertainty for an object larger than the Planck mass, related to the size of a black hole. This is not unreasonable since the usual Compton wavelength is below the Planck length here and also an outside observer cannot localize an object on a scale smaller than its Schwarzschild radius. This is termed the Black Hole Uncertainty Principle (BHUP) correspondence (Carr, 2015) or the Compton-Schwarzschild correspondence when discussing an interpretation in terms of extended de Broglie relations (Lake and Carr, 2015).

Strictly speaking, Eqs 2, 7 are consistent only if  $\alpha = 2$  and  $\beta$  = 1 but that would leave no free parameter at all. Therefore an interesting issue is whether one should associate the free constant in  $R_{\rm CS}$  with the 1/M term, as in Eq. 2, or the M term, as in Eq. 7. Here we adopt the former approach, on the grounds that the expression for the Schwarschild radius is exact, whereas there is some ambiguity in the meaning of the Compton scale. However, for comparison with the GUP literature, we still need to identify an effective value of  $\alpha$ and a simple rescaling of the relationship between  $\Delta x$  and R suggests  $\alpha = 2/\beta$ . Another approach is to identify  $\Delta p$  with 1/Mrather than M for  $M > M_P$  and Eq. 6 then equates  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ directly. One might even argue that  $\Delta p$  has the form (M + 1/ $(M)^{-1}$ , in which case  $\Delta x \sim 1/M$  and  $\Delta p \sim M$  in the particle case  $(M < M_{\rm P})$  and  $\Delta x \sim M$  and  $\Delta p \sim 1/M$  in the black hole case  $(M > M_{\rm P})$ . This would be consistent with the extended de Broglie relations (Hawking, 1974; Lake and Carr, 2015).

In the standard picture, one can calculate the black hole temperature from the Uncertainty Principle by identifying it with a multiple  $\eta$  of  $\Delta p$ . This gives (Hawking, 1974)

$$kT = \eta c \Delta p = \frac{\eta \hbar c}{\Delta x} = \frac{\eta c^2 M_{\rm P}^2}{2M},\tag{8}$$

which is precisely the Hawking temperature if we take  $\eta = 1/(4\pi)$ . If one adopts the GUP but assumes the usual black hole size, one obtains the Adler form (Chen and Adler, 2003)

$$kT = \frac{\eta M c^2}{\alpha} \left( 1 \pm \sqrt{1 - \frac{\alpha M_{\rm p}^2}{M^2}} \right). \tag{9}$$

The negative sign gives a small perturbation to the standard Hawking temperature

$$kT \approx \frac{\eta M_{\rm P}^2 c^2}{2M} \left[ 1 - \frac{\alpha M_{\rm P}^2}{4M^2} \right] \quad (M \gg M_{\rm P}) \tag{10}$$

at large *M*. However, the solution becomes complex when *M* falls below  $\sqrt{\alpha} M_{\rm P}$ , corresponding to a minimum mass, and it then connects to the positive branch of Eq. 9. This form is indicated by the curve on the right of Figure 2.

Eq. 9 is inconsistent with the BHUP correspondence since this also modifies the relationship between the black hole radius  $\Delta x$  and *M*. If we adopt Eq. 3 instead, then the surface gravity argument gives a temperature

$$kT = \frac{M_{\rm p}^2 c^2}{4\pi M \left(2 + \beta M_{\rm p}^2 / M^2\right)}$$

$$\approx \begin{cases} \frac{M_{\rm p}^2 c^2}{8\pi M} \left[1 - \frac{\beta}{2} \left(\frac{M_{\rm p}}{M}\right)^2\right] & (M \gg M_{\rm p}) \\ \frac{M c^2}{4\pi \beta} \left[1 - \frac{2}{\beta} \left(\frac{M}{M_{\rm p}}\right)^2\right] & (M \ll M_{\rm p}). \end{cases}$$
(11)

This is plotted in Figure 2 and is very different from the Adler form. As M decreases, the temperature reaches a maximum of around  $T_{\rm P}$  and then goes to zero as  $M \rightarrow 0$ .

An important caveat is that Eq. 6 assumes that the two uncertainties add linearly. On the other hand, since they are independent, it might be more natural to assume that they add quadratically (Carr et al., 2011):

$$\Delta x = \sqrt{\left(\hbar/\Delta p\right)^2 + \left(\alpha R_{\rm P}^2 \Delta p/\hbar\right)^2}.$$
 (12)

We refer to Eqs 6, 12 as the *linear* and *quadratic* forms of the GEP, respectively. The latter corresponds to a unified expression

$$R_{\rm CS} = \sqrt{(\beta \hbar/Mc)^2 + (2GM/c^2)^2},$$
 (13)

where we have we have again introduced  $\beta$ . This leads to the approximations

$$R'_{\rm S} \approx \frac{2GM}{c^2} \left[ 1 + \frac{\beta^2}{8} \left( \frac{M_{\rm P}}{M} \right)^4 \right] \quad (M \gg M_{\rm P}) \tag{14}$$

and

$$R_{\rm C}' \approx \frac{\beta \hbar}{Mc} \left[ 1 + \frac{2}{\beta^2} \left( \frac{M}{M_{\rm P}} \right)^4 \right] \quad (M \ll M_{\rm P}). \tag{15}$$

These might be compared to the *exact* expressions in the linear case, given by Eqs 3, 4. As we now show, a model inspired by LQG permits the existence of a black hole whose horizon size has precisely the form (13).

#### 3 Loop black holes

Loop Quantum Gravity is based on a canonical quantization of the Einstein equations, written in terms of the Ashtekar variables. One feature of this is that area is quantized, with its smallest possible value being

$$A_{\min} = 4\pi\sqrt{3}\,\gamma R_{\rm p}^2,\tag{16}$$

where  $\gamma$  is the Immirzi parameter and of order 1. The quantity  $a_o \equiv A_{\min}/8\pi$ , together with the dimensionless polymeric parameter  $\delta$ , determines the deviation from classical theory.

One version of LQG, using the mini-superspace approximation, gives rise to cosmological solutions which resolve the initial singularity problem (Bojowald, 2001; Ashtekar et al., 2003b; Bojowald, 2005). Another version gives the loop black hole (LBH) solution (Modesto, 2010) and this replaces the singularity in the Schwarzschild solution with another asymptotically flat region. The metric depends only on the combined dimensionless parameter  $\varepsilon \equiv \delta \gamma$ , which must be small, and can be expressed as

$$ds^{2} = -G(r)c^{2}dt^{2} + \frac{dr^{2}}{F(r)} + H(r)(d\theta^{2} + \sin^{2}\theta d\phi^{2})$$
(17)

with

$$G(r) = \frac{(r - r_{+})(r - r_{-})(r + r_{*})^{2}}{r^{4} + a_{o}^{2}}, \quad F(r) = \frac{(r - r_{+})(r - r_{-})r^{4}}{(r + r_{*})^{2}(r^{4} + a_{o}^{2})}.$$
(18)

Here  $r_+ = 2GM/c^2$  and  $r_- = 2GMP^2/c^2$  are the outer and inner horizons, respectively, and  $r_* \equiv \sqrt{r_+r_-} = 2GMP/c^2$ , where *M* is the black hole mass and

$$P \equiv \frac{\sqrt{1+\varepsilon^2}-1}{\sqrt{1+\varepsilon^2}+1} \approx \varepsilon^2 / 4 \ll 1$$
(19)

is called the polymeric function. In the limit  $r \to \infty$  one has

$$G(r) \rightarrow 1 - \frac{2G\mathcal{M}}{c^2 r} (1 - \varepsilon^2), \quad F(r) \rightarrow 1 - \frac{2G\mathcal{M}}{c^2 r},$$
 (20)

where  $\mathcal{M} \equiv M(1+P)^2$  is the ADM mass (i.e. the mass measured as  $r \to \infty$ ). The function H(r) in Eq. 17 is not  $r^2$  (as in the Schwarzschild case) but
$$H(r) = r^2 + \frac{a_o^2}{r^2} \quad \Rightarrow \quad R \equiv \sqrt{r^2 + \frac{a_o^2}{r^2}}.$$
 (21)

Here *R* is the *physical* radial coordinate, in the sense that the circumference function is  $2\pi R$ . As *r* decreases from infinity to zero, *R* first decreases from infinity to a minimum value of  $\sqrt{2a_0}$  at  $r = \sqrt{a_0}$  and then increases again to infinity. In particular, the value of *R* associated with the outer event horizon is

$$R'_{\rm S} = \sqrt{\left(\frac{2GM}{c^2}\right)^2 + \left(\frac{a_o c^2}{2GM}\right)^2}.$$
 (22)

This corresponds to Eq. 13 if  $\beta = a_o c^2/G$ . The important physical implication of Eq. 21 is that central singularity of the Schwarzschild solution is replaced with another asymptotic region, so the collapsing matter bounces and the black hole becomes part of a wormhole. The fact that a purely geometrical condition in LQG implies the quadratic version of the GUP suggests some deep connection between general relativity and quantum theory. The duality between the two asymptotic spaces also suggests a link between elementary particles with  $M \ll M_P$  and black holes with  $M \gg M_P$  (Modesto and Premont-Schwarz, 2009), which is clearly relevant to the theme of this paper.

The temperature implied by the black hole's surface gravity is

$$T \propto \frac{GM}{R_{\rm S}^{\prime 2}} \propto \begin{cases} M^{-1} & (M \gg M_{\rm P}) \\ M^3 & (M \ll M_{\rm P}). \end{cases}$$
 (23)

However, if one calculates the temperature using the GUP expression for  $\Delta p$ , one obtains

$$kT \approx \begin{cases} \frac{\eta \hbar c^3}{2GM} \left[ 1 - \frac{\beta^2}{8} \left( \frac{M_{\rm P}}{M} \right)^4 \right] & (M \gg M_{\rm P}) \\ \frac{\eta M c^2}{\beta} \left[ 1 - \frac{2}{\beta^2} \left( \frac{M}{M_{\rm P}} \right)^4 \right] & (M \ll M_{\rm P}). \end{cases}$$
(24)

This is similar to Eq. 11 but inconsistent with Eq. 23 in the sub-Planckian regime. The source of the discrepancy is that there are two asymptotic spaces—one on each side of the wormhole throat—and the temperature is different in these. Observer only detect radiation from the horizon on their side of the throat, so the inner horizon with respect to  $r = \infty$  corresponds to the outer horizon with respect to r = 0 (Carr et al., 2011). For  $M < \sqrt{\beta/2} M_P$ ,  $T \propto M^3$  in our space and  $T \propto M$  in the other space, which explains the predictions of Eqs 23, 24. For  $\sqrt{\beta/2} M_P < M < P^{-2} \sqrt{\beta/2} M_P$ ,  $T \propto M^{-1}$  in our space and  $T \propto M$  in the other space. For  $M > P^{-2} \sqrt{\beta/2} M_P$ ,  $T \propto M^{-1}$  in our space and  $T \propto M^{-3}$  in the other space.

#### 4 Carr-Mureika-Nicolini approach

This section describes a particular interpretation of the linear version of the BHUP correspondence, described in my work with Mureika and Nicolini (Carr et al., 2016), in which the Arnowitt-Deser-Misner (ADM) mass is taken to be

$$M_{\rm ADM} = M \left( 1 + \frac{\beta}{2} \frac{M_{\rm P}^2}{M^2} \right). \tag{25}$$

This is equivalent to Eq. 3 and we noted a possible connection with the energy-dependent metric in the "gravity's rainbow" proposal (Magueijo and Smolin, 2004) and with the QFT renormalization of mass in the presence of stochastic metric fluctuations (Camacho, 2003). Putting  $\hbar = c = 1$ , the Schwarzschild radius for the modified metric is

$$R'_{\rm S} = \frac{2M_{\rm ADM}}{M_{\rm P}^2} \approx \begin{cases} 2M/M_{\rm P}^2 & (M \gg M_{\rm P})\\ \beta/M & (M \ll M_{\rm P}) \end{cases}$$
(26)

and the temperature is  $kT = M_P^2/(8\pi M_{ADM})$ , corresponding to Eq. 11. This is not the only black hole metric allowed by the GUP. This is illustrated by the discussion of LQG in Sec. 3 but there could be other relevant solutions in GR itself. However, Eq. 25 gives the simplest such solution.

The black hole luminosity in this model is  $L = \xi^{-1} M_{ADM}^{-2}$ where  $\xi \sim t_P/M_P^3$ , so the mass loss rate decreases when *M* falls below  $M_P$  and the black hole never evaporates completely. There are two values of *M* for which the evaporation time ( $\tau \sim M/L$ ) is comparable to the age of the Universe ( $t_0 \sim 10^{17}$ s). One is super-Planckian,  $M_* \sim (t_0/\xi)^{1/3} \sim 10^{15}$ g, this being the standard expression for the mass of a PBH evaporating at the present epoch. The other is sub-Planckian,  $M_{**} \sim \beta^2 (t_P/t_0)M_P \sim 10^{-65}\beta^2$  g, although the mass cannot actually reach this value at the present epoch because the black hole is cooler than the CMB temperature for  $M < M_{CMB} \sim 10^{-36}\beta$  g. This leads to *effectively* stable relics of this mass.

It is interesting to consider observational constraints on the parameter  $\beta$  and these are discussed in Carr et al. (2022). Within the GUP context, these only arise in the microscopic domain and a variety of mechanical oscillator experiments imply  $\alpha < 4 \times 10^4$  (Pikovski et al., 2012; Bushev et al., 2019). A similar bound arises from the AURIGA gravitational bar detector (Marin et al., 2014). Since  $\beta = 2/\alpha$ , both bounds corresponding to a *lower* limit  $\beta > 10^{-4}$ . Within the context of the BHUP correspondence, there are also constraints in the macroscopic domain from measuring the gravitational force between 100 mg masses with mm separation (Westphal et al., 2021) and these imply  $\beta < 10^6$ . Clearly these limits still allow a wide range of values for  $\beta$ . One might also constrain  $\beta$  by observations on astrophysical scales but in this domain the effects of the Extended Uncertainty Principle, in which  $\Delta x \ \Delta p \sim 1 + (\delta x)^2$  rather than  $1 + (\delta p)^2$ , becomes more relevant (Mureika, 2019).

Recently we have extended this work, together with Heather Mentzer, to charged and rotating black holes (Carr et al., 2020), since this is clearly relevant to elementary particles. The standard Reissner-Nordström (RN) already exhibits features of the GUP-



the sub-Planckian RN regime. From Carr et al. (2020).

modified Schwarzschild solution. This is because the RN metric has an outer (+) and inner (-) horizon at

$$r_{\pm} = \frac{M}{M_{\rm p}^2} \left( 1 \pm \sqrt{1 - \frac{\alpha_e M_{\rm p}^2 n^2}{M^2}} \right) \approx \begin{cases} \frac{2M}{M_{\rm p}^2} \left( 1 - \frac{\gamma M_{\rm p}^2}{M^2} \right) & (+) \\ \frac{2\gamma}{M} \left( 1 + \frac{\gamma M_{\rm p}^2}{M^2} \right) & (-) \end{cases}$$
(27)

where *ne* is the black hole charge,  $\gamma \equiv \alpha_e n^2/4$  with  $\alpha_e \approx 1/137$  being the electric fine structure constant, and the last expression applies for a black hole which is far from extremal  $(M \gg \sqrt{\alpha_e} nM_P)$ . The form of the outer and inner horizons for different values of *n* are shown by the upper and lower parts of the solid curves in Figure 3, respectively. There are two asymptotic behaviors: the outer horizon correponds to Eq. 2 but with a negative value of  $\beta$ ; the inner horizon resembles the Compton expression and it asymptotes to the Compton wavelength itself for n = 16, this being the integer part of  $\sqrt{2/\alpha_e}$ .

For each *n*, the two horizons merge on the line r = GM (lower dotted curve) at the minimum value of *M*. This corresponds to a sequence of "extremal" solutions (shown by the dots in Figure 3) with a spectrum of masses  $\sqrt{\alpha_e} nM_P$ . For given *n*, there are no solutions with *M* less than this since these would correspond to naked singularities. In particular, *n* could be at most the integer

part of  $1/\sqrt{\alpha_e}$  (i.e. 11) for a Planck-mass black hole. As in the GUP case, the temperature of the RN solution reaches a maximum and then goes to zero as M tends to the limiting value  $\sqrt{\alpha_e} nM_P$ . One might want to associate elementary particles only with extremal solutions (since they are stable) but these states all have masses in the range  $(0.1-1)M_P$ , which is too large. Also even extremal black holes may discharge through the Schwinger mechanism (Schwinger, 1951).

The (standard) Compton line intersects the outer black hole horizon, as required if one wants a smooth connection between particles and black holes, at the mass

$$M = \frac{M_{\rm P}}{\sqrt{2 - \alpha_e n^2}} \approx \frac{M_{\rm P}}{\sqrt{2 - n^2/137}}.$$
 (28)

(This is also termed the self-completeness condition (Isi et al., 2013).) For n = 0, the intersect is  $M_P/\sqrt{2}$  but it increases with n and tends to  $M_P$  as  $n \to \sqrt{137}$  (middle curve). This implies a constraint  $n \le 11$  on the charge of a self-complete RN black hole. The Compton line still intersects the *inner* horizon for  $\sqrt{137} < n < \sqrt{274}$ , but these solutions penetrate the  $r < R_P$  region.

One can extend this model to the GUP-modified RN solutions by replacing M with  $M_{\rm ADM}$  given by Eq. 25. Providing  $n < \sqrt{2\beta/\alpha_e}$  for fixed  $\beta$ , the outer horizon behaves as in the GUP-Schwarzschild case, with a continuous transition between the gravitational ( $r_{\rm CS} \propto M$ ) and Compton ( $r_{\rm CS} \propto M^{-1}$ ) scaling. Also,  $r_+$  has a minimum and  $r_-$  has a maximum at

$$M = M_{\rm crit} \equiv \sqrt{\beta/2} M_{\rm P}, \quad r_{\pm} = \left[\sqrt{2\beta} \pm \sqrt{2\beta - n^2 \alpha_e} \right] R_{\rm P}.$$
 (29)

This is indicated by the curves on the left of Figure 4. In principle, the particle-like black holes can have arbitrarily low mass in this case. However, it is unclear that these solutions are candidates for *stable* particles since none of them are extremal, this possibility arising only in the limit  $n_{max} = \sqrt{2\beta/\alpha_e}$ . For larger values of **n**, the form of the solutions changes, as indicated by the curves on the right of Figure 4. These represent super-Planckian black holes on the right (similar to the standard RN case with an extremal solution at the smallest value of *M*) and sub-Planckian particles on the left, with a mass gap in between. Equivalently, for a given value of *n*, there is a critical value of  $\beta = n^2 \alpha_e/2$  below which the solutions bifurcate and become separated by a mass gap.

The Kerr metric exhibits similar behaviour but there is a critical spin  $(n\hbar)$  rather than a critical charge. The extremal case corresponds to the spectrum of masses  $\sqrt{n} M_{\rm P}$ , while the self-completeness condition corresponds to

$$M = M_{\rm P} \sqrt{\frac{1+n^2}{2}}.$$
 (30)

This allows all values of *n*, whereas *n* could not exceed  $[1/\sqrt{\alpha_e}] = 11$  in the RN case. In the GUP Kerr case, an expression similar to Eq. 29 still applies and there is a change in the form of the solutions for  $n > 2\beta$ .



#### FIGURE 4

Outer (solid) and inner (dash-dot) horizon size for GUP-RN black hole with  $\beta = 2$ . Left: Outer (top) and inner (bottom) horizons for n = 10 (red), n = 16 (blue) and n = 23 (black). The dashed/dotted lines show the usual Schwarzschild/Compton scales. The inner horizon is nearly asymptotic to the Compton wavelength at large *M* for n = 16. There is a discontinuity when *n* reaches 23, this being close to an extremal solution. Right: Outer (top) and inner (bottom) horizons for n = 23 (black), n = 25 (blue) and n = 30 (black). The horizons in this case have a maximum value of *M* on the left and a minimum value on the right. There are no black holes between these values. From Carr et al. (2020).

# 5 Higher-dimensional black holes

The black hole boundary in Figure 1 assumes there are three spatial dimensions but many theories suggest that the dimensionality could increase on small scales. Although the extra dimensions are often assumed to be compactified on the Planck length, there are also models in which they are much larger. For example, the model of Arkani-Hamed et al. (1998) has *n* extra spatial dimensions, all compactified on the same scale  $R_E$ . If we assume that the standard expression for the Compton wavelength ( $R_C \propto M^{-1}$ ) still applies, then the masses with Compton and Schwarzschild scales  $R_E$  are

$$M_{\rm E} \equiv \frac{\hbar}{cR_E} \simeq M_{\rm P} \frac{R_{\rm P}}{R_E}, \quad M'_E \equiv \frac{c^2 R_E}{G} \simeq M_{\rm P} \frac{R_E}{R_{\rm P}}.$$
 (31)

For  $R < R_E$ , the gravitational potential generated by a mass M is

$$V_{\rm grav} = \frac{G_D M}{R^{1+n}},\tag{32}$$

where  $G_D$  is the higher-dimensional gravitational constant and D = 4 + n is the total number of spacetime dimensions. For  $R > R_E$ , one recovers the usual form,  $V_{\text{grav}} = GM/R$  with  $G = G_D/R_E^n$ . Thus the effective gravitational constants at large and small scales are different. Eq. 32 implies that the usual expression for the Schwarzschild radius no longer applies for masses below  $M'_E$ . If the black hole is assumed to be spherically symmetric in the higher-dimensional space, one has (Kanti, 2016)

$$R_{\rm S} \simeq R_E \left(\frac{M}{M'_E}\right)^{1/(n+1)}.$$
(33)

Therefore the slope of the black hole boundary in Figure 1 becomes shallower for  $M < M'_E$ , as indicated in Figure 5A. The intersect with the Compton line then becomes

$$R_{\rm P}' \simeq \left(R_{\rm P}^2 R_E^n\right)^{1/(2+n)}, \quad M_{\rm P}' \simeq \left(M_{\rm P}^2 M_E^n\right)^{1/(2+n)},$$
 (34)

so  $M'_{\rm P} \ll M_{\rm P}$  and  $R'_{\rm P} \gg R_{\rm P}$  for  $R_E \gg R_{\rm P}$ .

In principle, the lowering of the Planck mass could permit the possibility of TeV quantum gravity and the production of small black holes at the Large Hadron Collider (LHC), with their evaporation leaving a distinctive signature (Dimopoulos and Landsberg, 2001; Anchordoqui et al., 2002; Giddings and Thomas, 2002). If the accessible energy is  $E_{\text{max}} \approx 10$  TeV, then the extra dimensions can be probed for

$$R_E > 10^{-18+30/n} \,\mathrm{cm} \simeq \begin{cases} 10^{12} \,\mathrm{cm} & (n=1) \\ 10^{-3} \,\mathrm{cm} & (n=2) \\ 10^{-14} \,\mathrm{cm} & (n=7). \end{cases}$$
(35)



Clearly, n = 1 is excluded on empirical grounds but n = 2 is possible. One expects n = 7 in M-theory, so it is interesting that  $R_E$  must be of order a Fermi in this case. One could also consider a scenario with a hierarchy of compactification scales,  $R_i = \alpha_i R_P$  with  $\alpha_1 \ge \alpha_2 \ge ... \ge \alpha_n \ge 1$ , such that the dimensionality progressively increases as one goes to smaller scales (Carr, 2013). This situation is represented in Figure 5B. There is still no evidence for the extra dimensions (ATLAS collaboration, 2016), which suggests that either they do not exist or they have a compactification scale  $R_E$  which is so small that  $M'_P$  exceeds the energy attainable by the LHC

Another possible reason for the non-detection of accelerator black holes is that the *M* dependence of  $R_{\rm C}$  is also affected by the extra dimensions. Lake and myself have argued that the *effective* Compton wavelength depends on the form of the (3 + n)dimensional wavefunction (Lake and Carr, 2019). If this is spherically symmetric in all the dimensions, then one has  $R_{\rm C} \propto M^{-1}$  (as usually assumed). However, if the wave function is pancaked in the extra dimensions and maximally asymmetric, then we find  $R_{\rm C} \propto M^{-1/(1+n)}$ . This implies that the duality between the Compton wavelength and the Schwarzschild radius persists in the higher dimensional case but that there is no accelerator production of black holes. Thus the constraint on  $R_E$  given by Eq. 35 no longer applies. This scenario is illustrated in Figure 5C for extra dimensions compactified on a single length scale  $R_E$  and in Figure 5D for a hierarchy of length scales, when the extra dimensions help to smooth the minimum. The latter case resembles the smooth minimum in Figure 1, which suggests that higher dimensions might themselves underlie the BHUP correspondence.

The above discussion of higher-dimensional black holes has assumed that the simple power-law forms for  $R_{\rm S}$  and  $R_{\rm C}$  apply all the way to their intersect at the (modified) Planck scale. However, the BHUP correspondence suggests that they should be unified in some way, which would smooth the minima in Figure 5. This raises the issue of the form of the GUP and BHUP correspondence in the higher-dimensional case. If the Compton wavelength preserves its 3-dimensional form, one might expect the generalized Compton wavelength to become

$$R_{\rm C}' = \frac{\hbar}{Mc} \left[ 1 + \left( \frac{M}{M_{\rm P}'} \right)^{(n+2)/(n+1)} \right] \quad (R < R_E), \tag{36}$$

so that  $R'_{\rm C}$  becomes  $R'_{\rm S}$  at large *M*. If duality between  $R_{\rm S}$  and  $R_{\rm C}$  is preserved in the higher-dimensional case, one might expect

$$R_{\rm C}' = R_* \left(\frac{M_{\rm P}}{M}\right)^{1/(1+n)} \left[1 + \left(\frac{M}{M_{\rm P}'}\right)^{2/(n+1)}\right] \quad (R < R_E)$$
(37)

However, the literature on this gives different results (Koppel et al., 2017; Knipfer et al., 2019).

Finally, if we interpret the Compton wavelength as marking the boundary in the (M, R) diagram below which pair-production rates becomes significant, we might expect the presence of compact extra dimensions to affect pair-production rates at high energies. Specifically, pair-production above the energy scale  $M_Ec^2 \equiv \hbar c/R_E$ , should be enhanced relative to the 3dimensional case. Indeed, there is tentative evidence that this is a generic feature of higher-dimensional theories (He, 1999; Eboli et al., 2000).

# 6 Linking black holes and elementary particles

The suggestion that there could be a fundamental link between elementary particles and black holes goes back to the 1970s, when it was motivated in the context of strong gravity theories (Sivaram and Sinha, 1977). Various arguments supported this suggestion: 1) both hadrons and Kerr-Newman black holes are characterised by three parameters (M,J,Q); 2) both have a magnetic dipole moment and a gyromagnetic ratio of two but no electric dipole moment; 3) Regge trajectories and extreme Kerr solutions have the same relationship between angular momentum and mass ( $J \sim M^2$ ); 4) when classical black holes interact, their surface area can never decrease, which is analogous to the increase in cross-sections found in hadron collisions.

Of course, elementary particles cannot be black holes with normal gravity, since their Compton wavelength is much larger than their Schwarschild radius, as illustrated in Figure 1. The early models therefore assumed that gravity becomes stronger by a factor of  $G_F/G \sim (M_P/m_p)^2 \sim 10^{38}$  on the hadronic scale. This requires the existence of a massive spin-2 meson and corresponds to a short-range force. If the hadronic resonances are extremal black holes, their mass and spin should satisfy  $G_Fm_h^2 = J$ , corresponding to a Regge slope of  $(1\text{Gev})^{-2}$ , and they should have a spectrum of masses  $M_n \sim n^{1/2}$  GeV (Oldershaw, 2010).

The current proposal—explored in more detail in work with Mureika and Nicolini (Carr et al., 2022)—is prompted by the Generalized Uncertainty Principle and the duality between the Compton and Schwarzschild expressions under the transformation  $M \rightarrow M_{\rm P}^2/M$ , so the context is somewhat different. Also elementary particles are regarded as sub-Planckian black holes under normal gravity rather conventional black holes under strong gravity However, there is a link with strong gravity because the force between two masses, while still obeying the inverse-square law, is much enhanced for  $M < \sqrt{\beta}M_{\rm P}$ .

Extending the BHUP correspondence to charged black holes adds important insights. Although the Reissner-Nordstrom itself has a nearly Planckian mass and therefore cannot represent an elementary particle, adding a GUP term introduces sub-Planckian solutions. This explains why the charge cannot exceed  $\sqrt{2\beta/\alpha_e} \approx 1$  for  $\beta \sim 10^{-2}$ , as observed for elementary particles.

Similar considerations apply for spinning black holes. However, these solutions only correspond to extremal black holes if the mass is  $\sqrt{\beta/2} M_P$ , which is too large for an elementary particle (given the allowed range of  $\beta$ ).

These considerations must be modified if there are extra dimensions on small scales. Although there is some uncertainty in the modifications to the GUP in this case, Figure 5 shows that the extra dimensions themselves smooth the Compton-Schwarzschild transition. Furthermore, the black hole mass may be shifted down towards the hadron scale, the effective strength of gravity being increased by the extra dimensions. However, the higher-dimensional analysis has not yet been extended to the charged and rotating black holes. Extra dimensions may also play an important role in amalgamating general relativity and quantum theory, with higher-dimensional relativity permitting a classical-type interpretation of some quantum anomalies.

## Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

# Author contributions

This paper is the work of the author BC but also includes some review of earlier work done in collaboration with other authors.

## Acknowledgments

I thank my collaborators in the work reported here: Matthew Lake, Heather Mentzner, Leonardo Modesto, Jonas Mureika, Piero Nicolini and Isabeau Prémont-Schwarz.

## Conflict of interest

The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

## Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

# References

Adler, R. J. (2010). Six easy roads to the Planck scale. Am. J. Phys. 78, 925–932. doi:10.1119/1.3439650

Amati, D., Ciafaloni, M., and Veneziano, G. (1989). Phys. Lett. B 216, 41-47. doi:10.1016/0370-2693(89)91366-x

Anchordoqui, L. A., Feng, J. L., Goldberg, H., and Shapere, A. D. (2002). Black holes from cosmic rays: Probes of extra dimensions and new limits on TeV-scale gravity. *Phys. Rev. D.* 65, 124027. doi:10.1103/physrevd.65.124027

Arkani-Hamed, N., Dimopoulos, S., and Dvali, G. (1998). The hierarchy problem and new dimensions at a millimeter. *Phys. Lett. B* 428, 263.

Ashtekar, A., Bojowald, M., and Lewandowski, J. (2003). Mathematical structure of loop quantum cosmology. Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 7, 233-268. doi:10.4310/atmp.2003.v7.n2.a2

Ashtekar, A., Fiarhurst, S., and Willis, J. L. (2003). Cl. Quant. Grav. 20, 1031.

Ashtekar, A., and Lewandowski, J. (2004). Background independent quantum gravity: A status report. *Cl. Quantum Gravity* 21, R53–R152. doi:10.1088/0264-9381/21/15/r01

Atlas collaboration (2016). Search for new phenomena in different-flavour highmass dilepton final states in pp collisions at 13 TeV with the ATLAS detector. *Eur. Phys. J. C* 76, 541.

Bojowald, M. (2001). Absence of a singularity in loop quantum cosmology. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 86, 5227–5230. doi:10.1103/physrevlett.86.5227

Bojowald, M. (2005). Loop quantum cosmology. *Living Rev. Relativ.* 8, 11. doi:10. 12942/lrr-2005-11

Bushev, P. A., Bourhill, J., Goryachev, M., Kukharchyk, N., Ivanov, E., Galliou, S., et al. (2019). Testing the generalized uncertainty principle with macroscopic mechanical oscillators and pendulums. *Phys. Rev. D.* 100, 066020. doi:10.1103/physrevd.100.066020

Camacho, A. (2003). Decoherence and bare mass induced by nonconformal metric fluctuations. *Gen. Relativ. Gravit.* 35, 319–325. doi:10.1023/a: 1022349328278

Carr, B. (2013). Black holes, the generalized uncertainty principle and higher dimensions. *Mod. Phys. Lett. A* 28, 1340011. doi:10.1142/s0217732313400117

Carr, B. (2015). "The black hole uncertainty principle correspondence," in *1st Karl Schwarzschild meeting on gravitational physics*. Editors P. Nicolini, M. Kaminski, J. Mureika, and M. Bleicher (Berlin, Germany: Springer), 159–167. arXiv:1402:1427.

Carr, B. (2018). "Quantum black holes as the link between microphysics and macrophysics," in *2nd Karl Schwarzschild meeting on gravitational physics*. Editors P. Nicolini, M. Kaminski, J. Mureika, and M. Bleicher (Berlin, Germany: Springer), 159–167. arXiv:1703.08655.

Carr, B., Mureika, J., and Nicolini, P., (2022). In preparation.

Carr, B., Mentzer, H., Mureika, J., and Nicolini, P. (2020). Self-complete and GUP-modified charged and spinning black holes. *Eur. Phys. J. C* 80, 1166. doi:10. 1140/epjc/s10052-020-08706-0

Carr, B., Modesto, L., and Premont-Schwarz, I. (2011). Generalized Uncertainty Principle and Self-dual Black Holes. arXiv: 1107.0708 [gr-qc].

Carr, B., Mureika, J., and Nicolini, P. (2016). Sub-Planckian black holes and the generalized uncertainty principle. *JHEP* 07, 052.

Chen, P., and Adler, R. J. (2003). Black hole remnants and dark matter. Nucl. Phys. B - Proc. Suppl. 124, 103–106. doi:10.1016/s0920-5632(03)02088-7

Dimopoulos, S., and Landsberg, G. (2001). Black holes at the large hadron collider. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 87, 161602. doi:10.1103/physrevlett.87.161602

Dvali, G., Folkerts, S., and Germani, C. (2011). Physics of trans-Planckian gravity. arXiv:1006.0984.

Eboli, O. J. P., Han, T., Magro, M. B., and Mercadante, P. G. (2000). Diphoton signals for large extra dimensions at the Fermilab Tevatron and CERN LHC. *Phys. Rev. D.* D61, 094007. doi:10.1103/physrevd.61.094007

Frassino, A. M., Koppel, S., and Nicolini, P. (2016). Geometric model of black hole quantum N-portrait, extradimensions and thermodynamics. *Entropy* 18, 181. doi:10.3390/e18050181

Giddings, S., and Thomas, S. (2002). High energy colliders as black hole factories: The end of short distance physics. *Phys. Rev. D.* 65, 056010. doi:10.1103/physrevd.65.056010

Gross, D. J., and Mende, P. F. (1988). String theory beyond the Planck scale. *Nucl. Phys. B* B303, 407–454. doi:10.1016/0550-3213(88)90390-2

Hawking, S. W. (1974). Nature 248, 30-31. doi:10.1038/248030a0

He, X. G. (1999). Phys. Rev. D60, 115017.

Hossain, G. M., Husain, V., and Seahra, S. S. (2010). Nonsingular inflationary universe from polymer matter. *Phys. Rev. D.* 81, 024005. doi:10.1103/physrevd.81.024005

Isi, M., Mureika, J., and Nicolini, P. (2013). Self-completeness and the generalized uncertainty principle. *J. High. Energy Phys.* 1311, 139. doi:10. 1007/jhep11(2013)139

Kanti, P. (2016). Black holes in theories with large extra dimensions: a review. *Int. J. Mod. Phys. A* 19, 4899–4951. doi:10.1142/s0217751x04018324

Kay, B. S. (1998). Decoherence of macroscopic closed systems within Newtonian quantum gravity. *Cl. Quantum Gravity* 15, L89–L98. doi:10.1088/0264-9381/15/12/003

Knipfer, M., Koppel, S., Mureika, J., and Nicolini, P. (2019). Generalized uncertainty principle and black holes in higher dimensional self-complete gravity. *J. Cosmol. Astropart. Phys.* 1908, 008. doi:10.1088/1475-7516/2019/ 08/008

Konishi, K., Paffuti, G., and Proverpo, P. (1990). Minimum physical length and the generalized uncertainty principle in string theory. *Phys. Lett. B* 234, 276.

Koppel, S., Knipfer, M., Isi, M., Mureika, J., and Nicolini, P. (2017). "2nd Karl Schwarzschild meeting on gravitational physics," in *Springer proceedings in Physics*. Editors P. Nicolini, M. Kaminski, J. Mureika, and M. Bleicher (Berlin, Germany: Springer). arXiv:1703.05222.

Lake, M. J., and Carr, B. (2015). The Compton-Schwarzschild correspondence from extended de Broglie relations. *JHEP* 1511, 105.

Lake, M. J., and Carr, B. J. (2019). The Compton-Schwarzschild correspondence in higher dimensions. *Int. J. Mod. Phys. D.* 28, 1930001. doi:10.1142/ s0218271819300015

Maggiore, M. (1993). A generalized uncertainty principle in quantum gravity. *Phys. Lett. B* 304, 65–69. doi:10.1016/0370-2693(93)91401-8

Maggiore, M. (1994). Quantum groups, gravity, and the generalized uncertainty principle. *Phys. Rev. D.* 49, 5182–5187. doi:10.1103/physrevd.49.5182

Maggiore, M. (1993). The algebraic structure of the generalized uncertainty principle. *Phys. Lett. B* 319, 83-86. doi:10.1016/0370-2693(93)90785-g

Magueijo, J., and Smolin, L. (2004). Gravity's rainbow. Cl. Quantum Gravity 21, 1725-1736. doi:10.1088/0264-9381/21/7/001

Marin, F., Marino, F., Bonaldi, M., Cerdonio, M., Conti, L., Falferi, P., et al. (2014). Investigation on Planck scale physics by the AURIGA gravitational bar detector. *New J. Phys.* 16, 085012. doi:10.1088/1367-2630/16/8/085012

Modesto, L., and Premont-Schwarz, I. (2009). Self-dual black holes in loop quantum gravity: Theory and phenomenology. *Phys. Rev. D.* 80, 064041. doi:10. 1103/physrevd.80.064041

Modesto, L. (2010). Semiclassical loop quantum black hole. Int. J. Theor. Phys. 49, 1649–1683. doi:10.1007/s10773-010-0346-x

Mureika, J. R. (2019). Extended uncertainty principle black holes. *Phys. Lett. B* 789, 88–92. doi:10.1016/j.physletb.2018.12.009

Oldershaw, R. L. (2010). Hadrons as Kerr-Newman black holes. J. Cosmol. 6, 1361.

Pikovski, I., Vanner, M. R., Aspelmeyer, M., Kim, M. S., and Brukner, C. (2012). Probing Planck-scale physics with quantum optics. *Nat. Phys.* 8, 393–397. doi:10. 1038/nphys2262

Rovelli, C. (2004). Quantum gravity. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Scardigli, F. (1999). Generalized uncertainty principle in quantum gravity from micro-black hole gedanken experiment. *Phys. Lett. B* B452, 39-44. doi:10.1016/s0370-2693(99)00167-7

Schwinger, J. (1951). On gauge invariance and vacuum polarization. *Phys. Rev.* 32, 664–679. doi:10.1103/physrev.82.664

Sivaram, C., and Sinha, K. P. (1977). Strong gravity, black holes, and hadrons. Phys. Rev. D. 16, 1975–1978. doi:10.1103/physrevd.16.1975

Veneziano, G. (1986). A stringy nature needs just two constants. *Europhys. Lett.* 2, 199–204. doi:10.1209/0295-5075/2/3/006

Westphal, J. P. T., Hepach, H., and Aspelmeyer, M. (2021). Measurement of gravitational coupling between millimetre-sized masses. *Nature* 591, 225–228. doi:10.1038/s41586-021-03250-7

Wheeler, J. A. (1955). Geons. *Phys. Rev.* 97, 511–536. doi:10.1103/physrev.97.511 Witten, E. (1996). Reflections on the fate of spacetime. *Phys. Today* 49, 24. doi:10. 1063/1.881493

Yoneya, T. (1989). On the interpretation of minimal lengths in string theory. Mod. Phys. Lett. A 4, 1587–1595. doi:10.1142/s0217732389001817

Zwiebach, B. (2009). A first course in string theory. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Check for updates

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

EDITED BY Daniele Oriti, Ludwig-Maximilians-University Munich, Germany

REVIEWED BY Olaf Lechtenfeld, Leibniz University Hannover, Germany Giulia Gubitosi, University of Naples Federico II, Italy

\*CORRESPONDENCE Matthew J. Lake, ⊠ matthewjlake@narit.or.th

#### SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to High-Energy and Astroparticle Physics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Astronomy and Space Sciences

RECEIVED 02 November 2022 ACCEPTED 09 January 2023 PUBLISHED 08 February 2023

#### CITATION

Lake MJ, Miller M, Ganardi R and Paterek T (2023), Generalised uncertainty relations from finite-accuracy measurements. *Front. Astron. Space Sci.* 10:1087724. doi: 10.3389/fspas.2023.1087724

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Lake, Miller, Ganardi and Paterek. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

# Generalised uncertainty relations from finite-accuracy measurements

## Matthew J. Lake<sup>1,2,3,4,5</sup>\*, Marek Miller<sup>6</sup>, Ray Ganardi<sup>6</sup> and Tomasz Paterek<sup>7,8</sup>

<sup>1</sup>National Astronomical Research Institute of Thailand, Chiang Mai, Thailand, <sup>2</sup>Department of Physics and Materials Science, Faculty of Science, Chiang Mai University, Chiang Mai, Thailand, <sup>3</sup>School of Physics, Sun Yat-Sen University, Guangzhou, China, <sup>4</sup>Department of Physics, Babeş-Bolyai University, Cluj-Napoca, Romania, <sup>5</sup>Office of Research Administration, Chiang Mai University, Chiang Mai, Thailand, <sup>6</sup>Centre for Quantum Optical Technologies, Centre of New Technologies, University of Warsaw, Warsaw, Poland, <sup>7</sup>Department of Physics, Xiamen University Malaysia, Sepang, Malaysia, <sup>8</sup>Institute of Theoretical Physics and Astrophysics, Faculty of Mathematics, Physics, and Informatics, University of Gdańsk, Gdańsk, Poland

In this short note we show how the Generalised Uncertainty Principle (GUP) and the Extended Uncertainty Principle (EUP), two of the most common generalised uncertainty relations proposed in the quantum gravity literature, can be derived within the context of canonical quantum theory, without the need for modified commutation relations. A generalised uncertainty principle-type relation naturally emerges when the standard position operator is replaced by an appropriate Positive Operator Valued Measure (POVM), representing a finite-accuracy measurement that localises the quantum wave packet to within a spatial region  $\sigma_q > 0$ . This length scale is the standard deviation of the envelope function, g, that defines the positive operator valued measure elements. Similarly, an extended uncertainty principle-type relation emerges when the standard momentum operator is replaced by a positive operator valued measure that localises the wave packet to within a region  $\tilde{\sigma}_a > 0$  in momentum space. The usual generalised uncertainty principle and extended uncertainty principle are recovered by setting  $\sigma_a \simeq \sqrt{\hbar G/c^3}$ , the Planck length, and  $\tilde{\sigma}_a \simeq \hbar \sqrt{\Lambda/3}$ , where  $\Lambda$  is the cosmological constant. Crucially, the canonical Hamiltonian and commutation relations, and, hence, the canonical Schrödinger and Heisenberg equations, remain unchanged. This demonstrates that generalised uncertainty principle and extended uncertainty principle phenomenology can be obtained without modified commutators, which are known to lead to various pathologies, including violation of the equivalence principle, violation of Lorentz invariance in the relativistic limit, the reference framedependence of the "minimum" length, and the so-called soccer ball problem for multi-particle states.

#### KEYWORDS

generalised uncertainty relations, generalised uncertainty principle, extended uncertainty principle, finite-accuracy measurements, POVM

# **1** Introduction

In canonical quantum mechanics the Heisenberg uncertainty principle (HUP) implies a fundamental trade-off between the precisions of position and momentum

measurements. <sup>1</sup> It can be introduced heuristically, *via* the famous Heisenberg microscope thought experiment, giving (Heisenberg, 1927; Heisenberg, 1930)

$$\Delta x^{i} \, \Delta p_{j} \gtrsim \frac{\hbar}{2} \delta^{i}_{\ j}, \tag{1.1}$$

or derived rigorously from the canonical quantum formalism, yielding (Isham, 1995; Rae, 2002)

$$\Delta_{\psi} x^i \, \Delta_{\psi} p_j \ge \frac{\hbar}{2} \delta^i_{\ j}. \tag{1.2}$$

The inequality in Eq. 1.2 is exact and, unlike the heuristic uncertainties  $\Delta x^i$  and  $\Delta p_j$  in Eq. 1.1,  $\Delta_{\psi} x^i$  and  $\Delta_{\psi} p_j$  represent well-defined standard deviations of the probability distributions  $|\psi(\mathbf{x})|^2$  and  $|\tilde{\psi}_{\hbar}(\mathbf{p})|^2$ , respectively, where the momentum space representation of the particle wave function is given by the  $\hbar$ -scaled Fourier transform of its position space representation:

$$\tilde{\psi}_{\hbar}(\mathbf{p}) = \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi\hbar}}\right)^3 \int \psi(\mathbf{x}) e^{-\frac{i}{\hbar}\mathbf{p}\cdot\mathbf{x}} \mathrm{d}^3\mathbf{x}.$$
 (1.3)

We emphasise the scale-dependence of the canonical quantum Fourier transform, which is often neglected in standard treatments, by introducing the subscript  $\hbar$ . Eq. **1.2** is obtained by combining the Schrödinger-Robertson relation for arbitrary Hermitian operators,  $\hat{O}_1$  and  $\hat{O}_2$  (Robertson, 1929; Schrödinger, 1930),

$$\Delta_{\psi}O_{1}\,\Delta_{\psi}O_{2} \geq \frac{1}{2}|\langle\psi|\left[\hat{O}_{1},\hat{O}_{2}\right]|\psi\rangle|,\tag{1.4}$$

with the canonical position-momentum commutator,

$$\left[\hat{x}^{i}, \hat{p}_{j}\right] = i\hbar\delta^{i}_{\ j} \ \hat{\mathbb{I}}. \tag{1.5}$$

In recent years, thought experiments in quantum gravity research have suggested the existence of generalised uncertainty relations (GURs). By reconsidering Heisenberg's 1927 gedanken experiment, and accounting for the gravitational interaction between the massive particle and the probing photon, we obtain the generalised uncertainty principle (GUP),

$$\Delta x^{i} \gtrsim \frac{\hbar}{2\Delta p_{j}} \delta^{i}{}_{j} \left[ 1 + \alpha_{0} \frac{2G}{\hbar c^{3}} \left( \Delta p_{j} \right)^{2} \right], \tag{1.6}$$

where  $\alpha_0$  is a numerical constant of order unity (Maggiore, 1993; Adler and Santiago, 1999; Scardigli, 1999). By minimising the right-hand side with respect to  $\Delta p_j$ , the GUP implies the existence of a minimum position uncertainty of the order of the Planck length,  $l_{\rm Pl} = \sqrt{\hbar G/c^3} \approx 10^{-33}$  cm.

Reconsidering Heisenberg's arguments in the presence of a constant dark energy density  $\rho_{\Lambda} = \Lambda c^2/(8\pi G) \approx 10^{-30} \text{ g.cm}^{-3}$  (Riess et al., 1998; Perlmutter et al., 1999), or, equivalently, an asymptotically de Sitter background with minimum scalar curvature of the order of the cosmological constant,  $\Lambda \approx 10^{-56} \text{ cm}^{-2}$  (Ade et al.,

2014; Betoule et al., 2014), gives the extended uncertainty principle (EUP),

$$\Delta p_j \gtrsim \frac{\hbar}{2\Delta x^i} \delta^i{}_j \left[ 1 + 2\eta_0 \Lambda (\Delta x^i)^2 \right], \tag{1.7}$$

where  $\eta_0$  is of order one (Bolen and Cavaglia, 2005; Park, 2008; Bambi and Urban, 2008). The EUP implies the existence of a minimum momentum uncertainty of the order of the de Sitter momentum,  $m_{\rm dS}c = \hbar \sqrt{\Lambda/3} \approx 10^{-56} \, {\rm g.\,cm\,s^{-1}}$ . This is physically reasonable since it is the minimum momentum that a canonical quantum particle can possess, when its wave function is localised within the asymptotic de Sitter horizon, which is comparable to the present day radius of the Universe  $r_{\rm U}(t_0) \approx l_{\rm dS} = \sqrt{3/\Lambda} \approx 10^{28} \, {\rm cm}$ .

Combining both effects yields the extended generalised uncertainty principle (EGUP),

$$\Delta x^{i} \Delta p_{j} \gtrsim \frac{\hbar}{2} \delta^{i}{}_{j} \left[ 1 + \alpha_{0} \frac{2G}{\hbar c^{3}} \left( \Delta p_{j} \right)^{2} + 2\eta_{0} \Lambda \left( \Delta x^{i} \right)^{2} \right], \qquad (1.8)$$

which implies the existence of both minimum length and momentum scales in nature (Bolen and Cavaglia, 2005; Park, 2008; Bambi and Urban, 2008). Like their forebearer Eq. 1.1 all three relations Eqs 1.6–1.8 are heuristic in nature and it remains an open problem how to rigorously derive GURs from within a modified quantum formalism.

Perhaps the simplest way to obtain the GUP, EUP or EGUP, given Eq. 1.4, is to modify the canonical position-momentum commutator Eq. 1.5 and it is clear that a modification of the form

$$\begin{split} \left[ \hat{x}^{i}, \hat{p}_{j} \right] &= i\hbar\delta^{i}{}_{j} \; \hat{\mathbb{I}} \mapsto \left[ \hat{X}^{i}, \hat{P}_{j} \right] \\ &= i\hbar\delta^{i}{}_{j} \left( \hat{\mathbb{I}} + \alpha_{0} \frac{2G}{\hbar c^{3}} \left( \hat{P}_{j} \right)^{2} + 2\eta_{0}\Lambda \left( \hat{X}^{i} \right)^{2} \right) \end{split} \tag{1.9}$$

gives rise to an EGUP-type uncertainty relation, at least when both  $\langle \hat{P}_j \rangle_{\psi} = 0$  and  $\langle \hat{X}^i \rangle_{\psi} = 0$  (Kempf et al., 1995). Here, we use capital letters to denote modified operators, which generate modified commutators, and lower case letters to denote their canonical quantum counterparts. However, the assumption above is problematic since, even if both  $\langle \hat{P}_j \rangle_{\psi} = 0$  and  $\langle \hat{X}^i \rangle_{\psi} = 0$  in a given frame of reference, a simple shift of coordinate origin or a Galilean velocity boost of the observer alters the numerical value of the associated Schrödinger-Robertson bound:

$$\Delta_{\psi} X^{i} \Delta_{\psi} P_{j} \geq \frac{\hbar}{2} \delta^{i}{}_{j} \left\{ 1 + \alpha_{0} \frac{2G}{\hbar c^{3}} \left[ \left( \Delta_{\psi} P_{j} \right)^{2} + \left\langle \hat{P}_{j} \right\rangle_{\psi}^{2} \right] + 2\eta_{0} \Lambda \left[ \left( \Delta_{\psi} X^{i} \right)^{2} + \left\langle \hat{X}^{i} \right\rangle_{\psi}^{2} \right] \right\}.$$
(1.10)

This leads immediately to the reference frame-dependence of the (supposedly invariant) minimum length. In fact, the situation is even worse since even a redefinition of the position-coordinate origin alters the value of the bound on the right-hand side. This gives rise to a coordinate-dependent "minimum" length, which is clearly unphysical, and which strongly suggests that GUR models based on modified commutation relations are not mathematically self-consistent (Lake, 2020; Lake et al., 2023).

In addition, the modified position-momentum commutator Eq. **1.9** implies a modification of the canonical Heisenberg equation, which immediately gives rise to mass-dependent accelerations for quantum particles, violating the equivalence principle (Tawfik and Diab, 2014; Tawfik and Diab, 2015). Such models also violate Lorentz invariance in the relativistic limit and suffer from the so-called soccer ball problem, so that sensible GUP-compatible multi-particle

<sup>1</sup> In classical error analysis the term "precision" is used to refer to the statistical spread of the results whereas the term "accuracy" refers to the discrepancy between the measured value of a quantity and its true value. In keeping with this general usage, we use the term precision to refer to the quantum mechanical uncertainty and accuracy to refer to the width of the error bars associated with each individual measurement.

states cannot be defined (Hossenfelder, 2013; Amelino-Camelia, 2017)<sup>2</sup>.

The heuristic, model-independent nature of the gedanken experiments that lead to the relations Eqs. **1.6–1.8**, together with the pathologies displayed by modified commutator models, motivate us to consider alternative ways to generate GUP, EUP, and EGUP phenomenology, without modifying the canonical Heisenberg algebra. In this paper, we consider one way in which such a scheme can be implemented from within the canonical quantum formalism. The physical basis of the model is the notion of a finite-accuracy measurement and these are represented mathematically by the construction of appropriate POVM. Roughly speaking, since errors add in quadrature for independent random variables, finite-accuracy measurements of position and momentum with detection "sweet spots" of width  $\sigma_g \simeq l_{\rm Pl}$  and  $\tilde{\sigma}_g \simeq m_{\rm dS}c$ , respectively, give rise to the GUP and EUP, to first order in the relevant Taylor expansion. These individual relations may then be combined to give the EGUP.

# 2 GUR from finite-accuracy measurements described by POVM

In this section, we show that GUP, EUP and EGUP-type uncertainty relations can be derived in an effective model, where position and momentum measurements in canonical quantum theory are not perfectly accurate, and are described by POVM, rather than perfect projective measurements.

Let us begin by replacing the usual position-measurement operator,  $\hat{\mathbf{x}}$ , with POVM elements corresponding to the result  $\mathbf{x}$ :

$$\hat{E}_{\mathbf{x}} \coloneqq \int g(\mathbf{x}' - \mathbf{x}) |\mathbf{x}'\rangle \langle \mathbf{x}' | \mathrm{d}^{3} \mathbf{x}', \qquad (2.1)$$

where  $g(\mathbf{x}' - \mathbf{x})$  is any normalised function,  $\int |g(\mathbf{x}' - \mathbf{x})|^2 d^3 \mathbf{x}' = 1$ . These elements satisfy the relations  $\hat{E}_{\mathbf{x}}^{\dagger} \hat{E}_{\mathbf{x}} \ge 0$  and  $\int \hat{E}_{\mathbf{x}}^{\dagger} \hat{E}_{\mathbf{x}} d^3 \mathbf{x} = \hat{\mathbb{I}}$ , as required,

so that Eq. **2.1** defines a standard POVM in canonical quantum mechanics (Nielsen and Chuang, 2000). From here on, we refer to *g* as the "envelope function" of the measure. For spherically symmetric functions the envelope is centred on the value **x**, and, for the sake of concreteness, we may imagine  $|g(\mathbf{x}' - \mathbf{x})|^2$  as a three-dimensional Gaussian distribution with mean **x** and standard deviation  $\sigma_g$ .

Finite-accuracy position measurements, conducted on an arbitrary state  $|\psi\rangle$ , then give rise to the first and second order moments

$$\langle E_{\mathbf{x}} \rangle_{\psi} = \int \mathbf{x} \langle \psi | \hat{E}_{\mathbf{x}}^{\dagger} \hat{E}_{\mathbf{x}} | \psi \rangle \mathrm{d}^{3} \mathbf{x} = \langle \mathbf{x} \rangle_{g} + \langle \mathbf{x} \rangle_{\psi},$$

$$\langle E_{\mathbf{x}}^{2} \rangle_{\psi} = \int \mathbf{x}^{2} \langle \psi | \hat{E}_{\mathbf{x}}^{\dagger} \hat{E}_{\mathbf{x}} | \psi \rangle \mathrm{d}^{3} \mathbf{x} = \langle \mathbf{x}^{2} \rangle_{g} + \langle \mathbf{x}^{2} \rangle_{\psi},$$

$$(2.2)$$

where  $\langle \mathbf{x}^n \rangle_f \coloneqq \int \mathbf{x}^n |f(\mathbf{x})|^2 d^3 \mathbf{x}$  with  $f(\mathbf{x}) = g(\mathbf{x})$  or  $\psi(\mathbf{x})$ . Since  $|g(\mathbf{x}' - \mathbf{x})|^2$  is a normalised function centred on  $\mathbf{x}' = \mathbf{x}$ ,  $\langle \mathbf{x} \rangle_g = 0$ , and the corresponding variance is given by

$$\left(\Delta_{\psi} E_{\mathbf{x}}\right)^2 = \left(\Delta_{\psi} \mathbf{x}\right)^2 + \boldsymbol{\sigma}_g^2, \qquad (2.3)$$

where  $\sigma_g \coloneqq \sigma_g^i \mathbf{e}_i$  and  $\sigma_g^i$  denotes the width of  $|g|^2$  in each coordinate direction  $x^i$ . By spherical symmetry,  $\sigma_g^i = \sigma_g$  for all *i*, and we may rewrite Eq. 2.3 in terms of the individual components as

$$\left(\Delta_{\psi} E_i\right)^2 = \left(\Delta_{\psi} x^i\right)^2 + \sigma_g^2, \tag{2.4}$$

where we have used the shorthand notation  $\Delta_{\psi} E_i \equiv \Delta_{\psi} E_{x^i}$ .

In like manner, finite-accuracy momentum measurements may be introduced *via* the operators

$$\hat{\mathbb{E}}_{\mathbf{p}} \coloneqq \int \tilde{g}(\mathbf{p}' - \mathbf{p}) |\mathbf{p}'\rangle \langle \mathbf{p}' | d^3 \mathbf{p}', \qquad (2.5)$$

where  $\int |\tilde{g}(\mathbf{p}' - \mathbf{p})|^2 d\mathbf{p}' = 1$ , but it is important to note that there is no *intrinsic* relation between the functions *g* and  $\tilde{g}$ , which may be chosen independently for a given POVM model. Nevertheless, if both  $|g|^2$  and  $|\tilde{g}|^2$  represent Gaussian distributions, which is perhaps the most natural choice for an envelope function, then *g* and  $\tilde{g}$  *are* related *via* a Fourier transform,

$$\tilde{g}(\mathbf{p}'-\mathbf{p}) = \int g(\mathbf{x}'-\mathbf{x}) e^{\frac{i}{\beta}(\mathbf{x}'-\mathbf{x}).(\mathbf{p}'-\mathbf{p})} \mathrm{d}^3 \mathbf{x}', \qquad (2.6)$$

where the new action scale  $\beta \neq \hbar$  is given by

$$\beta \coloneqq 2\sigma_g \tilde{\sigma}_g, \tag{2.7}$$

and  $\tilde{\sigma}_g$  is the standard deviation of  $|\tilde{g}|^2$ . However, it is equally important to note that there is nothing fundamental about the relation Eq. **2.6**. Unlike the  $\hbar$ -scaled Fourier transform relating the position and momentum space representations of the quantum wave function, Eq. **1.3**, the  $\beta$ -scaled transform relates the "envelope functions" of the model.

Finite-accuracy momentum measurements, conducted on an arbitrary state  $|\psi\rangle$ , then give rise to the first and second order moments

$$\langle \mathbb{E}_{\mathbf{p}} \rangle_{\psi} = \int \mathbf{p} \langle \psi | \hat{\mathbb{E}}_{\mathbf{p}}^{\dagger} \hat{\mathbb{E}}_{\mathbf{p}} | \psi \rangle d^{3} \mathbf{p} = \langle \mathbf{p} \rangle_{g} + \langle \mathbf{p} \rangle_{\psi},$$

$$\langle \mathbb{E}_{\mathbf{p}}^{2} \rangle_{\psi} = \int \mathbf{p}^{2} \langle \psi | \hat{\mathbb{E}}_{\mathbf{p}}^{\dagger} \hat{\mathbb{E}}_{\mathbf{p}} | \psi \rangle d^{3} \mathbf{p} = \langle \mathbf{p}^{2} \rangle_{g} + \langle \mathbf{p}^{2} \rangle_{\psi},$$

$$(2.8)$$

<sup>2</sup> In Amelino-Camelia (2017) an ingenious solution to the soccer ball problem was proposed. In this approach, the generalised momentum operators of a given modified commutator model are defined to be the generators of "generalised spatial translations." The unitary transformation  $\hat{\mathcal{U}}(\mathbf{X}) \coloneqq \exp[(i/\hbar)\mathbf{X}.\hat{\mathbf{P}}]$ , which acts non-trivially only on the  $\hat{X}'$  operators, is required to leave the modified  $[\tilde{X}', \tilde{P}_j]$ ,  $[\hat{X}', \hat{X}']$  and  $[\hat{P}_i, \hat{P}_i]$  algebras, as well as the multi-particle Hamiltonian of the model,  $\hat{\mathcal{H}}$ , invariant. This defines the "generalised translation symmetries" of the system and, when these symmetries hold, the corresponding Noether charge for an N-particle state is represented by the operator  $\mathbf{P}_{Total} \coloneqq \sum_{i=1}^{N} \mathbf{P}_{i}$ , where  $[\hat{\mathbf{P}}_{Total}, \hat{\mathcal{H}}] = 0$ . The usual law of linear momentum addition therefore holds for multi-particle states but a different non-linear addition law, derived ultimately from the notion of spatial locality, holds for transfers of momentum between individual particles, due to the interactions specified by  $\hat{\mathcal{H}}$ . Unfortunately for GUP models, in the example system considered in Amelino-Camelia (2017), the definition of the generalised spatial translations required to maintain the linear addition law also requires one of the position-momentum commutators to equal zero, i.e.,  $[\hat{X}^{i}, \hat{P}_{i}] = 0$ , for some *i*. In this case there is no Heisenberg uncertainty principle, let alone a GUP, even though a minimum length scale *l* still appears in the model via the position-position commutator, e.g.,  $[\hat{X}_1, \hat{X}_2] = il\hat{X}_1$ . This illustrates a general point, that it is by no means certain whether a particular modified momentum operator, corresponding to a particular modification of the canonical Heisenberg algebra, and, hence, a particular form of the GUP, is compatible with a linear addition law derived via Amelino-Camelia's procedure. Therefore, although this procedure represents a useful criterion for defining physically viable GUP models, it is clear that arbitrary deformations of the canonical Heisenberg algebra are not consistent with the existence of a linear momentum addition law and that further work is required to determine which models truly suffer from a soccer ball problem and which ones do not. Though some GUP models may be free from this pathology, a great many could still be afflicted by it.

where  $\langle \mathbf{p}^n \rangle_f \coloneqq \int \mathbf{p}^n |\tilde{f}(\mathbf{p})|^2 d^3 \mathbf{p}$  with  $\tilde{f}(\mathbf{p}) = \tilde{g}(\mathbf{p})$  or  $\tilde{\psi}_h(\mathbf{p})$ . Since  $|\tilde{g}(\mathbf{p}' - \mathbf{p})|^2$  is normalised and centred at  $\mathbf{p}' = \mathbf{p}$ ,  $\langle \mathbf{p} \rangle_g = 0$ , and

$$\left(\Delta_{\psi}\mathbb{E}_{\mathbf{p}}\right)^{2} = \left(\Delta_{\psi}\mathbf{p}\right)^{2} + \tilde{\sigma}_{g}^{2}, \qquad (2.9)$$

where  $\tilde{\sigma}_{g} \coloneqq \tilde{\sigma}_{gj} e^{i}$  and  $\tilde{\sigma}_{gj}$  denotes the width of  $|\tilde{g}|^{2}$  in each momentum space direction  $p_{j}$ . Again employing spherical symmetry,  $\tilde{\sigma}_{gj} = \tilde{\sigma}_{g}$  for all *j*, Eq. 2.9 may be rewritten in terms of the individual components as

$$\left(\Delta_{\psi}\mathbb{E}_{j}\right)^{2} = \left(\Delta_{\psi}p_{j}\right)^{2} + \tilde{\sigma}_{g}^{2}, \qquad (2.10)$$

where we have again used the shorthand  $\Delta_{\psi} \mathbb{E}_j \equiv \Delta_{\psi} \mathbb{E}_{p_i}$ .

To obtain a GUP-type relation from Eq. 2.4 we simply take the square root, Taylor expand the right-hand side to first order, and substitute for  $\Delta_{\psi} x^i$  from the HUP Eq. 1.2. Likewise, an EUP-type relation is obtained from Eq. 2.10 by taking the square root, Taylor expanding to first order, and substituting for  $\Delta_{\psi} p_j$ . Next, using the substitutions

$$\sigma_g \coloneqq \sqrt{2\alpha_0} \, l_{\rm Pl}, \quad \tilde{\sigma}_g \coloneqq \sqrt{6\eta_0} \, m_{\rm dS} c, \tag{2.11}$$

where

$$l_{\rm Pl} \coloneqq \sqrt{\hbar G/c^3}, \quad m_{\rm dS} c \coloneqq \hbar \sqrt{\Lambda/3}, \tag{2.12}$$

immediately gives

$$\Delta_{\psi} X^{i} \gtrsim \frac{\hbar}{2\Delta_{\psi} p_{j}} \delta^{i}{}_{j} \left[ 1 + \alpha_{0} \frac{2G}{\hbar c^{3}} \left( \Delta_{\psi} p_{j} \right)^{2} \right], \qquad (2.13)$$

$$\Delta_{\psi} P_j \gtrsim \frac{\hbar}{2\Delta_{\psi} x^i} \delta^i{}_j \left[ 1 + 2\eta_0 \Lambda \left( \Delta_{\psi} x^i \right)^2 \right], \tag{2.14}$$

where we have relabelled  $\Delta_{\psi}E_i \equiv \Delta_{\psi}X^i$  and  $\Delta_{\psi}E_j \equiv \Delta_{\psi}P_j$ , for convenience. These expressions are formally analogous to the heuristic relations, Eqs. **1.6**, **1.7**, respectively, but with  $\Delta p_j$  and  $\Delta x^i$  on the right replaced by the well-defined standard deviations  $\Delta_{\psi}p_j$  and  $\Delta_{\psi}x^i$ .

This proves that GUP- and EUP-type relations can be derived rigorously, from within the canonical quantum formalism, but a remaining criticism of the formulae above is that the uncertainties on the right-hand sides of Eqs 2.13, 2.14 are not equivalent to the uncertainties on the left. Indeed, according to the POVM model,  $\Delta_{\psi} p_j$  and  $\Delta_{\psi} x^i$  are not operationally *observable* quantities. They arise only in the limits  $\sigma_g \rightarrow 0$  and  $\tilde{\sigma}_g \rightarrow 0$ , respectively, in which both Eqs 2.13, 2.14 reduce to the standard HUP Eq. 1.2. This objection can be overcome, however, by first substituting for  $\Delta_{\psi} x^i$  from Eq. 1.2 in Eq. 2.4 and then again for  $\Delta_{\psi} p_i$  from Eq. 2.10. This gives rise to an uncertainty relation between the observable standard deviations,  $\Delta_{\psi} E_i \equiv \Delta_{\psi} X^i$  and  $\Delta_{\psi} E_j \equiv \Delta_{\psi} P_j$ . It is straightforward to show that, taking the square root, Taylor expanding to first order, and neglecting the final term of order  $\sigma_g \tilde{\sigma}_g \simeq l_{\rm pl.} m_{\rm dS} c$ , this relation reduces to

$$\Delta_{\psi} X^{i} \Delta_{\psi} P_{j} \gtrsim \frac{\hbar}{2} \delta^{i}{}_{j} \left[ 1 + \alpha_{0} \frac{2G}{\hbar c^{3}} \left( \Delta_{\psi} P_{j} \right)^{2} + 2\eta_{0} \Lambda \left( \Delta_{\psi} X^{i} \right)^{2} \right].$$
(2.15)

Therefore, the EGUP can be rigorously derived within the canonical quantum formalism. The GUP and EUP proper then arise as limits of this more fundamental relation.

We stress that, in this model,  $\Delta_{\psi}E_i \equiv \Delta_{\psi}X^i$  and  $\Delta_{\psi}\mathbb{E}_j \equiv \Delta_{\psi}P_j$ represent the *physically observable* precisions, obtained from generalised position and momentum measurements with finite accuracies  $\sigma_g > 0$  and  $\tilde{\sigma}_g > 0$ . By contrast, the canonical Hamiltonian is determined by the canonical (projective) position and momentum operators,  $\hat{\mathbf{x}}$  and  $\hat{\mathbf{p}}$ ,  $via \hat{H} = \hat{\mathbf{p}}^2/(2m) + V(\hat{\mathbf{x}})$ , where the former obey the canonical Heisenberg algebra:  $[\hat{x}^i, \hat{p}_j] = i\hbar \delta^i_j \hat{\mathbf{I}}, [\hat{x}^i, \hat{x}^j] = 0, [\hat{p}_i, \hat{p}_j] = 0$ . This leaves the canonical Heisenberg and Schrödinger equations unchanged and neatly evades the pathologies that afflict modified commutator models (Lake, 2020; Hossenfelder, 2013; Tawfik and Diab, 2014; Tawfik and Diab, 2015; Lake et al., 2023).

# **3** Discussion

We have shown that the three most common GURs studied in the quantum gravity literature, the GUP, EUP, and EGUP, can be derived from within the formalism of canonical quantum mechanics. A GUP-type uncertainty relation is obtained when the standard (projective) position operator is replaced by an appropriate POVM, representing finite-accuracy measurements with error bars of width  $\sigma_g > 0$  in real space. In like manner, an EUP-type relation is obtained from finite-accuracy measurements with error bars of width  $\tilde{\sigma}_g > 0$  in momentum space. These can be combined to give a relation that is formally analogous to the EGUP and the standard EGUP is recovered by setting  $\sigma_g \simeq l_{\rm Pl}$ , the Planck length, and  $\tilde{\sigma}_g \simeq m_{\rm dS}c$ , where  $m_{\rm dS} = (\hbar/c)\sqrt{\Lambda/3}$  is the de Sitter mass.

This work suggests that GUP, EUP, and EGUP phenomenology can be understood in a physically intuitive way, as a simple and natural outcome of finite-accuracy measurements. Such measurements are capable of generating all three GURs and the same phenomenology is obtained, at the level of the uncertainty relations, regardless of whether the limits  $(\Delta_{\psi} X^i)_{\min} = \sigma_g$  and  $(\Delta_{\psi} P_j)_{\min} = \tilde{\sigma}_g$  are fundamental, or merely effective, as an outcome of an imperfect measurement scheme.

We propose that this should give pause for thought to the GUP community. If modified commutators are not *necessary* for GUP phenomenology, and, after nearly 30 years of research, we are no closer to resolving the pathologies that have afflicted these models since they were first proposed in the mid-1990s, then serious attempts should be made to find *alternative mathematical structures* that give rise to GURs. These should be capable of generating, *via* rigorous derivation, the uncertainty relations predicted by model-independent gedanken experiments, but without the problems associated with modified commutation relations.

In this paper, we have proposed one such model, within the context of canonical quantum theory. Another, more radical, alternative is to consider additional quantum mechanical degrees of freedom, not present in the canonical theory, which are capable of describing quantum fluctuations of the background geometry. Such a model was proposed in a recent series of works (Lake, 2019; Lake et al., 2019; Lake et al., 2020; Lake, 2021a; Lake, 2021b) and shares many features with the model described here, including the existence of a new action scale that relates the accuracies of generalised position and momentum measurements,  $\beta \coloneqq 2\sigma_o \tilde{\sigma}_o \simeq 10^{-61} h$  (\*). The fundamental difference between the two models is the existence of new degrees of freedom in the latter. From this, it follows that the new action scale  $\beta$ implies a modified de Broglie relation of the form  $\mathbf{p}' = \hbar \mathbf{k} + \beta (\mathbf{k}' - \mathbf{k})$ , where, here,  $\mathbf{p}'$  denotes the *observable* momentum. Heuristically, the non-canonical term  $\beta(\mathbf{k}' - \mathbf{k})$  can be interpreted as an additional momentum "kick," transferred to the canonical wave function by a quantum fluctuation of the background. The interested reader is

referred to (Lake, 2020; Lake, 2019; Lake et al., 2019; Lake et al., 2020; Lake, 2021a; Lake, 2021b; Lake et al., 2023) for further details.

At first glance, this more radical alternative has nothing to do with the POVM approach described here. It requires extra degrees of freedom associated with the quantum state of the background geometry, contrary to the POVM formalism, which remains entirely within the context of canonical quantum theory. It follows from Stinespring's dilation theorem (Stinespring, 1955; Paulsen, 2003), however, that the two formalisms are equivalent if we assume the particular values,  $\sigma_g \approx l_{\text{Pl}}$  and  $\tilde{\sigma}_g \approx m_{\text{dS}}c$ , and hence the relation (\*) above. The POVM picture results from tracing out the  $\mathbf{x}'(\mathbf{p}')$  degrees of freedom associated with quantum fluctuations of the background and the  $\mathbf{x}'(\mathbf{p}')$  degrees of freedom appear as a consequence of dilating the POVM.

The POVM approach describes a quantum measurement of finite accuracy. The minimum resolution of the measurement may be due to technical limitations, or it can reflect the fact that the minimum length and momentum scales are fundamentally related. We postulate that in a universe with both fundamental and technological limitations to measurement accuracy, the complete description of a realistic quantum measurement should be a POVM extension of the model presented in (Lake, 2019; Lake et al., 2019). We expect that this would give rise to two additional contributions to the position and momentum variances, i.e.,  $\sigma_g^2 + \sigma_h^2$  and  $\tilde{\sigma}_g^2 + \tilde{\sigma}_h^2$ , respectively, where *g* is the fundamental smearing function that models the quantum indeterminacy of space-time, and *h* is the envelope function of a realistic detector. In the limit  $\sigma_h \gg \sigma_g$ ,  $\tilde{\sigma}_h \gg \tilde{\sigma}_g$ , which corresponds to all present-day measurements, the latter are expected to dominate the former.

#### Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

# References

Ade, P. A. R., Aghanim, N., Armitage-Caplan, C., Arnaud, M., Ashdown, M., Atrio-Barandela, F., et al. (2014). Planck 2013 results. XVI. Cosmological parameters. *Astron. Astrophys.* 571, A16. arXiv:1303.5076 [astro-ph.CO]. doi:10.1051/0004-6361/201321591

Adler, R. J., and Santiago, D. I. (1999). On gravity and the uncertainty principle. *Mod. Phys. Lett. A* 14, 1371–1381. doi:10.1142/s0217732399001462

Amelino-Camelia, G. (2017). Planck-scale soccer-ball problem: A case of mistaken identity. *Entropy* 19 (8), 400. arXiv:1407.7891 [gr-qc]. doi:10.3390/e19080400

Bambi, C., and Urban, F. R. (2008). Natural extension of the generalized uncertainty principle. *Quant. Grav.* 25, 095006. [gr-qc]. doi:10.1088/0264-9381/25/9/095006

Betoule, M., Kessler, R., Guy, J., Mosher, J., Hardin, D., Biswas, R., et al. (2014). Improved cosmological constraints from a joint analysis of the SDSS-II and SNLS supernova samples. *Astron. Astrophys.* 568, A22. [astro-ph.CO]. doi:10.1051/0004-6361/201423413

Bolen, B., and Cavaglia, M. (2005). (Anti-)de Sitter black hole thermodynamics and the generalized uncertainty principle. *Gen. Rel. Grav.* 37, 1255–1262. doi:10.1007/s10714-005-0108-x

Heisenberg, W. (1927). Über den anschaulichen Inhalt der quantentheoretischen Kinematik und Mechanik Z. Physik 43, 172–198. doi:10.1007/BF01397280

Heisenberg, W. (1930). The physical principles of the quantum theory. New York: Dover.

## Author contributions

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work and approved it for publication.

# Funding

This work was supported by the Natural Science Foundation of Guangdong Province, grant no. 008120251030.

## Acknowledgments

ML would like to acknowledge the Department of Physics and Materials Science, Faculty of Science, Chiang Mai University, for providing research facilities.

# Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

# Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Hossenfelder, S. (2013). Minimal length scale scenarios for quantum gravity. *Living Rev. Rel.* 16, 2. arXiv:1203.6191 [gr-qc]. doi:10.12942/lrr-2013-2

Isham, C. J. (1995). Lectures on quantum theory: Mathematical and structural foundations. London: Imperial College Press.

Kempf, A., Mangano, G., and Mann, R. B. (1995). Hilbert space representation of the minimal length uncertainty relation. *Phys. Rev. D.* 52, 1108–1118. arXiv:hep-th/9412167 [hep-th]. doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.52.1108

Lake, M. J. (2020). "A new approach to generalised uncertainty relations," in Touring the Planck scale: Antonio Aurilia memorial volume, Fundamental theories of Physics, Springer. Editor P. Nicolini Accepted for publication arXiv:2008.13183v1 [gr-qc]. doi:10.48550/arXiv.2008.13183

Lake, M. J. (2019). A solution to the soccer ball problem for generalized uncertainty relations. Ukr. J. Phys. 64 (11), 1036. [gr-qc]. doi:10.15407/ujpe64.11.1036

Lake, M. J. (2021). How does the Planck scale affect qubits? *Quantum Rep.* 3 (1), 196-227. arXiv:2103.03093 [quant-ph]. doi:10.3390/quantum3010012

Lake, M. J., Miller, M., Ganardi, R. F., Liu, Z., Liang, S. D., and Paterek, T. (2019). Generalised uncertainty relations from superpositions of geometries. *Quant. Grav.* 36 (15), 155012. [quant-ph]. doi:10.1088/1361-6382/ab2160

Lake, M. J., Miller, M., and Liang, S. D. (2020). Generalised uncertainty relations for angular momentum and spin in quantum geometry. *Universe* 6, 56. doi:10.3390/universe6040056

Lake, M. J. (2021). Why space could be quantised on a different scale to matter. *SciPost Phys. Proc.* 4, 014. arXiv:2005.12724 [gr-qc]. doi:10.21468/SciPostPhysProc.4.014

Lake, M. J. (2023). "Problems with modified commutators," in *Generalized uncertainty* relations: Existing paradigms and new approaches, Front. Astron. Space Sci. Editors M. J. Lake, S. D. Liang, and T. Harko

Maggiore, M. (1993). A Generalized uncertainty principle in quantum gravity. *Phys. Lett. B* 304, 65–69. doi:10.1016/0370-2693(93)91401-8

Nielsen, M. A., and Chuang, I. L. (2000). *Quantum computation and quantum information*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Park, M. i. (2008). The generalized uncertainty principle in (A)dS space and the modification of hawking temperature from the minimal length. *Phys. Lett. B* 659, 698–702. arXiv:0709.2307 [hep-th]. doi:10.1016/j.physletb.2007.11.090

Paulsen, V. (2003). Completely bounded maps and operator algebras. Cambridge, U.K.: Cambridge University Press.

Perlmutter, S., Aldering, G., Goldhaber, G., Knop, R. A., Nugent, P., Castro, P. G., et al. (1999). Measurements of  $\Omega$  and  $\Lambda$  from 42 high-redshift supernovae. *Astrophys. J.* 517, 565–586. doi:10.1086/307221

Rae, A. I. M. (2002). Quantum mechanics 4th ed. London, U.K.: Taylor & Francis.

Riess, A. G., Filippenko, A. V., Challis, P., Clocchiatti, A., Diercks, A., Garnavich, P. M., et al. (1998). Observational evidence from supernovae for an accelerating universe and a cosmological constant. *Astron. J.* 116, 1009–1038. doi:10.1086/300499

Robertson, H. P. (1929). The uncertainty principle. *Phys. Rev.* 34, 163-164. doi:10.1103/PhysRev.34.163

Scardigli, F. (1999). Generalized uncertainty principle in quantum gravity from micro - black hole Gedanken experiment. *Phys. Lett. B* 452, 39-44. doi:10.1016/s0370-2693(99)00167-7

Schrödinger, E. (1930). About Heisenberg uncertainty relation. *Bulg. J. Phys.* 26, 193. [Sitzungsber. Preuss. Akad. Wiss. Berlin (Math. Phys. ) 19, 296 (1999)] [quant-ph/9903100].

Stinespring, W. F. (1955). Positive functions on C\*-algebras. Proc. Am. Math. Soc. 6, 211–216. doi:10.1090/s0002-9939-1955-0069403-4

Tawfik, A. N., and Diab, A. M. (2015). A review of the generalized uncertainty principle. *Rept. Prog. Phys.* 78, 126001. [physics.gen-ph]. doi:10.1088/0034-4885/78/12/126001

Tawfik, A. N., and Diab, A. M. (2014). Generalized uncertainty principle: Approaches and applications. *Int. J. Mod. Phys. D.* 23 (12), 1430025. arXiv:1410.0206 [gr-qc]. doi:10.1142/S0218271814300250 Check for updates

#### OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Douglas Alexander Singleton, California State University, United States

#### REVIEWED BY Merab Gogberashvili, Thiliei State University O

Tbilisi State University, Georgia Robert Bruce Mann, University of Waterloo, Canada

\*CORRESPONDENCE Matthew J. Lake, I matthewjlake@narit.or.th Anucha Watcharapasorn, I anucha@stanfordalumni.org

#### SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to High-Energy and Astroparticle Physics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Astronomy and Space Sciences

RECEIVED 07 December 2022 ACCEPTED 17 January 2023 PUBLISHED 13 February 2023

#### CITATION

Lake MJ and Watcharapasorn A (2023), Problems with modified commutators. *Front. Astron. Space Sci.* 10:1118647. doi: 10.3389/fspas.2023.1118647

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Lake and Watcharapasorn. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

# Problems with modified commutators

#### Matthew J. Lake<sup>1,2,3,4,5</sup>\* and Anucha Watcharapasorn<sup>2,6</sup>\*

<sup>1</sup>National Astronomical Research Institute of Thailand, Chiang Mai, Thailand, <sup>2</sup>Department of Physics and Materials Science, Faculty of Science, Chiang Mai University, Chiang Mai, Thailand, <sup>3</sup>School of Physics, Sun Yat-sen University, Guangzhou, China, <sup>4</sup>Department of Physics, Babeş-Bolyai University, Cluj-Napoca, Romania, <sup>5</sup>Office of Research Administration, Chiang Mai University, Chiang Mai, Thailand, <sup>6</sup>Center of Excellence in Quantum Technology, Faculty of Engineering, Chiang Mai University, Chiang Mai, Thailand

The purpose of this paper is to challenge the existing paradigm on which contemporary models of generalised uncertainty relations (GURs) are based, that is, the assumption of modified commutation relations. We review an array of theoretical problems that arise in modified commutator models, including those that have been discussed in depth and others that have received comparatively little attention, or have not been considered at all in the existing literature, with the aim of stimulating discussion on these topics. We then show how an apparently simple assumption can solve, or, more precisely, evade these issues, by generating GURs without modifying the basic form of the canonical Heisenberg algebra. This simplicity is deceptive, however, as the necessary assumption is found to have huge implications for the quantisation of space-time and, therefore, gravity. These include the view that quantum space-time should be considered as a quantum reference frame and, crucially, that the action scale characterising the quantum effects of gravity,  $\beta$ , must be many orders of magnitude smaller than Planck's constant,  $\beta \sim 10^{-61} \times \hbar$ , in order to recover the present day dark energy density. We argue that these proposals should be taken seriously, as a potential solution to the pathologies that plague minimum length models based on modified commutators, and that their implications should be explored as thoroughly as those of the existing paradigm, which has dominated research in this area for almost three decades.

#### KEYWORDS

generalised uncertainty relations, generalised uncertainty principle, extended uncertainty principle, modified commutation relations, minimum length, minimum momentum, quantum geometry, quantum gravity

# **1** Introduction

Thought experiments in quantum gravity suggest the existence of generalised uncertainty relations (GURs) (Maggiore, 1993; Adler and Santiago, 1999; Scardigli, 1999; Bolen and Cavaglia, 2005; Bambi and Urban, 2008; Park, 2008) and two of the most widely studied GURs are known as the generalised uncertainty principle (GUP) and the extended uncertainty principle (EUP). These may be written as

$$\Delta x^{i} \gtrsim \frac{\hbar}{2\Delta p_{j}} \delta^{i}{}_{j} \left[ 1 + \alpha_{0} \frac{2G}{\hbar c^{3}} \left( \Delta p_{j} \right)^{2} \right], \tag{1.1}$$

and

$$\Delta p_j \gtrsim \frac{\hbar}{2\Delta x^i} \delta^i_j \left[ 1 + 2\eta_0 \Lambda (\Delta x^i)^2 \right], \tag{1.2}$$

respectively, where  $\alpha_0$  and  $\eta_0$  are numerical constants of order unity. The GUP implies the existence of a minimum length scale of the order of the Planck length (Maggiore, 1993;

Adler and Santiago, 1999; Scardigli, 1999) whereas the EUP implies a minimum momentum scale of the order of the de Sitter momentum (Bolen and Cavaglia, 2005; Bambi and Urban, 2008; Park, 2008) For later convenience, we define the Planck and de Sitter scales as

$$l_{\rm Pl} := \sqrt{\hbar G/c^3} \simeq 10^{-33} \,\text{cm}, \quad m_{\rm Pl} := \sqrt{\hbar c/G} \simeq 10^{-5} \,\text{g},$$
$$l_{\rm dS} := \sqrt{3/\Lambda} \simeq 10^{28} \,\text{cm}, \quad m_{\rm dS} := (\hbar/c) \,\sqrt{\Lambda/3} \simeq 10^{-66} \,\text{g}, \tag{1.3}$$

where  $\Lambda \simeq 10^{-56}$  cm<sup>-2</sup> is the cosmological constant (Betoule et al., 2014; Aghanim et al., 2021). Assuming both minimum length and momentum scales suggests the extended generalised uncertainty principle (EGUP),

$$\Delta x^{i} \Delta p_{j} \gtrsim \frac{\hbar}{2} \delta^{i}_{j} \left[ 1 + \alpha_{0} \frac{2G}{\hbar c^{3}} \left( \Delta p_{j} \right)^{2} + 2\eta_{0} \Lambda \left( \Delta x^{i} \right)^{2} \right], \qquad (1.4)$$

but **Eqs. 1.1–1.4** are heuristic and it remains an open problem how to derive the GUP, EUP and EGUP rigorously, from a modified quantum formalism.

Until recently, the only method considered in the existing literature was to modify the canonical commutation relations such that (Tawfik and Diab, 2014; Tawfik and Diab, 2015)

$$\left[\hat{x}^{i},\hat{p}_{j}\right] = i\hbar\delta^{i}_{j}\,\,\hat{\mathbb{I}} \mapsto \left[\hat{X}^{i},\hat{P}_{j}\right] = i\hbar\delta^{i}_{j}F\left(\hat{\mathbf{P}},\hat{\mathbf{X}}\right),\tag{1.5}$$

which gives rise to GURs via the Schrödinger-Robertson relation (Robertson, 1929; Schrödinger, 1999) Throughout this work we use capital letters to denote modified operators, that give rise to modified commutators, and lower case letters to denote their canonical quantum counterparts. Unfortunately, this apparently reasonable assumption has been shown to give rise to a variety of pathologies (Hossenfelder, 2013; Hossenfelder, 2014; Tawfik and Diab, 2014). These strongly suggest that modified commutator models are not mathematically self-consistent (Lake, 2020; Lake et al., 2023).

In this paper, we review six fundamental problems encountered by GUR models based on modified commutation relations.

- 1. Violation of the equivalence principle,
- 2. Violation of Lorentz invariance in the relativistic limit,
- 3. The 'soccer ball' problem for multi-particle states,
- 4. The reference frame-dependence of the 'minimum' length,
- 5. The background geometry is not quantum,
- 6. The mathematical inconsistency of modified phase space volumes.

The first three of these have been discussed at length in the literature (see, for example (Hossenfelder, 2013; Hossenfelder, 2014; Tawfik and Diab, 2014) and references therein) and we review them only briefly. The fourth and fifth problems were discussed previously in (Lake, 2020) but, to the best of our knowledge, have not been discussed elsewhere. The sixth and final problem raised in this short review has, surprisingly, not been considered before. Nonetheless, we argue that it represents the most serious objection yet raised against the modified commutator paradigm.

We review each problem, sequentially, in Sections 2.1–2.6. In Section 3, we consider the relative importance of each, and ask whether or not such problems could instead be viewed as features, rather than bugs, of a viable extension of canonical quantum mechanics. An alternative model, that circumvents these issues without the use of modified commutation relations, is reviewed in Section 4. Our conclusions are summarised in Section 5.

# 2 Problems with modified commutators

#### 2.1 Violation of the equivalence principle

In canonical quantum mechanics (QM), the Heisenberg equation for the time evolution of an arbitrary Hermitian operator  $\hat{O}$  is

$$\frac{d}{dt}\hat{O}(t) = \frac{i}{\hbar} \left[\hat{H}, \hat{O}\right] + \left(\frac{\partial \hat{O}}{\partial t}\right)_{H}, \qquad (2.1)$$

where  $\hat{H} = \hat{p}^2/(2m) + V(\hat{\mathbf{x}})$ . For the position operator  $\hat{x}^i(t)$  this gives

$$\frac{d}{dt}\hat{x}^{i}(t) = \frac{\hat{p}^{i}}{m},$$
(2.2)

where right-hand side follows from the form of the canonical positionmomentum commutator,  $[\hat{x}^i, \hat{p}_j] = i\hbar \delta^I_j \hat{\mathbb{I}}$ . From Eq. 2.2, it follows that the acceleration of the position expectation value of a quantum particle is independent of its mass:

$$\hat{a}^{i} = \frac{1}{m} \frac{d\hat{p}^{i}}{dt} = \frac{d^{2}\hat{x}^{i}}{dt^{2}}.$$
(2.3)

For the generalised operators  $\hat{X}^i$  and  $\hat{P}^j$  satisfying the modified commutator

$$\left[\hat{X}^{i},\hat{P}_{j}\right] = i\hbar\delta^{i}_{\ j}G\left(\hat{\mathbf{P}}\right),\tag{2.4}$$

the Heisenberg equation for  $\hat{X}^{i}(t)$  is

$$\frac{d}{dt}\hat{X}^{i}(t) = \frac{\hat{P}^{i}}{m}G(\hat{\mathbf{P}}), \qquad (2.5)$$

so that, for  $G(\hat{\mathbf{P}}) \neq 1$ , the particle experiences a mass-dependent acceleration:

$$\hat{A}^{i} = \frac{1}{m} \frac{d\hat{P}^{i}}{dt} = \frac{1}{G\left(\hat{\mathbf{P}}\right)} \left[ \frac{d^{2}\hat{X}^{i}}{dt^{2}} - \frac{\hat{P}^{i}}{m} \frac{dG\left(\hat{\mathbf{P}}\right)}{dt} \right].$$
(2.6)

Although there is no universally agreed upon formulation of the equivalence principle (EP) for quantum systems (Paunkovic and Vojinovic, 2022), it is clear that such acceleration violates any sensible definition of the EP in the quantum regime, and, crucially, no experimental evidence has yet been found to support its existence.

This argument assumes that the generalised Hamiltonian takes the form  $\hat{H} = \hat{P}^2/(2m) + V(\hat{X})$  and that a well defined Heisenberg picture exists in the generalised theory, but both of these are reasonable assumptions. Similar analyses demonstrate that the EP is also violated in models with modified commutators characterised by the functions  $G(\hat{X})$  and  $G(\hat{X}, \hat{P})$ . It is therefore impossible to obtain the GUP, EUP, or EGUP from modified commutator models without violating the founding principles of classical gravity and, most likely, any viable generalisation of the these principles that includes the quantum realm (Paunkovic and Vojinovic, 2022).

#### 2.2 Violation of Lorentz invariance

We recall that the canonical Heisenberg algebra is simply an  $\hbar$ scaled representation of the shift-isometry algebra of Euclidean space and of space-like slices of flat space-time in the relativistic limit, i.e., it is the translation subgroup of the full Poincaré group that characterises the symmetries of Minkowski space, including translations, Lorentz boosts and rotations. Therefore, any modification of the Heisenberg algebra implies the violation of translational symmetry *unless* we choose to interpret it as a manifestation of a modified de Broglie relation. In this case, the physical momentum **p** is a nonlinear function of the wavenumber **k**, but the latter may still be identified with the shift-isometry generator of the background space,  $\hat{\mathbf{k}} \equiv \hat{\mathbf{d}}_{\mathbf{x}}$ .

Unfortunately, both these scenarios lead to inconsistencies. In the first, in which we interpret the modified Heisenberg algebra as a manifestation of broken translation invariance, one faces a problem in defining the classical limit of the theory. Implementing a canonical quantisation scheme  $\{O_1, O_2\}_{PB} = \lim_{h\to 0} \frac{1}{ih} [\hat{O}_1, \hat{O}_2]$  and requiring the correspondence principle (Rae, 2002) to hold implies an equivalent modification of the canonical Poisson brackets. This violates Galilean invariance, even for classical macroscopic systems, and, hence, Poincaré invariance in the relativistic limit. To date, no evidence for the breaking of Poincaré invariance, including shift invariance, has been found, although bounds on the symmetry breaking parameters have been determined from a wide range of experiments (Gupta et al., 2022).

In the second scenario, one encounters problems related to the nonlinearity of p(k), where  $p = (p_0, -\mathbf{p})$  and  $k = (k_0, -\mathbf{k})$  denote the relativistic 4-momentum and its corresponding wave number, respectively. (From here on, we neglect space-time indices for the sake of notational convenience.) When p(k) is nonlinear it is unclear if we should require the physical momentum p or wave number k, also known as the pseudo-momentum, to transform under the Poincaré group. Choosing the wave number as the Lorentz invariant quantity, the Lorentz transformations become nonlinear functions of k and the transformation of the sum  $k_1 + k_2$  is no longer equal to the sum of the transformations of  $k_1$  and  $k_2$ , individually. Likewise, choosing p as the Lorentz invariant variable, which is physically more reasonable, a similar problem occurs and the transformation of  $p_1 + p_2$  is no longer equal to the sum of the individual transformations of  $p_1$  and  $p_2$ . Each case requires the definition of a new nonlinear addition law, either for the pseudo-momenta, or for the physical momenta, respectively (Hossenfelder, 2013).

In the latter case, the new sum rule for the physical momenta is independent of the chosen inertial frame, by construction, but a new problem is created. If the nonlinear composition function has a maximum at the Planck momentum, as implied by consistency with the GURs generated by the modified de Broglie relation, then the sum of momenta will never exceed this maximum value. The Planck momentum,  $m_{\rm Pl}c \simeq 10^5 \text{ g cm}^{-1}$ , is large for fundamental particles with rest masses  $m \ll m_{\rm Pl}$  but very small for macroscopic objects with rest masses  $M \gg m_{\rm Pl}$ , which may easily exceed it at ordinary nonrelativistic velocities. The problem of reproducing a sensible multiparticle limit when choosing the physical momentum to transform under modified (nonlinear) Lorentz transformations is known as the 'soccer ball problem' (Hossenfelder, 2013; Hossenfelder, 2014). This will be considered in more detail in the following section, in which we outline a recently proposed solution (Amelino-Camelia, 2017), and its critique.

From the remarks above it is clear that the introduction of nonlinear de Broglie relations  $\mathbf{p}(\mathbf{k})$  in non-relativistic QM requires that  $p = (p_0, -\mathbf{p})$  must be a nonlinear function of  $k = (k_0, -\mathbf{k})$  in the relativistic limit. This makes Lorentz violation unavoidable *unless* one introduces a new nonlinear composition law, either for the pseudomomentum k, or the physical momentum p(k). However, this leads

to new problems, and it is not clear whether sensible multi-particle limits of such theories exist (Hossenfelder, 2013; Hossenfelder, 2014). In Section 2.3 we argue that, despite valiant attempts (Amelino-Camelia, 2017), the soccer ball problem has not, in fact, been solved. This shows that a sensible relativistic limit of an arbitrary GUR model cannot be obtained by introducing a nonlinear composition law for Lorentz boosts, and one is left with Lorentz violation as the only possible outcome of such theories. Though not absolutely ruled out experimentally, the parameters characterising such violations are severely constrained by observations (Pérez de los Heros and Terzić, 2022).

Nonetheless, this does not necessarily mean that GURs imply Lorentz violation. The problem, here, is the derivation of GUP- and EUP-type relations from the assumption of a modified Heisenberg algebra. In Section 3 we show how the GUP, EUP and EGUP can be derived from an alternative mathematical structure, which leaves the canonical Heisenberg algebra unchanged except for a simple rescaling of the form  $\hbar \rightarrow \hbar + \beta$ , and which, therefore, is compatible with Lorentz symmetry in the relativistic regime.

#### 2.3 The soccer ball problem

A brief overview of the soccer ball problem was given in the previous section, in connection with the issue of Lorentz violation, and we will not repeat it here. Instead, we focus on the main proposal for a solution of the problem (Amelino-Camelia, 2017) and show that, unfortunately, this is not compatible with general GUR models.

In (Amelino-Camelia, 2017) an ingenious solution to the soccer ball problem was proposed by Amelino-Camelia, who argued that the common formulation of the problem was, in fact, "a case of mistaken identity". In his proposal, the generalised momentum operators of a given modified commutator model are considered as the generators of 'generalised' spatial translations, by definition. This requires the unitary operator  $\hat{U}(\mathbf{X}) \coloneqq \exp[(i/\hbar)\mathbf{X}.\hat{\mathbf{P}}]$  to leave the modified  $[\hat{X}^i, \hat{P}_j]$ ,  $[\hat{X}^i, \hat{X}^j]$  and  $[\hat{P}_i, \hat{P}_j]$  commutators, as well as the multi-particle Hamiltonian of the model,  $\hat{H} \coloneqq \sum_{l=1}^{N} \hat{\mathbf{P}}_l^2/(2m_l) + V(\hat{\mathbf{X}}_1, \hat{\mathbf{X}}_2, \dots \hat{\mathbf{X}}_N)$ , where the subscript *I* labels the particle number, invariant.

Amelino-Camelia's key observation was that, if these invariances hold in a given model, then the corresponding Noether charge for an *N*-particle state is represented by the operator  $\hat{\mathbf{P}}_{Total} \coloneqq \sum_{l=1}^{N} \hat{\mathbf{P}}_{l}$ , which automatically commutes with the Hamiltonian:  $[\hat{\mathbf{P}}_{Total}, \hat{H}] = 0$ . The usual law of linear momentum addition then holds for multiparticle states but a different nonlinear addition law, derived from the notion of spatial locality, holds for transfers of momentum between individual particles, due to the interactions specified by  $\hat{H}$ . In general, this requires the interaction potential  $V(\hat{\mathbf{X}}_1, \hat{\mathbf{X}}_2, \dots \hat{\mathbf{X}}_N)$  to be carefully chosen so that  $\sum_{l=1}^{N} \partial V / \partial \mathbf{X}_l = 0$ , but this was shown to be possible in a specific example model containing two particles with equal masses,  $m_A = m_B = m$ , interacting in a 2-dimensional plane (Amelino-Camelia, 2017).

Unfortunately for GUP models, in the example system considered in (Amelino-Camelia, 2017), the definition of generalised spatial translation required to maintain the linear addition law for multirequires the relation  $[\hat{X}^i, \hat{P}_i] = 0$  to hold, for some  $i \in \{A, B\}$ , for both particles. In this case, there is no Heisenberg uncertainty principle, in at least one of the spatial dimensions, let alone a GUP, even though a minimum length-scale l still appears in the model via the positionposition commutator,  $[\hat{X}_{I}^{1}, \hat{X}_{I}^{2}] = il\hat{X}_{I}^{1}$ .

This illustrates a more general point: it is by no means certain that a particular modified momentum operator, corresponding to a particular modification of the canonical Heisenberg algebra, and, therefore, a particular form of GUR, is compatible with a linear addition law for multi-particle states, derived via the procedure outlined in (Amelino-Camelia, 2017). In our view, this is not a weakness of Amelino-Camelia's method, which successfully demonstrates that certain classes of modified commutator models do not, in fact, suffer from a soccer ball problem after all. Instead, it is an inherent weakness of models that seek to derive the GUP, EUP or EGUP from modified commutation relations. In this respect, the analysis given in (Amelino-Camelia, 2017) still represents a huge step forward in understanding this problem, and we may apply Amelino-Camelia's procedure to any prospective GUP model based on modified commutators, using it to rule out the ones that give rise to these kinds of inconsistencies in the multi-particle limit.

In summary, although consistency with Amelino-Camelia's procedure represents a useful criterion for identifying physically viable theories, it is clear that arbitrary deformations of the canonical Heisenberg algebra are not consistent with the existence of a linear momentum addition law for multi-particle states. Further work is therefore needed to determine which GUR models truly suffer from a soccer ball problem and which ones do not. Though some GUP-type models may be free from this pathology, it is likely that a great many are still afflicted by it. It is therefore clear that the soccer ball problem has not been resolved, in general, for arbitrary GUP, EUP or EGUP models based on modified commutation relations.

# 2.4 Reference frame-dependence of the 'minimum' length

In their pioneering and hugely influential work (Kempf et al., 1995), Kempf, Mangano and Mann (KMM) gave the first truly rigorous treatment of modified commutator models, showing how they can be derived from the Hilbert space structure of a modified quantum formalism. Their key observation was that modified commutators correspond to modified phase space volumes. For example, the commutator

$$\left[\hat{X}^{i},\hat{P}_{j}\right] = i\hbar\delta^{i}_{\ j}\left(1+\alpha\hat{\mathbf{P}}^{2}\right)\hat{\mathbb{I}},\tag{2.7}$$

where  $\alpha = \alpha_0 (m_{\rm Pl}c)^{-2}$  and  $\alpha_0$  is a dimensionless constant of order one, which leads to the GUP-type relation

$$\Delta_{\psi} X^{i} \Delta_{\psi} P_{j} \ge \frac{\hbar}{2} \delta^{i}_{j} \Big( 1 + \alpha \Big[ \left( \Delta_{\psi} \mathbf{P} \right)^{2} + \langle \hat{\mathbf{P}} \rangle_{\psi}^{2} \Big] \Big), \tag{2.8}$$

corresponding to a modified normalisation condition and a modified resolution of the identity of the form

$$\langle \mathbf{P} | \mathbf{P}' \rangle = (1 + \alpha \mathbf{P}^2) \delta^3 (\mathbf{P} - \mathbf{P}'), \quad \int | \mathbf{P} \rangle \langle \mathbf{P} | \frac{\mathrm{d}^3 \mathbf{P}}{(1 + \alpha \mathbf{P}^2)} = \hat{\mathbb{I}}.$$
(2.9)

Similarly, the commutator

$$\left[\hat{X}^{i},\hat{P}_{j}\right]=i\hbar\delta^{i}_{\ j}\left(1+\eta\hat{\mathbf{X}}^{2}\right)\hat{\mathbb{I}},$$
(2.10)

where  $\eta = \eta_0 l_{dS}^{-2}$  and  $\eta_0$  is a dimensionless constant of order unity, which leads to the EUP-type relation

$$\Delta_{\psi} X^{i} \Delta_{\psi} P_{j} \geq \frac{\hbar}{2} \delta^{i}_{j} \left( 1 + \eta \left[ \left( \Delta_{\psi} \mathbf{X} \right)^{2} + \left\langle \hat{\mathbf{X}} \right\rangle_{\psi}^{2} \right] \right), \tag{2.11}$$

corresponding to the modified phase space structure

$$\langle \mathbf{X} | \mathbf{X}' \rangle = (1 + \eta \mathbf{X}^2) \delta^3 (\mathbf{X} - \mathbf{X}'), \quad \int | \mathbf{X} \rangle \langle \mathbf{X} | \frac{\mathrm{d}^3 \mathbf{X}}{(1 + \eta \mathbf{X}^2)} = \hat{\mathbb{I}}.$$
 (2.12)

In general, introducing a modified momentum space volume  $G(\mathbf{P})^{-1}d^{3}\mathbf{P}$  ( $G(\mathbf{P}) \neq 1$ ) yields a GUP-type relation, though in this case the position space representation is not well defined, whereas introducing a modified position space volume  $G(\mathbf{X})^{-1}d^{3}\mathbf{X}$  ( $G(\mathbf{X}) \neq 1$ ) yields an EUP-type relation, although the momentum space representation is not well defined. For an EGUP-type relation, characterised by the function  $G(\mathbf{X}, \mathbf{P}) \neq 1$ , neither the position nor momentum space representations are well defined and one must instead introduce a generalised Bargman-Fock representation (Kempf, 1997).

To illustrate the problems with these type of constructions, we will focus on the most famous example, proposed in the original KMM paper (Kempf et al., 1995), i.e., the GUP-type relation Eq. 2.8. It is straightforward to show that Eq. 2.8 implies the existence of a 'minimum' position uncertainty,  $(\Delta_{\psi} X^i)_{\min}$ , and a corresponding critical value of the momentum uncertainty,  $(\Delta_{\psi} P_j)_{crit}$ , of the form

$$\left(\Delta_{\psi}X^{i}\right)_{\min} = \hbar\sqrt{\alpha\left(1 + \alpha\langle\hat{\mathbf{P}}\rangle_{\psi}^{2}\right)}, \quad \left(\Delta_{\psi}P_{j}\right)_{\mathrm{crit}} = 1/\sqrt{\alpha\left(1 + \alpha\langle\hat{\mathbf{P}}\rangle_{\psi}^{2}\right)}.$$
(2.13)

The problem with these expressions is that, while the standard deviations on the left-hand sides should be manifestly frame-independent, the quantities on the right are not, since  $\langle \hat{\mathbf{P}} \rangle_{\psi}^2$  is not invariant under Galilean velocity boosts.

To show this more concretely, let us consider the action of the unitary operator (Lake, 2020)

$$\tilde{\mathcal{U}}(\mathbf{P}')|\mathbf{P}\rangle = \sqrt{\frac{1+\alpha\mathbf{P}^2}{1+\alpha(\mathbf{P}-\mathbf{P}')^2}}|\mathbf{P}-\mathbf{P}'\rangle.$$
 (2.14)

This generates Galilean velocity boosts, which remain consistent with the modified momentum space volume **Eq. 2.9**, and reduces to the canonical boost operator  $\hat{U}(\mathbf{p}')|\mathbf{p}\rangle = |\mathbf{p} - \mathbf{p}'\rangle$  when  $\alpha = 0$ . Its action on the moments of the generalised momentum operator,

$$\hat{P}_{j} = \int P_{j} |\mathbf{P}\rangle \langle \mathbf{P} | \frac{\mathrm{d}^{3} \mathbf{P}}{(1 + \alpha \mathbf{P}^{2})}, \qquad (2.15)$$

gives

$$\hat{\mathbf{P}}^{n} \mapsto \tilde{\mathcal{U}}(\mathbf{P}') \hat{\mathbf{P}}^{n} \tilde{\mathcal{U}}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{P}') = \left(\hat{\mathbf{P}} + \mathbf{P}'\right)^{n}, \qquad (2.16)$$

for  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , and it is straightforward to demonstrate that this leaves  $\Delta_{\psi} P_j$ unchanged. The modified commutator **Eq. 2.8** then transforms as

$$\left[\hat{X}^{i},\hat{P}_{j}\right]\mapsto\tilde{\mathcal{U}}\left(\mathbf{P}^{\prime}\right)\left[\hat{X}^{i},\hat{P}_{j}\right]\tilde{\mathcal{U}}^{\dagger}\left(\mathbf{P}^{\prime}\right)=i\hbar\delta^{i}_{j}\left(1+\alpha\left(\hat{\mathbf{P}}+\mathbf{P}^{\prime}\right)^{2}\right)\hat{\mathbb{I}},\quad(2.17)$$

which leads to  $\mathbf{P}'$ -dependence of the corresponding uncertainty principle. Since  $\Delta_{\psi}P_j$  is invariant, it is clear that this must be due to the  $\mathbf{P}'$ -dependence of  $\Delta_{\psi}X^i$ .

Next, let us denote the boosted position uncertainty as  $\Delta_{\psi} X^{\prime i}$  (**P**'), so that  $\Delta_{\psi} X^{\prime i}$  (0)  $\equiv \Delta_{\psi} X^{i}$ , where  $\Delta_{\psi} X^{i}$  is the position uncertainty given in Eq. **2.8**. We then have

$$\Delta_{\psi} X^{\prime i} \left( \mathbf{P}^{\prime} \right) \geq \frac{\hbar}{2\Delta_{\psi} P_{j}} \delta_{j}^{i} \left( 1 + \alpha \left[ \left( \Delta_{\psi} \mathbf{P} \right)^{2} + \left( \left\langle \hat{\mathbf{P}} \right\rangle_{\psi} + \mathbf{P}^{\prime} \right)^{2} \right] \right).$$
(2.18)

Hence, even if  $\psi(\mathbf{P})$  is symmetric in the original frame of observation, such that  $\langle \hat{\mathbf{P}} \rangle_{\psi} = 0$ , the minimum position uncertainty seen by an observer moving with relative velocity  $\mathbf{V}' = \mathbf{P}'/m$  is

$$\left(\Delta_{\psi} X^{\prime i}\right)_{\min} \left(\mathbf{P}^{\prime}\right) \simeq \hbar \sqrt{\alpha} \left(1 + \frac{\alpha \mathbf{P}^{\prime 2}}{2}\right).$$
 (2.19)

For  $|\mathbf{P}'| \ll 1/\sqrt{\alpha} \simeq m_{\rm Pl}c$  the boost-dependent term is, of course, very small, but its presence clearly violates the Galilean boost invariance that emerges from the low velocity limit of Lorentz invariance. Its presence is therefore at odds with the founding principles of both special and general relativity, even for one-particle states. Analogous reasoning demonstrates the frame-dependence of the 'minimum' momentum implied by the EUP-type relation Eq. 2.11, which is no longer invariant under spatial translations.

Though it is possible that boost and/or translation invariance may be broken due to quantum effects on the geometry of spacetime, we note that there is, intrinsically, nothing quantum mechanical about the physical space background of the KMM model. The geometry remains classical but its symmetries are unknown, as is the exact form of the classical metric,  $g_{ij}(X)$ , to which they correspond. In Section 2.5 and Section 2.6, we consider the implications of both these points and argue that they lead to further inconsistencies in the modified commutator paradigm.

# 2.5 The background geometry is *not* quantum

In the existing literature, there are many references to the 'quantum' geometry obtained by introducing modified phase space volumes, as in the KMM model (Kempf et al., 1995). This motivates a class of so-called nonlocal gravity models that, it is claimed, follow from the 'quantum gravity' corrections implied by GURs. In this section, we examine the link between modified commutation relations and the proposed nonlocality of the background geometry, and find that this claim does not hold up to scrutiny. Instead, we find that the background geometry implied by modified phase space volumes is certainly 'classical', in the sense that it does not admit quantum superpositions of states, but that, unlike classical geometries proper, it is not well defined by an appropriate class of symmetries or a metric function,  $g_{ij}(X)$ . These latter considerations are dealt with in detail in Section 2.6.

Much of the literature on nonlocal gravity models is motivated by the observation that modified momentum space volumes, such as those leading to the GUP-type model proposed in (Kempf et al., 1995), can be obtained by acting with an appropriate nonlocal operator on the position space representations of the canonical QM eigenfunctions,  $\langle \mathbf{x} | \mathbf{x}' \rangle = \delta^3 (\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}')$  and  $\langle \mathbf{x} | \mathbf{p} \rangle = (2\pi\hbar)^{-3/2} e^{i\mathbf{p}.\mathbf{x}/\hbar}$ . A simple example is the operator  $e^{l^2\Delta}$ , where *l* is a fundamental length scale, usually identified with the Planck length, and  $\Delta$  is the Laplacian. For convenience, we rewrite this in the spectral representation as

$$\hat{\zeta} = e^{-\hat{H}_0 \Delta t/\hbar},\tag{2.20}$$

where  $\hat{H}_0 = \hat{p}^2/2m$  is the canonical free particle Hamiltonian and  $\Delta t = 2m l^2/\hbar$  is the characteristic time scale associated with *l* and the particle mass *m*. The operator  $\hat{\zeta}$  reduces to  $e^{l^2\Delta}$  in the wave mechanics picture but we may use Eq. 2.20 to define its action directly on the

canonical eigenstates,  $|x\rangle$  and  $|p\rangle$ , instead of the eigenfunctions,  $\langle x|x'\rangle$  and  $\langle x|p\rangle.$ 

This may not seem, at first, like an important distinction, but it is crucial to recognise that  $|\mathbf{x}\rangle$  and  $\psi(\mathbf{x})$  have dimensions of (length)<sup>-3/2</sup> whereas  $\langle \mathbf{x} | \mathbf{x}' \rangle$  and  $| \psi(\mathbf{x}) |^2$  have dimensions of (length)<sup>-3</sup>. Therefore, the position eigenfunction has the dimensions of a probability density, whereas the position eigenvector has the dimensions of a quantum probability amplitude. This matters because probability densities, including the Dirac delta, are inherently classical in nature, even when they are derived from an underlying quantum mechanical amplitude. It is elementary to rewrite any classical probability distribution as the square of a complex distribution,  $\rho(\mathbf{x}) \equiv \rho_{\psi}(\mathbf{x}) = |\psi(\mathbf{x})|^2$ , but this does not imply that it is quantum mechanical in origin. Furthermore, even if it is quantum mechanical in origin, measurements that depend on  $|\psi(\mathbf{x})|^2$  alone destroy all phase information, and are operationally indistinguishable from outcomes that depend only on classical probabilities (i.e., those based on incomplete information about the system) (Isham, 1995).

Because of this, delocalising the canonical eigenfunctions, rather than the eigenstates, maps classical point charges to classical chargedensities of nonzero volume, but does not introduce a genuine quantum state, i.e., a vector in a complex Hilbert space, corresponding to the quantum state of the background geometry. Though it is not very flattering to state it in this way, applying the operator  $e^{l^2\Delta}$  to  $\delta^3 (\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}')$  blows up classical point-masses to classical golf balls or grapefruits, but does not achieve much else. Furthermore, it is not at all clear whether a classical geometry, in which each zero-dimensional point has somehow been blown up to the size of a three-dimensional grapefruit (or Planck volume), is really a well defined object. In the final subsection, Section 2.6, we will argue that modified phase space volumes cannot be consistently defined in a physical geometry, but, before that, we consider the action of  $\hat{\zeta}$  on  $\langle \mathbf{x} | \mathbf{x}' \rangle$  and  $\langle \mathbf{x} | \mathbf{p} \rangle$  in more detail and show, explicitly, that the nonlocal geometry generated by this action is *classical*.

In the usual approach to nonlocal geometry models, the braket  $\langle x | \hat{\zeta} | x' \rangle$  is used to define a set of generalised basis vectors,  $| X \rangle$  and  $| P \rangle$ , such that

$$\langle \mathbf{x} | \hat{\boldsymbol{\zeta}} | \mathbf{x}' \rangle = e^{\sigma^2 \Delta} \langle \mathbf{x} | \mathbf{x}' \rangle = \left( \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi\sigma}} \right)^3 e^{-(\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}')^2 / 2\sigma^2}$$
  
$$\equiv \langle \mathbf{X} | \mathbf{X}' \rangle = \left( \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi\sigma}} \right)^3 e^{-(\mathbf{X} - \mathbf{X}')^2 / 2\sigma^2},$$
(2.21)

and

$$\langle \mathbf{x} | \hat{\boldsymbol{\zeta}} | \mathbf{p} \rangle = e^{\sigma^2 \Delta} \langle \mathbf{x} | \mathbf{p} \rangle = \left( \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi\hbar}} \right)^3 e^{-\mathbf{p}^2/2\bar{\sigma}^2} e^{i\mathbf{p}\cdot\mathbf{x}/\hbar}$$

$$\equiv \langle \mathbf{X} | \mathbf{P} \rangle = \left( \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi\hbar}} \right)^3 e^{-\mathbf{p}^2/2\bar{\sigma}^2} e^{i\mathbf{P}\cdot\mathbf{X}/\hbar},$$
(2.22)

where we have rewritten  $\sigma \equiv l$  and defined  $\tilde{\sigma} \equiv \hbar/\sqrt{2}l$ , for later convenience. In other words, the nonlocal operator  $\hat{\zeta}$  maps the Dirac delta to a finite-volume Gaussian of width  $\sigma$  via

$$\hat{\zeta}:\langle \mathbf{x}|\mathbf{x}'\rangle = \delta^3\left(\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'\right) \mapsto \langle \mathbf{X}|\mathbf{X}'\rangle = \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi\sigma}}\right)^3 e^{-(\mathbf{X} - \mathbf{X}')^2/2\sigma^2},\quad(2.23)$$

and Eq. 2.22 shows its corresponding action on the plane wave  $\langle \mathbf{x} | \mathbf{p} \rangle = (2\pi\hbar)^{-3/2} e^{i\mathbf{p}.\mathbf{x}/\hbar}$ . Consistency then requires the  $| \mathbf{P} \rangle$  eigenstates

to satisfy the modified normalisation condition and modified resolution of the identity

$$\langle \mathbf{P} | \mathbf{P}' \rangle = e^{\mathbf{P}^2/2\tilde{\sigma}^2} \delta^3 \left( \mathbf{P} - \mathbf{P}' \right), \quad \int | \mathbf{P} \rangle \langle \mathbf{P} | e^{-\mathbf{P}^2/2\tilde{\sigma}^2} d^3 \mathbf{P} = \hat{\mathbb{I}}.$$
(2.24)

Expanding  $e^{\mathbf{P}^2/2\delta^2}$  to first order generates the GUP-type relation of the KMM model (Kempf et al., 1995), but the full expressions differ nonperturbatively.

It is then claimed that the link between GURs and nonlocal gravity is provided by the semi-classical approach (Nicolini and Niedner, 2011; Lake, 2022a) in which the classical curvature of space-time is sourced by the expectation value of the energy-momentum operator for the quantum matter fields,  $\langle \hat{T}_{\mu\nu} \rangle_{\psi}$ . In the weak field limit, the semiclassical field equations reduce to Poisson's equation, with the square of the wave function as a source term, neglecting the subdominant dark energy contribution (Møller, 1962; Rosenfeld, 1963; Kelvin et al., 2020),

$$\nabla^2 \Phi = 4\pi G m |\psi|^2. \tag{2.25}$$

It is then noted that the zero-width limit of the wave function,  $\Delta_{\psi} X \to 0$ , yields a delta function source,

$$\lim_{\Delta_{\psi} \mathbf{X} \to 0} |\psi|^2 = \delta^3 \left( \mathbf{X} - \mathbf{X}' \right).$$
(2.26)

The standard procedure, therefore, is to substitute the limiting value **Eq. 2.26** into **Eq. 2.25** and, interpreting the former as the position eigenfunction of a quantum mechanical wave function, to act on it with the nonlocal operator  $e^{\sigma^2 \Delta}$ . On this basis, it is often claimed that GURs imply nonlocal gravity and, furthermore, that the latter arises from 'quantum' corrections to the classical geometry. There are two main problems with this interpretation. First, that in the semi-classical approach on which it is based the geometry is still classical and, second, that  $\delta^3$  (**X** – **X**') is a limiting value of  $|\psi|^2$  (not  $\psi$ ), which is operationally indistinguishable from a classical finite-density mass distribution.

We stress, again, that the action of the nonlocal operator on a Dirac delta source term blows up a classical point mass into a classical blob of finite density. If the blow up is sufficiently strong, in some sense, the classical matter fluid acquires an effective equation of state which makes it stiff enough to resist gravitational collapse, curing the 'singularity problem' (Nicolini, 2012), but this has nothing to do with any quantum properties, either of the matter, or of the background geometry. The claim that the GURs imply nonlocal gravity is therefore somewhat inaccurate. Instead, it is more accurate to claim that classical nonlocal gravity models, such as those defined by Eq. 2.21 and Eq. 2.22, or similar constructions, and modified commutator models, such as the GUP- and EUP-type relations defined by Eq. 2.9 and Eq. 2.12, respectively, stem from the same underlying assumptions, that is, assumed modifications of the classical phase space volumes, over which both classical densities and quantum mechanical amplitudes (wave functions) must be integrated.

In both cases, the number of degrees of freedom remains the same as in the corresponding local theory and no new quantum degrees of freedom, capable of corresponding to the quantum state of the geometry, are introduced. Thus, although the background geometry of modified commutator models is 'nonlocal', in some sense, it is *not* nonlocal due to quantum effects. Furthermore, it is by no means clear whether such 'classical nonlocality' is well defined. We address this point, in detail, in the following section.

# 2.6 Mathematical inconsistency of modified phase space volumes

In the standard prescription, GURs require modified commutators and modified commutators require modified phase space volumes, yielding a one-to-one correspondence between the two. For example, for the KMM GUP-type model, this relation is as follows (Kempf et al., 1995):

$$\left[\hat{X}^{i},\hat{P}_{j}\right] = i\hbar\delta^{i}_{j}\left(1+\alpha\hat{\mathbf{P}}^{2}\right)\hat{\mathbb{I}} \iff \hat{P}_{j} = \int P_{j}|\mathbf{P}\rangle\langle\mathbf{P}|\frac{\mathrm{d}^{3}\mathbf{P}}{\left(1+\alpha\mathbf{P}^{2}\right)}.$$
 (2.27)

In this section, we explore a number of subtle points that, although *implicit* in the construction above, and others like it, have not been explicitly considered in the existing literature.

To begin, we note that models of this form are based on a canonical quantisation procedure that maps classical Poison brackets to commutators,  $\{x^i, p_j\}_{PB} \mapsto \frac{1}{i\hbar} [\hat{X}^i, \hat{P}_j]$ , and classical Hamiltonians to quantum Hamiltonians,  $H = |\mathbf{p}|^2/(2m) + V(\mathbf{x}) \mapsto \hat{H} = |\hat{\mathbf{p}}|^2/(2m) + V(\hat{\mathbf{X}})$ . Next, we recall that the phase space of classical mechanics, on which these maps are defined, is a symplectic manifold, and, furthermore, that symplectic geometry is a notoriously 'loose' form of geometry. Unlike the more familiar Riemannian geometry, which corresponds to our experience of everyday life, symplectic structures do not carry any notion of distance, but volumes can be defined through the introduction of an appropriate symplectic 2-form (Frankel, 1997; Nakahara, 2003).

Defining a new symplectic 2-form defines a new volume element, but this in no way disturbs the symplectic structure of classical Hamiltonian systems (Frankel, 1997; Nakahara, 2003). When the canonical quantisation procedure is applied, this symplectic structure is taken over, unchanged, by the corresponding quantum theory. Hence, if the volume element in the classical phase space is, say,  $(1 + \alpha P^2)^{-1} d^3x d^3P$ , the phase space volume in the corresponding quantum theory is, simply,  $(1 + \alpha P^2)^{-1} d^3P$ . It is then assumed that the quantum state vector can be expanded in the 'usual' form, except for the modification of the volume element,  $|\psi\rangle = \int \psi(\mathbf{P}) |\mathbf{P}\rangle (1 + \alpha P^2)^{-1} d^3P$ , without issue. But is this really the case?

To answer this question, we must consider the meanings of the symbols **P** and  $\hat{\mathbf{P}}$ , appearing in Eq. **2.27**, carefully. This is more difficult than it seems, since it is seldom explicitly stated, in the existing GUP literature, what exactly these symbols represent. The most probable reason for this is that, of course, everyone already 'knows' what they mean: **P** is a momentum space displacement vector and  $\hat{\mathbf{P}}$  is its vector operator counterpart. The former may be written as

$$\mathbf{P} = P_j \mathbf{e}^j (\mathbf{X}) = P_X \mathbf{e}^X (\mathbf{X}) + P_Y \mathbf{e}^Y (\mathbf{X}) + P_Z \mathbf{e}^Z (\mathbf{X}), \qquad (2.28)$$

where (X, Y, Z) denote *global* Cartesian coordinates and  $(\mathbf{e}^{X}(X), \mathbf{e}^{Y}(X), \mathbf{e}^{Z}(X))$  denote the tangent vectors, to the lines X = const, Y = const, and Z = const, at any point  $X \in \mathbb{R}^{3}$  in physical space.  $\hat{\mathbf{P}}$  is then constructed in like manner, by replacing the components  $P_{j}$  with the operators  $\hat{P}_{i}$ , defined in Eq. 2.27.

The problems with this construction are as follows.

- 1. *Global* Cartesian coordinates only exist in Euclidean space (Frankel, 1997; Nakahara, 2003),
- 2. Euclidean space is a Riemannian geometry, not a symplectic geometry,

- 3. It therefore possesses a metric,  $g_{ij}(X) = \langle \mathbf{e}_i(X), \mathbf{e}_j(X) \rangle$ , which generates both a notion of distance,  $dL = \sqrt{g_{ij}(X) dX^i dX^j}$ , and a notion of volume,  $dV = \sqrt{g} d^3 X$ , where  $g(X) = \det g_{ij}(X)$  is the determinant of the metric,
- 4. In the global Cartesians the metric of Euclidean space is  $\delta_{ij} = \langle \mathbf{e}_i(\mathbf{X}), \mathbf{e}_j(\mathbf{X}) \rangle$ , since  $\mathbf{e}_i(\mathbf{X}) = \mathbf{e}_i(\mathbf{X}')$  for all  $\mathbf{X}, \mathbf{X}' \in \mathbb{R}^3$  and  $i \in \{X, Y, Z\}$ , giving det  $\delta_{ij}(\mathbf{X}) = 1$ ,
- 5. This gives rise to the distance element  $L = \sqrt{X^2 + Y^2 + Z^2}$  and the volume element dV = dXdYdZ,
- 6. The corresponding magnitude of the momentum vector Eq. 2.18 is  $P = \sqrt{P_X^2 + P_Y^2 + P_Z^2}$  and the volume element in momentum space is  $d\tilde{V} = dP_X dP_Y dP_Z$ , since the tangent space is isomorphic to the physical Euclidean space (Frankel, 1997; Nakahara, 2003),
- 7. Neither of these expressions are flexible.

Unlike volume elements derived from symplectic 2-forms, the Euclidean volume element is fixed by the underlying geometry, as well as the chosen coordinate system. The tangent space geometry in which the momentum vector  $\mathbf{P}$  is defined is also fixed, and, in global Cartesians, the lines of constant X, Y and Z lie parallel to the trajectories for which  $P_X$ ,  $P_Y$  and  $P_Z$  are conserved. Thus, for the coordinates assumed in the relation  $\Delta_{\psi} X^i \Delta_{\psi} P_j \geq \frac{\hbar}{2} \delta^i_j (1 + \alpha[(\Delta_{\psi} \mathbf{P})^2 + \langle \hat{\mathbf{P}} \rangle_{\psi}^2]) \mathbf{Eq. 2.8}$ , which is derived from the modified phase space structure **Eq. 2.27**, i.e.,  $i,j \in \{X, Y, Z\}$ , where (X, Y, Z) denote global Cartesians, the volume element of physical space is fixed as dXdYdZ and the corresponding momentum space volume is  $dP_X dP_Y dP_Z$ .

Put simply, if (X, Y, Z) represent global Cartesian coordinates in physical space,  $(P_X, P_Y, P_Z)$  represent global Cartesians in the conjugate momentum space. This leads to a contradiction, indicating the inconsistency of modified phase space volumes like the one outlined above. If we assume that the subscripts *i* and *j* in  $\Delta_{\psi} X^i$ and  $\Delta_{\psi} P_j$  refer to global Cartesian coordinates, then the momentum space integration measure is simply d<sup>3</sup>*P*. Conversely, if we abandon this assumption and *define*  $\mathbf{P}^2$  such that  $\mathbf{P}^2 \equiv P^2 = \sum_{j=1}^3 P_j^2$ , without specifying the coordinates  $(X^1, X^2, X^3)$ , we are faced with an even bigger problem: in this case, we cannot make any physical predictions at all!

As stated in the Introduction, we believe that this constitutes the most serious criticism of the modified commutator/modified phase space paradigm yet formulated in the literature. It has immediate real world implications since, to the best of our knowledge, existing experimental bounds on the GUP parameter  $\alpha$  have all been obtained by adopting two contradictory assumptions: 1) that the GUP arises from a modified commutation relation, and 2) that the modified commutation relation holds for the uncertainties  $\Delta_{\psi}X^i$  and  $\Delta_{\psi}P_j$  where  $i,j \in \{X,Y,Z\}$  refer to global Cartesian coordinates (Pikovski et al., 2012; Bosso et al., 2017; Kumar and Plenio, 2018; Girdhar and Doherty, 2020; Cui et al., 2021; Sen et al., 2022).

In Section 4, we show how to derive the GUP, EUP and EGUP for Cartesian uncertainties, without introducing modified commutation relations or phase space volumes. The new model avoids the inconsistencies inherent in these models, in an almost trivial way, but is found to have exceedingly nontrivial implications for the quantisation of the background geometry. Before that, in Section 3, we consider whether the problems outlined here might instead be considered as 'features', rather than 'bugs', of modified commutator models.

# 3 Bug or feature?

It could be argued that a number of the problems discussed above represent features, rather than bugs, of the modified commutator paradigm. For example, it is widely accepted that some kind of breakdown of the EP and/or Lorentz invariance must occur due to quantum gravitational effects. Therefore, it may be regarded as unsurprising that minimum length models based on modified commutators generate both as a matter of course. From this viewpoint, such features acquire the status of 'smoking guns', i.e., predictions of new physics in the low-energy regime that any self-consistent model of high-energy quantum gravity must successfully reproduce.

These are strong claims, and, here, we argue that such claims require strong motivations, which are currently lacking in existing models. Furthermore, it is necessary to prove beyond doubt that such modifications of the canonical formalism do not give rise to internal inconsistencies, even within their domain of applicability.

As an analogy, there are an infinite number of ways to break the Poincaré group symmetries of Minkowski space, but only one of these gives rise to a self-consistent limit in the non-relativistic regime, i.e., the Galilean group of Euclidean space, with time as a parameter. By contrast, arbitrary violations of Poincaré symmetry do not give rise to well-defined geometries of any kind. Similarly, the breaking of a given symmetry, or equivalence, in a physical theory, is not the same as introducing a well-motivated generalisation of the original model. Since there are an infinite number of ways to break anything, why should this or that violation be preferred? Is the resulting model selfconsistent? Below, we briefly consider the 'bug or feature' argument for each of the problems raised in Sections 2.1–2.6.

- 1. Violation of the EP: That the EP must break down due to quantum gravity effects is certain, but this is so for a very simple reason the standard EP, as formulated in general relativity, is an inherently classical concept. It concerns the equivalence between classical gravity and classical accelerated frames of reference, which, by definition, excludes the concept of quantum superposition. In the quantum gravitational regime, we expect classical geometries to be replaced by quantum superpositions of geometries, and classical accelerated frames of reference to be replaced by quantum superpositions thereof, but is this the same as simply breaking the equivalence between the existing classical concepts? While it is possible, and even likely, that an appropriate course-graining over such superpositions could give rise to discrepancies with the existing classical theory, it is by no means clear what form these ought to take. In the absence of any indication from a specific model in the UV sector, we argue that the prediction of massdependent accelerations, in a classical background 'geometry', without a well-defined symmetry group, should be treated with extreme caution.<sup>1</sup> Nonetheless, it must be admitted that this remains a theoretical possibility, which cannot be excluded a priori, at the present time.
- Violation of Lorentz invariance: Similar arguments can be made regarding the violation of Lorentz invariance in the relativistic limit. We expect the quantisation of the geometric background

<sup>1</sup> We recall that modifications of the canonical Heisenberg algebra imply the violation of Galilean symmetries.

to introduce space-time superpositions, generalising the classical concept of a sharp space-time point and, with it, the concept of a sharply-defined classical frame of reference, whether accelerated or inertial, to include superpositions. But this is not the same as simply breaking Lorentz symmetry in a still-classical background, especially when it is not clear whether the broken symmetry group corresponds to a well-defined geometry or not. In general, deforming an algebra of group generators does not yield a well-defined group, and, hence, the resulting operators do not correspond to a well-defined geometry. It is not analogous to the shift from relativistic space-time to non-relativistic spaceplus-time, but a far more ambiguous procedure. Nonetheless, it must again be admitted that an appropriate course-graining over superpositions in the low-energy limit of quantum gravity may, in fact, violate Lorentz invariance in a way predicted by some classes of modified commutator models.

- 3. The soccer ball problem: It must also be admitted that the partial resolution of the soccer ball problem, presented in (Amelino-Camelia, 2017), provides a potential way out of the problems above. In this approach, the issue of the background geometry is moot, since the generalised momentum operators of the modified commutation relation are required to generate modified (non-Galilean) symmetries of the Hamiltonian. They may then be regarded as the symmetry generators of a modified (non-Euclidean) geometry, by definition. However, this places severe constraints on the form these generators may take, and, as shown in Section 2.3, not all such modifications are compatible with the existence of the GURs suggested by quantum gravity thought experiments. Therefore, at present, it is not clear whether this problem should be regarded as a bug, or a feature, of modified commutator models.
- 4. The reference frame dependence of the minimum length: The situation is different in the case of the reference frame dependence of the minimum length (momentum) scale, predicted by the GUP (EUP). This clearly represents a mathematical inconsistency of modified commutator models, since a mere shift in the coordinate origin, or Galilean velocity boost  $v \rightarrow v' \ll c$ , radically alters the values of the position and/or momentum uncertainties of the quantum wave packet. The standard measure of the statistical variance of a random variable,  $(\Delta O)^2 = \langle O^2 \rangle \langle O \rangle^2$ , is constructed to be manifestly invariant under such transformations. If this invariance no longer holds in modified commutator models, it is unclear how to measure the spread of the wave function in a coordinate-independent way. This undoubtably counts as a 'bug'.
- 5. The background geometry is not quantum: We may also ask if the *classically* nonlocal background geometry of the KMM model (Kempf et al., 1995), and others like it, could emerge from a more fundamental underlying quantum theory? Theoretically, the answer is again 'yes', but the same could be said of any (totally arbitrary) modification of the canonical quantum formalism. The most important point here is that, at present, no concrete proposal for such a model has been presented in the GUP literature (Hossenfelder, 2013; Tawfik and Diab, 2014; Tawfik and Diab, 2015). It had been hoped that the nonlocal operator, Eq. 2.20, provided such a link, between the coarse-grained classical structure and an underlying probabilistic (i.e., quantum) model, but this assumption was debunked in Section 2.5. The confusion in the literature stemmed from a confusion between classical probability densities and quantum probability *amplitudes*. The

status of this problem, therefore, resembles that of problems 1–2. Theoretically, the classically nonlocal geometry produced by the action of Eq. 2.20 may emerge from an appropriate coarse-graining over quantum probability amplitudes, but no concrete mathematical structure, able to reproduce this, has been discovered.

6. The mathematical inconsistency of modified phase space volumes: In the Introduction, we claimed that this, deceptively simple argument, represents the most serious objection yet raised to the modified commutator paradigm. In short, it is certainly not a feature, but a bug, since it represents a serious mathematical inconsistency of such models. In light of this, the previous five points raised above may be considered moot, since only one inconsistency is required to render a physical theory untenable. It is therefore of the utmost importance to establish whether or not this objection can be circumvented in some way.

# 4 Deriving the GUP, EUP and EGUP without modified commutators

It is straightforward to show that the GUP and EUP can be obtained, at least approximately, from far more 'natural' looking expressions, in which the variances of independent random variables add linearly. For example, let us consider the simplest scenario in which the back reaction of the wave function on the geometry is considered negligible, so that the latter undergoes quantum fluctuations which are independent of  $\psi(\mathbf{x})$ .

In this case,  $(\Delta x_{\psi})^2$  denotes the variance of the canonical probability density  $|\psi(\mathbf{x})|^2$ , where  $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{R}^3$  are the possible measured values of the particle's position in classical three-dimensional space. These are the canonical quantum degrees of freedom. In order to describe quantum fluctuations of the background we must introduce new degrees of freedom which are capable of describing *superpositions of geometries*, as expected in a viable theory of quantum gravity (Marletto and Vedral, 2017; Lake et al, 2019).

The additional fluctuations in the measured position of the particle, due to quantum fluctuations of the geometry in which it 'lives', may be described by an additional variance,  $(\Delta_g x')^2$ . This denotes the variance of the non-canonical probability density  $|g(\mathbf{x}' - \mathbf{x})|^2$ , where  $|\mathbf{x}' - \mathbf{x}|$  quantifies the size of the fluctuation, i.e., the degree to which the measured position of the particle is perturbed by the quantum nature of the background. (For simplicity, we may imagine  $|g(\mathbf{x}' - \mathbf{x})|^2$  as a three-dimensional Planck-width Gaussian distribution.) This corresponds to a new composite wave function,  $\Psi(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}')$ , which describes the propagation of a quantum particle in a quantum background, rather than a fixed classical geometry:

$$\Psi(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}') = \psi(\mathbf{x})g(\mathbf{x}' - \mathbf{x}). \tag{4.1}$$

The possible measured positions of the particle are then given by the values of  $\mathbf{x}' \in \mathbb{R}^3$ , rather than  $\mathbf{x}$ , and  $g(\mathbf{x}' - \mathbf{x})$  may be interpreted as the quantum probability amplitude for the coherent transition  $\mathbf{x} \mapsto \mathbf{x}'$  in a smeared superposition of geometries (Lake et al., 2019; Lake et al., 2020). From here on, we refer to *g* as the 'smearing function'. The total variance for a position measurement in the smeared space is then, simply

$$\left(\Delta_{\Psi} x^{\prime i}\right)^{2} = \left(\Delta_{\psi} x^{\prime i}\right)^{2} + \left(\Delta_{g} x^{\prime i}\right)^{2}.$$

$$(4.2)$$

Setting  $\Delta x'_g \approx l_{\rm Pl}$ , taking the square root of Eq. 4.2 and Taylor expanding to first order then yields the GUP. However, in this case, the relevant uncertainties are well defined, as the standard deviations of probability densities, unlike the heuristic uncertainties given in Eq. 1.1.

A similar construction in momentum space,

$$\tilde{\Psi}(\mathbf{p},\mathbf{p}') = \tilde{\psi}(\mathbf{p})\tilde{g}(\mathbf{p}'-\mathbf{p}), \qquad (4.3)$$

yields

$$\left(\Delta_{\Psi} p_j'\right)^2 = \left(\Delta_{\psi} p_j'\right)^2 + \left(\Delta_g p_j'\right)^2. \tag{4.4}$$

Setting  $\Delta p'_g \simeq m_{\rm dS}c$ , taking the square root of Eq. 4.4 and Taylor expanding to first order then yields the EUP. Again, the relevant uncertainties are well defined, as the standard deviations of the probability densities  $|\tilde{\psi}(\mathbf{p})|^2$  and  $|\tilde{g}(\mathbf{p}'-\mathbf{p})|^2$ , unlike the heuristic uncertainties in Eq. 1.2.

But what, exactly, are the functions  $\tilde{\psi}(\mathbf{p})$  and  $\tilde{g}(\mathbf{p}' - \mathbf{p})$ ? How are they related to  $\psi(\mathbf{x})$  and  $g(\mathbf{x}' - \mathbf{x})$ ? In canonical QM,  $\tilde{\psi}(\mathbf{p})$  is the  $\hbar$ -scaled Fourier transform of  $\psi(\mathbf{x})$  and, to emphasize this point, we rewrite it with an appropriate subscript as

$$\tilde{\psi}(\mathbf{p}) \equiv \tilde{\psi}_{\hbar}(\mathbf{p}) = \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi\hbar}}\right)^3 \int \psi(\mathbf{x}) e^{-\frac{i}{\hbar}\mathbf{p}\cdot\mathbf{x}} \mathrm{d}^3\mathbf{x}.$$
(4.5)

The canonical de Broglie relation  $\mathbf{p} = \hbar \mathbf{k}$  ensures that the exponent is independent of Planck's constant, but  $\hbar$  necessarily appears in this expression through the normalisation constant  $\sqrt{2\pi\hbar}^{-3}$ . This is because  $|\psi\rangle$  represents the state of a canonical quantum particle and  $\hbar$  sets the (action) scale at which quantum effects become significant in canonical quantum matter (Rae, 2002).

However, were we to assume, likewise, that  $\tilde{g}(\mathbf{p}' - \mathbf{p})$  is given by the canonical  $\hbar$ -scaled Fourier transform of  $g(\mathbf{x}' - \mathbf{x})$ , we would obtain the expression Eq. 4.4 with  $\Delta_g p' \approx m_{\text{Pl}}c$  not  $\Delta_g p' \approx m_{\text{dS}}c!$  This leads to an EUP-type expression with a 'minimum' momentum equal to the Planck momentum and, hence, a minimum energy equal to the Planck energy, a minimum energy density equal to the Planck density, *etc.*, which is clearly at odds with empirical data. Therefore, we must instead assume a decomposition of the form

$$\tilde{g}(\mathbf{p}'-\mathbf{p}) \equiv \tilde{g}_{\beta}(\mathbf{p}'-\mathbf{p}) = \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi\beta}}\right)^{3} \int g(\mathbf{x}'-\mathbf{x}) e^{-\frac{i}{\beta}(\mathbf{p}'-\mathbf{p})\cdot(\mathbf{x}'-\mathbf{x})} d^{3}\mathbf{x}',$$
(4.6)

with  $\beta \neq \hbar$ . It is straightforward to show that, in order to recover both the GUP **Eq. 1.1** from **Eq. 4.2** *and* the EUP **Eq. 1.2** from **Eq. 4.4**, we must set

$$\Delta_g x'^i = \sigma_g \coloneqq \sqrt{2\alpha_0} l_{\rm Pl}, \quad \Delta_g p'_j = \tilde{\sigma}_g \coloneqq \sqrt{6\eta_0} m_{\rm dS} c, \quad \forall i, j, \qquad (4.7)$$

together with

$$\beta \coloneqq 2\sigma_g \tilde{\sigma}_g. \tag{4.8}$$

For  $\alpha_0$ ,  $\eta_0 \sim \mathcal{O}(1)$ , this gives

$$\beta = 2\sqrt{\frac{\rho_{\Lambda}}{\rho_{\rm Pl}}}\hbar \simeq 10^{-61} \times \hbar, \tag{4.9}$$

where  $\rho_{\Lambda} = \Lambda c^2 / (8\pi G) \approx 10^{-30} \text{ g cm}^{-3}$  is the dark energy density (Riess et al., 1998; Perlmutter et al., 1999) and  $\rho_{\text{Pl}} = c^5 / (\hbar G^2) \approx 10^{93} \text{ g cm}^{-3}$  is the Planck density. Taken together, Eq. **4.5** and Eq. **4.6** are equivalent to imposing the modified de Broglie relation,

$$\mathbf{p} = \hbar \mathbf{k} + \beta \left( \mathbf{k}' - \mathbf{k} \right), \tag{4.10}$$

where the non-canonical term can be understood, heuristically, as the additional momentum 'kick' imparted to the canonical quantum state, by a fluctuation of the background (Lake et al., 2019; Lake et al., 2020).

**Eq. 4.2** and **Eq. 4.4** can also be recovered, with the appropriate minimum values **Eq. 4.7**, from the canonical-type braket constructions

$$\left(\Delta_{\Psi}X^{i}\right)^{2} = \langle\Psi|\left(\hat{X}^{i}\right)^{2}|\Psi\rangle - \langle\Psi|\hat{X}^{i}|\Psi\rangle^{2}, \qquad (4.11)$$

$$\left(\Delta_{\Psi} P_{j}\right)^{2} = \langle \Psi | \left(\hat{P}_{j}\right)^{2} | \Psi \rangle - \langle \Psi | \hat{P}_{j} | \Psi \rangle^{2}, \qquad (4.12)$$

where we have relabelled  $\Delta_{\Psi} x'^i \equiv \Delta_{\Psi} X^i$  and  $\Delta_{\Psi} p'_j \equiv \Delta_{\Psi} P_j$ , for the sake of notational convenience. The appropriate generalised operators,  $\hat{X}^i$ and  $\hat{P}_j$ , representing position and momentum measurements in the smeared superposition of geometries, are given by

$$\hat{X}^{i} \coloneqq \int x^{\prime i} |\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}'\rangle \langle \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}' | \mathrm{d}^{3} \mathrm{x} \mathrm{d}^{3} \mathrm{x}', \qquad (4.13)$$

$$\hat{P}_{j} \coloneqq \int p_{j}' |\mathbf{pp}'\rangle \langle \mathbf{pp}' | d^{3}p d^{3}p', \qquad (4.14)$$

where  $|\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}'\rangle \coloneqq |\mathbf{x}\rangle \otimes |\mathbf{x}'\rangle$  and the basis  $|\mathbf{pp}'\rangle$  is entangled,

$$|\mathbf{p}\mathbf{p}'\rangle \coloneqq \left(\frac{1}{2\pi\sqrt{\hbar\beta}}\right)^{3} \int \int |\mathbf{x},\mathbf{x}'\rangle e^{-\frac{i}{\hbar}\mathbf{p}\cdot\mathbf{x}} e^{-\frac{i}{\beta}(\mathbf{p}'-\mathbf{p})\cdot(\mathbf{x}'-\mathbf{x})} d^{3}\mathbf{x} d^{3}\mathbf{x}'.$$
(4.15)

(We emphasize this by not writing a comma between  $\mathbf{p}$  and  $\mathbf{p}'$ .)

However, the position and momentum space bases may be symmetrized, such that  $|\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}' \rangle \mapsto |\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}' - \mathbf{x}\rangle$  and  $|\mathbf{pp}'\rangle \mapsto |\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{p}' - \mathbf{p}\rangle$ , by means of an appropriate unitary transformation (Lake et al., 2020). Formally, this is analogous to the unitary transformation defined in (Giacomini et al., 2019), which is intended to represent a switch between quantum reference frames (QRFs), but with the substitution  $\beta \leftrightarrow \hbar$ . This implies that, in the quantum mechanical 'smeared space' defined by our model, each 'smeared point' may be considered as a QRF, whose quantum uncertainties are controlled by the quantum of action for geometry,  $\beta$ , rather than that for canonical quantum matter,  $\hbar$  (Lake, 2021a; Lake, 2021b; Lake, 2022b).

At first glance, the introduction of a second quantisation scale for geometry appears to contradict a rather large body of existing literature which claims that Planck's constant is unique. A closer look at this literature, however (for example, see (Sahoo, 2004; Deser, 2022) and references therein), shows that only quantisation schemes of the form  $\mathbf{p} = \hbar \mathbf{k}$ ,  $\mathbf{p}' = \hbar' \mathbf{k}'$ , with  $\hbar' \neq \hbar$ , where  $\mathbf{p}$  and  $\mathbf{p}'$  refer to the momenta of different species of material particles, are ruled out by existing no-go theorems. The crucial mathematical difference between these models and the modified de Broglie relation Eq. 4.10 is the presence of relative variables,  $\mathbf{k}' - \mathbf{k}$ , in the latter. Physically, this is directly related to our treatment of the composite matter-geometry system as a QRF, in which the relative variable  $\mathbf{x}' - \mathbf{x}$  describe quantum fluctuations of the smeared spatial points (Lake et al., 2019; Lake et al., 2020). This physical picture leads directly to a well-defined EGUP since Eqs. 4.2 and 4.4, 4.7 and 4.11, 4.12 can also be combined, directly, to give (Lake et al., 2020):

$$\Delta_{\Psi} X^{i} \Delta_{\Psi} P_{j} \gtrsim \frac{\hbar}{2} \delta^{i}_{j} \left[ 1 + \alpha_{0} \frac{2G}{\hbar c^{3}} \left( \Delta_{\Psi} P_{j} \right)^{2} + 2\eta_{0} \Lambda \left( \Delta_{\Psi} X^{i} \right)^{2} \right].$$
(4.16)

Crucially, it is straightforward to show that the smeared space position and momentum operators **Eqs. 4.13-4.14** obey the following commutation relations:

$$\left[\hat{X}^{i},\hat{P}_{j}\right] = i\left(\hbar + \beta\right)\delta^{i}{}_{j}\hat{\mathbb{I}},\tag{4.17}$$

$$\left[\hat{X}^{i}, \hat{X}^{j}\right] = 0, \quad \left[\hat{P}_{i}, \hat{P}_{j}\right] = 0.$$
 (4.18)

Since these are just a rescaled version of the canonical Heisenberg algebra, with  $\hbar \mapsto \hbar + \beta$ , we obtain the 'expected' quantum gravity phenomenology, i.e., the GUP, EUP and EGUP **Eq. 4.16**, without introducing any of the pathologies associated with standard modified commutator models (Lake, 2019; Lake, 2020). The physical interpretation of this rescaled algebra is subtle and the interested reader is referred to the more in-depth and complete works (Lake, 2020; Lake et al., 2020) for further details.

The price we have to pay for this neat solution is the introduction of a second quantisation constant for geometry,  $\beta \ll \hbar$ , which is directly related to the dark energy scale. With this in mind, we note that the product of the position and momentum uncertainties in smeared space,  $\Delta_{\Psi} X^i \Delta_{\Psi} P_j$  in the EGUP **Eq. 4.16**, is minimized when (see (Lake et al., 2019) for details):

$$\Delta_{\psi} x'^{i} = \sqrt{\frac{\hbar}{2} \frac{\Delta_{g} x'^{i}}{\Delta_{g} p'_{i}}}, \quad \Delta_{\psi} p'_{j} = \sqrt{\frac{\hbar}{2} \frac{\Delta_{g} p'_{j}}{\Delta_{g} x'^{j}}}.$$
(4.19)

For the minimum values given by Eq. 4.7 this yields

$$\Delta_{\Psi} X \simeq l_{\Lambda} \coloneqq \sqrt{l_{\text{Pl}} l_{\text{dS}}} \simeq 0.1 \,\text{mm}, \quad c \Delta_{\Psi} P \simeq m_{\Lambda} c^2 \coloneqq \sqrt{m_{\text{Pl}} m_{\text{dS}}} c^2 \simeq 10^{-3} \,\text{eV},$$
(4.20)

where we have neglected to label dimensional indices. The corresponding energy density is

$$\mathcal{E}_{\Psi} \simeq \frac{c\Delta_{\Psi}P}{\left(\Delta_{\Psi}X\right)^3} \simeq \frac{m_{\Lambda}c}{l_{\Lambda}^3} \simeq \frac{\Lambda c^4}{G} \simeq \rho_{\Lambda}c^2, \tag{4.21}$$

so that any field which minimizes the smeared-space uncertainty relations must, necessarily, possess an energy density comparable to the present day dark energy density,  $\rho_{\Lambda} \simeq 10^{-30}$  g cm<sup>-3</sup>. In this scenario, the immense difference between the matter and geometry quantisation scales may be regarded as 'fundamental', while the immense difference between the Planck density and the observed vacuum density is an emergent phenomenon, stemming, ultimately, from the quantum properties of space-time (Lake et al., 2019; Lake et al., 2020; Lake, 2021a).

#### **5** Discussion

In the first part of this paper we outlined six major pathologies that afflict models of generalised uncertainty relations (GURs) based on modified commutation relations. The first two of these, namely, violation of the equivalence principle and violation of Lorentz invariance in the relativistic limit, have been addressed at length in the existing literature (Hossenfelder, 2013; Hossenfelder, 2014; Tawfik and Diab, 2014) and we summarised them only briefly. The third, the so-called soccer ball problem for multi-particle states, has also been considered in detail and a would-be solution was proposed in (Amelino-Camelia, 2017). Though ingenious, and valid within its domain of applicability, we showed that the solution put forward in (Amelino-Camelia, 2017) does not apply, in general, to arbitrary GUR models based on modifications of the canonical Heisenberg algebra. The fourth and fifth problems, the reference frame-dependence of the would-be 'minimum' length and the inherently classical nature of the background geometry in modified commutator models, were considered previously in (Lake, 2020), but have not, to the best of our knowledge, been addressed elsewhere. Finally, we argued that there is, in fact, a sixth problem that appears in modified commutator models, which, remarkably, has not been considered at all the existing literature.

This problem is nothing less than the mathematical inconsistency of the modified phase space volumes from which modified commutators, and hence GURs, are usually derived. The essence of the problem is that the position-space coordinates  $X^i$ , corresponding to the quantum uncertainty  $\Delta X^i$ , are assumed to represent global Cartesians,  $X^i \in \{X, Y, Z\}$ . The associated distance and volume measures in real space are then given by  $L = \sqrt{X^2 + Y^2 + Z^2}$  and  $\tilde{V} = dP_X dP_Y dP_Z$ , respectively. This immediately rules out the existence of modified X-space volumes and, hence, modified algebras leading to EUP-type uncertainty relations. Likewise, if  $X^i \in \{X, Y, Z\}$  form a global Cartesian coordinate system in real space then the conjugate momenta  $P_i \in \{P_X, P_Y, P_Z\}$ , corresponding to the quantum uncertainty  $\Delta P_i$ , must form a global Cartesian coordinate system in momentum space. The associated distance and volume measures are  $P = \sqrt{P_X^2 + P_Y^2 + P_Z^2}$ and  $\tilde{V} = dP_X dP_Y dP_Z$ . This immediately rules out the existence of modified P-space volumes and, hence, modified algebras leading to GUP-type uncertainty relations. To make matters worse, the usual approach in the literature is to assume the validity of the standard X- and P-space distance measures while simultaneously adopting modified volume forms. This procedure is mathematically inconsistent.

If, instead, we choose to abandon the assumption that  $X^i$  and  $P_j$ label global Cartesians in position and momentum space, respectively, we are faced with the following very difficult question: what, exactly, do they represent? This question is exceedingly difficult because, unless it can be answered concretely, abstract mathematical expressions of the form  $\Delta X^i \Delta P_j \ge (\hbar/2)\delta^i_{\ j} G(\hat{\mathbf{X}}, \hat{\mathbf{P}})$  cannot be used to make *any* valid physical predictions. We believe that this deceptively simple observation represents the most serious objection to the modified commutator paradigm yet raised in the literature and that, taken together, the six pathologies described herein ought to signal the 'death knell' of modified commutator models. Though some have been discussed only recently, all six were inherent in such models from their conception nearly three decades ago, and appear no closer to being solved today than they were in the mid-1990s. Indeed, substantial evidence now suggests that at least some of these pathologies *cannot* be consistently resolved.

We believe that this, accumulated evidence, should strongly motivate the GUR research community to seek alternative mathematical structures which are capable of generating the same phenomenology, without the inconsistencies, ambiguities, and headaches associated with modified commutation relations. To this end we outlined one such formalsim, originally proposed in a series of works coauthored by one of us (Lake, 2019; Lake et al., 2019; Lake, 2020; Lake et al., 2020; Lake, 2021a; Lake, 2021b; Lake, 2022a; Lake, 2022b; Lake et al., 2023), in the second part of this paper. Whether, ultimately, this model has anything to do with physical reality, or not, is perhaps less important than what is demonstrates: that GUP, EUP and EGUP phenomenology can be obtained without assuming modified commutation relations of a non-Heisenberg type. This demonstrates, by means of an explicit example, the logical independence of GURs and modified algebras. The latter certainly do imply the former (though not, as we have seen, in a self-consistent formulation) whereas the former do not, in fact, require them. This is a common misconception in the existing literature, in which these two distinct mathematical structures are often conflated. There is no oneto-one correspondence between GURs and modified commutation relations and the two are not logically equivalent. This opens up an intriguing and exciting possibility, namely, that other mathematical structures, not yet discovered, are also capable of generating GURs without modified commutators. Potentially, these may tell us a great deal about the structure of low-energy quantum gravity and, hence, about the possible structure of a unified theory. We implore the phenomenological research community to search for them, earnestly, and to explore their implications as thoroughly as they have explored the implications of modified commutation relations, over the past quarter of a century.

# Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

## References

Adler, R. J., and Santiago, D. I. (1999). On gravity and the uncertainty principle. *Mod. Phys. Lett. A* 14, 1371–1381. doi:10.1142/s0217732399001462

Aghanim, N., Akrami, Y., Ashdown, M., Aumont, J., Baccigalupi, C., Ballardini, M., et al. (2021). Planck 2018 results VI. Cosmological parameters. *Astron. Astrophys.* 641, A6.

Amelino-Camelia, G. (2017). Planck-scale soccer-ball problem: A case of mistaken identity. *Entropy* 19 (8), 400. doi:10.3390/e19080400

Bambi, C., and Urban, F. R. (2008). Natural extension of the generalized uncertainty principle. *Quant. Grav.* 25, 095006. doi:10.1088/0264-9381/25/9/095006

Betoule, M., Kessler, R., Guy, J., Mosher, J., Hardin, D., Biswas, R., et al. (2014). Improved cosmological constraints from a joint analysis of the SDSS-II and SNLS supernova samples. *Astron. Astrophys.* 568, A22.

Bolen, B., and Cavaglia, M. (2005). (Anti-)de Sitter black hole thermodynamics and the generalized uncertainty principle. *Gen. Rel. Grav.* 37, 1255–1262. doi:10.1007/s10714-005-0108-x

# Author contributions

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work and approved it for publication.

# Funding

This work was supported by the Natural Science Foundation of Guangdong Province, grant no. 008120251030.

## **Acknowledgments**

ML would like to acknowledge the Department of Physics and Materials Science, Faculty of Science, Chiang Mai University, for providing research facilities. AW would like to acknowledge partial support from the Center of Excellence in Quantum Technology, Faculty of Engineering, Chiang Mai University and the NSRF via the Program Management Unit for Human Resources and Institutional Development, Research and Innovation (grant number B05F640218), National Higher Education Science Research and Innovation Policy Council.

# **Conflict of interest**

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

## Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Bosso, P., Das, S., Pikovski, I., and Vanner, M. R. (2017). Amplified transduction of Planck-scale effects using quantum optics. *Phys. Rev. A* 96 (2), 023849. doi:10.1103/physreva.96.023849

Cui, D., Li, T., Li, J., and Yi, X. (2021). Detecting deformed commutators with exceptional points in optomechanical sensors. *New J. Phys.* 23 (12), 123037. doi:10.1088/1367-2630/ac3ff7

Deser, S. (2022). Why even source-free gravity must be quantized. *Eur. Phys. J. C* 82 (5), 424. doi:10.1140/epjc/s10052-022-10375-0

Frankel, T. (1997). *The geometry of physics: An introduction*. Cambridge, U.K.: Cambridge University Press.

Giacomini, F., Castro-Ruiz, E., and Brukner, C. (2019). Quantum mechanics and the covariance of physical laws in quantum reference frames. *Nat. Commun.* 10 (1), 494. doi:10.1038/s41467-018-08155-0

Girdhar, P., and Doherty, A. C. (2020). Testing generalised uncertainty principles through quantum noise. New J. Phys. 22 (9), 093073. doi:10.1088/1367-2630/abb43c

Gupta, R. S., Jaeckel, J., and Spannowsky, M. (2022). "Probing Poincaré violation,". [arXiv:2211.04490 [hep-ph]]. Hossenfelder, S. (2013). Minimal length scale scenarios for quantum gravity. *Living Rev.* rel. 16, 2. doi:10.12942/lrr-2013-2

Hossenfelder, S. (2014). The soccer-ball problem. SIGMA 10, 074. doi:10.3842/sigma.2014.074

Isham, C. J. (1995). Lectures on quantum theory: Mathematical and structural foundations. London, UK: Imperial College Press.

Kelvin, K. O., Lake, M. J., and Paterek, T. (2020). Dark energy effects in the Schrödinger-Newton approach. *Phys. Rev. D.* 101 (6), 063028. doi:10.1103/physrevd.101.063028

Kempf, A., Mangano, G., and Mann, R. B. (1995). Hilbert space representation of the minimal length uncertainty relation. *Phys. Rev. D.* 52, 1108–1118. doi:10.1103/physrevd.52.1108

Kempf, A. (1997). On quantum field theory with nonzero minimal uncertainties in positions and momenta. J. Math. Phys. 38, 1347–1372. doi:10.1063/1.531814

Kumar, S. P., and Plenio, M. B. (2018). Quantum-optical tests of Planck-scale physics. *Phys. Rev. A* 97 (6), 063855. doi:10.1103/physreva.97.063855

Lake, M. J., Miller, M., Ganardi, R., Liu, Z., Liang, S. D., and Paterek, T. (2019). Generalised uncertainty relations from superpositions of geometries. *Cl. Quant. Grav.* 36 (15), 155012. doi:10.1088/1361-6382/ab2160

Lake, M. J. (2019). A solution to the soccer ball problem for generalized uncertainty relations. Ukr. J. Phys. 64, 1036. doi:10.15407/ujpe64.11.1036

Lake, M. J. (2020). "A new approach to generalised uncertainty relations", accepted for publication in *Touring the Planck scale: Antonio Aurilia memorial volume, Fundamental theories of Physics, Springer.* Editor P. Nicolini doi:10.48550/arXiv.2008.13183

Lake, M. J., Miller, M., and Liang, S. D. (2020). Generalised uncertainty relations for angular momentum and spin in quantum geometry. *Universe* 6 (4), 56. doi:10.3390/universe6040056

Lake, M. J. (2021a). Why space could be quantised on a different scale to matter. *SciPost Phys. Proc.* 4, 014. doi:10.21468/scipostphysproc.4.014

Lake, M. J. (2021b). How does the Planck scale affect qubits?. Quantum Rep. 3 (1), 196-227. doi:10.3390/quantum3010012

Lake, M. J. (2022a). Fractal properties of particle paths due to generalised uncertainty relations. *Eur. Phys. J. C* 82 (10), 928. doi:10.1140/epjc/s10052-022-10813-z

Lake, M. J. (2022b). Generalised uncertainty relations and the problem of dark energy. *Romanian Astron. J.* 32 (1), 3–14. [arXiv:2112.13938 [gr-qc]].

Lake, M. J., Miller, M., Ganardi, R., and Paterek, T. (2023). "Generalised uncertainty relations from finite-accuracy measurements", accepted for publication in *Generalized uncertainty relations: Existing paradigms and new approaches. Front. Astron. Space Sci.* Editors M. J. Lake, S. D. Liang, and T. Harko

Maggiore, M. (1993). A Generalized uncertainty principle in quantum gravity. Phys. Lett. B 304, 65–69. doi:10.1016/0370-2693(93)91401-8

Marletto, C., and Vedral, V. (2017). Why we need to quantise everything, including gravity. *npj Quantum Inf.* 3, 29. doi:10.1038/s41534-017-0028-0

Møller, C. (1962). The energy-momentum complex in general relativity and related problems. *Colloq. Int. CNRS* 91, 15–29.

Nakahara, M. (2003). *Geometry, topology and physics*. 2nd ed. Boca Raton, FL, USA: Taylor and Francis.

Nicolini, P., and Niedner, B. (2011). Hausdorff dimension of a particle path in a quantum manifold. *Phys. Rev. D.* 83, 024017. doi:10.1103/physrevd.83.024017

Nicolini, P. (2012). "Nonlocal and generalized uncertainty principle black holes,". [arXiv:1202.2102 [hep-th]].

Park, M. I. (2008). The generalized uncertainty principle in (A)dS space and the modification of hawking temperature from the minimal length. *Phys. Lett. B* 659, 698–702. doi:10.1016/j.physletb.2007.11.090

Paunkovic, N., and Vojinovic, M. (2022). Equivalence principle in classical and quantum gravity. Universe 8, 598. doi:10.3390/universe8110598

Pérez de los Heros, C., and Terzić, T. (2022). "Cosmic searches for Lorentz invariance violation,". [arXiv:2209.06531 [astro-ph.HE]].

Perlmutter, S., Aldering, G., Goldhaber, G., Knop, R. A., Nugent, P., Castro, P. G., et al. (1999). Measurements of  $\Omega$  and  $\Lambda$  from 42 high-redshift supernovae. *Astrophys. J.* 517, 565–586. doi:10.1086/307221

Pikovski, I., Vanner, M. R., Aspelmeyer, M., Kim, M. S., and Brukner, C. (2012). Probing Planck-scale physics with quantum optics. *Nat. Phys.* 8, 393–397. doi:10.1038/ nphys2262

Rae, A. I. M. (2002). Quantum mechanics. 4th ed. London, U.K.: Taylor and Francis.

Riess, A. G., Filippenko, A. V., Challis, P., Clocchiatti, A., Diercks, A., Garnavich, P. M., et al. (1998). Observational evidence from supernovae for an accelerating universe and a cosmological constant. *Astron. J.* 116, 1009–1038. doi:10.1086/300499

Robertson, H. P. (1929). The uncertainty principle. Phys. Rev. 34, 163-164. doi:10.1103/physrev.34.163

Rosenfeld, L. (1963). On quantization of fields. Nucl. Phys. 40, 353–356. doi:10.1016/0029-5582(63)90279-7

Sahoo, D. (2004). Mixing quantum and classical mechanics and uniqueness of Planck's constant. J. Phys. A Math. General 37, 997-1010. doi:10.1088/0305-4470/37/3/031

Scardigli, F. (1999). Generalized uncertainty principle in quantum gravity from micro - black hole Gedanken experiment. *Phys. Lett. B* 452, 39–44. doi:10.1016/s0370-2693(99)00167-7

Schrödinger, E. (1999). About Heisenberg uncertainty relation. *Bulg. J. Phys.* 26, 193. [Sitzungsber. Preuss. Akad. Wiss. Berlin (Math. Phys.) 19, 296 (1930)].

Sen, S., Bhattacharyya, S., and Gangopadhyay, S. (2022). Probing the generalized uncertainty principle through quantum noises in optomechanical systems. *Quant. Grav.* 39 (7), 075020. doi:10.1088/1361-6382/ac55ab

Tawfik, A. N., and Diab, A. M. (2015). A review of the generalized uncertainty principle. *Rept. Prog. Phys.* 78, 126001. doi:10.1088/0034-4885/78/12/126001

Tawfik, A. N., and Diab, A. M. (2014). Generalized uncertainty principle: Approaches and applications. *Int. J. Mod. Phys. D.* 23 (12), 1430025. doi:10.1142/s02182718143 00250

#### Check for updates

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

EDITED BY Douglas Alexander Singleton, California State University, United States

#### REVIEWED BY

Izzet Sakalli, Eastern Mediterranean University, Türkiye Ali Övgün, Eastern Mediterranean University, Türkiye

#### \*CORRESPONDENCE

Matthew J. Lake, matthewjlake@narit.or.th Shi-Dong Liang, stslsd@mail.sysu.edu.cn Anucha Watcharapasorn, anucha@stanfordalumni.org

#### SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to High-Energy and Astroparticle Physics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Astronomy and Space Sciences

RECEIVED 31 January 2023 ACCEPTED 08 March 2023 PUBLISHED 23 March 2023

#### CITATION

Lake MJ, Liang S-D and Watcharapasorn A (2023), Dimensionally-dependent uncertainty relations, or why we (probably) won't see micro-black holes at the LHC, even if large extra dimensions exist. *Front. Astron. Space Sci.* 10:1155667. doi: 10.3389/fspas.2023.1155667

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Lake, Liang and Watcharapasorn. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative

Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does

not comply with these terms.

# Dimensionally-dependent uncertainty relations, or why we (probably) won't see micro-black holes at the LHC, even if large extra dimensions exist

# Matthew J. Lake<sup>1,2,3,4,5</sup>\*, Shi-Dong Liang<sup>3,6</sup>\* and Anucha Watcharapasorn<sup>2,7</sup>\*

<sup>1</sup>National Astronomical Research Institute of Thailand, Chiang Mai, Thailand, <sup>2</sup>Department of Physics and Materials Science, Faculty of Science, Chiang Mai University, Chiang Mai, Thailand, <sup>3</sup>School of Physics, Sun Yat-Sen University, Guangzhou, China, <sup>4</sup>Department of Physics, Babeş-Bolyai University, Cluj-Napoca, Romania, <sup>5</sup>Office of Research Administration, Chiang Mai University, Chiang Mai, Thailand, <sup>6</sup>State Key Laboratory of Optoelectronic Material and Technology, Guangdong Province Key Laboratory of Display Material and Technology, Sun Yat-Sen University, Guangzhou, Chian, <sup>7</sup>Center of Excellence in Quantum Technology, Faculty of Engineering, Chiang Mai University, Chiang Mai, Thailand

We present a simple gedanken experiment in which a compact object traverses a spacetime with three macroscopic spatial dimensions and *n* compact dimensions. The compactification radius is allowed to vary, as a function of the object's position in the four-dimensional space, and we show that the conservation of gravitational self-energy implies the dimensional dependence of the mass-radius relation. In spacetimes with extra dimensions that are compactified at the Planck scale, no deviation from the four-dimensional result is found, but, in spacetimes with extra dimensions that are much larger than the Planck length, energy conservation implies a deviation from the normal Compton wavelength formula. The new relation restores the symmetry between the Compton wavelength and Schwarzschild radius lines on the mass-radius diagram and precludes the formation of black holes at TeV scales, even if large extra dimensions exist. We show how this follows, intuitively, as a direct consequence of the increased gravitational field strength at distances below the compactification scale. Combining these results with the heuristic identification between the Compton wavelength and the minimum value of the position uncertainty, due to the Heisenberg uncertainty principle, suggests the existence of generalised, higher-dimensional uncertainty relations. These relations may be expected to hold for selfgravitating quantum wave packets, in higher-dimensional spacetimes, with interesting implications for particle physics and cosmology in extra-dimensional scenarios.

#### KEYWORDS

compactification, higher dimensions, compton wavelength, primordial black holes, generalised uncertainty relations contents, self-gravity

# **1** Introduction

For over 40 years, models with compact extra dimensions have attracted a great deal of attention in the theoretical physics literature. Much of this interest was motivated by superstring theory, which is only consistent in ten spacetime dimensions (Green et al., 1988a; Green et al., 1988b), requiring six space-like dimensions to be curled up on scales that make them inaccessible to current high-energy experiments. Theoretically, the compactification scale may be as low as the Planck length, placing it forever beyond the reach of terrestrial particle physics, but models with effective compactification scales as high a millimetre have also been proposed (Antoniadis et al., 1998; Arkani-Hamed et al., 1998). Prior to the start-up of the Large Hadron Collider (LHC), in 2010, interest in the phenomenology of higher dimensional models reached an all-time high. It peaked again following beam upgrades in 2015, but, since then, has been in decline.

In the heady days of the late nineteen-nineties and the first 2 decades of the 21th century, it was hoped, and, indeed, argued persuasively in the scientific literature, that the TeV scale experiments soon to be conducted at CERN would enable the direct detection of compact dimensions with length scales down to  $\sim 10^{-19}$ m. It was claimed that these, so-called 'large' extra dimensions, could induce the formation of microscopic black holes (Arkani-Hamed et al., 1999; Bleicher et al., 2011; Khachatryan et al., 2011; Kiritsis and Taliotis, 2011; Bellagamba et al., 2012; Mureika et al., 2012; Park, 2012; Alberghi et al., 2013; Nicolini et al., 2013; Taliotis, 2013; Torres et al., 2013; Winstanley, 2013; Belyaev and Calmet, 2015; Hou et al., 2015; Sokolov and Pshirkov, 2017), also known as primordial black holes (PBH), in reference to their cosmic cousins (Carr, 2005; Carr and Kuhnel, 2020; Carr et al., 2021; Green and Kavanagh, 2021; Escrivà et al., 2022; Friedlander et al., 2022). These claims even attracted considerable attention in the popular press (American Physical Society, 2008; NASA, 2008; New York Times, 2008; BBC, 2013; Huffington Post, 2014; Forbes, 2016).

The argument behind this assertion was straightforward and reasonable. It is well known that the radius of an uncharged and non-spinning (Schwarzschild) black hole depends, not only on its mass, but also on the dimensionality it of the spacetime it inhabits. The higher-dimensional Schwarzschild radius varies as  $\mathcal{R}_{\rm S} \propto M^{\frac{1}{1+n}}$ , where *n* is the number of space-like extra dimensions, over and above the three Hubble scale dimensions that make up the macroscopic Universe (Weinberg, 2008). Thus, assuming that the usual mass-dependence of the Compton wavelength,  $R_{\rm C} \propto M^{-1}$ , remains unchanged in the presence of the compact space, the intersection between  $\mathcal{R}_{\rm S}$  and  $R_{\rm C}$  occurs close to the critical values

$$R_{\rm crit} = \left(\frac{\hbar G_{4+n}}{c^3}\right)^{\frac{1}{2+n}}, \ M_{\rm crit} = \left(\frac{\hbar^{1+n}c^{1-n}}{G_{4+n}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2+n}}.$$
 (1)

For  $n \ge 0$ , these expressions serve as the definitions of the Planck length, and mass, respectively (Horowitz, 2012). Since, in spacetimes with *n* compact dimensions, the four-dimensional Newton's constant is related to its higher-dimensional counterpart, and to the compactification radius  $R_{\rm E}$ , *via* (Maartens and Koyama, 2010)

$$G_{4+n} = G_4 R_{\rm E}^n,\tag{2}$$

it follows that, for sufficiently large  $R_{\rm E}$ , the mass-energy needed to create a black hole may be brought within the TeV range of the LHC.

More recently, new phenomenological models have been proposed, in which the possible dimensional dependence of the Compton wavelength has been explored (Lake and Carr, 2016; Carrr, 2018; Lake and Carr, 2018; Carr, 2022), via so-called black hole-uncertainty principle (BHUP) correspondence, which is also referred to as the Compton-Schwarzschild correspondence in the literature (Carr et al., 2011; Carr et al., 2015; Carr, 2016; Lake and Carr, 2015; Singh, 2017; Singh, 2018; da Silva and Silva, 2022). This modification alters the intersection with the Schwarzschild radius, and is capable of restoring complete symmetry to the (M, R)diagram, pushing the threshold for black hole formation back up to the four-dimensional Planck mass,  $M_{\rm Pl} = \sqrt{\hbar c/G_4}$ . However, despite the various arguments used to justify these models (Lake and Carr, 2016; Carrr, 2018; Lake and Carr, 2018; Carr, 2022), the proposed dimensional dependence lacks a clear physical motivation. In this work, we motivate them in a more direct way, by outlining a clear physical mechanism that is capable of altering the massradius relation of any compact object, including that of fundamental particles.

The structure of this paper is as follows. In the main body of the work, Sec. II, we present a simple gedanken experiment in a hypothetical Universe with three macroscopic spatial dimensions and n compact extra dimensions. The compactification radius is allowed to vary as a function of position in the four-dimensional subspace, which is divided into three regions. In the first region, the extra dimensions are compactified at the four-dimensional Planckscale,  $R_{\rm Pl} = \sqrt{\hbar G/c^3}$ , while in the third they are compactified at a much larger radius,  $R_{\rm E} > R_{\rm Pl}$ . The second region, in which the compactification scale grows monotonically, interpolates smoothly between the other two. We then consider a compact object, which passes from region 1 to region 3, and impose the conservation of gravitational self-energy. Roughly speaking, since gravity becomes stronger on scales  $R_{\rm Pl} < R < R_{\rm E}$ , as we move through region 2, the radius of the object must increase, in order to keep its gravitational self-energy constant. Furthermore, since rest mass is conserved during this transition, it follows that the mass-radius relation must be modified.

In this study, we perform explicit calculations by assuming that the gravitational potential of the object can be approximated by the weak field (Newtonian) limit. However, despite this, our analysis correctly reproduces well-known results for strongly-gravitating objects, such as higher-dimensional black holes and neutron stars, up to numerical factors of order unity, which is consistent with the non-relativistic approximation. This gives us confidence in the method, which we then extend to the study of fundamental particles, for which the non-relativistic approximation is undoubtedly valid.

We verify that, beginning with an effectively four-dimensional black hole in region 1, we obtain the correct (order of magnitude) expression for the higher-dimensional Schwarzschild radius in region 3. This gives us confidence in our procedure, which we note is agnostic to the initial mass-radius relation of the object. We then consider a fundamental particle, by beginning instead with the standard formula for the Compton wavelength, and obtain an effective, higher-dimensional Compton radius, in the third region. Its implications for the (non-) formation of black holes at the LHC, as well as for the quantum mechanical uncertainty relations of self-gravitating wave packets in higher-dimensional spacetimes, are briefly discussed. We summarise our conclusions, and consider the prospects for future work on this model, in Sec. III.

## 2 The gedanken experiment

Let us assume, for simplicity, that the compact object we consider is spherically symmetric. In region 1, its internal energy is, therefore

$$E = Mc^2 - \alpha_4 \frac{G_4 M^2}{R},\tag{3}$$

where  $\alpha_4$  is a numerical constant determined by the mass profile of the sphere, M(r). For example,  $\alpha_4 = 3/5$  for a sphere of uniform density and should be of order unity for all non-pathological profiles (Weisstein et al., 1973). Here, *R* denotes the effective macrosopic radius of the object and Eq. **3** holds for all  $R \ge R_E = R_{\text{Pl}}$ . We note that distances below this scale cannot be probed directly, by either black holes or fundamental particles, due to the intersection of the Compton wavelength and Schwarzschild radius lines near the Planck point on the (*M*,*R*) diagram (Lake and Carr, 2015; Carr, 2016).

Requiring  $E \leq 0$ , which implies a bound state, yields

$$R \le \alpha_4 \frac{G_4 M}{c^2}.\tag{4}$$

For  $\alpha_4 = 2$ , we then recover the condition

$$R \le R_{\rm S}\left(M\right) = \frac{2G_4M}{c^2},\tag{5}$$

where  $R_{\rm S}$  is the four-dimensional Schwarzschild radius. Thus, if Eq. 5 is satisfied, the object is a black hole in the first region. For  $\alpha_4 = 9/4$ , an analogous condition implies violation of the Buchdahl inequality (Buchdahl, 1959) and the sphere may be viewed as a compact star undergoing collapse. Conversely, for E > 0,  $R > (9/4)G_4M/c^2$ , the object is stable against its own self-gravity.

Setting  $R = R_{\rm C}$ , where

$$R_{\rm C}(M) = \frac{\hbar}{Mc} \tag{6}$$

is the standard Compton radius (Rae and Napolitano, 2015), Eq. 3 implies that a fundamental particle is stable against gravitational collapse (E > 0) when

$$M \leq M_{\rm Pl}, \quad R_{\rm C}(M) \geq R_{\rm Pl},$$
 (7)

where

$$R_{\rm Pl} = \sqrt{\frac{\hbar G_4}{c^3}} \simeq 10^{-35} \,\mathrm{m}, \quad M_{\rm Pl} = \sqrt{\frac{\hbar c}{G_4}} \simeq 10^{-8} \,\mathrm{kg}.$$
 (8)

Equation 7 justifies our previous assertion that Eq. 3 holds, for  $R \ge R_{\text{Pl}}$ , when the extra dimensions are compactified at the (four-dimensional) Planck scale. For fundamental particles, this

corresponds to the region  $M \leq M_{\rm Pl}$ , whereas, for black holes, it corresponds to

$$M \ge M_{\rm Pl}, \quad R_{\rm S}(M) \ge R_{\rm Pl}.$$
 (9)

The intersection of the standard Compton line and the fourdimensional Schwarzschild line near the Planck point then precludes the existence of *any* fundamental object with  $R(M) \leq R_{\text{Pl}}$ .

In the third region, the internal energy of the object is given by Eq. 3, for  $R > R_E$ , where  $R_E > R_{Pl}$  is the compactification radius, but by

$$E = Mc^2 - \alpha_{4+n} \frac{G_{4+n}M^2}{\mathcal{R}^{1+n}}$$
(10)

for  $R_{\text{Pl}} \leq \mathcal{R} \leq R_{\text{E}}$ . Here,  $\mathcal{R}$  denotes the (4 + n)-dimensional radius in region 3 and  $\alpha_{4+n}$  is a numerical constant determined by the mass profile of the object in the higher-dimensional space. For simplicity, we assume that all *n* extra dimensions are compactified on the same scale. The relation between  $G_4$  and the higher-dimensional Newton's constant,  $G_{4+n}$ , is given by Eq. 2 (Maartens and Koyama, 2010).

By choosing appropriate values of  $\alpha_{4+n}$ , we may recover the (4+n)-dimensional analogues of the Buchdahl bound (Burikham et al., 2015; Burikham et al., 2016) and the Schwarzschild radius (Horowitz, 2012), from the energy conditions E < (>)0. In any number of dimensions, the Buchdahl radius is proportional to the Schwarzschild radius, and, neglecting numerical factors of order unity, the latter may be written as

$$\mathcal{R}_{\mathrm{S}}(M) \simeq \left(\frac{G_{4+n}M}{c^2}\right)^{\frac{1}{1+n}} \simeq \left(R_{\mathrm{S}}(M)R_{\mathrm{E}}^n\right)^{\frac{1}{1+n}}.$$
 (11)

where  $R_{\rm S}(M)$  again denotes the four-dimensional Schwarzschild radius, as in Eq. 5.

Let us now consider a non-relativistic, self-gravitating sphere, with arbitrary mass-radius relation, passing from region 1 to region 3. Furthermore, let us assume that, whatever its mass-radius relation in the four-dimensional space of the first region, the sphere remains small enough to be effectively (4 + n)-dimensional in the third. Thus, in region 1, its radius in the three macroscopic spatial dimensions is  $R(M) \ge R_{\text{Pl}}$  and, in region 3, its higher-dimensional radius satisfies  $R_{\text{Pl}} \le \mathcal{R}(M) \le R_{\text{E}}$ . If its internal energy remains unchanged, energy conservation then implies

$$\mathcal{R}(M) \simeq \left( R(M) R_{\rm F}^n \right)^{\frac{1}{1+n}}.$$
(12)

again ignoring numerical factors of order unity, which is consistent with the non-relativistic approximation. Note that we again use the calligraphic font,  $\mathcal{R}$ , to denote radii in (4 + n) dimensions, and the normal font R to denote four-dimensional radii.

Substituting  $R(M) \simeq R_S(M)$  5) into (12), we recover the correct expression for the higher-dimensional Schwarzschild radius,  $\mathcal{R}_S(M)$ (11). Next, we note that, if  $R_{\text{Pl}} < \mathcal{R}_S(M) < R_E$ , then  $R_{\text{Pl}} < R_S(M) < R_E$ . It follows, immediately, that  $\mathcal{R}_S(M) > R_S(M)$ . This result can be understood intuitively as follows. Since, in the third region, the gravitational force is stronger than in the first on scales  $\mathcal{R} < R_E$ , the radius of the black hole can neither decrease, nor remain the constant, without increasing its internal energy. If this energy is conserved, the black hole must increase in size and the (4 + n)dimensional Schwarzschild radius,  $\mathcal{R}_S(M)$ , must be larger than the four-dimensional radius,  $R_S(M)$ . The relation between the two is fixed, by energy conservation, according to Eq. 11,

Clearly, we may repeat a similar argument for stable compact objects obeying the four-dimensional Buchdahl bound in region 1. The same compact spheres then obey the higher-dimensional Buchdahl bound in region 3. Hence, although the argument presented above is simple and heuristic, it allows us to recover the same relations (to within an order of magnitude) as those obtained by exactly solving the gravitational field equations in (4 + n)-dimensional spacetime (Horowitz, 2012; Burikham et al., 2015; Burikham et al., 2016).

However, its greatest advantage is that is agnostic to the massradius relation of the compact object. We may therefore apply it to fundamental particles, as well as to black holes and conventional fluid spheres. Thus, substituting  $R(M) = R_{\rm C}(M) \propto M^{-1}$  6) into Eq. 12, we obtain the higher-dimensional Compton wavelength,

$$\mathcal{R}_{\mathrm{C}}(M) \simeq \left(R_{\mathrm{C}}(M)R_{\mathrm{E}}^{n}\right)^{\frac{1}{1+n}} \simeq R_{*}\left(\frac{M_{\mathrm{Pl}}}{M}\right)^{\frac{1}{1+n}}.$$
(13)

where

$$R_{\star} = \left(R_{\rm Pl}R_{\rm F}^{n}\right)^{\frac{1}{1+n}},\tag{14}$$

so that  $R_{\rm Pl} < R_* < R_{\rm E}$ . It may be verified that the (4 + n)-dimensional Compton and Schwarzschild lines intersect at the point  $(M, R) \simeq (M_{\rm Pl}, R_*)$ , so that the production of PBHs still requires energies of the order of the Planck energy (Lake and Carr, 2016; Carrr, 2018; Lake and Carr, 2018; Carr, 2022).

This result also be understood, intuitively, in the same way as our heuristic derivation of the higher-dimensional Schwarzschild radius. Namely, if the rest mass of the particle remains constant as it traverses the path from region 1 to region 3, its radius cannot remain constant, or decrease, without increasing its gravitational binding energy. Therefore, if its total internal energy remains constant, its radius must expand as it enters the higher-dimensional region, in which gravity is stronger, on scales  $\mathcal{R} < R_{\rm E}$ , than in four-dimensional space. Clearly, this relation must also hold for particles that were always confined to region 3.

To aid visualisation, a schematic representation of the gedanken experiment set up is given in **Figure 1**. In **Figure 2A**, the key length and mass scales of the standard scenario, corresponding to Eq. 1, are depicted on the (M, R) diagram, while the key scales for our scenario are depicted in **Figure 2B**. The important difference between the two scenarios is that the former does not account for the self-gravitational energy of the particle, whereas the latter does, to within the accuracy permitted by the non-relativistic, weak-field approximation, which we also apply to micro-black holes. Maintaining this approximation, we may apply the usual, heuristic identification between the Compton wavelength formula and the limiting values of the Heisenberg uncertainty principle (HUP),

$$(\Delta X)_{\min} \simeq \mathcal{R}_{C}(M), \quad (\Delta P)_{\max} \simeq Mc,$$
 (15)

giving

$$\Delta X \gtrsim R_* \left(\frac{M_{\rm Pl}c}{\Delta P}\right)^{\frac{1}{1+n}}.$$
(16)

We recall that, for  $\Delta P \gtrsim Mc$ , fundamental particles have sufficient energy to undergo pair-production, in interactions that conserve



FIGURE 1

Schematic illustration of the three-part universe in our gedanken experiment. To enable the schematic representation of (3+n)-dimensional space, neglecting the time dimension of the (4+n)-dimensional spacetime, the three large dimensions are depicted as a two-dimensional plane and the n compact directions are depicted as a single extra dimension, extending into the z-direction of the diagram. Furthermore, since Planck-sized extra dimensions do not contribute correction terms, either to the higher-dimensional Schwarzschild radius, or to the Compton wavelength, we neglect them in this illustration. Hence, the region on the far left-hand side represents (3 + n)-dimensional space, with n dimensions compactified at the Planck scale, while the region on the far right-hand side represents a space with three large dimensions and *n* extra dimensions, compactified on some scale  $R_{\rm F} > R_{\rm Pl}$ . The central region interpolates smoothly between the two, so that the gravitational radius of the compact body changes, according to the following scheme: In region 1 (left), the extra dimensions are compactified at the (four-dimensional) Planck scale and both black holes and fundamental particles are effectively four-dimensional, even in the presence of the higher-dimensional space. In region 3 (right), the compactification radius is much larger than the Planck length and all objects are effectively (4+n)-dimensional, on scales smaller than the compactification radius. Conservation of energy implies that, whatever the mass-radius relation of the object in the first region, R(M), its radius in the third region,  $\mathcal{R}(M)$ , must be larger:  $\mathcal{R}(M) > R(M)$ . This is due to the increased strength of the gravitational field in higher dimensions. For black holes,  $R_{\rm S} \propto M$  in region 1 and  $\mathcal{R}_{\rm S} \propto M^{\frac{1}{1+n}}$  in region 3. Applying the same logic to the gravitational radius of fundamental particles,  $R_C \propto M^{-1}$  in region 1, yielding  $\mathcal{R}_C \propto M^{-\frac{1}{1+n}}$  in region 3, due to the conservation of gravitational self-energy.

the relevant quantum numbers (Peskin and Schroeder, 1995; Donoghue et al., 2014), yielding the limits in Eq. 15. These, in turn, correspond to the dimensionally-dependent uncertainty relation, Eq. 16.

Equation 16 may be expected to hold for self-gravitating wave packets, on scales  $\mathcal{R} < R_{\rm E}$ , in spacetimes with compact extra dimensions. By contrast, on scales  $\mathcal{R} > R_{\rm E}$ , or when  $R_{\rm E} \simeq R_{\rm Pl}$ , the standard HUP,

$$\Delta X \gtrsim \frac{R_{\rm Pl} M_{\rm Pl} c}{\Delta P},\tag{17}$$

still holds, where we have rewritten  $\hbar = R_{\rm Pl}M_{\rm Pl}c$ .

Finally, before concluding this section, we note that, although Eq. **16** represents a form of generalised uncertainty principle, which is valid for self-gravitating objects in higher-dimensional spacetimes, this is not the same as the 'generalised uncertainty principle' (GUP), commonly referred to in the quantum gravity literature (see, for example (Adler et al., 2001; Maziashvili, 2006; Xiang and Wen, 2009; Lake et al., 2019; Sakalli and Kanzi, 2022; Lake et al., 2023), and references therein). In fact, the derivation of



#### FIGURE 2

**Figure 2A** (left panel) shows the standard Compton line,  $R_C \propto M^{-1}$ , and the Schwarzschild radius lines for n = 0, n = 1, n = 2 and n = 3. These lines intersect near the higher-dimensional Planck point,  $(M,R) = ((M_{Pl}^2 M_E^n)^{\frac{1}{2m}}, (R_P^2 R_E^n)^{\frac{1}{2m}})$ ), where  $R_{Pl}$  and  $M_{Pl}$  denote the four-dimensional Planck scales,  $R_E > R_{Pl}$  is the compactification radius, and  $M_E = \hbar/(R_E C) < M_{Pl}$  is the associated mass scale. The points of intersection are equivalent to the critical scales shown in Eq. 1, due to Eq. 2; Figure 2B (right panel) shows the modified scenario, in which we account for the increased self-gravity of the quantum particle in the presence of the extra dimensions, yielding  $\mathcal{R}_C \propto M^{-\frac{1}{2m}}$ . The Compton and Scwarzschild lines now intersect at the point  $(M,R) = (M_{Pl},R_*)$ , where  $R_*$  is defined in Eq. 14. The restored symmetry of the mass-radius diagram precludes the formation of black holes at TeV scales, even if large extra dimensions exist. These figures are reproduced from (Lake and Carr, 2018), with permission.

Eq. **16** is based on two fundamental assumptions, namely, a) that the gravitational self-energy of the quantum wave packet is conserved in the presence of extra dimensions, and b) that the standard HUP holds in their absence.

By contrast, the usual GUP is derived, *via* a gedanken experiment in four-dimensional spacetime, by considering the gravitational interaction between a measured particle and a probing photon. This gives rise to a correction term, to the position uncertainty  $\Delta x$ , which is proportional to the effective four-dimensional Schwarzschild radius of the wave packet,  $R_{\rm S} \simeq G_4 \Delta p/c^3$ , yielding

$$\Delta x \gtrsim \frac{\hbar}{2\Delta p} + \frac{2G_4}{c^3} \Delta p, \tag{18}$$

where  $\alpha$  again denotes a numerical constant of order unity. Assuming, instead, that the GUP (18) holds in a four-dimensional Universe, in place of the HUP (17), we may expect a unification of the Compton and Schwarzschild lines, of the form

$$R_{\rm C/S} \simeq \frac{\hbar}{2Mc} + \frac{2G_4}{c^2}Mc,\tag{19}$$

as predicted by the so-called BHUP correspondence, mentioned in the Introduction (Carrr, 2018; Lake and Carr, 2018; Carr, 2022; Lake and Carr, 2016; Carr et al., 2011; Carr et al., 2015; Carr, 2016; Lake and Carr, 2015; Singh, 2017; Singh, 2018; da Silva and Silva, 2022). Combing these expressions with the arguments presented above yields even richer phenomenology: rather than simply restoring symmetry to the (M, R) diagram higher dimensions, it may provide a way to unify the Compton and Schwarzschild lines, even in higherdimensional spacetimes. Such an analysis lies outside the scope of the present, preliminary study, and is left to a future work.

# **3** Discussion

We have presented a simple gedanken experiment in a hypothetical spacetime with three macroscopic spatial dimensions

and n compact extra dimensions. The compactification radius was allowed to vary as a function of spatial position, in the fourdimensional submanifold, which is divided into three regions. In the first region, the extra dimensions are Planck-scale, while in the third they are compactified at a much larger radius. The second region, in which the compactification scale grows monotonically, interpolates smoothly between the other two. We considered a spherical compact object that traverses a path from region 1 to region 3, and imposed the conservation of gravitational self-energy.

If the object is a black hole in the first region, with  $R \propto M$ , energy conservation alone yields the correct expression for the higherdimensional Schwarzschild radius,  $R \propto M^{\frac{1}{1+n}}$ , in the third. However, this procedure is agnostic to the mass-radius relation of the object. Hence, considering a fundamental particle instead of a black hole, we instead imposed the standard formula for the Compton wavelength,  $R \propto M^{-1}$ , in the first region. Conservation of energy then implies the existence of a higher-dimensional Compton wavelength,  $R \propto M^{-\frac{1}{1+n}}$ , in the third region. Clearly, this relation must also hold for particles that have always been confined to region 3.

The new relation restores the symmetry between the Compton and Schwarzschild lines on the mass-radius diagram, in higher-dimensional spacetimes, and precludes the formation of black holes at TeV scales, even if large extra dimensions exist. We have shown how this follows, intuitively, as a direct consequence of the increased gravitational field strength at distances below the compactification scale. Combining these results with the usual, heuristic identification between the Compton wavelength and the minimum position uncertainty allowed by the Heisenberg uncertainty principle,  $\Delta X \ge R_{\rm C}$  ( $\Delta P \le Mc$ ), suggests the existence of generalised, higher-dimensional uncertainty relations.

Indeed, the possible dependence of the uncertainty relations on the dimensionality of the spacetime has already been explored in the literature, in the context of the so-called black hole-uncertainty principle (BHUP) correspondence (Lake and Carr, 2016; Carrr, 2018; Lake and Carr, 2018; Carr, 2022). If the usual uncertainty relation-Compton wavelength correspondence is still required to hold, in a higher-dimensional context, then the dimensionaldependence of the Compton wavelength is also (theoretically) necessary.

The difference between this and previous work is that, here, we present a clear physical argument for *why* this change should occur, and show, explicitly, that the effects of self-gravitation on quantum wave packets are precisely those required to maintain the, up to now conjectured, higher-dimensional BHUP correspondence. This is also known as the Compton-Schwarzschild correspondence, in some of the previous literature (Carr et al., 2011; Carr et al., 2015; Carr, 2016; Lake and Carr, 2015; Singh, 2017; Singh, 2018; da Silva and Silva, 2022).

In the present, preliminary analysis, we assumed throughout that the gravitational potential of the compact sphere can be well approximated by the Newtonian regime. Though this is undoubtedly a limitation of the current work, we were still able to recover, to within numerical factors of order unity, the well-known expressions for relativistic objects, such as higher-dimensional black holes and neutron stars (Burikham et al., 2015; Burikham et al., 2016). This strongly suggests that the dimensionally-dimensional uncertainty relations, which we derive for self-gravitating wave packets, are robust, since the weak field approximation is undoubtedly valid for fundamental particles.

As extensions of the current analysis, we should consider relativistic corrections, as well as the incorporation of modified uncertainty principles, obtained from the quantum gravity literature, such as the generalised uncertainty principle (GUP) (Adler et al., 2001; Maziashvili, 2006; Xiang and Wen, 2009; Lake et al., 2019; Sakalli and Kanzi, 2022; Lake et al., 2023), extended uncertainty principle (EUP), and extended generalised uncertainty principle (EGUP) (Bolen and Cavaglia, 2005; Bambi and Urban, 2008; Park, 2008). Furthermore, in order to consistently incorporate the latter, we must also consider the conditions for the formation of gravitational bound states, in higher dimensions, in the presence of a positive cosmological constant (Burikham et al., 2015; Burikham et al., 2016).

Previous studies suggest that these modifications may give rise to a unified description of the Compton and Schwarzschild radii, linking the properties of black holes and fundamental particles in higher-dimensional scenarios (Lake and Carr, 2016; Carrr, 2018; Lake and Carr, 2018; Carr, 2022). The present work represents a small, preliminary step towards understanding the physical mechanism behind this potentially important correspondence, which may have important phenomenological implications for black holes, cosmology, and high-energy particle physics, beyond the non-production of PBH at TeV scales.

#### Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

# Author contributions

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work and approved it for publication.

# Funding

This work was supported by the Natural Science Foundation of Guangdong Province, grant no. 008120251030 (ML) and by the Grant of Scientific and Technological Projection of Guangdong province, no. 2021A1515010036 (SDL). AW acknowledges partial support from the Center of Excellence in Quantum Technology, Faculty of Engineering, Chiang Mai University, and the NSRF *via* the Program Management Unit for Human Resources and Institutional Development, Research and Innovation (grant number B05F640218), National Higher Education Science Research and Innovation Policy Council.

# Acknowledgments

Grateful thanks to Wansuree Massagram, for the artful rendering of Figure 1, and Bernard Carr, for permission to reproduce Figure 2, and for helpful discussions and suggestions during the preparation of the manuscript. ML acknowledges the Department of Physics and Materials Science, Faculty of Science, Chiang Mai University, for providing research facilities. AW would like to acknowledge partial support from the Center of Excellence in Quantum Technology, Faculty of Engineering, Chiang Mai University, and the NSRF via the Program Management Unit for Human Resources and Institutional Development, Research and Innovation (grant number B05F640218), National Higher Education Science Research and Innovation Policy Council. This work was supported by the Natural Science Foundation of Guangdong Province, grant no. 008120251030 (ML) and by the Grant of Scientific and Technological Projection of Guangdong province, no. 2021A1515010036 (SDL).

# **Conflict of interest**

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

## Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher. Adler, R. J., Chen, P., and Santiago, D. I. (2001). The Generalized uncertainty principle and black hole remnants. *Gen. Rel. Grav.* 33, 2101–2108. doi:10.1023/a:1015281430411

Alberghi, G. L., Bellagamba, L., Calmet, X., Casadio, R., and Micu, O. (2013). Charged black hole remnants at the LHC. *Eur. Phys. J. C* 73 (6), 2448. doi:10.1140/epjc/s10052-013-2448-0

American Physical Society (2008). The end of the world at the large Hadron collider? Available at: https://physics.aps.org/articles/v1/14.

Antoniadis, I., Arkani-Hamed, N., Dimopoulos, S., and Dvali, G. R. (1998). New dimensions at a millimeter to a Fermi and superstrings at a TeV. *Phys. Lett. B* 436, 257–263. doi:10.1016/s0370-2693(98)00860-0

Arkani-Hamed, N., Dimopoulos, S., and Dvali, G. R. (1999). Phenomenology, astrophysics and cosmology of theories with submillimeter dimensions and TeV scale quantum gravity. *Phys. Rev. D.* 59, 086004. doi:10.1103/physrevd.59.086004

Arkani-Hamed, N., Dimopoulos, S., and Dvali, G. R. (1998). The Hierarchy problem and new dimensions at a millimeter. *Phys. Lett. B* 429, 263–272. doi:10.1016/s0370-2693(98)00466-3

Bambi, C., and Urban, F. R. (2008). Natural extension of the generalized uncertainty principle. *Quant. Grav.* 25, 095006. doi:10.1088/0264-9381/25/9/095006

BBC (2013). Will we ever create a black hole in the laboratory? Available at: https:// www.bbc.com/future/article/20130716-will-we-ever-create-a-black-hole.

Bellagamba, L., Casadio, R., Di Sipio, R., and Viventi, V. (2012). Black hole remnants at the LHC. *Eur. Phys. J. C* 72, 1957. doi:10.1140/epjc/s10052-012-1957-6

Belyaev, A., and Calmet, X. (2015). Quantum black holes and their lepton signatures at the LHC with CalCHEP. J. High. Energy Phys. 08, 139. doi:10.1007/jhep08(2015)139

Bolen, B., and Cavaglia, M. (2005). (Anti-)de Sitter black hole thermodynamics and the generalized uncertainty principle. *Gen. Rel. Grav.* 37, 1255–1262. doi:10.1007/s10714-005-0108-x

Buchdahl, H. A. (1959). General relativistic fluid spheres. *Phys. Rev.* 116, 1027–1034. doi:10.1103/physrev.116.1027

Burikham, P., Cheamsawat, K., Harko, T., and Lake, M. J. (2016). The minimum mass of a charged spherically symmetric object in D dimensions, its implications for fundamental particles, and holography. *Eur. Phys. J. C* 76 (3), 106. doi:10.1140/epjc/s10052-016-3948-5

Burikham, P., Cheamsawat, K., Harko, T., and Lake, M. J. (2015). The minimum mass of a spherically symmetric object in D-dimensions, and its implications for the mass hierarchy problem. *Eur. Phys. J. C* 75 (9), 442. doi:10.1140/epjc/s10052-015-3673-5

Carr, B. J., Mureika, J., and Nicolini, P. (2015). Sub-planckian black holes and the generalized uncertainty principle. *J. High. Energy Phys.* 07, 052.

Carr, B. J. (2005). Primordial black holes: Do they exist and are they useful? Ithaca, New York: Cornell University. arXiv:astro-ph/0511743 [astro-ph].

Carr, B. J. (2016). The black hole uncertainty principle correspondence. Springer Proc. Phys. 170, 159–167.

Carr, B. J. (2022). The Generalized Uncertainty Principle and higher dimensions: Linking black holes and elementary particles. *Front. Astron. Space Sci.* 9, 1008221. doi:10.3389/fspas.2022.1008221

Carr, B., Kohri, K., Sendouda, Y., and Yokoyama, J. (2021). Constraints on primordial black holes. *Rept. Prog. Phys.* 84 (11), 116902. doi:10.1088/1361-6633/ac1e31

Carr, B., and Kuhnel, F. (2020). Primordial black holes as dark matter: Recent developments. Ann. Rev. Nucl. Part. Sci. 70, 355–394. doi:10.1146/annurev-nucl-050520-125911

Carr, B., Modesto, L., and Premont-Schwarz, I. (2011). *Generalized uncertainty principle and self-dual black holes*. Ithaca, New York: Cornell University. arXiv:1107.0708 [gr-qc].

Carrr, B. J. (2018). Quantum black holes as the link between microphysics and macrophysics. *Springer Proc. Phys.* 208, 85–94.

da Silva, M. F., and Silva, C. A. S. (2022). *The Compton/Schwarzschild duality, black hole entropy and quantum information.* Ithaca, New York: Cornell University. arXiv:2205.09502 [gr-qc].

Donoghue, J. F., Golowich, E., and Holstein, B. R. (2014). *Dynamics of the standard model*. Cambridge, U.K. Cambridge University Press.

Escrivà, A., Kuhnel, F., and Tada, Y. (2022). *Primordial black holes*. Ithaca, New York: Cornell University. arXiv:2211.05767 [astro-ph.CO].

Forbes, (2016). Could the large Hadron collider make an earth-killing black hole? https://www.forbes.com/sites/startswithabang/2016/03/11/could-the-lhc-make-an-earth-killing-black-hole/?sh =19ea834d2ed5.

Friedlander, A., Mack, K. J., Schon, S., Song, N., and Vincent, A. C. (2022). Primordial black hole dark matter in the context of extra dimensions. *Phys. Rev. D.* 105 (10), 103508. doi:10.1103/physrevd.105.103508

Green, A. M., and Kavanagh, B. J. (2021). Primordial Black Holes as a dark matter candidate. J. Phys. G. 48 (4), 043001. doi:10.1088/1361-6471/abc534

Green, M. B., Schwarz, J. H., and Witten, E. (1988). *Superstring theory vol.* 1: *Introduction*. Cambridge, U.K.: Cambridge University Press. ISBN 978-0-521-35752-4.

Green, M. B., Schwarz, J. H., and Witten, E. (1988). Superstring theory vol. 2: Loop amplitudes, anomalies and phenomenology. Cambridge, U.K.: Cambridge University Press. ISBN 978-0-521-35753-1.

Horowitz, G. T. (2012). Black holes in higher dimensions. Cambridge, U.K.: Cambridge University Press. ISBN 978-1-107-01345-2.

Hou, S., Harms, B., and Cavaglia, M. (2015). Bounds on large extra dimensions from the simulation of black hole events at the LHC. J. High. Energy Phys. 11, 185. doi:10.1007/jhep11(2015)185

Huffington Post (2014). Large Hadron collider hasn't created any black holes, despite early fears. Available at: https://www.huffpost.com/entry/lhc-black-hole\_n\_5249511.

Khachatryan, V., Sirunyan, A. M., Tumasyan, A., Adam, W., Bergauer, T., and Dragicevic, M. (2011). Search for microscopic black hole signatures at the large Hadron collider. *Phys. Lett. B* 697, 434–453. doi:10.1016/j.physletb.2011.02.032

Kiritsis, E., and Taliotis, A. (2011). *Mini-black-hole production at RHIC and LHC*. Ithaca, New York: Cornell University. PoS EPS-HEP2011.

Lake, M. J., and Carr, B. (2018). Does Compton–Schwarzschild duality in higher dimensions exclude TeV quantum gravity? *Int. J. Mod. Phys. D.* 27 (16), 1930001. doi:10.1142/s0218271819300015

Lake, M. J., and Carr, B. (2015). The Compton-Schwarzschild correspondence from extended de Broglie relations. *J. High. Energy Phys.* 11, 105. doi:10.1007/jhep11(2015)105

Lake, M. J., and Carr, B. (2016). *The Compton-Schwarzschild relations in higher dimensions*. Ithaca, New York: Cornell University. arXiv:1611.01913 [gr-qc].

Lake, M. J., Miller, M., Ganardi, R. F., Liu, Z., Liang, S. D., and Paterek, T. (2019). Generalised uncertainty relations from superpositions of geometries. *Cl. Quant. Grav.* 36 (15), 155012. doi:10.1088/1361-6382/ab2160

Lake, M. J., Miller, M., Ganardi, R., and Paterek, T. (2023). ttGeneralised uncertainty relations from finite-accuracy measurements. *Front. Astron. Space Sci.* 10, 1087724.

Maartens, R., and Koyama, K. (2010). Brane-World gravity. *Living Rev. rel.* 13, 5. doi:10.12942/lrr-2010-5

Maziashvili, M. (2006). Black hole remnants due to GUP or quantum gravity? *Phys. Lett. B* 635, 232–234. doi:10.1016/j.physletb.2006.03.009

Bleicher, M., Nicolini, P., Sprenger, M., and Winstanley, E. (2011). Micro black holes in the laboratory. *Int. J. Mod. Phys. E* 20, 7–14. doi:10.1142/s02183013110 40529

Mureika, J., Nicolini, P., and Spallucci, E. (2012). Could any black holes be produced at the LHC? *Phys. Rev. D.* 85, 106007. doi:10.1103/physrevd.85. 106007

NASA (2008). The day the world didn't end. Available at: https://science.nasa.gov/ science-news/science-at-nasa/2008/10oct\_lhc.

New York Times (2008). Large Hadron collider - risk of a black hole. Available at: https://www.nytimes.com/2008/04/15/science/15risk.html.

Nicolini, P., Mureika, J., Spallucci, E., Winstanley, E., and Bleicher, M. (2013). Production and evaporation of Planck scale black holes at the LHC. Ithaca, New York: Cornell University. arXiv:1302.2640 [hep-th].

Park, M. i. (2008). The generalized uncertainty principle in (A)dS space and the modification of hawking temperature from the minimal length. *Phys. Lett. B* 659, 698–702. doi:10.1016/j.physletb.2007.11.090

Park, S. C. (2012). Black holes and the LHC: A review. Prog. Part. Nucl. Phys. 67, 617-650. doi:10.1016/j.ppnp.2012.03.004

Peskin, M. E., and Schroeder, D. V. (1995). An Introduction to quantum field theory. Boca Raton, U.S.A.: Taylor and Francis. ISBN 978-0-201-50397-5.

Rae, A. I. M., and Napolitano, J. (2015). *Quantum mechanics*. Sixth Edition. Abingdon, U.K.: Taylor and Francis. ISBN 1482299186, 97814822 99182.

Sakalli, İ., and Kanzi, S. (2022). Topical review: Greybody factors and quasinormal modes for black holes in various theories - fingerprints of invisibles. *Turk. J. Phys.* 46 (2), 51–103. doi:10.55730/1300-0101.2691

Singh, T. P. (2017). A new length scale for quantum gravity: A resolution of the black hole information loss paradox. *Int. J. Mod. Phys.* 26, 1743015. doi:10.1142/s0218271817430155

Singh, T. P. (2018). A new length scale, and modified Einstein-Cartan-Dirac equations for a point mass. *Int. J. Mod. Phys. D.* 27 (08), 1850077. doi:10.1142/s0218271818500773

Sokolov, A. V., and Pshirkov, M. S. (2017). Possibility of hypothetical stable micro black hole production at future 100 TeV collider. *Eur. Phys. J. C* 77 (12), 908. doi:10.1140/epjc/s10052-017-5464-7

Taliotis, A. (2013). Extra dimensions, black holes and fireballs at the LHC. J. High. Energy Phys. 05, 034.

Torres, R., Fayos, F., and Lorente-Espín, O. (2013). The mechanism why colliders could create quasi-stable black holes. *Int. J. Mod. Phys. D.* 22 (14), 1350086. doi:10.1142/s0218271813500867

Winstanley, E. (2013). *Black holes, TeV-scale gravity and the LHC.* Ithaca, New York: Cornell University. arXiv:1306.5409 [hep-th].

Weinberg, S. (2008). Cosmology. Oxford, U.K.: Oxford University Press. ISBN 978-0-191-52360-1.

Weisstein, E. W. (1973). "Sphere gravitational potential energy, Mathworld, Wolfram (1996-2007)," in *Mechanics*. Editors C. Kittel, W. D. Knight, and M. A Ruderman. 2nd ed. (New York, USA: McGraw-Hill), 268–269.

Xiang, L., and Wen, X. Q. (2009). A heuristic analysis of black hole thermodynamics with generalized uncertainty principle. *J. High. Energy Phys.* 10, 046. doi:10.1088/1126-6708/2009/10/046

#### Check for updates

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

EDITED BY Douglas Alexander Singleton, California State University, United States

#### REVIEWED BY Saurya Das, University of Lethbridge, Canada Elias Vagenas, Kuwait University, Kuwait

#### \*CORRESPONDENCE

Matthew J. Lake, matthewjlake@narit.or.th Shi-Dong Liang, stslsd@mail.sysu.edu.cn Anucha Watcharapasorn, anucha@stanfordalumni.org

RECEIVED 01 April 2023 ACCEPTED 13 April 2023 PUBLISHED 09 May 2023

#### CITATION

Lake MJ, Liang S-D and Watcharapasorn A (2023), Corrigendum: Dimensionally-dependent uncertainty relations, or why we (probably) won't see micro-black holes at the LHC, even if large extra dimensions exist. *Front. Astron. Space Sci.* 10:1198444. doi: 10.3389/fspas.2023.1198444

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Lake, Liang and Watcharapasorn. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative

#### Commons Attribution License (CC BY).

The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

# Corrigendum: Dimensionally-dependent uncertainty relations, or why we (probably) won't see micro-black holes at the LHC, even if large extra dimensions exist

# Matthew J. Lake<sup>1,2,3,4,5</sup>\*, Shi-Dong Liang<sup>3,6</sup>\* and Anucha Watcharapasorn<sup>2,7</sup>\*

<sup>1</sup>National Astronomical Research Institute of Thailand, Chiang Mai, Thailand, <sup>2</sup>Department of Physics and Materials Science, Faculty of Science, Chiang Mai University, Chiang Mai, Thailand, <sup>3</sup>School of Physics, Sun Yat-Sen University, Guangzhou, China, <sup>4</sup>Department of Physics, Babeş-Bolyai University, Cluj-Napoca, Romania, <sup>5</sup>Office of Research Administration, Chiang Mai University, Chiang Mai, Thailand, <sup>6</sup>State Key Laboratory of Optoelectronic Material and Technology, Guangdong Province Key Laboratory of Display Material and Technology, Sun Yat-Sen University, Guangzhou, Chian, <sup>7</sup>Center of Excellence in Quantum Technology, Faculty of Engineering, Chiang Mai University, Chiang Mai, Thailand

#### KEYWORDS

compactification, higher dimensions, Compton wavelength, primordial black holes, generalized uncertainty relations, self-gravity

#### A Corrigendum on

Dimensionally-dependent uncertainty relations, or why we (probably) won't see micro-black holes at the LHC, even if large extra dimensions exist

by Lake MJ, Liang S-D and Watcharapasorn A (2023). Front. Astron. Space Sci. 10:1155667. doi: 10.3389/fspas.2023.1155667

In the published article, there were three errors. **Equations 11–13** contained typos, which caused them to be mathematically incorrect.

Corrections have been made to Section 2: Equation 11 previously stated

$$\mathcal{R}_{\rm S}(M) \simeq \frac{G_{4+n}M}{c^2} \simeq \left(R_{\rm S}(M)R_{\rm E}\right)^{\frac{1}{1+n}}.\tag{1}$$

The corrected formula is given as follows:

$$\mathcal{R}_{\rm S}(M) \simeq \left(\frac{G_{4+n}M}{c^2}\right)^{\frac{1}{1+n}} \simeq \left(R_{\rm S}(M)R_{\rm E}^n\right)^{\frac{1}{1+n}}.$$
 (2)

#### Equation 12 previously stated

$$\mathcal{R}(M) \simeq (R(M)R_{\rm E})^{\frac{1}{1+n}}.$$
(3)

The corrected formula is given as follows:

$$\mathcal{R}(M) \simeq \left( R(M) R_{\rm E}^n \right)^{\frac{1}{1+n}}.$$
(4)

Equation 13 previously stated

$$\mathcal{R}_{\mathrm{C}}(M) \simeq \left(R_{\mathrm{C}}(M)R_{\mathrm{E}}\right)^{\frac{1}{1+n}} \simeq R_{*} \left(\frac{M_{\mathrm{Pl}}}{M}\right)^{\frac{1}{1+n}}.$$
(5)

The corrected formula is given as follows:

$$\mathcal{R}_{\mathrm{C}}(M) \simeq \left(R_{\mathrm{C}}(M)R_{\mathrm{E}}^{n}\right)^{\frac{1}{1+n}} \simeq R_{*}\left(\frac{M_{\mathrm{Pl}}}{M}\right)^{\frac{1}{1+n}}.$$
(6)

The authors apologize for these errors and state that they do not change the scientific conclusions of

the article in any way. The original article has been updated.

# Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors, and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

#### Check for updates

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

EDITED BY Matthew J. Lake, National Astronomical Research Institute of Thailand, Thailand

REVIEWED BY Djamil Bouaziz, University of Jijel, Algeria Dimitris M. Christodoulou, UMass Lowell, United States

\*CORRESPONDENCE A.M. Gavrilik, ☑ omgavr@bitp.kiev.ua

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to High-Energy and Astroparticle Physics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Astronomy and Space Sciences

RECEIVED 29 December 2022 ACCEPTED 31 March 2023 PUBLISHED 14 April 2023

#### CITATION

Gavrilik AM, Kachurik II and Nazarenko AV (2023), New deformed Heisenberg algebra from the µ-deformed model of dark matter. *Front. Astron. Space Sci.* 10:1133976. doi: 10.3389/fspas.2023.1133976

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Gavrilik, Kachurik and Nazarenko. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

# New deformed Heisenberg algebra from the $\mu$ -deformed model of dark matter

#### A. M. Gavrilik<sup>1</sup>\*, I. I. Kachurik<sup>2</sup> and A. V. Nazarenko<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Bogolyubov Institute for Theoretical Physics, Kyiv, Ukraine, <sup>2</sup>Khmelnytskyi National University, Khmelnytskyi, Ukraine

Recently, the  $\mu$ -deformation-based approach to modeling dark matter, which exploits  $\mu$ -deformed thermodynamics, was extended to the study of galaxy halo density profile and of the rotation curves of a number of (dwarf or low brightness) galaxies. For that goal,  $\mu$ -deformed analogs of the Lane–Emden equation (LEE) have been proposed, and their solutions describing density profiles obtained. There are two seemingly different versions of  $\mu$ -deformed LEE which possess the same solution, and so we deal with their equivalence. From the latter property we derive new, rather unusual,  $\mu$ -deformed Heisenberg algebra (HA) for the position and momentum operators, and present the  $\mu$ -HA in few possible forms (each one at  $\mu \rightarrow 0$  recovers usual HA). The generalized uncertainty relation linked with the new  $\mu$ -HA is studied, along with its interesting implications including the appearance of the quadruple of both maximal and minimal lengths and momenta.

#### KEYWORDS

deformed BEC model of dark matter, deformed lane-emden equation, deformed heisenberg algebra, generalized uncertainty relation, maximal/minimal length uncertainty

# **1** Introduction

The suggestion of the existence of minimal nonzero (uncertainty of) length linked with generalized uncertainty principle (GUP) or relation (GUR) has been advanced in the context of string theory and quantum gravity (Gross and Mende, 1988; Amati et al., 1989; Adler and Santiago, 1999; Scardigli, 1999; Maziashvili, 2006), see also (Chang et al., 2011) and the reviews (Garay, 1995; Hossenfelder, 2013). It was shown to follow from modified or deformed

Extension (Kempf et al., 1995) of the Heisenberg algebra (HA). It is worth to mention that the concept of maximum observable momenta can play as well important role, see, e.g., (Ali et al., 2009). Such a quantity was predicted, in particular, within the doubly special relativity theory suggesting rather simple (with terms linear and quadratic in momentum) modification of the right hand side of commutators (Magueijo and Smolin, 2002; Magueijo and Smolin, 2005). Further it became clear that besides such a minimal extension of the original HA, a lot of generalizations are possible, suggesting diverse ways to generalize (or deform) the HA. As a tools to classify diverse forms of deformed HA, the concept of deformation function(s) is of importance, see, e.g., (Saavedra and Utreras, 1981; Jannussis, 1993; Gavrilik et al., 2010; Dorsch and Nogueira, 2012; Maslowski et al., 2012; Gavrilik and Kachurik, 2016a). Clearly, the choice of such function must determine the corresponding GUR. As usual, most of the authors deal with position-momentum commutation relations of deformed HA that involve particular function of *X*, *p* and deformation parameter(s) in its right hand side (Jannussis, 1993; Dorsch and Nogueira, 2012; Maslowski et al., 2012).

10.3389/fspas.2023.1133976

It is also possible that both the right and left hand sides of defining commutation relation are appropriately deformed (Gavrilik and Kachurik, 2012), although such approach may be overlapping with the case of standard commutator and the terms containing *XP* and *PX* in its right-hand side as it was considered in (Quesne and Tkachuk, 2007).

In the present paper, a special form of deformed HA will be derived in the context of the so-called  $\mu$ -deformation based approach aimed to model (Gavrilik et al., 2018; Gavrilik et al., 2019) basic properties of dark matter that surrounds dwarf galaxies, and its consequences analyzed.

The case of GUR related with the minimal  $(\Delta X)_{\min}$  is the best known and well studied one. In relation with this, due to the conjugated roles of position and momentum, the concept of  $(\Delta P)_{\min}$  has appeared. As it was demonstrated in (Kempf, 1997), a single theory—single extended or generalized HA (GHA) and the corresponding GUR do exist which can jointly accommodate the both special quantities,  $(\Delta X)_{\min}$  and  $(\Delta P)_{\min}$ .

Then, an interesting question arises whether it is possible that the opposite concept of *maximal* uncertainties for the momentum and/or the position does exist. Quite recently, it was shown in some papers that such a possibility indeed can be realized (Pedram, 2012; Perivolaropoulos, 2017; Bensalem and Bouaziz, 2019; Skara and Perivolaropoulos, 2019; Hamil and Lutfuoglu, 2021; Bensalem and Bouaziz, 2022; Pramanik, 2022). Moreover, as a generalization of the already mentioned unified treatment of A. Kempf, in the work (Perivolaropoulos, 2017) of L. Perivolaropoulos, it was explicitly shown that one can provide a theory (based on appropriate generalization of HA) which incorporates the whole quadruple of  $(\Delta X)_{min}, (\Delta P)_{min}, (\Delta P)_{max}$ , and  $(\Delta X)_{max}$ .

Usual treatments in the most of papers are in a sense modelindependent, implying a kind of universality. That means, physical meaning of  $(\Delta X)_{\min}$ ,  $(\Delta P)_{\min}$ ,  $(\Delta P)_{\max}$ , and  $(\Delta X)_{\max}$  is rather universal and depends on Planck length or its inverse, i.e., Planck energy scale (Planck mass).

On the contrary, our treatment is based on (related with) special deformed HA deduced in the framework of particular model of dark matter. It is remarkable that all the four quantities:  $(\Delta X)_{\min}, (\Delta P)_{\min}, (\Delta P)_{\max}$ , and  $(\Delta X)_{\max}$  do appear. So it is clear and natural that the physical meaning of this quadruple is tightly linked with physics of the model, i.e., with properties of the halo of DM hosted by dwarf galaxies.

For our case (connection with DM) some motivation was due to the work (Perivolaropoulos, 2017), since therein the cosmologyrelated uncertainty relation was explored, along with clear meaning of maximal length: as suggested in (Perivolaropoulos, 2017), this quantity can be naturally interpreted as *cosmological horizon*.

The uncertainty relation in its initial form due to Heisenberg is linked with the standard commutation relation and *is shared* by different states. Unlike, for all the deformed versions of HA, explicit dependence of GUR on particular state does appear—for deformed oscillators this was noticed in the pioneer papers (Biedenharn, 1989; Macfarlane, 1989). In our present paper, just this fact/property is in the focus and exploited to full extent.

Unlike the approach perceived in (Harko, 2011) and some other papers also exploring galaxy rotation curves with the use of the wellknown Lane–Emden equation (LEE), in our line of research we deal with the ( $\mu$ -)Bose-condensate model of dark matter (Gavrilik et al., 2018), and with such tool as  $\mu$ -deformed analogs (Gavrilik et al., 2019) of LEE. In general, as it is well-known, deformation of an object under study is not unique, and in (Gavrilik et al., 2019) we encountered two different possible forms of  $\mu$ -deformed LEE, with the corresponding different sets of solutions, one of which being the deformed function  $\sin_{\mu}(kr)/(kr)$ . In the present work, the third form of LEE will be introduced that nevertheless possesses the indicated solution as well. Just from the requirement of equivalence of two seemingly different deformed versions of LEE, the new  $\mu$ -deformed HA can be deduced and its basic properties and consequences explored.

The paper is structured as follows. In Section 2, some basics of  $\mu$ deformation and  $\mu$ -deformed calculus are presented. In Section 3.1 we describe relevant deformed analogs of LEE and, from the condition of their equivalence, obtain the  $\mu$ -analog of HA which is the central object of this work. The corresponding GUR which involves the parameter  $\mu$  is derived, and its main properties are explored in Section 3.2, including the appearance of minimal and maximal uncertainties of both position and momentum. Section 3.3 is devoted to discussion of implications of these quantities for dark matter. The paper is ended with concluding remarks.

## 2 Deformed functions and calculus

#### 2.1 Basis functions

The so-called  $\mu$ -bracket of a number or operator *X*,

$$[X]_{\mu} \equiv \frac{X}{1+\mu X}; \qquad [X]_{\mu} \to X, \text{ if } \mu \to 0, \qquad (1)$$

and the related  $\mu$ -deformed oscillator have been introduced 3 decades ago in (Jannussis, 1993). More recently, there appeared some papers (Gavrilik et al., 2010; Gavrilik and Mishchenko, 2012; Gavrilik et al., 2013) in which the  $\mu$ -deformation based approach was initiated and developed.

For our purposes we define the  $\mu$ -deformed trigonometric function (see (Gavrilik et al., 2013; Gavrilik et al., 2019) and references therein) as

$$\sin_{\mu}x = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (-1)^n \frac{x^{2n+1}}{[2n+1]_{\mu}!}, \quad \cos_{\mu}x = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (-1)^n \frac{x^{2n}}{[2n]_{\mu}!}, \quad (2)$$

where  $[n]_{\mu}! = [1]_{\mu} [2]_{\mu} \dots [n]_{\mu}$ . Clearly, at  $\mu \to 0$  one recovers customary sine and cosine.

For our purposes, we introduce the  $\mu$ -deformed analogs of spherical Bessel functions, namely,

$$j_0^{(\mu)}(x) = \frac{\sin_\mu x}{x}, \qquad y_0^{(\mu)}(x) = \frac{\cos_\mu x}{x}.$$
 (3)

At  $\mu = 0$  these reduce to the familiar Bessel functions.

The physical motivation for introducing these functions is twofold: the first one in Eq. (3) describes the density profile of the dark matter halo and also leads to the rotation curves within the  $\mu$ -deformed extension (Gavrilik et al., 2019) of the Bose-condensate model, while both functions, taken jointly, are of importance for constructing the representation space of the position and momentum operators, see Sections 3.1–3.2 below.



Since the applied deformation concerns mainly the basic trigonometric functions, let us study  $\sin_{\mu}x$  and  $\cos_{\mu}x$  in detail. Contracting the corresponding series to the Gaussian hypergeometric function, we can then represent them in the analytic form

$$\sin_{\mu} x = I(x,\mu) \sin\varphi(x), \qquad \cos_{\mu} x = I(x,\mu) \cos\varphi(x) \qquad (4)$$

where

$$I(x,\mu) \equiv \left(1+\mu^2 x^2\right)^{-\frac{1+\mu}{2\mu}}, \qquad \varphi(x) \equiv \frac{1+\mu}{\mu} \arctan\left(\mu x\right).$$
(5)

Therefore, in the case of  $\mu$ -deformation, the main trigonometric identity is written as follows:

$$\sin_{\mu}^{2} x + \cos_{\mu}^{2} x = I^{2}(x,\mu), \qquad I(x,\mu) \le 1.$$
(6)

The behavior of the  $\mu$ -deformed trigonometric and spherical functions is shown in **Figure 1**.

In principle, it is possible to express the deformed trigonometric functions in terms of the  $\mu$ -deformed exponential function. The  $\mu$ -analogs of exponential and logarithmic functions are

$$e_{\mu}(x) = (1 - \mu x)^{-\frac{1 + \mu}{\mu}}, \qquad \ln_{\mu}(x) = \frac{1}{\mu} \left( 1 - x^{-\frac{\mu}{1 + \mu}} \right),$$
(7)

which give us the known functions at  $\mu \to 0^-$  due to the asymptotic formulas:

$$e(x) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \left(1 + \frac{x}{n}\right)^n, \qquad \ln(x) = \lim_{n \to \infty} n\left(x^{1/n} - 1\right).$$
 (8)

Note that the  $\mu$ -deformed functions exhibit a non-trivial property at  $\mu > 0$ :

$$(e_{\mu}(x))^{n} = e_{\mu} \left( \frac{1 - (1 - \mu x)^{n}}{\mu} \right),$$

$$\ln_{\mu}(x^{n}) = \frac{1 - (1 - \mu \ln_{\mu}(x))^{n}}{\mu}.$$
(9)

Focusing on the problems with spherical symmetry, we need to define an inner product  $\langle f|g \rangle$  in terms of which the real functions  $u_1(x) = j_0^{(\mu)}(x)$  and  $u_2(x) = y_0^{(\mu)}(x)$  become orthonormal on finite interval  $x \in [0; R(\mu)]$ :

$$\langle f|g\rangle = \int_{0}^{R(\mu)} f^{*}(x)g(x) w_{\mu}(x) dx, \qquad \langle u_{i}|u_{j}\rangle = \delta_{i,j}, \qquad (10)$$

where the asterisk means complex conjugation; the Latin indexes *i*, *j* run from 1 to 2.

For the orthogonality of  $\sin \varphi$  and  $\cos \varphi$  on the interval  $\varphi \in [0; \pi]$ , we constitute *ad hoc* 

$$w_{\mu}(x) dx = \frac{2}{\pi} x^2 I^{-2}(x,\mu) d\varphi(x), \qquad \pi = \varphi(R(\mu)),$$
(11)

and obtain

$$w_{\mu}(x) = \frac{2(1+\mu)}{\pi} x^2 (1+\mu^2 x^2)^{\frac{1}{\mu}}, \qquad R(\mu) = \frac{1}{\mu} \tan \frac{\mu \pi}{1+\mu}, \qquad (12)$$

where  $R(\mu)$  coincides with the first zero of  $\sin_{\mu} x$ .

Expanding these as.

$$w_{\mu}(x) = \frac{2}{\pi} x^{2} \left[ 1 + (1 + x^{2})\mu + \left(x^{2} + \frac{x^{4}}{2}\right)\mu^{2} + O(\mu^{3}) \right], \quad (13)$$

$$R(\mu) = \pi - \pi \mu + \left(\pi + \frac{\pi^3}{3}\right)\mu^2 + O(\mu^3),$$
(14)

We see that the known quantities are restored at  $\mu = 0$ .

#### TABLE 1 The $\mu$ -deformed derivatives.

	f(x)	$D_x^{(\mu)} f(x)$
1	x <sup>n</sup>	$[n]_{\mu}x^{n-1}$
2	$e_{\mu}(px)$	$pe_{\mu}(px)$
3	$\ln_{\mu}(x)$	$(1 + \mu - \mu^2)^{-1} x^{-2 + \frac{1}{1 + \mu}}$
4	$\sin_{\mu}(x)$	$\cos_{\mu}(x)$
5	$\cos_{\mu}(x)$	$-\sin_{\mu}(x)$
6	$j_0^{(\mu)}(x)$	$\frac{1+\mu}{1-\mu} y_0^{(\mu)}(x) - \frac{1-\mu^2 x^2}{(1-\mu)x} j_0^{(\mu)}(x)$
7	$y_0^{(\mu)}(x)$	$-\frac{1+\mu}{1-\mu}j_0^{(\mu)}(x)-\frac{1-\mu^2x^2}{(1-\mu)x}y_0^{(\mu)}(x)$

#### 2.2 Deformed differential calculus

We would like to define the  $\mu$ -deformed derivative  $D_x^{(\mu)}$  with respect to the positive variable *x*, and its inverse. Let the functions f(x) and  $\phi(x)$  admit expansion in the Taylor series and satisfy the relation

$$D_x^{(\mu)} f(x) = \phi(x).$$
 (15)

The actions of  $D_x^{(\mu)}$  and antiderivative  $\left(D_x^{(\mu)}\right)^{-1}$  are respectively given as.

$$\phi(x) = \frac{d}{dx} \left[ f(x) - x^{-\frac{1}{\mu}} \int_{0}^{x} f'(s) s^{\frac{1}{\mu}} ds \right],$$
(16)

$$f(x) = \mu x \phi(x) + \int_0^x \phi(s) \, \mathrm{d}s + f(0), \tag{17}$$

Were the prime means ordinary differentiation.

We see that  $\phi(x) = f'(x)$  at  $\mu \to 0$  due to vanishing  $(s/x)^{1/\mu}$  for s < x. By definition, the derivative  $D_x^{(\mu)}$  lowers the exponent of the monomial  $x^n$  by one, namely,  $D_x^{(\mu)} x^n = [n]_{\mu} x^{n-1}$ . However, the operator  $D_x^{(\mu)}$  violates the Leibniz rule:  $D_x^{(\mu)}(f(x)g(x)) \neq g(x)D_x^{(\mu)}f(x) + f(x)D_x^{(\mu)}g(x)$ .

The  $\mu$ -deformed derivatives of some functions are collected in **Table 1**. To derive expressions 4–7, we have used the known auxiliary integrals:

$$\int \sin^{p-1}x \left\{ \begin{array}{c} \sin\left((p+1)x\right) \\ \cos\left((p+1)x\right) \end{array} \right\} dx = \frac{1}{p} \sin^{p}x \left\{ \begin{array}{c} \sin\left(px\right) \\ \cos\left(px\right) \end{array} \right\}.$$
(18)

On the base of relations 4–5 (not 6–7) in Table 1, we define the Hermitian momentum operator  $\hat{P}$  as

$$\hat{P} = -\frac{i}{x} D_x^{(\mu)} x,$$
(19)

so that  $\langle u_i | \hat{P} | u_i \rangle = 0$ , and  $\langle u_1 | \hat{P} | u_2 \rangle = \langle u_2 | \hat{P}^* | u_1 \rangle = i$  (see Eq. 10), using the imaginary unit i. This operator will play an important role in the study of the deformed Heisenberg algebra further on.

To demonstrate the action of  $\hat{P}$  on some functions, note that  $\hat{P}x^n = -i[n+1]_{\mu}x^{n-1}$  for  $n \ge 0$ , and then

$$\hat{P}\psi_p(x) = p\psi_p(x), \qquad \psi_p(x) = \frac{e_\mu(ipx)}{x}.$$
(20)

In addition, we consider the radial part  $\Delta_r^{(\mu)}$  of  $\mu$ -deformed Beltrami–Laplace operator and its inverse (up to the additive constant  $C \sim f(0)$ ).

$$\Delta_r^{(\mu)} f(r) \equiv \frac{1}{r^2} D_r^{(\mu)} \left( r^2 D_r^{(\mu)} f(r) \right), \tag{21}$$

$$\left(\Delta_r^{(\mu)}\right)^{-1} f(r) = \mu^2 r^2 f(r) + (1+\mu) \int_0^r f(s) \ s \ ds$$
$$- \frac{1-\mu}{r} \int_0^r f(s) \ s^2 \ ds + C.$$
(22)

It is easy to verify for positive *n* that

$$\Delta_r^{(\mu)} r^n = [n]_{\mu} \cdot [n+1]_{\mu} r^{n-2};$$

$$\left(\Delta_r^{(\mu)}\right)^{-1} r^n = \frac{r^{n+2}}{[n+2]_{\mu} \cdot [n+3]_{\mu}}, \quad C = 0.$$
(23)

We also verify that

$$\left(\Delta_r^{(\mu)}\right)^{-1} j_0^{(\mu)}(r) + j_0^{(\mu)}(r) = 0, \qquad C = -j_0^{(\mu)}(0), \qquad (24)$$

by the use of the integrals

$$\int \cos^{p-1} x \begin{cases} \sin((p+1)x) \\ \cos((p+1)x) \end{cases} dx = \frac{1}{p} \cos^{p} x \begin{cases} -\cos(px) \\ \sin(px) \end{cases}.$$
 (25)

# 3 Deformed Heisenberg algebra and uncertainty principle

# 3.1 Deformed equations and Heisenberg algebra

Here we are going to present the equations of some models using deformed differential calculus. The main model for us, from which the deformed Heisenberg algebra will follow, is described by the deformation of the Lane–Emden equation (LEE) for finite density function  $\rho(r)$  in the two possible formulations.

$$\left(\Delta_{r}^{(\mu)}\rho(r)+k^{2}\right)\rho(r)=0,$$
 (26)

$$\left(D_{r}^{(\mu)}D_{r}^{(\mu)}+g_{\mu}\left(r\right)\frac{2}{r}D_{r}^{(\mu)}+h_{\mu}\left(r\right)k^{2}\right)\rho\left(r\right)=0,$$
(27)

Where

$$g_{\mu}(r) = \frac{1}{1 - 2\mu} \left( 1 - \frac{1 - \mu}{1 + \mu} \mu^2 k^2 r^2 \right),$$
  

$$h_{\mu}(r) = \frac{1 + 2\mu}{1 - 2\mu} - 2\mu^2 \frac{1 - \mu^2 k^2 r^2}{(1 + \mu)(1 - 2\mu)}.$$
(28)

Note that the version Eq. **26** of  $\mu$ -deformed LEE was already dealt with earlier in (Gavrilik et al., 2019), whereas the version in Eq. **27** is completely new, unpublished one. As seen,  $g_{\mu}(r) \rightarrow 1$  and  $h_{\mu}(r) \rightarrow 1$  at  $\mu \rightarrow 0$ .

It is important that, due to the special form of  $g_{\mu}(r)$  and  $h_{\mu}(r)$ , these two  $\mu$ -deformed versions of LEE have the same physical solution  $j_0^{(\mu)}(kr)$  (along with  $y_0^{(\mu)}(kr)$ ) at  $\mu < 0.5$ , which means that the two versions are equivalent. To display this equivalence we have to explicitly transform Eq. **26** into Eq. **27**. Setting  $kr \equiv x$  for simplicity, we assume the permutation rule as  $D_x^{(\mu)} x = \sigma(x) x D_x^{(\mu)} + \lambda(x)$ , apply it twice to the operator  $D_r^{(\mu)} r^2 D_r^{(\mu)}$  of the  $\mu$ -Laplace operator in Eq. 21, and find the functions  $\sigma(x)$  and  $\lambda(x)$ . Then, the equivalence of Eq. 26 and Eq. 27 is seen, with the non-trivial commutation relation:

$$\sigma(x) x D_x^{(\mu)} - D_x^{(\mu)} x = -\lambda(x),$$
(29)

$$\sigma(x) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{h_{\mu}}} = \left[ \frac{(1-2\mu)(1+\mu)}{1+\mu(3+2\mu^{3}x^{2})} \right]^{r},$$

$$\lambda(x) = \frac{2g_{\mu}}{(1+\sigma)h_{\mu}} = \frac{1+\mu-(1-\mu)\mu^{2}x^{2}}{\mu\left[2+\mu(1+\mu^{2}x^{2})\right]} (1-\sigma).$$
(30)

As result, we have come to the new ( $\mu$ -deformed) generalization of Heisenberg algebra.

The functions  $\lambda(x)$  and  $\sigma(x)$  are real for  $0 < \mu < 0.5$ , tend to 1 at  $\mu \rightarrow 0$ , and are shown in **Figure 2**. We have  $0 \le \sigma(x) \le 1$ , while the maximum of  $\lambda(x)$  is determined by  $\lambda(0)$  and is equal to

$$\lambda_{\max}(\mu) = \frac{1+\mu}{(2+\mu)\mu} \left(1 - \sqrt{\frac{(1-2\mu)(1+\mu)}{1+3\mu}}\right).$$
 (31)

Although the function  $\lambda(x)$  has a tail in negative values for

$$x > x_{\max}(\mu) = \frac{1}{\mu} \sqrt{\frac{1+\mu}{1-\mu}},$$
 (32)

as shown in **Figure 2**, consideration of the problem over finite interval of  $x \in [0; R(\mu)]$  with  $R(\mu) \le x_{\max}(\mu)$  for  $\mu \in (0; 0.5]$  guarantees a positive value of  $\lambda(x)$ . Therefore,  $R(\mu)$  varies between  $R_{\min} \approx 2.886$  and  $R_{\max} = 2\sqrt{3} \approx 3.464$ , and it is the minimum positive number that satisfies the condition  $\sin_{\mu}R(\mu) = 0$  (see Eq. 12).

It seems to be of interest to consider, elsewhere, the quantummechanical problem of the propagation of a particle, viewed as a spherical wave  $\Psi(r)$  in a space curved due to  $\mu$ -deformation. Without specifying the boundary condition, it can be formulated as follows:

$$\hat{P}^2 \Psi(r) = k^2 \Psi(r), \qquad (33)$$

where the momentum operator Eq. 19 for x = r is used. Let us remark again that the operator  $D_r^{(\mu)}$  in  $\hat{P}$  is a pseudohermitian one, see e.g., (Mostafazadeh, 2002; Bagchi and Fring, 2009; Gavrilik and Kachurik, 2016b; Gavrilik and Kachurik, 2019), but the "sandwiching"  $\eta^{-1}D_r^{(\mu)}\eta$  with  $\eta = r$  transforms it into Hermitian form as in Eq. 33.

In view of the definition Eq. 19 of the momentum operator, we formulate our  $\mu$ -deformed Heisenberg algebra:

$$\sigma(x) \ x \ \hat{P} - \hat{P} \ x = i\lambda(x) \,. \tag{34}$$

In what follows, we will focus on the study of the uncertainty principle (relation) which follows from the algebra Eq. 34.

#### 3.2 Generalized uncertainty principle

Denoting the standard deviations as

$$\Delta x = \sqrt{\langle x^2 \rangle - \langle x \rangle^2}, \qquad \Delta P = \sqrt{\langle \hat{P}^2 \rangle - \langle \hat{P} \rangle^2}, \qquad (35)$$

we proceed to the analysis of the generalized uncertainty relation (GUP)

$$\Delta x \,\Delta P \ge \frac{1}{2} |\langle [x, \hat{P}] \rangle|,\tag{36}$$

where the commutator is taken from Eq. 34.

To gain insight into the general properties of Eq. 36 for the  $\mu$ deformed Heisenberg algebra Eq. 34, let us combine Eq. 34 with its Hermitian conjugate to obtain

$$\left[ (1 + \sigma(x)) x, \hat{P} \right] = 2i\lambda(x). \tag{37}$$

Applying Eq. 36 to this commutation relation, we get

$$\Delta\left[\left(1+\sigma\right)x\right]\,\Delta P \ge \langle\lambda\left(x\right)\rangle.\tag{38}$$

Taking into account that  $1 \ge \sigma(x) > 0$  for  $\mu < 0.5$  in the left hand side, we come to the GUP

$$\Delta x \,\Delta P \ge \frac{1}{2} \langle \lambda \left( x \right) \rangle. \tag{39}$$

To evaluate the averages, we specify the states similarly to quantum ones. So, let us consider a normalized mixed state  $|\xi\rangle$  for  $\xi \in [0; 2\pi)$  in a Hilbert space basis Eq. 3 endowed with the inner product from Eq. 10:

$$|\xi\rangle = \cos\xi |u_1\rangle + \sin\xi |u_2\rangle. \tag{40}$$

Here  $u_1(x) = j_0^{(\mu)}(x)$  and  $u_2(x) = y_0^{(\mu)}(x)$  as before.

In fact, the mixed state  $|\xi\rangle$  represents a general solution to the  $\mu$ -deformed LEE, given by Eq. 26 and Eq. 27. Since the  $\mu$ deformed LEE is formulated for the local density of matter and, therefore, basically differs from the complex-valued Schrödinger equation, it is natural to describe its solution from Eq. 40 in terms of real-valued functions. Although the state  $|0\rangle$  for  $\xi = 0$ , such that  $\langle x|0\rangle = j_0^{(\mu)}(x)$ , serves to describe the finite DM distribution in (Gavrilik et al., 2019), the case  $\xi \neq 0$  admits the contribution of the cuspidal distribution  $y_0^{(\mu)}(x)$  at  $x \to 0$ .

Thus, we define the mean:

$$\langle (\dots) \rangle = \langle \xi | (\dots) | \xi \rangle \tag{41}$$

for fixed  $\xi \in [0; 2\pi]$  and  $0 < \mu < 0.5$ .

In contrast to quantum mechanics, Eq. **41** suggests to evaluate a mean of some operator (...) in the basis generated by the  $\mu$ -deformed LEE. There is no mathematical incorrectness in choosing basis functions coinciding with physical distributions. Only in turning to an interpretation, does one face the averaging (of powers) of the distribution function itself (this also happens in multifractal analysis).

The necessary matrix elements are given by.

$$\langle \xi | f(x) | \xi \rangle = A_f(\mu) - B_f(\mu) \cos(2\xi) + C_f(\mu) \sin(2\xi), \qquad (42)$$

$$\langle \xi | f(x) | \xi + \pi/2 \rangle = B_f(\mu) \sin(2\xi) + C_f(\mu) \cos(2\xi),$$
 (43)

$$\begin{cases} A_f \\ B_f \\ C_f \end{cases} = \frac{1}{\pi} \int_0^{\pi} \begin{cases} 1 \\ \cos(2\varphi) \\ \sin(2\varphi) \end{cases} f(X(\varphi)) \, d\varphi, \qquad (44)$$
$$X(\varphi) = \frac{1}{\mu} \tan \frac{\mu\varphi}{1+\mu}.$$



It is immediately seen that

$$\langle \hat{P} \rangle = \langle \xi | \hat{P} | \xi \rangle = -i \langle \xi | \xi + \pi/2 \rangle = 0,$$

$$\langle \hat{P}^2 \rangle = \langle \xi | \hat{P}^2 | \xi \rangle = -\langle \xi | \xi + \pi \rangle = 1,$$

$$(45)$$

Therefore, the standard deviation  $\Delta P = 1$  is fixed for the set of states  $\{|\xi\rangle\}$ .

On the other hand, let us introduce the functions

$$\Delta x(\xi,\mu) \equiv \sqrt{\langle \xi | x^2 | \xi \rangle - (\langle \xi | x | \xi \rangle)^2}, \quad \Lambda(\xi,\mu) \equiv \langle \xi | \lambda(x) | \xi \rangle, \quad (46)$$

which represent the averages  $\Delta x$  and  $\langle \lambda(x) \rangle$ , respectively.

Thus, in the basis of the  $\mu$ -deformed spherical waves, one has  $\Delta P = 1$ , and it is required that

$$\Delta x(\xi,\mu) \ge \frac{1}{2} \Lambda(\xi,\mu). \tag{47}$$

This relation can be analyzed with the help of Figure 3A.

Let us introduce the auxiliary momentum variance, accounting for Eq. **47**:

$$\delta P(\xi,\mu) = \frac{\Lambda(\xi,\mu)}{2\Delta x(\xi,\mu)} \le 1.$$
(48)

We see that  $\delta P(\xi,\mu) \le \Delta P = 1$  and  $\delta P(\xi,\mu) \Delta x(\xi,\mu) = \Lambda(\xi,\mu)/2$  by definition. The behavior of  $\delta P(\xi,\mu)$  is shown in **Figure 3B**.

The admissible domain of variety of the running values of  $\Delta x$  and  $\Delta P$  is shown in **Figure 4**. We see that the black and pink curves are in antiphase regime, as it should be. For comparison, the violet curve describes the change in the deviation  $\Delta x$  according to the hyperbolic law in accordance with the standard Heisenberg algebra.

#### 3.2.1 Alternative approach

To confirm the validity of Eq. **39** for the algebra Eq. **34** nonlinear in *x*, it is worth to develop an alternative calculation scheme applicable to various ways of writing the commutator for *x* and  $\hat{P}$ . For instance, there is a possibility to rewrite relation Eq. **34** in equivalent form as

$$[x, \hat{P}] = i \frac{2\lambda(x)}{1 + \sigma(x)} + \frac{1 - \sigma(x)}{1 + \sigma(x)} \{x, \hat{P}\},$$
(49)

where  $\{x, \hat{P}\} \equiv x\hat{P} + \hat{P}x$  is anticommutator.

To analyze the GUP given by Eq. **36** for this commutation relation, we assume that the brackets  $\langle (...) \rangle$  mean the quantum average over the state defined by the *real* wave function in the coordinate representation. Then, the action of the operator  $i\hat{P}$  on such a state results in a real-valued expression, what immediately yields

$$|\langle [x,\hat{P}]\rangle| = 2\left\langle \frac{\lambda(x)}{1+\sigma(x)} \right\rangle - \left\langle \frac{1-\sigma(x)}{1+\sigma(x)} \left\{ x, i\hat{P} \right\} \right\rangle, \tag{50}$$

when the positive first term on the right hand side dominates the second one.

In view of the inequality  $|\langle \hat{A}\hat{B}\rangle| \le |\langle \hat{A}\rangle| \, |\langle \hat{B}\rangle|$ , we split the last term as

$$\left| \left\langle \frac{1 - \sigma(x)}{1 + \sigma(x)} \left\{ x, i\hat{P} \right\} \right\rangle \right| \le \left\langle \frac{1 - \sigma(x)}{1 + \sigma(x)} \right\rangle \left| \left\langle \left\{ x, i\hat{P} \right\} \right\rangle \right|, \quad 0 \le \sigma(x) \le 1.$$
(51)

At this stage, we obtain

$$\langle [x, \hat{P}] \rangle | \ge 2 \left\langle \frac{\lambda(x)}{1 + \sigma(x)} \right\rangle - \left\langle \frac{1 - \sigma(x)}{1 + \sigma(x)} \right\rangle | \langle \{x, i\hat{P}\} \rangle |.$$
 (52)

To evaluate  $|\langle \{x, i\hat{P}\} \rangle|$ , we introduce the operators  $\delta x = x - \langle x \rangle$ and  $\delta \hat{P} = \hat{P} - \langle \hat{P} \rangle$ , where the hat over  $\hat{P}$  distinguishes the operator  $\delta \hat{P}$ from the function  $\delta P$  in Eq. **48**. Then one gets

$$\langle \{x, i\hat{P}\} \rangle = 2i\langle x \rangle \langle \hat{P} \rangle + \langle \{\delta x, i\delta \hat{P}\} \rangle.$$
(53)

Due to the Cauchy–Schwartz inequality  $|\langle \hat{A}\hat{B} \rangle|^2 \leq |\langle \hat{A}^2 \rangle| |\langle \hat{B}^2 \rangle|$ , the following estimate holds:

$$|\langle \{\delta x, i\delta \hat{P}\}\rangle| \le 2\Delta x \,\Delta P. \tag{54}$$

Since the dark matter flux is assumed to be absent in the halo, one can put  $\langle \hat{P} \rangle = 0$ , which is confirmed by our direct calculations. Combining, we have the estimate

$$|\langle [x, \hat{P}] \rangle| \ge 2 \left\langle \frac{\lambda(x)}{1 + \sigma(x)} \right\rangle - 2 \left\langle \frac{1 - \sigma(x)}{1 + \sigma(x)} \right\rangle \Delta x \,\Delta P. \tag{55}$$

Substituting it into Eq. 36 and accounting for  $\langle 1 \rangle = 1$ , we arrive at.

$$\Delta x \,\Delta P \ge \frac{1}{2} \langle \lambda(x) \rangle_W, \tag{56}$$

$$\langle (\dots) \rangle_W \equiv \frac{\langle W(x)(\dots) \rangle}{\langle W(x) \rangle}, \quad W(x) = \frac{1}{1 + \sigma(x)},$$
 (57)



 $\delta P(\xi,\mu) = \Lambda/(2\Delta x)$  versus  $\Delta x(\xi,\mu)$ . Turning points of the pink banana-like curve are A (0.51;0.85), B (1.05;0.4). Grey line corresponds to  $\delta P = 1/(2\Delta x)$ .



 $\Delta x \ (\xi,\mu) \le \Delta x \le R \ (\mu = 0.18) \simeq 2.89 \text{ and } \delta P \ (\xi,\mu) \le \Delta P \le 1.89$ 

Where the new mean  $\langle (...) \rangle_W$  with additional convex weighting function W(x) arises.

For a given function W(x) we get

$$\langle \lambda(x) \rangle_{W} = \langle \lambda(x) \rangle + \frac{\langle \delta W(x) \delta \lambda(x) \rangle}{\langle W(x) \rangle},$$
 (58)

where  $\langle \delta W(x) \delta \lambda(x) \rangle$  is a covariance between the convex function W(x) and concave  $\lambda(x)$ , and it determined by deviations like  $\delta f(x) = f(x) - \langle f(x) \rangle.$ 

Since the function  $\sigma(x)$  (and W(x)) changes only slightly over the interval  $x \in [0; R(\mu)]$  in Figure 2A, it can be approximated by a constant close to  $\sigma(0)$  when calculating integrals. This provides  $\delta W(x) \rightarrow 0$  and numerically leads to expressions:

$$\left\langle \frac{\lambda(x)}{1+\sigma(x)} \right\rangle \simeq \frac{\langle \lambda(x) \rangle}{1+\langle \sigma(x) \rangle}, \qquad \left\langle \frac{1}{1+\sigma(x)} \right\rangle \simeq \frac{1}{1+\langle \sigma(x) \rangle},$$
(59)

when we use  $\langle (...) \rangle = \langle \xi | (...) | \xi \rangle$  in the range  $0 < \mu < 0.5$ .

This circumstance leads again to Eq. **39** for the states  $|\xi\rangle$ , that is just Eq. 47.

Note that the appearance of the mean Eq. 57 is associated with the initial Eq. 49 for the commutation relation. In other cases, we may only encounter means of type Eq. 59, where it would be justified to use the estimate  $1 \ge \langle \sigma(x) \rangle$ .

#### 3.3 Application to dark matter

Let us remind the connection between the operators in terms of the dimensionless variable x = kr and the operators of the physical radial coordinate *r* and the momentum  $\hat{P}_r$ :

$$r = \frac{x}{k}, \qquad \hat{P}_r = \hbar k \hat{P}, \tag{60}$$

where k is the parameter of Eqs 26 and 27 and has the dimension of inverse length; the operator  $\hat{P}$  is given by Eq. 19.

The most successful results of paper (Gavrilik et al., 2019) for describing the dark matter halo of dwarf galaxies based on the  $\mu$ deformed Lane-Emden equation were obtained in the following range of parameters:

$$\mu = 0.151 \dots 0.18, \qquad k = 0.17 \dots 2.64 \text{ kpc}^{-1}.$$
 (61)

Using the turning points  $A((\Delta x)_{\min}; (\delta P)_{\max})$  and  $B((\Delta x)_{\text{max}}; (\delta P)_{\text{min}})$  for fixed  $\mu$  as in **Figure 3B**, we relate extreme physical values  $\Delta r$  and  $\Delta P_r$  with dimensionless ones  $\Delta x$  and  $\delta P$  as.

$$\Delta r = \Delta x \left[ \frac{k}{1 \text{ kpc}^{-1}} \right]^{-1} \text{ kpc}, \qquad (62)$$

$$\Delta P_r = \delta P \left[ \frac{k}{1 \text{ kpc}^{-1}} \right] \times 6.394 \times 10^{-27} \frac{\text{eV}}{c}.$$
 (63)

The calculation results are collected in Table 2. Therein, we present the obtained data for five dwarf galaxies (from the eight ones given in Table 1 of (Gavrilik et al., 2019)), because just for these galaxies the  $\mu$ -deformation based description of the rotation curves is most successful with respect to earlier approaches, as it provides the best agreement with observational data (certainly better then

Galaxy	μ	k, <i>kpc</i> <sup>-1</sup>	$(\Delta r)_{max}$ , kpc	(∆r) <sub>min</sub> , <i>kpc</i>	$(\Delta P_r)_{\rm max}$ , 10 <sup>-27</sup> eV/c	$(\Delta P_r)_{\min}$ , 10 <sup>-27</sup> eV/c
M81dwB	0.18	2.64	0.398	0.193	14.38	6.75
DDO 53	0.18	0.97	1.082	0.526	5.28	2.48
IC 2574	0.179	0.17	6.18	3.0	0.926	0.435
NGC 2366	0.178	0.37	2.84	1.38	2.02	0.946
HOI	0.151	1.27	0.830	0.402	6.98	3.33

TABLE 2 The parameters for the dark matter halos of dwarf galaxies.

if one uses the profile from the usual Bose-condensate model of DM being the solution of non-deformed Lane–Emden equation as in (Harko, 2011), or uses the famous Navarro–Frenk–White profile (Navarro et al., 1997)).

Of course, the remaining three galaxies can also be considered, but the choice of five ones is both sufficient, trustful, and best suited for our treatment and conclusions.

Note that both the Lane–Emden equation and its  $\mu$ -deformed extensions determine the distribution function  $\rho(r)$  of the matter, not the wave function of single particle. Therefore, the mean Eq. 41 is a quadratic form in the distribution, related here with  $|0\rangle$  which differs by a multiplicative constant defining  $\rho(0)$  (Gavrilik et al., 2019). Generally speaking, the state  $|0\rangle$  may not determine the turning points of a banana-like curve in the  $(\Delta x, \delta P)$  plane in **Figure 3B**, along with the extreme values of the deviations  $\Delta r$  and  $\Delta P_r$ . Nevertheless, the mathematically correct mean Eq. 41 can be used to obtain new additional information about dark matter, even by means of considering the moments  $\langle \rho^n \rangle$  of the distribution similarly to multifractal analysis. Besides, the extreme deviations at  $\xi = 0$ .

Without a deep study of the structure of averages here, let us analyze the physical consequences of the data in **Table 2**. We see that in the non-relativistic theory the momentum deviation  $\Delta P_r = m\Delta v_r$ , where *m* is the particle mass,  $\Delta v_r$  is the deviation of particle radial velocity  $v_r$ . Since the original work (Gavrilik et al., 2019) was using bosons with  $m \sim 10^{-22} \text{ eV}/c^2$ , we obtain from **Table 2** that  $\Delta v_r \sim 10^{-5}c$  in units of the speed of light *c*. Moreover, deviation of the kinetic energy  $\Delta E_K = m(\Delta v_r)^2/2$  can be used to determine the effective temperature of dark matter, namely,  $T_{\text{eff}} = (\Delta P_r)^2/(2m) \sim 10^{-32} \text{ eV}$ . This value is much smaller than the critical temperature of the Bose–Einstein condensation, as it should be in such a paradigm.

Due to the GUP given by Eq. 39, we relate the temperature  $T_{\text{eff}}$  of the spherical layer in the vicinity of  $\langle r \rangle$  to its width  $2\Delta r$ :

$$(\Delta r)^2 T_{\rm eff} \ge \frac{\hbar^2}{8m} \langle \lambda \rangle^2.$$
 (64)

This formula holds for a macroscopic system of finite volume when  $\Delta r$  does not exceed the radius of the system, and it shows that a smaller domain may have a higher temperature, and vice verse.

It is worth to note that the mean  $\langle \lambda \rangle$  in Eq. **64** takes values in the limited interval  $\langle \lambda \rangle = \Lambda(\xi, \mu) \in [\Lambda_{\min}, \Lambda_{\max}]$ , where the positive  $\Lambda_{\min}$  and  $\Lambda_{\max}$  depend on  $\mu$  (see Eq. **46**; Figure 3A). For  $\mu = 0.18$ , we have  $\Lambda_{\min} \simeq 0.818$  and  $\Lambda_{\max} \simeq 0.875$ .

## 4 Concluding remarks

In this work we have studied unusual consequences of the new ( $\mu$ -deformed) generalization of the Heisenberg algebra Eqs 29 and 34 which is special as it was derived within the extension of Bose-condensate dark matter model based on  $\mu$ -deformation. From the generalized algebra we obtained non-trivial GUR that generates minimal and maximal uncertainties of both positions (minimal/maximal lengths) and momenta. The obtained GUR is strictly dependent on the states (labeled by  $\xi$ ) of the system, and such dependence was exploited to full extent.

In **Table 2**, the galaxies M81dwB and IC 2574 look as the two "extreme" cases. Namely, for the latter we have the largest  $(\Delta r)_{max}$  and  $(\Delta r)_{min}$ , while for the former these quantities show smallest values. Clearly, the situation concerning  $(\Delta P_r)_{max}$  and  $(\Delta P_r)_{min}$  is quite opposite. Noteworthy, the value of  $\mu$  (strength of deformation) for M81dwB and IC 2574 is almost the same. The relations Eq. 62, 63 show the defining role of the quantity *k* which involves scattering length *a* and particle mass *m* as  $k \propto m^{3/2}a^{-1/2}$  (Harko, 2011).

For the considered galaxies (each labeled by its specific value of  $\mu$ ) we conclude: since the particle mass is same (namely,  $10^{-22} \text{ eV}/c^2$ ), we have differing scattering lengths in halos of different galaxies (vice versa, would we assume same scattering length for all the five galaxies we would have somewhat differing masses of DM particle in different galaxies, though this second option seems to be less realistic). As already shown in (Harko, 2011), where the BEC DM model is also based on the LEE, there is no universality of model parameters when describing all admissible objects. In fact, this issue remains in our model, which improves the previously fitted rotation curves by including an additional parameter  $\mu$ . Physically, we can only control the applicability conditions of our model: consider DM-dominated dwarf galaxies leaving aside their rigid rotation, which contributes to the distribution function (Zhang et al., 2018; Nazarenko, 2020). Therefore, giving clear physical meaning to differing scattering lengths in halos of different galaxies remains an interesting task for future study.

Note that the parameter k is related to the observed radius  $r_{gal}$  of the galactic halo by  $kr_{gal} = R(\mu)$ , where the right-hand side is determined by the parameter  $R(\mu)$  from Eq. 12, replacing  $\pi = R(0)$  in the non-deformed case. We can easily find a small difference (of several percent) between the values of  $r_{gal}$  in the deformed and non-deformed cases, by comparing these with the galaxy radii from (Harko, 2011). However, the simulation of rotation curves is more successful in the deformed case, as shown in (Gavrilik et al., 2019).

It is worth to remark that the values of  $(\Delta r)_{\text{max}}$  and  $(\Delta r)_{\text{min}}$  for the two galaxies M81dwB and IC 2574, and the others in Table 2, reside well within the observed sizes of DM halos as it should. Accordingly, the values of  $(\Delta P_r)_{max}$  and  $(\Delta P_r)_{min}$  for these same galaxies lie in the ranges completely consistent with DM being in the ( $\mu$ -Bose) condensate state. Clearly this is in agreement with the above reasonings concerning the effective temperature.

It is of interest to analyze possible special meaning of our results on the existence of finite  $(\Delta r)_{\rm max}$  and  $(\Delta r)_{\rm min}$  in the context of treatment in (Lee and Lim, 2010; Lee, 2016) of minimum length scale of galaxies (note that for the candidate length scales one can take into consideration such concepts as coherence length, Compton wavelength, quantum Jeans length scale, gravitational Bohr radius, and de Broglie wavelength, see (Lee and Lim, 2010) and references therein). Time dependence of some of these quantities, e.g., characteristic length scale  $\xi$  (minimum size of DM dominated galaxies) is studied in (Lee, 2016). Let us quote one of the interesting predictions of this work: with the mass of DM particles chosen as  $m = 5 \times 10^{-22} \text{ eV}/c^2$ , it follows that  $\tilde{\xi}(z=0) = 311.5 \text{ pc}$  while  $\tilde{\xi}(z=5) = 81.2$  pc, i.e., early dwarf galaxies were significantly more compact. In view of the extremely tiny mass of the particle from dark sector, a question may arise of possible (inter)relation of this entity with the cosmic microwave background (CMB). The very first answer which comes to one's mind could be that no relation is possible, because of the absence of interaction between visible and dark sectors. However, when considered in the framework of doubly special relativity, the properties of the photon gas at these special conditions can appear, see (Chung et al., 2019), much more interesting and non-trivial. Noteworthy, the treatment in (Chung et al., 2019), on one hand, is potentially applicable for studying some unclear features of CMB, and, on the other hand, involves a kind of deformation which is very similar to the  $\mu$ deformation explored herein. We hope to address the details of all these intriguing issues elsewhere.

# Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary Material,

#### References

Adler, R. J., and Santiago, D. I. (1999). On gravity and the uncertainty principle. Mod. Phys. Lett. A 14, 1371–1381. arXiv:gr-qc/9904026. doi:10.1142/s0217732399001462

Ali, A. F., Das, S., and Vagenas, E. C. (2009). Discreteness of space from the generalized uncertainty principle. *Phys. Lett. B* 678, 497–499. doi:10.1016/j.physletb.2009.06.061

Amati, D., Ciafaloni, M., and Veneziano, G. (1989). Can spacetime be probed below the string size? *Phys. Lett. B* 216, 41–47. doi:10.1016/0370-2693(89)91366-X

Bagchi, B., and Fring, A. (2009). Minimal length in quantum mechanics and non-Hermitian Hamiltonian systems. *Phys. Lett. A* 373, 4307-4310. doi:10.1016/j.physleta.2009.09.054

Bensalem, S., and Bouaziz, D. (2019). Statistical description of an ideal gas in maximum length quantum mechanics. *Phys. A Stat. Mech. its Applic.* 523, 583–592. doi:10.1016/j.physa.2019.02.033

Bensalem, S., and Bouaziz, D. (2022). Thermostatistics in deformed space with maximal length. *Phys. A Stat. Mech. its Applic.* 585, 126419. arXiv:2010.02203 [cond-mat.stat-mech]. doi:10.1016/j.physa.2021.126419

Biedenharn, L. C. (1989). The quantum group  $SU_q(2)$  and a q-analogue of the boson operators. J. Phys. A Math. Gen. 22, L873–L878. doi:10.1088/0305-4470/22/18/004

further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

#### Author contributions

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work and approved it for publication.

## Funding

AG and AN acknowledge support from the National Academy of Sciences of Ukraine by its Project No. 0122U000888.

## **Conflict of interest**

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

# Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

## Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/ 10.3389/fspas.2023.1133976/full#supplementary-material

Chang, L. N., Lewis, Z., Minic, D., and Takeuchi, T. (2011). On the minimal length uncertainty relation and the foundations of string theory. *Adv. High Energy Phys.* 2011, 1–30. arXiv:1106.0068. doi:10.1155/2011/493514

Chung, W. S., Gavrilik, A. M., and Nazarenko, A. V. (2019). Photon gas at the Planck scale within the doubly special relativity. *Phys. A Stat. Mech. its Applic.* 533, 121928. arXiv:1808.01243. doi:10.1016/j.physa.2019.121928

Dorsch, G. C., and Nogueira, J. A. (2012). Maximally localized states in quantum mechanics with a modified commutation relation to all orders. *Int. J. Mod. Phys. A* 27, 1250113. arXiv:1106.2737v3. doi:10.1142/S0217751X12501138

Garay, L. J. (1995). Quantum gravity and minimum length. Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 10, 145–165. arXiv:gr-qc/9403008. doi:10.1142/s0217751x95000085

Gavrilik, A., Kachurik, I. I., and Khelashvili, M. (2019). Galaxy rotation curves in the  $\mu$ -deformation-based approach to dark matter. Ukr. J. Phys. 64, 1042. doi:10.15407/ujpe64.11.1042

Gavrilik, A., and Kachurik, I. (2016). Nonstandard deformed oscillators from *q*- and *p*, *q*-deformations of Heisenberg algebra. *SIGMA* 12, 047. doi:10.3842/SIGMA.2016.047

Gavrilik, A., and Kachurik, I. (2019). Pseudo-Hermitian position and momentum operators, Hermitian Hamiltonian, and deformed oscillators. *Mod. Phys. Lett. A* 34, 1950007. doi:10.1142/S021773231950007X

Gavrilik, A., and Kachurik, I. (2012). Three-parameter (two-sided) deformation of Heisenberg algebra. *Mod. Phys. Lett. A* 27, 1250114. arXiv:1204.2817v2 [math-ph]. doi:10.1142/S0217732312501143

Gavrilik, A. M., Kachurik, I. I., Khelashvili, M. V., and Nazarenko, A. V. (2018). Condensate of  $\mu$ -Bose gas as a model of dark matter. *Phys. A Stat. Mech. its Applic.* 506, 835–843. arXiv:1805.02504 [gr-qc]. doi:10.1016/j.physa.2018.05.001

Gavrilik, A. M., and Kachurik, I. I. (2016). New version of pseudo-hermiticity in the two-sided deformation of Heisenberg algebra. *Mod. Phys. Lett. A* 31, 1650024. doi:10.1142/S0217732316500243

Gavrilik, A. M., Kachurik, I. I., and Rebesh, A. P. (2013). Elements of  $\mu$ -calculus and thermodynamics of  $\mu$ -bose gas model. *Ukr. J. Phys.* 58, 1182–1191. arXiv:1309.1363. doi:10.15407/ujpe58.12.1182

Gavrilik, A. M., Kachurik, I. I., and Rebesh, A. P. (2010). Quasi-Fibonacci oscillators. J. Phys. A Math. Theor. 43, 245204. arXiv:1002.0601. doi:10.1088/1751-8113/43/24/245204

Gavrilik, A. M., and Mishchenko, Y. A. (2012). Exact expressions for the intercepts of *r*-particle momentum correlation functions in  $\mu$ -Bose gas model. *Phys. Lett. A* 376, 2484–2489. arXiv:1204.3067. doi:10.1016/j.physleta.2012.06.032

Gross, D., and Mende, P. (1988). String theory beyond the Planck scale. Nucl. Phys. B 303, 407-454. doi:10.1016/0550-3213(88)90390-2

Hamil, B., and Lutfuoglu, B. C. (2021). Black hole thermodynamics in the presence of a maximal length and minimum measurable in momentum. *Europhys. Lett.* 135, 59001. doi:10.1209/0295-5075/135/59001

Harko, T. (2011). Bose-Einstein condensation of dark matter solves the core/cusp problem. *JCAP* 11, 022. arXiv:1105.2996 [astro-ph.CO]. doi:10.1088/1475-7516/2011/05/022

Hossenfelder, S. (2013). Minimal length scale scenarios for quantum gravity. *Living Rev. Relativ.* 16, 2. doi:10.12942/lrr-2013-2

Jannussis, A. (1993). New deformed Heisenberg oscillator. J. Phys. A 26, L233–L237. doi:10.1088/0305-4470/26/5/011

Kempf, A., Mangano, G., and Mann, R. B. (1995). Hilbert space representation of the minimal length uncertainty relation. *Phys. Rev. D.* 52, 1108–1118. doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.52.1108

Kempf, A. (1997). Non-pointlike particles in harmonic oscillators. J. Phys. A 30, 2093-2101. arXiv:hep-th/9604045. doi:10.1088/0305-4470/30/6/030

Lee, J. W. (2016). Characteristic size and mass of galaxies in the Bose-Einstein condensate dark matter model. *Phys. Lett. B* 756, 166–169. doi:10.1016/j.physletb.2016.03.016

Lee, J. W., and Lim, S. (2010). Minimum mass of galaxies from BEC or scalar field dark matter. *JCAP* 01, 007. doi:10.1088/1475-7516/2010/01/007

Macfarlane, A. J. (1989). On q-analogues of the quantum harmonic oscillator and the quantum group  $SU_{\rm q}(2).$  J. Phys. A Math. Gen. 22, 4581–4588. doi:10.1088/0305-4470/22/21/020

Magueijo, J., and Smolin, L. (2002). Lorentz invariance with an invariant energy scale. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 88, 190403. doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.88.190403

Magueijo, J., and Smolin, L. (2005). String theories with deformed energymomentum relations, and a possible nontachyonic bosonic string. *Phys. Rev. D.* 71, 026010. doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.71.026010

Maslowski, T., Nowicki, A., and Tkachuk, V. M. (2012). Deformed Heisenberg algebra and minimal length. J. Phys. A Math. Theor. 45, 075309. arXiv:1201.5545. doi:10.1088/1751-8113/45/7/075309

Maziashvili, M. (2006). Black hole remnants due to GUP or quantum gravity? *Phys. Lett. B* 635, 232–234. arXiv:gr-qc/0511054. doi:10.1016/j.physletb.2006.03.009

Mostafazadeh, A. (2002). Pseudo-Hermiticity versus PT symmetry: The necessary condition for the reality of the spectrum of a non-Hermitian Hamiltonian. *J. Math. Phys.* 43, 205–214. doi:10.1063/1.1418246

Navarro, J. F., Frenk, C. S., and White, S. D. M. (1997). A universal density profile from hierarchical clustering. *Astrophys. J.* 490, 493–508. doi:10.1086/304888

Nazarenko, A. V. (2020). Partition function of the Bose–Einstein condensate dark matter and the modified Gross–Pitaevskii equation. *Int. J. Mod. Phys. D.* 29, 2050018. doi:10.1142/S0218271820500182

Pedram, P. (2012). A higher order GUP with minimal length uncertainty and maximal momentum. *Phys. Lett. B* 714, 317–323. doi:10.1016/j.physletb.2012.07.005

Perivolaropoulos, L. (2017). Cosmological horizons, uncertainty principle, and maximum length quantum mechanics. *Phys. Rev. D.* 95, 103523. arXiv:1704.05681v1 [gr-qc]. doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.95.103523

Pramanik, S. (2022). A consistent approach to the path integral formalism of quantum mechanics based on the maximum length uncertainty. *Cl. Quant. Grav.* 39, 195018. doi:10.1088/1361-6382/ac8cc9

Quesne, C., and Tkachuk, V. M. (2007). Generalized deformed commutation relations with nonzero minimal uncertainties in position and/or momentum and applications to quantum mechanics. *SIGMA* 3, 016. doi:10.3842/SIGMA.2007.016

Saavedra, I., and Utreras, C. (1981). A generalization of quantum mechanics for high energies and quark physics. *Phys. Lett. B* 98, 74–76. doi:10.1016/0370-2693(81) 90371-3

Scardigli, F. (1999). Generalized uncertainty principle in quantum gravity from micro-black hole gedanken experiment. *Phys. Lett. B* 452, 39–44. doi:10.1016/S0370-2693(99)00167-7

Skara, F., and Perivolaropoulos, L. (2019). Primordial power spectra of cosmological fluctuations with generalized uncertainty principle and maximum length quantum mechanics. *Phys. Rev. D.* 100, 123527. doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.100. 123527

Zhang, X., Chan, M. H., Harko, T., Liang, S.-D., and Leung, C. S. (2018). Slowly rotating Bose Einstein Condensate galactic dark matter halos, and their rotation curves. *Eur. Phys. J. C* 78, 346. doi:10.1140/epjc/s10052-018-5835-8

# **Frontiers in Astronomy and Space Sciences**

Explores planetary science and extragalactic astronomy in all wavelengths

Advances the understanding of our universe - from planetary science to extragalactic astronomy, to high-energy and astroparticle physics.

# **Discover the latest Research Topics**



#### Frontiers

Avenue du Tribunal-Fédéral 34 1005 Lausanne, Switzerland frontiersin.org

#### Contact us

+41 (0)21 510 17 00 frontiersin.org/about/contact frontiers

Frontiers in Astronomy and **Space Sciences** 



